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COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY

(Present Status of Competition in the Pharmacentiecal
Industry)

TUESDAY, NOVEMEER 9, 1976

U.S. SENATE,
SvecommrTres o MoNorOLY

OF THE SELECT COMMITIEE 0N SMALL BUsivess,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 10 a.m., in room 318,
Russell Senate Office Building, Hon. Gaylord Nelson, chairman,
presiding.

Present : Senator Nelson.

Also present : Benjamin Gordon, staff economist; and Karen Young,
research assistant. :

Senator NerLson. The Monopoly Snbecommittee of the Senate Small
Business Committee today commences 5 days of hearings on the ant1-
obesity drugs, which are generally amphetamines and amphetamine-
related drngs.

The latter include such dengs as phenmetrazine—Preludin—phen-
termine — Tonamin — diethylpropion — Tenuate — chlortermine—
Voranil—and others. Fenfluramine--Pondimin—appears to be more
like the hallucinogens rather than amphetamines.

At one time the amphetamines were the largest selling group of
antiobesity drugs, but after being placed in schednle 1T of the Con-
trolled Substances List with an assigned quota, the demand shifted
over to the amphetamine-related drugs, which remained in schedules
IIT and TV.

In 1975, 5.5 million prescriptions were written for the amphetamines
and 19.9 million for the amphetamine-related antiohesity drugs.

. Manufacturers® sales of antiobesity drugs for 1975 are estimated to
K

Amphetamines 220, 056, 000
Nonamphetamines _ .. _________.__ 64, 594, 000
Total 84, 650. 000

Estimated retail sales are in the vicinity of $170 million. Illegal
street sales would increase this amount considerably because of the
hioher prices demanded.

The amonnt of sales does not reflect the imnact of these drugs on
society, As far back as 1969 the Economic and Social Couneil of the
United Nations concluded that (a) “In some commntries there is in-

(14433 )
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ereasing misuse, especially by young people, of central nervous system
stimulants notably of the amphetamine type,” and urged that (&)
“Immediate action is necessary to combat this threat to the health of
mankind.”

In 1970, U.S. legal production of amphetamines exceeded 10 billion
pills—tablets and capsules—in 1971, the figure probably exceeded 12
billion.

In 1972, production fell, because the amphetamines were given manu-
facturing quotas, and former users were then diverted to ampheta-
mine-related drugs,

According to Dr, Lester Grinspoon’s “The Speed Culture”:

Amphetamines were unique: never before had a powerful psychoactive drug
been introduced in such gquantities in so short & perind of time, and never before
had a drug with such a high addictive pntential and capability of causing long-
term or irreversible physical and psychological damnge been so enthusiastically
embraced by the medical profession as & panatea or &0 extravagantly promoted
by the drug industry.”

Most studies have shown that these drngs as an adjunct to diet have
a “trivial” advantage over dict alone, As a matter of fact, the weight
loss oceurs principally in the first few weeks and then levels off. The
labeling calls for use for no more than “a few weeks.” According to
FDA's Advisory Committee on Metabolic and Endocrine Drugs, how-
ever:

The increased weight loss appears to be related to variahles other than the
drug prescribed, sueh as the physiclan-investigator, the population treated, and
the diet prescribed.

Studies do not permit conclusions as to the relative importance of the drug
and non-Irug factors on weight loss,

In addition, the FDA Advisory Committee insisted that:

The natural history of obesity is measurcd in years, whereas the studies cited
are restricted to a few weeks duration; thus, the total impact of drug-induced
weight loss over that of diet must be considered clinieally trivial. The limited
wsefulness of these agents must be measured against any possible risk factors

‘inherent in their use. :

The amphetaniines have been widely abused in numerous popnla-
tions and evidence will be presented during these hearings that the
newer drugs of the amphetamine family as well as the nonamphetamine
drugs do not have higlier benefits or lower risks than older available
drugs.

According to an article which appeared in Pediatrics of February
1973, and signed by the Committee on Drugs, its consultants and
others of the American Academy of Pediatrics:

More than ten years ago Japan banned the use of amphetamines. The United
Kingdom restricted distribution of amphetamines to hospital pharmacies in 196S.
Sweden eategorized amphetamines as a narcotic in 1944 because of abuse: and
in 1965, phenmetrazine {Preludin) and in 1968, methylphenidate (Ritalin) were
removed from the market. :

The Health Protection Branch of the Department of National ITealth and
Welfare of Canada, with the endorsement of the Canadian Medical Association
(and others) has moved to prohibit the use of amphetamines and related com-
pounds for weight reduction purposes as of September 1, 1972, ‘

The purpese of these hearings, therefore, is to ascertain whether the
possible henefits of the antiobesity drugs outweigh the risks both to
the individual and to society, and whether these drugs should con-
tinue to be marketed for the purposes claimed.
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It has always been our policy that every viewpoint on all subjects
before this committee is sought.

These hearings are no exception to that rule. Representatives of
the Pennwalt Corp., the largest manufacturer of these products will
appear later in the hearings. '

Any other companies manufacturing these products are welcome to
appear as witnesses upon their own request at anytime,

We are pleased to have with us this morning a group of very dis-
tinguished witnesces, Dr. Lester Grinspoon, associate professor of psy-
chiatry, Harvard Medical School, and director of information and
evaluation, Massachusetts Mental ITealth Center, Boston, Mass,

Dr. James J. Nora, professor of pediatrics and director of pediatric
cardiology, University of Colorado Medical Center, Denver, Colo.

Dr. Sumner Yaffe, professor of clinical pharmacology and pedi-
atries, University of Pennsylvania, and director, division of elinical
pharmacology, Children’s Hospital, Philadelphia, Pa.

And Dr. Thaddens Prout, associate professor of medicine, Johns
Hopkins University and chief of medicine, Greater Baltimore Medi-
cal Center, Baltimore, Md. :

Dr. Allen Goldman will not be here this morning, but Dr, Yaffe will
read Dr. Goldman’s statement. Dr, Goldman is associate professor of
pediatrics, University of Pennsylvania, and director, teratology unit,
Children’s Hospital, Philadelphia, Pa. :

Our first witness this morning will be Dr, Grinspoon,

Doctor, we are pleased to hear from vou this morning.

Yourstatement will be printed in full in the record.!

You may present it as you desire, and if you wish to expand upon
it extemporaneously, you may do so, :

STATEMENT OF LESTER GRINSPOON, M.D., ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR
OF PSYCHIATRY, EARVARD MEDICAL SCHOOL, AND DIRECTOR
OF INFORMATION AND EVALUATION, MASSACHUSETTS MENTAT
HEALTH CENTER, BOSTON, MASS.

Dr. Grixspoox, Thank vou, Mr, Nelson.

First, as T said, I apologize for the length of my statement.

I have provided up a brief historv of amphetamines, and T simply
summarize as follows: The drug was first synthesized in 1887 by a
German pharmacologist. Not much attention was paid to it, and it was
put back on_the shelf, and it was not investigated until 1910 by
(. Barger and Sir H. H. Dale, but again very little came of it until 1928,
when an American by the name of Dr, Gordon Alles, who was looking
for a synthetic ephedrine substitute, that is, 2 synthetic amine substi-
tute for ephedrine, began to experiment with it.

Ephedrine was widely uscaf(;n the treatment of asthma, and there
was concern that the natural sources would soon be exhausted.

Gordon Alles looked at amphetamine and dextro-amphetamine. and
found through experimentation on himself that there drugs produced
a sense of alertness that they combatted fatigue, and it gave a euphoric
se.ns;e. of confidence, even though they kept him awake late into the
night. _

* See prepared statement of Dr. Grinspoon beginning at p. 14704,
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ITe was shortly approached by F. B. Nabenhauer of a drug com-
pan{, which persuaded him to sell his patent rights,

They were interested in this drug for their new “Benzedrine” in-
haler, which they were about to market, and indeed, was marketed
in 1932. At that time anybody could get the Benzedrine inhaler from
grocerystores or drugstores without a prescription, and it was very
shortly after that that it was discovered that this indeed could be
abused. People would take the inhaler apart. and they could dissolve
the contents in alechol, or even swallow it whole, and discovered they
could get quite a high from it.

The drug was packaged in pill form just a few years later, and
1rithin a few vears of that time 50 million units of the drug were being
produced, and as I think I noted in your statement, by 1958 314 billion
units were being produced in this country, and 10 years later, 8 billion,
-or enough for 85 to 50 pills for every man, woman and child in this
-gountry.

Now, World War IT gave an enormous boost to the acceptance of
these medicines in this country, but by far the most important factor
in the enormous and widespread acceptance of these drugs in this coun-
‘try was the way the medical profession perceived this class of drugs as
« panacea. As an illustration of this. in 1946 a physician by the name
of W. R. Bett wrote an article in which he asserted that there were 39
elinical utilities for this drug.

It was a virtual panacea. Tt was said to be useful for such diverse
syndromes as hiceups, irradiation sickness, hypertension, “eaffeine
mania.” and schizophrenia.

At the present time the medical profession is somewhat divided on
what it believes are appropriate utilities of this drug.

Certainly obesity is the condition for which amphetamines are most
commonly preseribed, but before I discuss their efficacy in the treat-
ment of this condition, T will briefly consider some of the toxic effects
of emphetamines,

Now. of a1l the myths surrounding the amphetamines, that of their
alleged “non-addictiveness” is today the most transparent, even though
when these drugs were first introduced they were almost universally
hailed as having little or no addictive potential,

T am reading now from the bottom of page 7.

This is not surprising; almost every drug which is now condemned
as addictive was vouchsafed by the efficial medical establishment as
extremely useful and nonaddicting when it was first introduced.

For example, when morphine was acctylated in 1898 the new drug
was heralded as a nonaddictive cure for opium and morphine
addictions.

In fact, enthusiasm was so high that the drug’s name was taken from
“lyoro”—it was ealled “heroin.”

Accordingly, the only surprising fact about the controversy over the
addictiveness of the amphetamines is that it has persisted for so long.
despite early strong evidence that these new drugs were substances
which were especially euphorigeniec.

Indeed, eases of addiction were reported almost immediatelv, but the
drug industry was so successful in reinforcing and sustaining early
medical enthusiasm that even as Iate as 1958 C. D. Leake categorically
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stated that “No clear case of addiction to d-amphetamine has been
reported.”

However, Leake admitted at the very end of his book that he had
not become aware of the Japanese sitnation until “this book was in
galley proof.” _

During World War IT millions of Japanese soldiers, aviators, sail-
ors, and civilians engaged in defense. munitions, and government work
took tons of “wake-amines,” especially methamphetamine—sold as
“philipon.”

After the war military stockpiles of amphetamines flooded an
exceedingly depressed and disillusioned but determined and growth-
oriented civilian population, and the immediate result was the over-
night eruption of an unprecedented epidemic of drug abuse and
addiction. L

By 1954 it was estimated that there were 500,000 to 1.5 million
Japanese amphetamine abusers, about half genuinely addicted.

Despite the minimization of the amphetamine abstinence syndrome
in the medical and lay press, and the parallel exaggeration of the un-
pleasantness of the average heroin addict’s abstinence syndrome,
withdrawal from amphetamines can be most distressing.

Since the individual who is “crashing™ from high-dose amphetamine
abuse appears to be sleeping well a good deal of the time, he is often
considered to be merely exhausted. '
~ But the picture of the amphetamine abstinence syndrome that has
recently emerged is as unpleasant and painful as the traditional rep-
utation of heroin withdrawal,

Extreme lethargy, fatigue, anxiety, terrifying nightmares, and
suleidally severe depression are common, '

The individual is usually completely disoriented, bewildered and
confused. He is apt to be extremely irritable and demanding—swhich
drives people away just when he maost needs their help.

His psychic disruption and loss of self-control may lead to violent
acting out of agoressive impulses. He has headaches, he has trouble
breathing, he sweats profusely, and his body is racked with alternat-
ing sensations of extreme heat and cold and exeruclating muscle
cramps.

¥fe characteristically suffers painful gastrointestinal cramps. Espe-
cially if he is alone, and despite his sometimes incredible hunger, he
often lacks the strength to eat at all, aggravating his econdition through
malnutrition. _

As early as 1935 reports began to appear in medical journals sug-
westing that “Benzedrine” might cause serious eardiovascular disturb-
ances. The following year the first such concrete evidence was
published by E. W. Anderson and W. C. M, Scott, who administered
“therapeuntic” doses—10 to 30 milligrams—of “Benzedrine” to 20
“physically fit” and “normal” subjects in a controlled laboratory
experiment. R

Almost without exception their subject exhibited pallor and flush-
ing, palpitations, and changes—usually marked increases—in pulse
rate and blood pressure.

.Now, 10 to 20 milligrams is not an uncommon dose for someone to
take who is being treated for obesity.
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In six cases the effects were more severe and included collapse, multi-
})1;, extrasystoles, heart-block, and pain in the chest radiating into the

eft arm.

From 1939 to 1962, at least 54 cases of acute physical amphetamine
poisoning were published in the American and British literature, and
many reports came in from nations like Japan and Sweden, where
severe Intravenous amphetamine epidemics broke out earlier than in
this country.

In addition, in 1962, B.IL Ong noted that in 1958 alone 38 separate
cases. of acute amphetamine poisoning in children under 5 years of
age had been reported to the Boston Poison Information Center.

Similarly, 52-different cases of very young children suffering from
acute physical reactions to amphetamine were admitted to one Toronto
hospital from 1960 to 1963.

P. H. Connell. searching for instances of amphetamine psychosis
up to 1936, noted that all but 10 of 92 cases also suffered moderate
to severe physical signs and symptoms, including flushing, pallor, cya-
nosis, fever, tachycardia, serious cardiac problems, markedly elevated
blood pressure, hemmorhage or other “vascular aceidents,” nausea,
vomiting, difficulty in breathing, tremor, ataxia, or loss of sensory
abilities, twitchings, tetany, convulsions, loss of consciousness, and
coma.

Mr. Gorpow, How do the children get the drugs?

Dr. Grisspoon. The children get the drugs accidentally; taking
them out of medicine cabinets is the most common way.

Mr. Gorpox. But they are not prescribed for children? .

Dr. Grixsroon, No, except for hyperkinetic children. Mostly they
are accidentally ingested.

Since high-dose and/or intravenous abuse of amphetamines has
become increasingly more popular since the early 1960%, a whole new
spectrum of serious physiological reactions have been reported.

By 1966 cases of severe serum hepatitis resulting from intravenous
abuse of amphetamines were being regarded as fairly common oc-
currences: One physician reported that at least 11 cases had resulted
from a 2-day “meth party” in Salt Lake City that year, At about this
same time several independent Japanese, British, and American in-
vestigators began to speculate that intravenous abuse of speed could
cause permanent or long-term brain damage.

In 1970, the first clinical evidénce of this was reported by a team of
California rescarchers headed by B. P. Citron, who had observed 14
young drug abusers suffering from “necrotizing angiitis,” a disease
characterized by widespread small blood vessel deterioration, includ-
ing rupture of tﬁe vessels supplying the brain.

Although the researchers could not conclusively prove that meth-
amphetamine was the only cause they did note that all but two of the
14 admitted to intravenous abuse of methamphetamine, that one of the
14 had used speed exclusively, and that all four of the patients who
died had been heavy speed abusers.

Mr. Gorpox. If T may interrupt, the FDA has prohibited paren-
teral methamphetamine to be marketed for obesity.

Now, as T understand it, methamphetamine is soluble in water, is
that correct ?

Mr. Grinspoon. That is correct.
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Mtr. Goroon. How meaningful is this prohibition?

Dr. GrinspooN. Anybody who wants to abuse it intervenously can
dissolve amphetamine 1n water and inject it.

In fact, there is greater risk in domng that than there is with phar-
maceutical materials which are sterile and carefully prepared.

hHomema.de intravenous injections are not, so there is more danger
there, .

Not only can they inject only the amphetamines, but it may
be coupled with something else, and in fact, a number of young peopie
have done this, and particles in the retina of the eye have appeared,
which have been visnalized on examination by ophthamologists.

Furthermore, they pointed out that they had found no evidence of
necrotizing angiitis in a number of similar young drug abusers who
had not taken amphetamines, but had used equivalent amounts of all
the other “hard” drugs reported by the 14.

In late 1971, two papers by another group of California rescarchers
led by C. L. Rumbaugh presented observations and experimental find-
ings that have all but conclusively proved Citron's initial theory.

These investigators subjected 19 multiple-drug abusers ranging in
age from 16 to 39 to cerebral angiography, an X-ray technique in
which a dye is injected into a patient’s circulatory system, allowing
physicians to examine him for possible blockage of the arteries sup-
plying his brain.

Rumbaugh and others found that 14 of their 19 patients showed
moderate to severe occlusion, and the other 5 showed at least minimal
brain damage of this sort,

Although all of the patients either admitted to or were suspected of
amphetamine abuse, they had abused so many other drugs that it was
impossible to blame speed as the sole or primary etiological agent.

Accordingly, Rumbaugh and others administered methamphetamine
by needle to five monkeys at dosages roughly equivalent to 50 to 100
milligrams for humans, - :

Ten minutes after the first injections the researchers noted decreased
ealiber of many of the smaller arteries supplying the brain, with either
slowing or total blockage of blood flow in some arteries in four out of
fire monkeys. At the end of 2 weeks of every-other-day injections,
autopsies revealed irreversible damage to the brain. Rumbaugh has
recently pointed out that these investigations and laboratory experi-
ments strongly suggest that intravenous methamphetamine is the likely
cause for the abnormally high incidence of “stroke” victims among the
15 to 25 age group in the Tos Angeles area. Rumbaugh stresses that a
stroke-type reaetion may follow even low-dose oral use of ampheta-
mines, becanse of the wide variations in susceptibility to the toxic ef-
foets of amphetamines, . .

It is perhaps easiest to grasp a sense of the real dimensions of the
psychological dangers inherent in amphetamine use if we consider only
the most serious and disruptive. effects. Although restlessness, dys-
phoria, logorrhea (excessive talkativeness), insomina, some degree of
confusion, dizziness, transient nausea, tension, anxiety, and fear to the
point of acute panic have been reported by a large number of authors,
these effects are probably best considered as inseparable components
of the amphetamines’ alerting, stimulating, and “euphorie” proper-
tics. But amphetamine psychosis, even though it was once considered

85-569—17T—2
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extremely rare, has undergone considerable reevaluation since 1958,
when P. H. Connell published his now famous monograph.

The first medical Teport to call attention to the possibility of am-
ghetamine psychosis was published in 1938 by D. Young and W. B.
Scoville. In the early 1940%s there were a few similar reports from
Switzerland and Germany, but very few evaluations of amphetamine
psychosis had been published before Connell’s pioneering work. Re-
viewing all the French and English literature, he was able to find only
36 cases. O. J. Kalant, in a subsequent review of the international
medical literature up until the publication of Connell’s book, uncovered
35 additional eases.

But even if Connell had come across more reports, he probably would
have persisted in his motivating insight regarding the strikingly close
clinical symptomatology presented by patients suffering from am-
phetamine psychosis and paranoid schizophrenia.

Accordingly, he launched a personal 3-year investigation of patients
admitted to five London hospitals, and discovered 42 unmistakeable
cases of amphetamine psychosis that would have otherwise undoubt-
edly gone undetected.

In addition, colleagues who learned of his efforts reported another
14 substantiated cases to him,

Connell stressed that, despite his earlier suspicions, he was quite
surprised to find such a relatively high incidence of amphetamine
psychosis.

Connell’s findings stirred interest and more exact diagnosis. In the
5-year period immediately following his book’s publication, 118 more
eases of amphetamine psychosis were reported. as compared with only
71 in the 20 years after Young and Scoville’s initial report.

Mr. Gorpox. Is there any way of ascertaining in advance a person’s
susceptibility to the toxic effects of amphetamine?

Dr. GriwspooN. There is none.

Mr. Goroow. If not, then how can a physician who preseribes these
drugs adhere to the medical doctrine of “Primum non nocére”; that s,
first donoharm?

Dr. Grexseoox. Well, as T mention at the clese of my statement, T
think that is the way in which physicians have not been as responsible
about these drugs as T believe they should be.

Now, it is true there are some people who are particularly viulnerable
to the cffects of amphetamines.

For example. someone with a congenital vascular problem in the
cerebral cirenlation ; but generally speaking, these people are unknown
until an aceident occurs. _

One just does not know it if the patient happens to be a person who
is particularly susceptible; there is no way of knowing in advance.

If he has a history of it. then you do know, but certainly a doctor
who is quite knowledgeable about amphetamines certainly would not
give them to such a person.

" 1 should mention that amphetamine psychoses are s0 common now
that people do not bother to report them.

Prior to Connell’s work, it had usually been assumed that only per-
sons who were in some peculiar way “latent schizophrenics” or “pre-
psychotics” would ever develop psychoses after even massive and
prolonged doses of amphetamines.
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But Connell strongly opposed this assumption. At least 6 of the 40
patients for whom adequate personal psychiatric histories were avail-
able appeared to have been perfectly normal prior to the development
of their amphetamine psychoses, and a clear majority were described
as “friendly and good mixers,” certainly not schizoi({ personalities.

That a psychosis may be induced in essentially normal people by
amphetamines has been substantiated by at least two clinical experi-
ments using human volunteers conducted by a group of researchers at
the Vanderbilt Medical School,

In the first experiment, four healthy males between the ages of 25
and 83, who had no previous history of amphetamine psychoses or
schizophrenia, and were described by the investigators as having
“warm, boyish personality traits” were administered hourly doses ‘of
10 mg dextroamphetamine, unless some significant or potentially
dangerous physiological changes were noted. :

Txwo of the patients were able to tolerate “relatively large” amounts
of amphetamine for 24 hours, at which point they both developed
severe psychoses.

The other two patients were given amphetamine at a much slower
rate, because they showed either slight hypertension or fever very early
in the experiment.

Sinee their dosages were low and infrequent, they were both able

to withstand the psychosis production effects of amphetamine for 3
davs. ,
However, after 170 hours these two subjects also began to exhibit
“unequivocal” and “florid” psychotic symptoms, whose onset was
“abrupt” and which included “paranoid ideation which was fairly
well organized.”

Soon afterward the same group of investigators repeated almost
exactly the same clinical experiment, observing the reactions of six
male volunteers, aged 25 to 27, who had been judged by an independent
psychiatrist to be of normal intelligence and normal—nonschizoid and
nonparanoid—personality.

Furthermore, none showed any signs of brain damage or mental ab-
normalities as judged by clinical examinations, clinical tests, and psy-
chological examinations.

The same procedure was followed as in the earlier experiment, ex-
cept that doses ranged from 5 to 10 mg per hour.

Because two subjects had experienced a previous amphetamine psy-
chosis, extra precautions were taken, and they were each limited to a
total of 110 mg per day. . ,

One of these two subjects was the only one of the six who did not de-
velop a severe amphetamine psychosis. The total cumulative doses of
the other five ranged from 120 mg—1 day—to 700 mg—35 days. .

The psychoses were almost identical with those experienced by the
initial group of subjects.

In commenting on the implications of both studies, the researchers
emphasized that even short-term administration of dextroampheta-
mine to persons who were nonpsychotic could precipitate a paranoid
pschosis, and that their experiments definitely ruled out the up till
then widely accepted hypothesis that only “previously borderline psy-
chotics” would sustain an amphetamine psychosis,
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Senator Nersox. If I may interrupt, when the drug is withdrawn,
what happens to the psychosis, what modification?

Dr. Grinsecox. Yes, the amphetamine psychosis is so close from a
clinical point of view to a paranoid schizophrenie psychosis that they
very often are confused by elinicians.

Indeed, there are only two ways of making the diagnostic distinction.

One is to get a history of use of amphetamines, and it does not have
tobe at very high dosage.

More constantly, it is a high dosage, and then for some reason there
is usnally an increment of dosage just before the psychosis; so if you
get such a history, you get a urinalysis. and this has to be done within
48 hours. And I should say the third diagnostic criterion is that in the
case of amphetamine psychoses, the psychosis nsually disappears
within 4 to 5 days. It is certainly gone within a week.

However, there are some patients whose psychoses last much longer,
and it appears to me that these are patients whose egos are already
pretty fragile, and the straw that breaks the camel’s back, so to speak,
18 the use of amphetamines, This is the exception. Generally speaking
the person who has an acute amphetamine psychosis is one who is psy-
chologically pretty well put together and the psychosis will disappear
within a matter of days of withdrawal of amphetamines.

Senator Nrrsox. T noticed in some of the literature before me, there
is some indication that the paranoid psychotic may be dangerous to
himself and to others under these circumstances.

Dir. Grinspoox. Yes, that is certainly true.

One of the things T was going to get to, which T will touch on very
briefly, is that people have talked about a number of drugs, and their
capacity for violent criminal behavior.

The drug which is probably most dangerous from that point of view
is actually amphetamines; aleohot is a close second. but amphetamines
seem to have as an inherent psychopharmacelogical property of the
drug, a capacity to induee impulsiveness, paranoia, and the need to ex-
press some kind of motor behavior, so that people who are paranoid,
even before they become overtly psychotic, constitute a danger.

I will skip over the next paragraph and address myself to the
problems of obesity.

Obesity continues to be the condition for which the largest amounts
of legitimately obtained amphetamines are most casnally and fre-

wently preseribed, but despite enthusiastic early reports as to these

rugs’ efficacy in dietary regimens, expert medical opinion is gradually
recognizing that obesity, far from being a semihumorous or cosmetic
difficulty, is in fact a complex, long-term problem involving critical
psychological and social determinants.

No one really knows its causes. It is defined as a state in which fat
accumulates because food intake, in terms of caloric content, is greater
than energy output.

Genetic. glandular, and other physical and physiologiecal canses play
a statistically small role in obesity—probably in less than 10 perecent—
usnally the obese person simply overeats.

According to one study, only 12 percent of 96 very obese patients
attributed their condition to glandular disease; the rest admitted
that overeating was the cause and referred to psychological factors
like nervousness, family difficulties, and ingrained habits.
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Many investigators suggest that obese patients need psychotherapy;
otherwise, no dietary regimen or chemotherapy will rectify or control
their excessive eating.

Apart from uncommen metaholic aberrations, the principal factors
governing appetite are social and psychological.

‘Some people are trained in childhood to overeat; others move in
social and business circles where food and alcohol are present in
abundance and one is expected to partake.

With effort, habits can be broken and living circumstances altered.
Emotional problems are far more diffienlt to deal with. Chronic ten-
sion and depresston unusually strong oral drives, low capacity to delay
gratification, and the substitution of food for other forms of pleasure—
all common in cases of obesity—inerease the likelihood of becoming
dependent on drugs, including amphetamines.

Most troubled obese patients will not persist in their efforts to diet.

The few who do and lose some weight regain it. A drug that reduges
appetite withont requiring solving the patient's emotional problem
seemns o reasonable alternative to what would otherwise be the almost
certain failure of these individnals to lose weight if they were to depend
solely on willpower.

Bat the wisdom of such a solution must be examined. Do clinical and
experimental studies reliably cstablish that amphetamine and its
congeners have a measureable anorectic effect?

If so, are the benefits great enough to justify their use despite the
long-term adverse effects?

For example, this is such a common thing that people eat with cer-
tain kinds of mild depression and anxiety.

President Taft, as you may know, only weighed about 320 before he
entered the White House, and then he shot up to 400 pounds. After his
term in the White House, he was able to go down to his subprevious
320 pounds.

There is still no real understanding of how amphetamine reduces
appetite. Experiments with animals have demonstrated that it 1s not
a Tunction of local effects on the gastrointestinal tract. There is some
evidence that lesions in the hypothalamus may result in a substantial
increase in appetite. .

If some obeso people actually have a dysfunction of the hypo-
thalamus, it is possible that amphetamines reduce appetite by their
effect on this area of the brain. :

However, if this mechanism exists at all, it is probably secondary
to the central stimulating effect. It has heen suggested that diuresis
may caitse some of the weight loss associated with the use of ampheta-
mine. Both diuretic and antidiuretic effects have bheen reported, how-
ever, and the role of diuresis in true weight loss is far from clear.

Mr. Goroon. You are saying that even if these drugs were effective,
they do not really reach out to the basic problem of obesity?

Dr. Grixseoox. That is absolutely correct. They do not solve the
bagie underlying problem. : :

Mr. Gorpox, Well, the studies that were done on these antiobesity
drings were short-term studies, 8 to 12 weeks.

How do we know whether the people who were using the anti-
obq.silty ?drugs, did not go back to their former eating habits and regain
weight?
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Dr. Grixsroox. As a matter of fact, I am about to get to that.

In 1938 a research group led by Poul Bahnsen compared 100 normal
subjects receiving amphetamine with an equal number receiving
placebo; 19 of the active drug group and 1 control reported a reduc-
tion 1n appetite.

The first attempts to apply these observations to the clinical man-
agement of obesity were made that same year by M. I, Lesses and
A. Myerson, and by . Rosenberg in 1939 ; both papers reported favor-
able results.

Since then a long series of reports and clinical studies has agreed
with them. For example, 8. C, Harris, A. C. Ivy, and L. M. Searle
found that seven obese patients lost more weight when taking am-
phetamine than when taking placebo.

Those who lost most were the ones who ate Jeast, so the main cause
of weight loss was apparently suppression of appetite rather than
something like higher activity level,

IIarris also conducted another experiment in 1947 to investigate
the possibility that weight can be lost with amphetamines even when
caloric intake is maintained.

Ten volunteer medical students agreed to eat 3,000 calories per
day. During weeks 1 and 2, the students received no medication,
and during weeks 3 and 4, they received placebo.

During this control period totaling 26 days, there was an average
weight loss of 0.7 pounds. This the authors attribute to the fact that
for some of the subjects a 3,000-calorie diet was inadequate to maintain
body weight.

For study weeks 5 to 13, half of the students received 10 milligrams
of dl-amphetamine before each meal, and the other half received
5 milligrams. Durine week 5. the subjects in both groups lost an
average of 1 pound. However, the amounts leveled off quickly, and the
total average loss for the active medication phase was only 1.85
pounds. The anthors concluded that reduction of caloric intake, not
Increase in motor activity or metabolic rate, is the essential variable
in weight loss from amphetamines,

Another useful study was conducted by D. Adlersberg and M. F.
Maver on 209 obese patients who were being treated in a clinic of a
large general hospital.

Treatment groups were arranged as follows: Group A patients
were treated with dietary restrictions alone; group B began with
thig, but after 2 to 5 months oral thyroid medication—2 to 3 grains
desiccated thyroid daily—was added; and group C, after 3 months
of dietary restriction, received amphetamine sulphate—b5 to 10 milli-
grams twice daily, 1 to 2 hours before lunch and dinner.

Although all three groups lost weight, group C—diet plus ampheta-
mine—vas the most successful. However, dosages had to be increased
over time fo maintain welght loss and overcome tolerance.

A useful contribution of this study is the authors’ attempt to differ-
entiate between long- and short-term results.

The most impressive weight losses for all three groups occurred in
the first 1 or 2 months. Overall, amphetamines emerged as superior
to the thvroid regime: but interestingly, in the long run diet alone
compared favorably with diet and amphetamine. '
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Further data on tolerance are supplied by Gelvin and McGavack,
who studied 27 obese patients attending the Welfare Island dis-
pensary. They took an initial dose of 15 milligrams of Dexedrine per
day, rapidly increased to a maximum of 30 milligrams, and were per-
mitted to eat as they pleased. o '

After 8 weeks, 47 percent were maintaining a weight loss of 1 pound
per }vlveck; after 12 weeks, only 23 percent continued to lose even that
much.

Twenty weeks after the beginning of treatment only one patient
was still losing weight.

The use of amphetamine to correct faulty eating habits has been
sugoested, but studies with animals have shown how difficult this is.
Harris gave intramuscular injections—2.5 to 20 milligrams d-ampheta-
mine sulphate—to dogs 1 hour before feeding, with the result that
food intake was substantially decreased.

In the case of one dog—16 kilograms in weight—who was given in-
jections of 10 milligrams per day, food consumption was reduced by
87 percent and body weight by 27.4 percent within 32 days.

After 30 days, an injection of saline solution was substituted for the
amphetamine. The animals’ appetite immediately increased greatly;
obviously conditioning by the amphetamine regine could not be sus-
tained without the anorectic effect of the drug itself.

Similarly, the experience of most physicians treating patients for
obesity suggests that little long-term learning effect can be attributed
to the amphetamine regime; most patients, once they stop using
;Llng)hetamines or become tolerant to them, resume their former eating

abits,

A second series of papers on obesity and amphetamines emerged
in the 1950, heralding the use of combination drugs in which am-
phetamine was supplemented with a barbiturate, in most instances
amobarbital,

The advantage was reported to be an easing of the emotional ex-
tremes found in obese patients.

These studies, most of them uncontrolled and methodologically un-
sound, stated that patients lost weight, as with amphetamine alone,
but also improved in mood.

No data indicated that the combination drugs were any more effec-
tive than amphetamines alone.

In the late 1950°s a third series of studies began to appear, deal-
ing with the effectiveness of new amphetamine congeners or new
forms—for example, “timed release™ packaging—of already existing
amphetamines.

These drugs all share the same basic chemieal skeleton and have
effects, including adverse ones, very similar to amphetamine sulphate,
although it was claimed for one drug after another that it had fewer
“gide effects.”

W. Modell writes that:

It seems unlikely that any minor structural change in this group which con-
tinues the same theme will geparate the action that may be e¢linically undesirable.

Yet it is preclsely this which is inferred from many claims made for these
drugs, namely the recurrent claims for reduced incldence of insomnia, anxiety,
and nervousness, with potent anorectic effect.
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Still, they were sometimes compared with dextroamphetamine or a
combination drug and found superior.

I. T Kupersmith conducted what he termed a “comparative clinical
investigation” in which he employed ephedrine-ethylenediamine com-
plex, d-amphetamine sulphate, d—amp}letamine sulphate with a bar-
biturate, and placebo,

The weight changes per month in descending order were —11.3,
~7.4, —3.0, and 1.2 pounds. In their eagerness to establish the supe-
riority of the new amphetamines many authors failed to build even
minimal controls into their research designs.

The Kupersmith data come from three different groups of subjects
at different times and places. The only demographic data he includes
are that they were “overweight subjects” or “overweight patients.”

From such data it seems likely that the most important independent
zig(ri'iable was the researcher’s desire for the results to come out as they

1d.

A 1959 article by 8. C. Freed and E. E. Hays on the drug Tonamin
is representative of the kind of anorectic drug evaluation reports that
have appeared in reputable medical journals during the last 53 years.

The authors do not indicate how their subjects were selected, but it
is apparent that they did not use any nondrug, placebo-administered,
or even dextroamphetamine-treated control group or attempt to follow-
up their patients after cessation of Ionamin treatment.

Furthermore, the data they present are sparse and incomplete; they
do not even provide information on how obese any of their subjects
were before beginning their drug and diet regimens.

From the limited data they supply, we ean calenlate that one group
of 60 patients treated with fairly high—30 milligrams daily—doses of
Tonamin lost an average of less than 7 pounds over the 1-month period.

This is not very convincing when one considers that the weight of
many people who are not taking any drugs or making any effort to
lose weight may fluctuate almost as mueh as this in a month and still
be well within normal Hmits. _

The authors also minimized the “side reactions™ to Tonamin, assert-
ing, for example, that the insomnia often experienced was “somewhat
different from that occurring during amphetamine therapy.” in that
and the psychological mipact of a new therapy. But even if we con-
pared to the nervous overexhilaration which (has) * * * prevented
sleep fellowing amphetamine treatment.”

If this statement deserves any credence—not that it necessarily
does—it suggests that Tonamin is more likely to lead to drug abuse than
racemic amphetamine ; people generally do not persist in taking drugs
thev consider nnpleasant,

Freed and Hays claim that Tonamin is “chemically and pharmaco-
Togically different from amphetamine.” Ifowever, the following year
. Modell emphasized that

Phenyltertinrybutylamine resin * * * advertised as not being an amphetamine
drug, is a carboxylie acid-type of exchange resin which contains substituted
phenylbutylamine moijeties that are released in the gastrointestinal tract.

Ag shown in the formulas, the amine itself clearly belongs to the amphetamine
series,

'Ten years later, he devoted only two brief sentences to the alleged
unique mode of action and value of Yonamin in his comprehensive and
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objective edition of Drugs of Choice: “All systemic effects, therefore,
stem from an amphetamine-like action. There is no good evidenee that
this is in any way a superior member of the group.” Not surprisingly,
the drugs used by Freed and Hayes were supplied by the manufacturer.

The vast majority of the clinical investigations on the anorectic
effects of amphetamines yield, to one degree or another, favorable
resulits.

This judgment must be qualified. however, because excellent results
are obtained in the early stages of almost all types of treatment becanse
of the initial willingness of subjects to cooperate with a new physician
and the psychological impact of a new therapy. But even i¥ we Ccoll-
sider amphetamines generally useful in this respect, and 1 certainly
do not, we must still come to grips with the question of adverse effects.

Much of the obesity literature minimizes the number and severity
of these effects or actnally states that there are none.

Finch, for example, elaims that

Texedrine sulphate Is a nontoxic safe drug which may safely be nsed in ob-
stetric patients to aid them in preventing excessive gain of weight.

Studies like this have led to large-scale prescription of amphetamine
to pregnant women when there is evidence that it may be a teratogenic
agent,

An amphetamine derivative ealled fenfluramine, sold in the United
Xingdom, Europe, and Australia as “ponderax,” seems to be a highly
specific appetite suppressant with low CNS—stimulating and euphor-
ic properties and low-addictive potential. :

Even so0, Oswald and his coworkers cautiously conclude only that it
mery be preferred to other amphetamines.

They emphasize that:

Most slimming pills are also “pep pills” and invite abuse, Past experience leads
to scepticism when claims are made that a new appetite-reducing drug does not
affect alertness or mood.

Other clinicians, mindful of amphetamines’ potential for harm, as-
sert that in weight reduction the expesure is limited to a relatively
short period.

But, though this may be the intention, it often does not turn ont that,
wav.

People who have problems controlling their need for constant grati-
fication, as indicated by compulsive eating, find it hard to put aside a
medication that makes them “feel good.”

What is more, many patients consider their attempt to lose weight
doomed to failure once they have lost this “magic” potion that protects
them from themselves. .

When the drug is discontinued, a psvchological vacuum is created
which has to be filled with food. On oceasion, patients have gained
back even more weight than they lost, a condition commenly known
as the “rebound phenomenon.” .

So, although short-term use of the drug causes a short-term weight
loss, it also helps the patient avoid the issue of changing his eating
habits.

T doubt the wisdom of using amphetamines for weight reduction
under any circumstances. Although they can cause a 3- to 4-week eu-
phoric “high” that may have as one of its “side effects” a diminished
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food intake and consequent weight loss, after this period they are no
longer effective as anorectics uniess the user increases the dose, thus
initiating a pattern of abuse.

And after use is discontinued, the average person quickly gains back
the weight he lost—or more.

In short, there seems to be few conditions which justify the preserib-
ing of amphetamines; the exceptions are a very select group suffering
from certain varieties of narcolepsy and a number of truly hyper-
kinetic children, and in these cases amphetamines should be prescribed
only after a careful weighing of their potential dangers against their
possible value.

Mr. Goroon, Doctor, as far as the needs of the people with nar-
colepsy, there are alternatives to amphetamines, are there not?

Dr. Grixspoox, That is correct.

But it is not an antiobesity drug. It is not used as an antiobesity
drug. I would suspect that if it might, one could then conceive of a
drug company taking and promoting its anorectic factor, and using
it in treatment of obesity,

That is what has happened with so many of these drugs with what
were originally considered to have so-called side effects; let us say a
patient in the 1930’s was treated for depression with amphetamines,
and then it was noted that the drug had an anorectic effect. Tt was
considered a side effect, a bad effect, because indeed yon did not want
to have a patient with this kind of depression, especially where he was
not eating, to have any of this side effect.

Mr, Gorpox. When you referred to the amphetamines in your pres-
entation, you also included amphetamine-related drugs?

Dr. Grinseoox. Yes.

Mr. Goroox, Fenfluramine is a little different ¢

Dr. Grinsroox. Yes.

Mr. Gorbon. As a matter of fact, in an article that appeared in
Clinical Pharmacology & Therapeuties in 1975

Dr. Grixspoox. Is that the John Griffith article ?

Mr. Gorpox. It is bv Griffith and Jasinski.

Dr. Grrxspoon. All right.

Mr. Gorpox. Dr. Jasinski is going to testify tomorrow. He likens
fenfluramine to I.SD rather than amphetamines.

Dr. GrixseooX. Yes. You sce, one of the things I did not get into
is that this simple molecule has an extraordinary way of being modi-
fied in the laboratory.

It is estimated there are potentially 2,000 amphetamine derivatives.

‘We have only begun to open the door to these drugs. '

Now, one whole area of modifying this molecule is in the direction
of the so-called hallucinogenic amphetamines.

There are a number of drugs on the street now which are in fact,
used by many people who are interested in psychedelic experiences,
and some of these drugs are in fact amphetamine derivatives.

Fenfluramine seems to be a drug which is sort of midway, pharma-
cologically midway between the mors established amphetamine drugs
and hallucinogens.

It seems to bridge those two general elasses.

Mr. Goroox. Now. if it is so easy to concoct a lot of different types
of drugs that are related to amphetamines, would it not be your opin-




COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY 14449

ion that we better do something about these drugs right now, before
‘they proliferate on the market?

Dr. Grixspoox. There is no question that something ought to be
.done about them, and there is no question that they will proliferate,
7ot only in terms of numbers of any individual drug being available,
but in terms of the actual kinds of drugs; new synthesized versions of
these drugs are going to be around in the future, there is no question
:about it.

. The problem is what to do about it, hecause, you see, the other thing
-about the simplicity of this molecule is that anybody who has taken
an organic chemistry course in college can buy some very simple
equipment, for about $25 and set up what is called a garage speed
]a(llbomtory, where illicit amphetamines are produeed.

It is very simple to produce it that way, and one cannot talk about
‘banning the basic ingredients that are so commonly needed and used
in industry; there is no way of preventing the development of illicit
amphetamine laboratories.

Let me finish the last couple of sentences of myv statement. :

Individual physicians—not only psychiatrists, but specialists in all
areas, as well as general practitioners—who have overprescribed am-
phetamines in the past should be willing to recognize how they may
have denied a patient Lelp for his real problem in the very act of
complying with his overt request for a pill.

The near-epidemic extent of amphetamine abuse which exists in
this country today is at least in part a result of the medical com-
munity’s basic unwillingness to recognize that fulfillment of its first
responsibility is net always identical with the most immediate alle-
viation of pain and suffering,

That concludes my prepared statement.

Senator Nrrsow. Thank you, Dr. Grinspoon.

T have some questions which I think I will withhold for the whole

panel until all of the testimony is in, so that each of you may wish to.

comment.

Our next witness is Dr. James J. Nora, professor of pediatrics and
director of pediatric cardiology, University of Colorado Medical
Center, Denver, Colo.1

You may proceed, Dr. Nora.

‘STATEMENT OF JAMES J. RORA, M.D., PROFESSOR OF PEDIATRICS
ARD DIRECTOR OF PEDIATRIC CARDIOLOGY, UNIVERSITY OF
COLORADO MEDICAL CENTER, DENVER, COLO.

Dr. Nora. Senator Nelson, Mr. Gordon, ladies and gentlemen, my
charge, as I understand it, is to speak to the possible role that amphet-
amines and related drugs may play in the production of birth defects.
if there is exposure at a vulnerable period of embryonie or fetal devel-

opment, and if there are both a genetic predisposition to react ad-.

versely to these drugs and a genetic predisposition to some form of
maldevelopment,

All of the qualifications of the previous sentence must be applied
to amphetamines and to most potential teratogens.

1 See prepared statement and attachments of Dr. Nora beginning at p. 14913,
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Mr. Gorpox. Is it possible to ascertain in advance whether a person
is predisposed to react adversely to amplictamines?

Dr. Nora. This is an area for the next couple of decades of work,
determining who is at risk for development of the various birth defects,
whao is at risk to respond adversely to certain agents.

I think that one area where it has been pursued a great deal, and
must be pursued a great deal more, is to find those things in the en-
vironment that will produce coronary heart disease.

It is not quite as far advanced in the arcas of birth defects, and in
identifying the individunls at risk. :

Unfortunately, there is no simple skin test or blood test that would
help us identify who would be at risk in taking amphetamines.

Fortunately, there are few agents in our environment that possess
the disastrous teratogenic potential of thalidomide or rubella virs.
And, conversely, under the right combination of genetic predisposi-
tion and exposure at a vulnerable period of development, one could
project that almost any agent that has pharmacologic activity could
ba teratogenic.

Between these extremes, T helieve there exists a number of agents
causing birth defeets in enough susceptible individuals to constitute.
a significant health hazard, It is in this latter category that I bLelieve
dextroamplietamine may belong.

Some of my coworkers and T have devoted a not inconsequential
portion of our research activity to investigating such teratogens, which
are diffienlt to identify in the epidemiologic sense.

To give an example : Thalidomide causes matformations, including a
rare sentinel anomaly, phocowmelia, in 50 to 80 percent of infants who
have had a maternal exposure during the vulnerable period of
embrvogenesis.

With these factors in favor of prompt detection of the teratogen,
thalidomide was on the market for over 2 vears before the first suspi-
cions abont its safety were voiced.

How much more difficult is it to implicate a “low risk agent” that
causes maldevelopment in only 1 pereent of exposures ?

Yet, if the exposures are frequent, say, in 10 percent of pregnancies,
then 3.000 malformed infants would be delivered in the United States
each vear as a result of taking such a “low risk agent.”

The pitfalls in conducting epidemiologic studies that will vield a
confident angwer as to whether or not an agent. is teratogenic are many.

In brief, precise verification.is essential in both retrospective and
prospective studies. But, even with carefn! verification, the possibilities
for svstematic bias and the limitation in the tvpe of data obtained—no
population frequency rates—make refrospective studies less conclusive
than prospective ones.

The published studies of the potential teratogenicity of ampheta-
mines are retrospective,

Prospective studies, in which one could be more confident, have not
been done. The reason is simply this: Prospective studies require many
more patients and no one to date has accumulated 4 large enongh series
to address this question prospectively.

Senator NeLsox. Have there not been animal studies?
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Dr, Nora. Yes; and I will discuss this in detail a little later, but the
proper study of mankind is man and what one finds in an animal may
not really relate too well.

Senator NrLsoxn. It is difficult to conduet such studies on humans,
but in the case of animals, is it not possible to get relevant data?

Dr. Nora. The traditional animal models do not always yield the
data one desires. Thalidomide did not yield the patterns that were
found, and in some species it was not teratogenic at all in these tradi-
tional models, and yet it turned out to be disastrous in humans, so you
can get some peripheral evidence, and I will discuss this in a little bit.

Senator Nersox. It may not be relevant, and it may be a long time
ago, but I recall in one of the cases where it was indicated there was
very serious side effects of thalidomide, and they dropped these inves-
tigators and got some others, and T do not recall what the investiga-
tors found that aroused their suspicions to warn the company, but 1 do
recall it was those investigators.

Dir. Nonra, The investigators getting positive results probably were
using an animal model appropriate to the study, and the best animal
inodel is a primate of some sort which is more closely related to a

wimnan,

Mr. Gorpox. Is it not also correct that the results of animal studies
resulted in the FD\’s withholding marketing approval for thalid-
omide?

Dr. Nora. That could be one of the influences. I am not privy to what
went on at that time. :

We have considercd that amphetamine provides o good model to

illustrate the obstacles in the way of reaching confident econclusions
about the presence or ahsence of teratogenic effect of a given agent.
" Qur own experience with this drug may be summarized briefly. In
1962, the mother-of an infant born with transposition of the great ves-
sels—a complex and frequently fatal congenital malformation of the
heart—expressed more than the usual concern about the cause of the
heart defect in her infant son. '

She volunteered that she had taken amphetamine diet pills during
her pregnancy and asked directly if the amphetamine could have
cansed the problem.

We were unable to find any evidence in the literature of such an
association and so reassnured the mother.

But within 2 weeks we encountered two more such cases of transposi-
tion and first trimester exposure to amphetamines.

These three cases represented a very provocative epidemiologic
cluster.

At this point we began three studies:

1. A retrospective study to compare histories of maternal ex-
posures to amphetamines in congenital heart patients and in nor-
mal children;

2. An animal homology stiudv to see if we could produce trans-
position of the great vessels giving amphetamines to mice and
chicks: and

5. A prospective study. starting with mothers prior fo delivery
whn had docnmented amnhetamine exposure in the first trimester
and were awaiting the outcome of their pregnancies.
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We reported the results of the animal studies in mouse first, and in
mouse, chick, and drosophila later.

Amphetamine produced malformations in a1l three models. But this
doesn’t mean it produces malformations in humans.

The fact that three phyla were affected, and that two strains of one
species were also affected was suggestive of the teratogenic potential of
the drug. '

An unexpected finding that greatly influenced our thinking ahout
the etiology of congenital heart diseases in general was that in one
species of mouse we caused ventricular septal defect and in another
species we caused atrial septal defect.,

We were unable to produce transposition.

It appeared that amphetamines bronght out the malformation to
which the strain was predisposed. And it was this observation that
led us to the belief that there must be a predisposition—a malfunction
and a predisposition—to react adversely to an agent which must be
‘given at the vulnerable period of development as the three essentials.
of teratogenesis.

The first retrospective study of congenital heart patients was in-
conclusive. We did not find a statistical difference at the 0.05 level.
After publishing these findings we redesigned our protocol, admitted
younger patients into the study—to reduce material memory bias—.
and tightened our verification procedures. ‘

We tightenéd our verifieation procedures and made absolutely sure.
that there was adequate evidence from more than one source that the.
pe];son did indeed have the drug at the time she was supposed to Lave
taken it.

After 2 more years we analyzed our new data. found a statistically
significant difference between the congenital heart and control groups,
and were forced to retract our previous report that there was no sig-.
nifiecant amphetamine influence in congenital heart disease. '

Thus two studies by the same investigators led to opposite eonclu-
sions. We believe the second studv to be the more reliable one.

It has already been pointed out that retrospective studies are less
conclusive than prospective ones, so we put our eggs in the bhasket of
a large obstetrical practice that used amphetamines liberally.

I carefully avoided telling the obstetricians which of the many drugs
on our qnestionnaire we were most interested in. but a medical student
working with me spilled the beans and the obstetricians immediately
stopped using amphetamines and Jost interest in our project. '

By the way, that was at a time when malpractice insurance was £60-
per vear, You can imagine what a threat such studies are now. We did
publish a small prospective study of 240 patients, eight of whom de-
livered infants with malformations, three of which were associated
with maternal exposure to amphetamines.

The loss of 2 prospective study of sufficient size was probably of
positive benefit to the patients, but it has obviated our reaching the
confident conclusions we desired.

Sinece T have brought up the subject of malpractice suits, T would
like to call attention to a trend which I consider to be indefensible,

From the number of communications I receive from legal firms all
over the country regarding the role of maternal drug exposure in birth
defects, it appears that some of our Iegal collengues believe that the.
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way to demonstrate that a drug is a teratogen is through passionate
litigation rather than through dispassionate investigation.

The idea has been fostered that one need only to demonstrate the
possibility that a given agent could have caused a malformation in
an individual, But as T have said, and I believe that most teratologists
would agree, under the right condxtlons almost any drug can be tera-
togenie.

How ever, the question we are addressing here is whether or not am-
phetamines cause birth defects to the extent that they represent a
sigmificant health hazard.

“From our retrospective data and the peripheral evidence from ex-
perimental studies of mechanisms of action in animal models, I would
.grive a qualified yes to the question.

There have been a number of other retrospective studies published
by other investigators of teratogenic effects attributed to ampheta-
mines and related sympathomlmetlc drugs, such as phenmetrazine.

Levin found a significant increase in biliary atresia following ma-
ternal exposure to amphetamines, and we have some confirmation of
this in our study.

Matera and coworkers reported an infant with exencephaly, which is
one of the prominent malformations we found in our mouse studies, so
](iere again animal studies oﬂ'ered supportive but not conclusive evi-

ence,

Nelson and Forfar in a retrospective study of 1,369 patients found an
excess of infants with maternal exposure to appetlte suppressants
among those with abnormalities,

Lenz found a case of diaphragmatic hernia and Powell and John-
ston, two cases, following maternal phenmetrazine administration,

Moss found limb anomalies in the infant of a mother who had taken
phenmetrazine.

Tt should be noted that all of these studies are retrospective and
some are merely case reports, but they contribute to a sizable volume
of evidence which supports the pOSSlb]]lfV that these drugs are tera-
togenic, despite the fact that the definitive prospective study has not
been performed.

If appetite suppressants, which is just a polite term for « upper% .
had a useful function in the medical armamentarium, one could not
accept the present retrospective data as sufficient evidence to abrorrqte
the use of these drugs.

We are currentlv trying to resolve the problem of conﬂlctmv Tetro-
spective data regarding birth defects and the “Pill” and various pro-
gestogens and estrogens through a prospective study.

The point is: The world needs the “Pill” or some agent that can per-
form its function equally well.

I am frankly unable to identify a similar need for amphetamines
and related drgs.

Mr. Chalrman, the references to my prepqred statement follow.

q(ﬁlﬁ‘lt@l‘ NerLson. Are you saying you find no need for amphetammes
at a

Dr. Nora. T am not finding it the way the world needs the “Plll »

-T think there is no great need for appetite suppressants, but the ty
of need we have is for some medications that are for very specific indi-
cations, such as narcolepsy and hyperkinesis.
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1 think you have to look at the risk/benefit ratio.

1 think the risk/benefit ratio to the use of amphetamines as appetite
suppressants 1s very, verf unfavorable,

Senator NersoN. I will ask the panel to address that question when
wa conclude the testimony.

Dr. Nora. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

That concludes my prepared testimony.

Senator NErsox, Our next witness will be Dr. Thaddeus Prout,
associate professor of medicine, Jolns Hopkins University and chief
of medicine, Greater Baltimore Medical Center, Baltimore, Md.

Dr. Prout, you may proceed.

STATEMENT OF THADDEUS E. PROUT, M.D., ASSOCIATE PROFESSOR
OF MEDICINE, JOENS HOPKINS UNIVERSITY, AND CHIEF OF
MEDICINE, GREATER BALTIMORE MEDICAL CENTER, BALTI-
MORE, MD.

Dr. Provr. Thank yon, Mr. Chairman.

I appreciate the opportunity of being here.

In order to save time since 1 know vou have a tight schedule, T will
place my prepared statement on file, restrict my comments to one or
two areas of importance.

Senator Nersox. Your statement, Dr, Pront, will be printed in full
in the record, and you may commnent extemporaneously, or however
you desire.! :

Dr. Provr. Thank you, sir.

First, I place in the record the conclusions and the recommenda-
tions of the Commitiee for the Evaluation of Anorectic Drugs of the
FDA, of which I was chairman,

The committee had recommended that all of the anorectic drugs
with abuse potential be placed in schedule IT of the Comprehensive
Drug Abuse Act.

Senator NeLson. You are talking about amphetamines that are al-
ready there. Are you also talking about the related drugs?

Dr. Prour. All of these drugs were not there at that time, and we
were addressing ourselves to those that were not. We found no reason
to conelude that they shonld not be placed in schedale 1T also.

Senator NeLsox. That was the recommendation?

Dr. ProuT. Yes. The study had been undertaken to study the pos-
sible benefits of these drugs in obesity.

Senator NeLsox. Which committee is that?

Dr. Provr. This was an ad hoe committee appointed by the FDA
under my chairmanship.

Senator NeLson. \\'}wn was that recommendation made?

Dr. ProrT. Inthe fall of 1972,

Senator NeLsox. They are all related ?

Dr. Provr. All had abuse-potential with one exception. But some of
the comments this morning were pointing that our knowledge may
change and fenfluramine which was believed to be an exception may
now eome under the same suspicion. At that time it was a new medi-
cation, and we did not have sufficient evidence to sce that it might have
an abuse potential as well. .

et
1 See prepared statement of Dr. Prout begluning at p. 14921,
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Fenfluramine is less of a central nervous system stimulant than the
other drugs in this class. If anything, it appeared to have a depressing
effect, but that in itself raised the question of whether it might have
abuse potential in some other way. I think the comments this morning
have pointed out that the continued surveillance of this drug class
mizht have some merit

Senator Nerson. You said thisisan ad hoe-panel?

Dr. Prour. Yes, an ad hoec committee of the FDA.

Senator Nerson. Selected by whom ? .

- Dr. Prour. Selected by the Commissioner, T presune.

1t was selected in part from the Committee on Endocine and Meta-
bolic Drugs, of which I am also chairman,

Senator Nerson. And the recommendation was that all of the am-
phetamines and related drugs be put in schedule 112 That was 2 unani-
mous recommendation ¢ '

Dr. Prout. Yes, it was a unanimous recommendation.

These recommendations, Senator Nelson, are listed verbatim on page
3 of my prepared statement.

Senator NeLsox. Page 32

Dr. Prour. Yes, of my prepared statement. :

Senator Nersox. And those recommendations were made in 197217

Dr. Prour. Yes, in the fall of 1972, :

- Senator NELson. Sothat is 4 yearsago?

Dr. ProuT. Yes. ' ' '

Senator NeLsox. Has the FDA taken any action that youn are aware
of in respect to those recommendations ?

Dr. Protr. Some, but not all of these medications have been placed
in schedule IT, and they appear to have drawn the line between those
that had an abuse pofential, and those already known to be under
abuse in the street, '

The FDA apparently saw themselves as a surveillance agency that
could in fact watch street traffic, and, if hecessary act on the basis of
new information by rescheduling the agents in IIi and IV to schedule
IIif necessary.

Senator NErsox. You are identifying in your statement those that
were placed on schedule II following the recommendations of the ad
hoe committee, and those that were not? Do we have a list of them ?

' Dr. ProuT. Yes, we do. . .

Senator Nerson. Are they in your statement?

Dr. Provr. No; the actual schedules are not in the staternent,
but they are readily available from the FDA. T could make a reason-
ably accurate compilation of them, but I think you would prefer to
go to the official record. : : ,

Mr. Gomnox. As I understand it. Mr, Chairman, the amphetamines,
phenmetrazine—Preludin—and methylphenidate—Ritalin—which Ri-
talin incidentally is for weight controE were put in schedule II, and
the so-called nonamphetamines such as Tonamin, Pondimin, Tenuate,
and others were put in schedules 11T or IV, '

Dr. Prout. Yes, all of the rest are either I1T or IV, including the
newer ones that were under study at that time,

Senator Nerso~, Go ahead.

- Dr. Provr. I think that placing some of these drogs in scheduie IT
had two effects. First, there was a fall in the sales of those which were
85-569—77-—3
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actually placed in schedule II. However, this did not completely pre-
vent the abuse of all schedule IT drugs. Preludin, for example, still
seems to be high on the abuse list, and this is particularly true here
in the District of Columbia.

The second effect was predictable. Sales of amphetamine-like com-
pounds which were not placed in schedule II had a marked increaso
in use with the expected rise in sales.

One of these was cited on national television because of the particu-
larly aggressive promotional techniques of one company andp for its
rather high increase in sales. :

These drugs are now know to be subject to street abuse, If you look
back to the list of the recommendations of the committee forthe FDA,
my first recommendation would again be that all of these drugs with
abuse potential be placed in schedule II.

Socond, it has been demonstrated that the amphetamines and their
related compounds have such trivial effectiveness in the treatment of
obesity, that we should look again at questions of whether or not
obesity should continue asan indication for their use.

Obesity is the major medical excuse for the manufacture of am-
phetamines. It now seems reasonable to state that the risk of over-

roduction of the drugs and their excessive abuse far exceeds the
benefits that might be cited in the treatment of obesity. Only a few
patients in association with rigid dieting, believe that the so-called
anorectic drugs were the causative agent in their weight reduction.
Most patients get no benefit from their use and risk the development
of addiction.

T would, therefore, recommend that obesity be awithdrawn as an in-
dication for the therapeutic use of these drugs. _

This action has in fact been taken by Canada and some other coun-
tries, and in my own State of Maryland. Maryland has a model law
that might be duplicated in the Federal statutes. -

Senator Nersox. Did you say the State of Maryland?

Dr. Prour. The State of Maryland has withdrawn obesity as an
indication for prescribing amphetamines.

The effect of eliminating obesity as an indication for use and of.
putting these drugs on schedule IT, would in effect take them off the
market. Up to 90 percent of the medication appears to be prescribed
for obesity and production could probably be reduced to 10 percent or
less of present production rates. As a result there would be much
less drug to spill over into the street. 1 believe this would reduce the
Jegitimate manufacture of these drugs by 85 to 90 percent.

Senator NrLsox. You are saying 85 to 90 percent of its current use
is for obesity, that is, prescribed in the case of obesity?

Dr. Prour. That is correct.

Of course, we do not know exactly where the produet is going and
that is another reason for our prime concern, As has been bronght out
here this morning the production of these medications is far in excess
of any use that we might be expected for treatment of obesity, and the
other medical indication. Placing them in schedule IT, and withdraw-
ing obesity as an indication for their use, would in fact, make a very
impressive impact on the amounts of medication available, and it could
only be used for the other indieated medical uses from that time on.

denator. Nersox. If T recollect correctly, there are some 70,000
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pounds produced amounting to 12 billion pills, was that somcbody’s
testimony ¢

Dr. Prout. The testimony this morning was 8 billion units, enough
to give 35 doses to every man, woman and child in the United States.

Dr. Grrxsroox, The figure is that it was estimated that it would co
to 12 billion.

Senator Nerson. Twelve billion tablets?

Dr. Grrxspoox. Yes; by units, I mean tablets, capsules, what have

ou.
7 Senator Nerson. And so you give a ballpark ficure, you would be
recommending a reduction from 12 billion to 1 bilTion ¢

Dr. Prour. Yes; something in that order. The important thing is
that it can be reduced within the year, or certainly by next year.

Senator NELson, What you are saying is leave it on the market for
hyperkinesis and narcolepsy indications?

Dr. Prour. In the State of Maryland there is a third category of
unusual and rare conditjons, which is a legitimate use,

This includes a few patients such as those with Parkinson’s disease,
or other individuals with neurological problems, seen in large clinies,
for individuals who have certain forms of pathological obesity, such
13 the Pickwickian syndrome and for which amphetamines might be
used. This syndrome may include narcolepsy as a part of it. There are
a number of other rare uses, - '

Senator Nevrson. I was wondering how accurate are the figuves that
we have on the incidence of hyperkinesis and narcolepsy. -

Dr. Provt. T do not think we have any hard data on the ficures, esti-
mates vary from various regions of the country, but the highest T have
seen is that 3 percent of schoolchildren may have a “hyperkinectic
syndrome.” ' L ‘
Dr., Grinsroox. There was one estimate by HEW, T believe they pro-
iected there might be 2s many as 4 million children who suffered from
yperkinetic syndrome. '

I think that is a vast overstatement, but even if one took it as an
outside figure, it is very difficult to assess,

The closest we could come to for narcolepsy is a ficure of something
in the order of 20,000, and I think that is probably a liberal estimate.

Senator NELsox. What are the estimates of the number of patients
who are receiving amphetamines for weight control purposes?

Dr. Grixsroox, I do not know what that number is, ’

Senator Nerson. Go ahead.

D, Grinsroon. When I said 4 million, that is the number of chil-
dren who are not being treated. That is the estimate of the number
who might be suffering from hyperkinetic syndrome,

Mr. Goroox, My impression is that these drugs are not indicatedl
for hyperkinesis, but tather for minimum brain disfunction as evi-
denced by hyperkinesis.

There are a lot of kids that are hyperactive. Does that mean we have
to give these kids drugs? _ :

Dr. Prour, Are you asking me? :

. I personally do not think so, and T think that the 400.000 estimate
)% probably about the same as the 3 percent. These schoolchildren
are clementary schoolchildren and children: in junior high schogl.
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The “hyperkinetic,” or the “hyperactive,” syndrome may disappear -
spontaneously.

Dr. YArFrE. Not very marmy of these children in my opinion need
drugs for their management.

Senator NeLsox. Go ahead, Dr. Prout.

Dr. Procr. I think when obesity is eliminated as an indication most
of the amphetamines will be withdrawn from the market, Certainly
all of the combinations of drugs including these amphetamines will
be withdrawn, but this prohibition should be extended to the am-
phetamine-like compound as well.

Finally, T think if we are going to have any new preparation of
these drugs, or any other substituted amines for the treatment of
obesity that they must pass the test of efficacy and safety that the
FDA Trequires, perhaps more rigidly based on FDA protocol in order
to eliminate any trivial products.

T think there is one further extension of this that might actually be
voiced here as well. The Federal Government spends an enormous
amount of money and effort trying to take over-the-counter products
for obesity off the market as well. .

There have been two suits, one by the FTC, and one by the U.S.
Postal Service, related to propanolamine. This is a very wasteful
way to spend the taxpayer’s money, when we could in fact eliminate
them all at once rather than drug by drug.

As we chase each one of these manufacturers through their trade
name, they have only to come back under a new name and a new trade
name, to be back in business. That makes it very difficult to fight on a
one-on-one basis, and I'think the sweeping review of that whole area
34 well worth this committee’s surveillance.

This is where the original FDA Committee, in its earlier recom-
mendations, fulfilled it charge irrits single-purposed review of whether
or not these drugs were or were not useful in the treatment of obesity.
But I now think we should probably also go to other considerations
and this is the practice of the pharmaceutical companies of bulk
shipping of these drugs directly to clinies. -

Senator Nrrson. I did not understand that. This is what?

Dr. ProcT. As noted in my prepared statement there is a practice
in the pharmacentical companies of making bulk shipments of these
drnes directly to certain clinics.

Now, if these facilities will ire the future be unable to stay in busi-
ness if obesity is withdrawn as an indication for use it will be very
hard to justify the sending, a bulk shipment of 100,000 doses to any
single clinic or individual. The risk here is in losing track of the drugs.
Qurveillance, even of the drugs in schedule 1T, would be very, very
difficult to follow under these circnmstances.

A second important point to be reviewed is the whole basis of the
relationship of pharmaceutical houses to the medical profession which
needs to be looked into. Indeed, Senator Nelson, yvou touched on it
this morning when you noted that certain investigators who come up
with “bad answers” may no longer be supported by drug companies
for their “research.” Or fo state it positively, one finds that the pharma-
ceutical companies are very likely to support “pogearch,” “consulta-
tion,” “teaching,” “goodwill.” or whatever other term might be used

to deseribe the favor that they curry from these excess funds that
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go into medieal facilities, T think it js important that we have some
way of looking into the total extent of this cash flow. In brief, I would
say that we should have a better surveillance of the way pharmaceuti-
cal companies support this kind of “research.” ) )

Indeed, there are already ways in which pharmaceutical companies
can contribute to a gencral research, and use acceptable protocols un-
der tight surveillance, by utilizing review procedures by organiza-
tions independent of pharmacentical companies. Contributions to
medical research are very much needed and I am sure there are ways
in which this can be done, but I believe we should look into the ways
in which their present tactics are tied in with the so-called “research.”

A third area of concern it seems to me actnally brings up an area
in which I touched upon before this committee in 1972. T had sug-
gested at that time that Congress establish a committee of “blue-ribbon
untonchables” very similar to the Council on Pharmacy and Chemistry
previously aetive in the American Medical Association. o

This possibility deserves further thought and discussion, especially
since it drew the fire of no less a spokesman of the AMA than the
Iate Dr. Morris Fishbein.

Such a committee I think would have a number of important fune-
tions, one of the things that seems to be missing in the Federal Gov-
ernment 1s that of having a responsible agency which authorizes, or
ooks into the way money is spent for drugs. Millions of dollars are
spent on worthless drug products by the many medical facilities of
the U.S. Government at this time, and I think we must look into this
and eliminate the waste. : -

This committee could implement another thing that has been touched
on this morning, and that 1s the necessity of having phase IV studies.
We do not wish to impede the bringing of important new drugs into
medical use, What we do wish to emphasize is the fact that many
drugs come to medical use in which the long-term effects are in fact
not known,

Dr. Nora and others have touched on the fact that Iong-term studies
of a retrospective nature are not usnally very productive. Phase IV
study implies that continuing information will be gathered after the
drugs are put on the open market in order to retrieve long-term an-
swers to the questions of efficacy and zafety. It seems to me this needs
to be Jooked into. ‘

This “blue-ribbon” committee should have one other function. As
I had previously proposed. there is need for consumer information
on drug usage, and a need for the production of a consumer package
insert, This is also a recommendation I made before this committee
in December 1972, T think the people expeet to have this kind of
consumer education, and I do not believe it can wait until other antiei-
gated far-reaching legislation in the health insurance field comes

own.

Finally, there is a very difficult new area of concern which T ean
only look upon without definite knowledge of how it might be solved.

The pharmaceutical houses have stepped into a void of continuing
medical education. I am not sure how we can again gain control of
postgraduate education of the medical profession, but as we go into a
period in which the Federal Government becomes more and more
interested in medical practice we must all look into this more carefully.
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There should be teaching programs which involve medical schools,
community hospitals, and people that are knowledgeable in the medi-
eal fields to bring new information into practice. I have gone into
some detail in the submitted paper.

Mr. Chairman, T have completed comment on my report to you.
Briefly, I would hope:

One, that the former recommendations of the committee be
implemented.

Two, that obesity be eliminated as a medical indication for the use
of the agents under description in which the so-called anorectic prop-
erty goes hand in hand with abuse potential. ‘

Three, that over-the-counter nostrums advertised for the purpose
of reducing obesity be eliminated that are continuing to be used by
the citizens in a worthless manner for large sums of money.

Four, that the activities of the pharmaceutical industries be re-
viewed as to the ways in which they influence the practice of medicine.
- Five, that consumer education be addressed.

And, finally, six, that although there is no easy solution, the man-
ner by which the medical profession and the Federal Government
ean replace the pharmaceutical manufacturers as the principal pur-
veyors of postgraduate medieal training be sought.

- T have suggested that this might be done through a traineeship-
type of program for clinical pharmacologists. I believe that is the
onlv way it can be done. :

Senator Nersox. What is that ?

Dr. Prour. That this is the only way it might be done.

Senator Nrersox. What might be done ?

Dr. Proct. That we might establish a method by which eontinuing
medical education could be supported by something other than the
pharmaceutical kouses in order to prevent this continuing delusion of
postgraduate medical education.

Thank you.

Senator Nrrsox. Thank you very much, Dr. Prout. _

Our next witness is Dr. Sumner Yaffe, professor of clinical phar-
macology and pediatrics, University of Pennsylvania, and director,
Division of Clinical Pharmacology, Children’s Hospital, Philadel-
phia, Pa. -

Dr. Yaffe is also to represent Dr. Allen Goldman, associate profes-
sor of Pediatrics, University of Pennsylvania, and director, teratol-
ogv unit, Children’s Hospital, Philadelphia, Pa.

Please proceed, Dr. Yaffe,

STATEMENT OF SUMNER J. YAFFE, M.D.,, PROFESSOR OF CLIRICAL
PHARMACOLOGY AND PEDIATRICS, UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYL-
VANIA, AND DIRECTOR, DIVISION OF CLINICAL PHARMACOL-
0GY, CHILDREN’S HOSPITAL, PHILADELPHIA, PA.

Dr. Yarre. Senator Nelson, Mr. Gordon, I am delighted to be here.

I have two roles as T understand it this morning.

One is to introduce the testimony of Dr. Allen Goldman, who is as-
sociate professor of pediatrics in my institution at the University of

1 Sep prepared statement of Dr. Goldman begloning at p. 14696, See also prepared state-
ment of I’r. Yaffe beginning at p. 14967,
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Pennsylvania, and also director of the teratology unit at Children’s
Hospital in Philadelphia.

Dr. Goldman’s statement, I believe, is available. I would just like, if
I may, rather than to read it, to highlight it, and to leave out certain
portions.

Senator NeLsox. That would be fine, Dr. Yafle.

The statement by Dr. Goldman will be printed in full in the record,
and you may comment on it, also. :

Dr. Yarre. Thank you

Dr. Goldman, at tﬁe very beginning of Lis statement, mentions the
continuing problem of birth defects, which I think is certainly worth-
while in reiterating, and that birth defects cause about 560,000 deaths
‘annually. :

He points out that the survivors are afllicted with blindness, hearing
impairments, heart or circulatory defects, mental retardation, and
other malformations. He then goes on to cite the continuing usage
of drugs by pregnant women.

This is on page 2. Paraphrasing some of this, he mentions the fact
that despite the tragedy, women continue to take drugs, whether at
the advice of their physicians, or over the counter, on their own ad-
vice, they take large numbers of drugs during pregnancy. There are
some dafa mentioned from several recent studies, one in the United
Kingdom and Scotland, 1973, and another from Texas.

An enormous number of drugs are taken by women while they are

pregnant. I would guess that they continue to take the same drugs
when they are not pregnant. I should also like to emphasize that these
drugs were not taken to save the mother's life or to treat the fetus,
but rather to relieve symptoms, and this is a very important point,
that many of these symptoms are mild and innocuous.
* Therefore, in my opinion, the drugs need not be taken by the women,
and, were this so, we would be in an era of very decreased drug
administration, consumption during pregnancy, with probably a
decrease in the rate of congenital malformations. Then Dr. Goldman
goes on to discuss the problem of teratogenicity in general terms,
mentioning the fact that in the usual production of anatomic mal-
formations, it is only the first 2 or 3 months of pregnancy where we are
concerned. Drugs that are known to cause human malformations fall
into four categories, the first would be the anticancer drugs, the
second being the steroidal sex hormones, androgens, estrogens, and
progestins, These hormones have been associated with very delayed
and long-term effects of drugs. Fifteen or twenty years after the
fetus received the drug, the effect was noted in the vagina in females
exposed to these drugs, and more recently, we have seen effects in the
male fetus now also in young adults, They have anatomic problems
with their urinary system, and problems with infertility, decreased
sperm production, and capability. I think the concept is that defects
may appear many decades after the administration of a drug, and T
think people now are not using these specific drugs as they did in the
forties and fifties to treat women who are pregnant.

Now. the third area that Dr. Goldman mentioned is alcohol, some-
thing that for surprising reasons, has only been recently brought to
our attention. A specific type of malformation has been reported. The
final group which he mentloned is that characterized by thalidomide,
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a drug which X do not have to mention here. e then goes on to discuss
what he calls hard teratogens, those exemplified by these four
classes, and soft teratogens. He classifies the antiobesity drugs, the
amphetamines, as soft, and points out the difficulties in ascertain-
ment, when you have a low-level of frequency. Dr. Nora has expounded
in much greater details, I will not repeat this, his opinions about
the teratogens and the antiobesity drugs, but it is worthwhile to point
out that one needs & minimum number of 18 cases of congenital heart
disease per 1,000 exposed fetuses to be able to distingnish that from
background——

Mr. Gornox. That is anatomical ?

Dr. Yarre. Yes; and that leads me to the last point. which I would
like to emphasize, of Dr. Goldman’s, and that is possibility of a func-
tional effect, that is, effect upon the central nervous system. Although
we do not have any human evidence, we do know that dexampheta-
mines administration can produce an effect on brain funetion, even
though there isno congenital malformation. .

I bring to your attention the fact that these drugs are used to
minimize weight gain, and during pregnaney this is not a proper use
of the drugs, the indications are not proper.

Dr. Prout mentioned that the limited evidence about the efficacy
in the first place, but I do not even have to get into that, because I
think weight gain during pregnancy is a physiological effect, some-
thing that really does not need treatment, unless it is perhaps
extremely excessive.

I think obstetricians have changed their thinking from 10. 20, 30
years 2go, when women were ordered not to gain very much weight,
and now there is 2 more generous weight allowance during pregnancy,
so that the state of nutrition of the fetus will not be compromised.

Mr, Gorpox. There are a number of days when a woman can be
pregnant without even knowing it, are there not ? :

Dr. Yarre. Absolutely. .

Now, that is my interpretation of Dr; Goldman’s remarks.

Now, if I may, I would like to move into the other arvea, the other
role, which T have been asked to testify by the d-amphetamine and
related central nervons system stimulants in children. The substance
of my testimony is contained in the article which Senator Nelson
mentioned in the introductory remarks. This article appeared in
Pediatrics in February 1973, which was written while T was chairman
of the Committee on Drugs of the American Academy of Pediatrics.

Here again, I would like to give you some paraphrasing of this
article, and underscore certain points which are contained in it.

I might say at the outset that we were prompted to prepare this
eommentarv as an educational resouree for pediatricians, who are
members of the Academy of Pediatricians.

We were prompted to develop this commentary for two reasons,
one, the rescheduling of several of these compounds into schedule 11
in 1972, which has been mentioned by Dr. Prout, and, second. that
in our neighboring country, Canada, the use of amphetamines for the
treatment of obesity was prohibited.

We did have representation on the Committee on Drugs from the
Health Protection Branch in Canada and in some way, the Canadians
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were ahead of us, and had prohibited this indication for the preserip-
tion of this drug, and this class of drugs.

Senator NErso~, What year was that?

Dr. Yarre. Year 1972, fall of 1972, .

Senator Nrrso~. And it is in the market for what specific purpose?

Dr. Yarre. As far as I know, Senator, it is in the market for the
two reasons in which we endorsed its prescription, that is for the
hyperkinetic syndrome, minimal brain disfunction, which was men-
tioned before, and, second, for the treatment of narcolepsy, which was
also mentioned. .

There is no other indication T would agree on, with the rare indica-
tions, which Dr. Prout mentioned, in agults, but for children, these
two indications. I might say, narcolepsy in children is a very, very
rare disease. If you can use the record of the Mayo Clinie, they saw
400 children over a 7-year period, in which they had seen many of the
children throughout certainly the Midwestern portion of this country.
So it is a very rare disease, and hardly enough to warrant the large-
seale production of amphetamines which has already been mentioned.

Senator NeLsoN. Let me ask one more question. Co

‘Does Canada have the same system, the schedule II-type thing,
and what is happening to the use of the drug in Canada? Do you
have any statistics?” .

Dr. Yarre. I am sorry, I do not know but I would think they
would have some way to control production.

Senator Nersox. We will have some testimony on that, also.

Dr. Yarre. To continue, therefore as far as the hyperkinetic
syndrome is concerned, I think Mr. Gordon mentioned this, I would
support what he said, that methylphenidate, although still classed
as an amphetamine, is probably the drug of choice among pediatricians
in this country.

That is a drug which has not been promoted as an antiobesity
agent, so we then come in conclusion in this paper to a recommendation
that—as others have made this morning—in 1973, amphetamines be
removed as antiobesity drugs, and that the usage be limited to the
two indications, one being narcolepsy, and the other being the
hyperkinetic syndrome associated with minimal brain disfunction.

Senator Nersox, That would be your recommendation ?

Dr. Yarre. Yes,

Senator NeLsox, Would that be the judgment of your colleagues
who are knowledgeable in this feld ? :

Dr. Yarrr. Yes, T would believe so, Senator.

May I just add one other statement about obesity itself, which has
been discussed in terms of the causation of obesity. This in my opinion
1s in many instances a disease. The antecedent for obesity begins
probably in early infancy, and it is due to excessive feeding by many
parents in our society. As a consequence the number of fat cells in
the body become increased. The very eloquent work of Dr. Hirsch and
Dr. Knittle in New York, have clearly demonstrated that if you are
overfed while an infant by vour mother or father, vou will have an
increased number of fat cells. There is verv little that can be done
when you are an adult about your obesity. You have a drive to eat,
and it seems to me that perhaps we should place the emphasis on
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proper feeding habits of infants, rather than trying to treat adults
with drugs, because they overeat. )

Now, I would agree that there are many other emotional and psy-
chological reasons for overcating, that may occur later on, but it 18
{Tue there are a large number of obese adults that have their origin
in infancy. In fact, I have just seen an article in the New England
Journal of Medicine which was published this summer, from Roches-
ter, N.Y., which has examined this int. This article which is entitled
“Childhood Antecedents of Adult Obesity,” with a subtitle, do chubby
infants become obese adults. The authors state and prove in their
summary of children whose records were available in the Rochester
area, 15 to 20 years after they were scen by their pediatrician, that
the antecedents do begin in their infancy.

Tf you are overweight as a young infant, chances are very great
that you will be overweight as an adult. :

Thank you. .

Senator Nersow. Thank you very much. .

- T would like to ask the panel a question, the 1962 law, known as the
Kefauver amendments requires substantial evidence of effectiveness,
based upon well-controlled scientific studies by qualified investigators.
I think that is a fair paraphrase of the provision in the statute. I
would like to hear your opinion on the following question: Based
upon the knowledge we mow have, and the understanding in the
statute as to substantial evidence of effectiveness based upon well-
controlled scientific studies by qualified investigators, would these
gmphetamines and amphetamine-related drugs meet the cfficacy
standard of the statute, to be admitted into the marketplace as a
prescription drug for antiobesity treatment ? —

Well, Mr. Gordon reminds me that the other aspect of the law is
safety, but given the Jaw as to safety and as to eflicacy, I would like
an opinion from each of you as to whether you believe that they are
now qualified to be admitted under the law to be used for the purpose
of treatment of obesity?

Dr. Yarre. I would like to give a qualified answer if I may.

I think there is some evidenco of children, in that in the short term,
T am now talking of several weeks, amphetamines are effective as
antiobesity agents, but after 1 month the eflect decreases markedly,
and unless the dose is increased significantly, which is not a good idea,
because of the risk for side effects and abuse, then there will be little
efficacy.

Certainly there is not any substantial evidence of efficacy, certainly
not in the way in which these drugs are used, on & chronic basis, there
is no substantial evidence of efficacy, and the safety of course as Mr.
Gordon mentioned, and as we have heard would hardly recommend
these drugs for use in prescriptions.

Senator NeLsoN. You would say it is hardly recommended for what?

Dr. Yarre. I would hardly be induced to use these drugs for obesity
because of their overriding toxicity.

Senator NeLso~. Dr. Grinspoon ?

Dr. Grrngpoox. Senator Nelson, I believe that this whole class of
drugs would not pass the test of efficacy for the treatment of obesity,

=)

and that they would not be considered drugs which do not impose
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significant risk, therefore, I would definitely say that they would not
pass such a fest, _

In fact, while I think the drugs are usable for narcolepsy and hyper-
kinetic syndrome, I would add then that where narcolepsy 1s con-
cerned, it may very well be that it would be a struggle to get them
by an efficacy criterion, because indeed, as was pointed out, 1f people
who suffer the numerically largest form of narcolepsy, take a nap for
5 or 10 minutes, that is the best treatment of all. So the biggest risk
to people with narcolepsy may be ths taking of these drugs, so if
they just take a nap, and they recognize the problem, as employers
must, thig usually works quite well, so that there is no reason to take
drugs.

Asto the question of hyperkinetic children, I think at this moment,
there are some children for whom it is efficacious, and the benefits
exceed the risks; however, new treatments are coming along, there
are other ways to approach it, and I look to the day when regarding
the treatment of hyperkinetic children, we would question whether
amphetamines is the best way. :

My concern about the treatment of hyperkinetic children right now
is that many children do not suffer from this very poorly defined syn-
drome known as minimal brain damage, and I think it is very im-
x rtant for a physician to be quite responsible in diagnosing this
1llness,

Senator Nersox, Dr. Nora?

Dr. Nora, If I were in this hypothetical position of being able at
this moment to accept or reject the use of this drug in the marketplace
for antiobesity, I would certainly reject it.

I do not think on the basis of Its efficacy or safety, that it is a deng
that should be admitted for that purpose.

I would have some more reservations about rejection for some other

urposes, but I think that the problem of abuse enters the picture, and
am not sure that T see a great need for the drug in the physician’s
armatarmum.

The only exceptions perhaps are hyperkinesis and narcolepsy.

Senator Nerson. Dr. Prout, do you want to answer that ?

. Dr. Prour. I think I have in a sense already answered it. Cortainly
In my own view, the trivial loss of weight seen with these drugs does
not come up to evidence of efficacy. In the future, we will hare to deal
with the question of what is 2 reasonable amount of weight loss, for
which the drug might be preseribed. '

Even if this were a small amount, a half a pound a week, but there
was 7o risk, and did not require discontinuation of the drug, or you
were able to continue the medication for a lifetime, then we would
have a very efficacious drug. So the definition of efficacy and safety
18 easler perhaps in the drugs we have today. The measure of what
would be efficacious and safe in the future, will lead us baclk to the
necessity of making that judgment on the basis of phase IV studies,
in addition to phase III-type studies,

Mr. Gorpon. The phase IV long term studies?

Dr. Prour. The long term studies in which evidence of the lack of
safety can be amassed over a period of time. Since obesity is a life-
time problem, it is not sufficient to look at their effectiveness in periods
of only 8 to 12 weeks, ‘
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Senator Nersox. In the earlier testimony as part of the panel, yon
Liave recommended that at the least the obesity indication be removed
and put on schedule IT.
~ Do you or do you not believe that it would meet the standards of
‘efficacy in terms of the current statutory meaning that proof of efficacy
.must be based on well-controlled clinieal trials by qualified investign-
tors and considering the safety question? Do you think that if the
application were now pending, and on the basis of what we know,
‘would you approve these drugs for the treatment of obesity?

Dr. Provr. 1 think it would not now qualify, and T would recom-
mend that obesity be withdrawn as an indication for its use.

Mr. Gorpox, T have a couple of questions.

This is a quotation, an excerpt from an F'DA document which we
have, and T will read it.

“Larger questions of Tong-standing remain unanswered such as the
long-term effect on morbidity and mortality of the use of anorectics,
These questions are of basic importance, since the usefulness of the
drugs depends in large part upon the assumption that they somehow
help prevent the adverse effects of obesity.”

This document also states:

“In addition to cvidence of abuse of amphetamines, evidence also
exists in fair quantity for abuse of phenmetrazine—Preludin—and di-
ethylpropion—Tenuate. For other anorectics evidence of abuse is
scanty or lacking. Experience with other abusable drugs has shown,
however, that documentation of abuse lags markedly behind abuse,
and, when it appears, is only the tip of the iceberg.”

Do you agree that it is desirable to use pharmacologic and chemical
data to predict abuse before it occurs? ’

Dr. Procr, T think this is the basis of our declaring that a drug has
abuse potential. We were able to look at a large number of animal ex-
-periments in which the central nervous system stimulatory eflect of a
-drug was easily documented. From that point of view, one could pre-
dict, since this is the effect that it was sought in the street, that as one
group of drugs becomes more difficult to procure, the others will he
tried and selected on the basis of their abuse usefulness. I think it is im-

-portant not to wait until abuse is shown in the street, but to prediet
that possibility on the basis of abuse potential, and it is the reason why
‘the FDA Committee drew the line right there. .

Dr. Grinsroox. I would agree; it seems to me ridiculous to wait until
a drug is abused on the strect.

There is no question we can predict which drugs will be abused. and
certainly the people who argue that a drug has certain characteristics
stich that it will not be abused. The burden of proof should be on them,

In India about 10 years ago methaqualone was sold, and there was a
lot of experience in Britain, and it was brought to the United States

-and sold here about 4 years ago. It was very clear at that time that it
could be abused, and it is being abused on the street now, it was some-
thing abhsolutely predictable. '

Dr. Nora. I would be in agreement with the others.

Dr. Yarre. Yes.

Mr. Gorpox, One more question. :
" Inview of the “trivial,” this is the word used by the Food and Drug
Administration, benefits to a few individuals, and the danger to both
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individuals and to the publie, would you consider these drugs, if they
remain on the market, as a hazard to the public health? - ’

Dr. Grixsroox. T would certainly consider them a hazard to the
public health. _

There is no question in my mind that there is far more harmfulness
in the general use of amphetamines for the treatment of obesity in this
country than benefit from them, and, therefore, they are clearly a haz-,
ard to the general health. : '

Dr. Prout. I think the question has to be answered, Mr. Gordou,
bﬁiqed on whether or not we can in fact control their use in ANy reason-
able way. : :

I think that we should work within the system as much as possible,
because there are legitimate medical uses Yor these medications and
we might use this group as a reasonable class to discuss the process,
and there might be ways by which their use counld be brought to public
benefit, I think that the sharp limitation quotas and withdrawal of
obesity as an indication for use would allow us to use them in other
ways.

There is some experience, for example the Canadian experience,
which we have not examined in detail before this committee, and which
I trust will be used to help to answer that question, Their experience
will show that they have been able to eontrol these drugs to some
degree,

I think we ought to focus on the fact that some of the problems, that
Japan, and particularly Sweden. has had in protecting their citizens
against the abuse of drugs, has been in large part related to the fact
that they have had very little help in the worldwide community, It
seems to me we ought tolook at this problem in the United Nations and
elsewhere, 25 an important member for the world community. We must
look at this problem on a worldwide basis.

I think our posture here in the United States will be very important
but we do have to learn how to control this problem in some way.,

Mr. Goroox. Then what is the answer? Is there an answer to it?

Dr. Prout. The answer is there may be a hazard to the publie, and
there are abuses, and T think we have to learn how to control them.
Taking them off the market entirely, and eliminating their use. [ think
is probably possible but there is a whole score of agents which are
used from this family, nose drops and sinus tablets, which are not un-
der discussion, all of these things will have to be Iooked at. The drug
abuse question has got to be seen in a broader sense.

In my earlier testimony I was not able to go into this, but T think
we will have to look at the whole family and the whole problem in o
very realistic way.

I believe scheduling has got to be pushed to the ultimate, a3 well a5
the establishment of quotas, the curtailment of influence of pharnm-
ceutical houses, and their whole use of the medical profession but, the
education of the public, and the education of the medical profession,
are all part of that question.

Mr. Gorpow. You said before that the antiobesity drugs should be
taken off the market ?

Dr. Prour. Obesity taken off as that indication for their use. This
sharply curtails their use in that field. &
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ALr. Gorpox. There are many drugs that have no other indication.

Dr. Prour. Then by definition, that should come off the market. If
obesity is withdrawn, then those agents which have no other proposed
use would in fact be withdrawn from the market.

Senator Neson. Thank you very much, gentlemen, for your very
valuable testimony.

Ve certainly appreciate your taking the time to visit with us, and
to come here to testify before the committee.

The hearings will resume tomorrow in this room at 10 a.m.

Thank you, gentlemen.

"The subcommittee stands in recess.

[Whereupon, the subcommittee was recessed at 12:25 p.m.]
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(Present Status of Competition in the Pharmaceutical
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WEDNESDAY, NOVEMBER 10, 1976
U.S. SENATE,

SyBCOMMITTEE ON MoXoroLY OF TIIE
Seprecr COMMITTEE ON Syarn Busivess,
' Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 a.m., in room 318,
Russell Senate Office Building, ITon. Gaylord Nelson, chairman,
presiding.

Present: Senator Nelson. '

Also present : Benjamin Gordon, staff cconomist ; and Karen Young,
research assistant.

Qenator Nersox. The subcommittee will please come to order.

Our first witness today is Dr. Donald R. Jasinski, chief of the
clinical pharmacology section of the National Institute on Drug Abuse,
Addiction Research Center, Lexington, Ky.

Dr. Jasinski, we are pleased to have you here today, and appreciate
your taking time to present your testimony.

“our statement will be printed in full in the record, and you may
present it however you desire. o

STATEMENT OF DONALD R. JASINSKI, M.D., CHIEF, CLINICAL
" PHARMACOLOGY SECTION, NATIONAL INSTITUTE ON DRUG
ABUSE, ADDICTION RESEARCH CENTER, LEXINGION, KY.

Dr. JasinskI. I choose to read the statement.

Senator NeLsoN. Fine.

Then please proceed.

. Dr. Jasixskr, Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee, my
name is Donald R. Jasinski. I am a physician who is a commissioned
officer in the [J.S. Public Health Service. : : :

I hold the position of Chief, Clinical Pharmacology Section, of the
Na.tigilal Institute on Drug Abuse Addiction Research Center, Lexing-
ton, Ky. - : :

For over 40 years, the Addiction Research Center has conducted
studies in volunteer prisoner addicts to assess the abuse potential of
psychoactive drugs 1proposed for introduction into therapeuties.

Such studies with narcotic analgesics have proven to be a valid
means of protecting the public health. s '

(14469}
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In the last 6 years. the comparative pharmacology of stimulant
drugs has been studied in order to assess the abuse potential of theso
drugs relative to dextroamphetamine and to provide a basis for sched-
uling decisions under the Comprehensive Drug Abuse Prevention and
Control Act of 1970.

The principal underlying assessment for abuse potential is the
identification of a prototype drug which has been abused and is judged
to be a danger to the public health.

All drugs having a similar mode of action and sharing the same
profile of pharmacologic effects are viewed as having a potential for
abuse.

Amphetamine, the prototypic drng for antiobesity agents, produces
characteristic and reproducible alterations in moed, feeling states, and
perception in our addict population.

Volunteers can distinguish these amphetamine-induced subjective
states from those produced Dby agents such as morphine or
pentobarbital.

One type of change is “euphoria” or feelings of well-being and
elation which are felt to be related to the ability of amphetamine to
initiate and maintain drugtaking.

In rddition, amphetamine produces other characteristic effects in-
cluding increases in blood pressure, decreases in pulse rate, increases in
body temperature, decreases in the amount of food eaten, and a slight
increase in pupil size.

From our studies, d-methamphetamine, methylphenidate, phenme-
trazine, l-ephedrine, diethytpropin, phentermine, and benzephetamine
all produce typical amphetamine-like effects.

These drugs differ from onc another in milligram-for-milligram
potencies. In sufficient doses, however, all can prodice the same degree
of effects.

Please note the following table.

[The table follows:]

Equitalent cuphorogenic doaes

Subeutaneous studies: Milligrams
d-amphetamine . 10
d-methamphetamine ___ — - - - 10
Methylphenidate : - — - —— 20
Thenmetrazine _ - - —— _— - - 40
Ephedrine - —— e —————————— Bl
Diethylprepion .- - —— - 140
d-amphetamine (oral} - —— 10

Oral studies:
d-amphetamine - . 10
Phentermine . - - - 20
Benzphetamine -— 50

-lephedrine .o e - - P 50
Diethylpropion __. - - - — 70

Dr. Jasinskr. In contrast, our studies also indicate that the appetite
suppressants fenfluramine and chlorphentermine are not typical
amphetamine-like agents.

]anﬂuramme in low doses can produce feelings of well-being or
elation.

tItJarge doses more characteristically produce unpleasant subjective
states,
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Subjects clearly distinguish the effects of amphetamine from fen-
fluramine and more frequently identified fenfluramine as LSD or
barbiturate-like substances, : : : ,

A further difference is that fenfluramine has little effect on blood
pressure and body temperature, but produces a marked increase in
pupil size. S : L ) '

Three subjects had visual and olfactory hallucinations, distorted
time sense, fleeting paranoia and sexual hallucinations.

Mr. Goroox. Dr. Jasinski, what do you mean precisely when Fou
say the amphetamines and their relatives all produce typical amphe-
tamine-like effects?

Do they also have the same potential for abuse? Is that what you
mean ? - ‘

Dr. Jastwsrr. We administer these drugs to subjects in single doses
under double-blind circumstances. This means both the subject and the
person making observations are unaware ‘in that particular circum-
stance, of the dose, and the exact nature of the drug. The subjects are
asked to relate the feelings which the drug produces and to identify
the drug, R -

Under these circumstances the subjects cannot distinguish these
drugs from amphetamines. : : : ' :

In addition, when one looks at other effects which are produced—
such as decrease in the amount of food eaten, the changes in pupil size,
the change in body temperature, the change in blood pressure—all
these drugs produce effects which are very similar to those of
amphetamines, : - :

In addition, one characteristic effect is the well-being or euphoria
which is seen in a population which has history of drug abuse. All
these drugs, like amphetamines, produce these feelings. '

Mr. Goroox. Fenfluramine is different; it is more like LSD, is that
correect ? .

Dr. Jasinsur. Some of our subjects said it was LSD. - -

We do not have experimental data in this regard. This would require
specific: experiments to answer this question which would involve a
direct comparison to LSD. We do not have this data. - - ‘

Mr. Gorpox. I read your article on comparison of fenfluramine and
amphetamines in man, and I will read this to you : o

In support of Levin's studies, fenfluramine was observed to have halluéinogenie-
activity in three of five subjects who expetrienced syndromes characterized by
visual hallucinations, sensory distortion, fleeting paranoia, derealization, deper-
sonalized awareness, somatie symptomatology, labile mood, a modest increase in
pulse rate and blood pressure, mydriasis, and hyperactive tendon reflexes—the
last not measured systematically, : :

This confizuration resembles that produced by a number of hallueinogens, in<
cluding LSD and certain ring-substituted amphetamines. This similarity, plus the
cases cited by Levin, suggests that L8D-like, rather than an amphetamine-like
abuse potential should be considered. This issue aside, hallueinogenie and dys-
Dhorie symptoms may well limit tl_le therapeutic utility of fenfluramine as an

anorexiant, :
Dr. Jasinsgr. Yes, sir,

Mr. Goroox. Then it seems you would agree that this drug should
not be used for that purpose, is that correct? ‘ '

‘Dr. Jasinskr. Noj; I think the meaning of that statement was some-
what different.

85-560—77T——4
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This drug, when used therapeutically by the physician may make
the patient feel bad. Then patients will not take the drug, or will com-
plain to the physician. As a result the physician will not find this par-
ticular drug useful. The meaning of that statement was that though
this was not an amphetamine-like drug, these effects might limit
fenfluramine’s usefulness in therapeutics, and that—-—

Mr. Gorpox. I do not understand this.

Does fenfluramine make you feel good, or does it make you feel
bad?

Dr. Jasinskr It will do both. In low doses, in some of our subjects,
they felt good.

With the long-term administration, or with very large doses, pa-
tients might feel bad.

The literature on the use of fenfluramine has reported feeling statcs
of sedation, and lethargy. The drug does not make people feel par-
ticularly good when they take it therapeutically.

1 think that this may be a limitation on its usefulness as an appetite
suppressant mainly because of consumer acceptance.

Mr. GorooN. Please proceed.

Dr. Jasrwskr, Chlorphentermine markedly increases pupil size, pro-
duces sedation which is regarded as unpleasant rather than euphoric,
decreases appetite without producing increases in blood pressure or
body temperature.

Some subjects were grossly sedated by chlorphentermine, but no
hallucinatory syndromes were observed.

Abuse potential judgments from pharmacological studies can only
be validated by comparison with actual incidences of abuse of available
drugs. :

In this regard, methamphetamine, phenmatrizine and methylphen-
idate are three of the drugs pharmacologically equivalent to
amphetamine. : .

At times all have had a high incidence of abuse equaling that of
amphetamine. On the other hand, three antiobesity drugs, diethylpro-
pion, benzphetamine, and phentermine are also amphetamine-like
drugs which are abused.

The incidence of abuse of these drugs is much less than that of
amphetamine. One source of information on abuse incidence is the
Drug Abuse Warning Network—Project DAWN—which is 2 program
cosponsored by the National Institute on Drug Abuse and the Drug
Enforcement Administration. '

This program tabulates drug mentions associated with drug-related
deaths from medical examiners and drug-related medical or psycho-
logical emergencies from hospital emergency rooms and crisis centers.

In calendar year 1975, the number of mentions in Projeet DAWN
for diethylpropien and phentermine were only 5 to 8 percent of those
for amphetamine. : '

According to the National Prescription Audit for this same period,
the number of new prescriptions written for these drugs were 40 to 50
percent of those for amphetamine, suggesting that the lower ineidénce
of abuse cannot be accounted for simply by differences in the relative
amounts prescribed by physicians. o ‘
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Similarly, the number of mentions for benzphetamine is only 1 per-
«cent of those for amphetamine, while the number of new preseriptions
.are 6 percent of those for amphetamine. :

Senator NeLson. May I ask you a question, Doctor?

Dr. Jasinskl, Yes. )

Senator Nerson, In the middle of page 3 you mention three anti-
obesity-like drugs, and you name them. Are they also amphetamine-
Tike drugs?

bDO t};ese three drugs that you mentioned have any indicated use for
-obesity ?

Dr.yJASINSKI. As far as I know, Senator, yes, they are only used as
:antiobesity drugs now. :

Senator Nerson. And you indicated they are subject to abuse, but
‘much less than amphetamines? '

Dr. JasinskI Yes,

Senator Nrrson, Are you familiar with any studies indicating the
efficacy of these three drugs as antiobesity drugs?

11')1-. &IASINSKI. The specific examples, I do not think I can quote
-offhand,

I know the literature in general, but T have not personally conducted
any studies of the antiobesity effects of these agents, so my knowledge

would only be from the literature. This is not my area of expertise, the
area of obesity.

Senator NeLsow. Doctor, you mentioned methylphenidate. I want
to remind you it is not an antiobesity drug. It is not one of the
indications.

Dr. Jasinsgl, Yes, .

Senator Nevrsox. You state that the DAYWN program tabulates drug
mentions assoclated with drug-related deaths from medical examiners
and drug-related medieal or psychological emergencies from hospital
emergency rooms and crisis centers.

Why is this & good measure of drug abuse ? -

Are you not assuming that abuse of a drug necessarily enlminates
in death or a hospital emergency room!?

Dr. Jasixsxkr, I think there are a number of reservations about this
data. The difficulty is that we have very few other systems which
gather data in abuse incidence. Its advantage is the large data base
which is a very extensive survey from many sources.

I think Project DAWN was instituted in 1973 ; however, the use of
this data and its validity is just beginning to develop.

It is about the only source of data we have, but I think it is cer-
tainly characteristic of the situation. We do not have a particular sur-
vey of the situation at the present time. '

ou must have an engoing survey. The second issue is among what
sources of populations does one look. Here I think the judgment is
made, and I had nothing to do with Project DAWN, to examine public
health problems and medical problems from people who would come
into contact with the physicians. To collect epidemiological evidence
on drug abuse becomes very difficult since it is usually a clandestine
activity. These people generally only surface in contact with law en-
forcement agencies, or when they come in contact with medical agen-
cies, 80 it becomes a difficult problem in how to approach this. DAWN
is the only ongoing data that we have.
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Senator NELson. Tt does not measure drug abuse ?

Dr. JasinsxrL No, it measures medical incidents which occur for the
particular drug.

Tt has been used as a crude index of drug abuse.

Senator NeLson. Is there any way to extrapolate such figures from
ihe statistics of those who end up requiring medical care, hospitaliza-
tion—some of the consequences of drug abuse ?

Dr. Jasinski. There is, for example, the Project DAWN reports
prepared by the National Institute of Drug Abuse and the Drug En-
forcement Agency which contain a profile on individual drugs. In this
a number of questions are asked of the people who have been in trouble.
Why they took the drug, the reason for taking the drug, the source of
the drug—and I do not remember this exactly, for amphetamines, but
I think—whether they took this for pleasurable effects, or they felt
they were dependent upon the drug. I know they had the age range of
the patients broken down, and this data is published from the period
of 1973.

Senator Nrrsox. But do they intend to extrapolate from these statis-
tics the total number of people who in fact use the drugs?

Dr. Jasixskr No, I do not think they do this.

If they do this, I am unaware of this. Whether they have attempted
to dothis, I just don’t know. _

An additional NIDA-sponsored survey conducted from October
1974 to May 1975 supports these conclusions from DAWN.

In this study, 2,510 men representative of all men in the general
population who were 20 to 30 years old in 1974, were surveyed for their
nonmedical use of stimulant drugs.

The specific stimulant drugs reported were amphetamine, meth-
amphetamine, methylphenidate, phenmetrazine, and biphetamine.

There were no mentions of diethylpropion, benzphetamine, or
phentermine. :

Similar considerations also indicate a relatively low incidence of
abuse of both fenfluramine and clorphentermine, two agents which are
not pharmacologically equivalent to amphetamine.

The assessment studies in prisoner addicts are valid measures of
abuse potential; however, it must also be concluded that factors other
than pharmacological equivalence determine the incidence of abuse of
a drug. '

In izhe- case of drugs marketed as appetite suppressants, these factors
are not known but experience suggests that at any point in time the
incidence of abuse of a drug is determined by customs, fads, attitudes,
type of pharmaceutical preparation and knowledge of the drug’s
actions. :

In addition, certain properties of the drugs themselves may limit
attractiveness to the drug abuser. For example, drugs which cannot
casily be dissolved in water are less attractive to the addict who injects
drugs. :

Ir}%ﬂ retrospect, the comparative pharmacology and the incidence of
abuse support the scheduling decisions made under the Comprehensive
Drug Abuse Prevention and Control Act of 1970 coneerning the anti-

obesity drugs.




COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY 14475

On the one hand, amphetamine, methamphetamine, phenmetrazine,
and methylphenidate are recognized as having similar abuse potential,
and as such have been placed in schedule II.

On the other hand, a number of other appetite suppressants have
not been extensively abused to date. These drugs have been placed in
schedules ITI or IV,

Mr. Gorpox. Doctor, you mentioned attitudes, they can change, can
they not ?

Iir. Jasinskr, Yes, sir.

Mr. Gorpon. I understand that Preludin has become one of the most
widely used drugs in the District of Columbia area.

The price in the street is about $10 per pill.

We received a call from the Police Department of Louisville, Ky,
that Preludin is the most popular street drug there, also.

The price is about $8 per pill.

In an undated FDA document, we have statements that documenta-
tion of abuse lags markedly behind abuse, and when it appears, is only
thatip of the iceberg. : :

My question is, why wait until there is an epidemic, why not use
pharmacologic and chemical data to predict abuse before it occurs?

Dr. Jastnskr I think this may be justified in certain instance from a
historical perspective. It depends on how one directs one’s thinking,
and one’s bias in the particular area. )
My particular bias is toward the practice of medicine, and making
a rational scheduling policy such that scheduling does not affect the
patient who may be using the drugs in legitimate circumstances and
for legitimate needs. We know many drugs which have required uses
in medicine, and which benefit the patients, also have other properties
leading to self-ingestion. At times the people will use these drugs to
such a point that they will experience toxic effects, or will engage in
behaviors which our society condemns.

In these instances we must, in my opinion, be as much concerned
about not removing drugs from patients inappropriately. We must
make decisions on a relatively rational basis.

1 think from a historical perspective, we have had a number of drugs
which have been pharmacologically equivalent, but which have been
used by physicians, and in a sense by people without creating major
public health problems.

AMr. Gorpox. But it is not an antiobesity drug, so you are really cre-
ating a straw man. :

We are talking about antiobesity drugs. We are not talking about
that type of a drug. '

Now. given the very limited use, the FDA says that the benefits are
clinically trivial, those were the exact words used by the FDA, by the
advisory committee. Given these trivial benefits, and given the abuse
pnt.engtial, and other side effects, how do you figure the benefit-to-risk
ratine -

Dir. Jasivskr What T am talking about is the relative risk.

The data which T have bears on relative risk from a particular toxie
effect, which is the ability to induce and maintain self-ingestion
behavior.

Now, thisis a risk which ocenrs with all the compounds.
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On the otlier hand, I have no data on the benefits. All of these deci-
sions come from benefit-to-risk ratios. :

1 think that within the Comprehensive Control Act, as I would sce:
it, there is only one distinction. If one says these drugs are not thera-
peutically useful, then all of the drugs would go to schedule L.

The difference of schedules between 11 and 11T, and IV and YV, are-
not based on relative therapeutic ability of drugs.

T thinlk they only call for having an accepted medical use.

If the drugs do not have approved medical utility, then I think all
drugs would go into schedule L.

Senator Newsox.-If they have no efficacy at all, they should not be-
on the market at all. ;

Dr. Jastxskr., That 13 right.

Senator NrrsoN. So you would not permit them, in effect, on the
market?

* Dr. Jasizskr. That is correct. I think in terms of the data, the de-
cision to market these or not market these was not my mandate, nor-
within my ability.

Mine was only to assess the relative abuse potential and the risk to-
public health from the ability to self-ingest, and I think the benefit
part of the ratio factor is another question which I have an opinion,
but T donot have expert testimony. o

Senator NeLsow, Just so the record will be clear, then you, in evalu-
ating these various drugs, in making judgments about abuse potential,
you are not concerning yourself necessarily with the question of
whether or not they meet the standards of the law of safety and
efficacy? ,

Dr. Jasixskr, That is true.

Senator NELsoN. So you may have a drug on the marketplace that
vou conclude does not have much risk of being widely abused, but you
are not renching the conclusion whether or not it has any value for
the treatment of any condition?

Dr, Jasinsgkr That is true.

Senator NerLson. You are dealing with abuse problems?

Dr. Jasinskr That is true,

Senator Nersox. Unrelated to the question of efficacy of the drug in
treating a particular condition ¢

Dr. Jastwsrr, That is true,

Senator Nrrsox, All right.

Dr. Jasryskr, For clarity, the scheduling of drugs, and the data
which we generate, many times will affect questions of efficacy in an
indirect way, It is obvious that if the drug is controlled on the basis
of pharmacological data in a very high schedule, the manufacturer may
choose not to market the drug.

If it is marketed, the physician may choose not te use this drug, and
select an agent which is on a lower schedule, so our data does affect
the pattern in which drugs are used. ‘

Some would argue that all drugs which have pharmacological equiv~
alence to amphetamine should be placed in schedule IT in order to pro-
tect the public health.
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My own opinion is that this action would in certain instances be
detrimental to the public health, The group most directly affected
would be those patients using the drugs in a therapeutic situaticn since
restrictive controls make them less available to the consumer.,

This situation is most clearly illustrated with ephedrine. In contrast
to amphetamine, epledrine is not used as an antiobesity drug, but is
used mainly in the treatment of asthma to relieve spasms of the bron-
chioles in the lungs. .

An amphetamine-like spectrum of pharmacologic effects, including
euphoria, indicates that ephedrine has an abuse potential.

Ephedrine is available in small amounts in a number of over-the-
counter preparations and can be purchased without a prescription.

The incidence of abuse of ephedrine is quite low and there is no evi-
dence of danger to the public health.

Under the present circumstances, the control of ephedrine is unwar-
ranted, especially since the major consequences would be to decrease
the aveilability and increase the cost to patients with chronic asthma.

In conclusion, the utility and need for assessment studies to protect
the public health is self-evident, especially in those instances where
new agents are being introduced into therapeutics.

It is in the interest of public health that we make rational schedul-
ing decisions to forewarn the therapist of the dangers of the drugs he
may prescribe and to assist him in their rational nse.

At the same time, inappropriate controls must be avoided since this
would place unnecessary burdens on the patient.

Our studies with stimulants have demonstrated that drugs which
are structurally dissimilar to amphetamine can produce amphetamine-
like effects and have abuse potential.

A similar situation exists with substitutes for narcotice where a large
number of synthetic and structurally unrelated drugs produce effects
similar to morphine and heroin.

Further, drugs which are structurally similar to amphetamine do
not necessarily produce amphetamine-like effects.

In this regard, we have only preliminary data on two recently intro-
duced antiobesity agents, cloretermine and mazindol.

We have not studied phendimetrazine. Unfortunately, further data
on these agents will not be obtained.

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my formal testimony. I will be pleased
to answer any questions you and other members of the subcommittee
may have, - ' -

enator Nrrson. We have asked all of the questions we have. Thank
you very much, Doctor. -

Dr, Jasinskr. Thank you very much.

Senator Nerson, Dr. Thomas M. Gellert of Huntington, N.Y. was to
appear also this morning, and he has wired the committee that he
would be unable to get here, so we hope to have him testify next week.

Qur next witness 1s Dr, Barrett Scoville of Washington, I).C,

T believe he was formerly associated with the Food and Drug
Administration. : :

Would you please identify your work with the Food and Drug
Administration? '
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STATEMENT OF BARRETT SCOVILLE, M.D.,, OF WASHINGTON, D.C.

Dr. Scoviee, T formerly directed the Division of Neuropharmaco-
logical Drug Products, which is one of the six FDA drug review
divisions,

Senator NELsoN. Your statement will be printed in full. You may
present it in whatever way you desire.

Dr. Scovire. Thank you, sir.

I will read the statement.

Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, T am here to provide
you and the public with information on the decisions made about
anorectic drugs—drugs used in treating obesity—during the time I
worked in the Food and Drug Administration, and about my current
personal opinions on what modifications of those decisions may be de-
sirable, as well as on any other matters you wish to ask me about.

T have testified before this committee in the past about the FDA
review of drugs used in treating obesity.

To recapitulate, in 1971 and 1972, the Food and Drug Administra-
tion was confronted with decisions on the efficacy and safety of old
and new anorectic drugs, some 11 chemical entities in all, over 130
drug products.

The questions about efficacy included questions on the amount of
weight loss, if any, associated with the use of anorectic drugs by obese
patients, the duration of administration of the drugs, and possible dif-
ferences in efficacy among the different chemical entities evaluated.

The safety questions involved chiefly the public health hazards of a
special toxicity, that of the potential of these drugs for producing de-
pendence and for being abused.

Data bearing on the efficacy questions included over 200 controlled
trial involving almost 10.000 patients, trials carried out by drug man-
ufacturers and submitted to FDA as part of various applications.

- The data on safety were a more heterogeneous assemblage of differ-
ent sorts of evidence—chemical, animal, and human—which might
have some bearing on abuse potential and other safety questions.

The efficacy review involved an unprecedented reexamination of all
individual patient data sheets, representing 70,000 patient visits, com-
puterization of the data, and FD.A reanalysis of the data, using its
own computers and statisticians—who deserve much credit for the
massive job. K '

In making the final decisions on the drugs, the FDA was advised
by a consultant panel headed by Dr. Thaddeus Prout, The former
Council on Drugs of the American Medical Association, headed by
Dr. Harry Shirkey, also gave us its opinion on the proposed actions:

The institutional FDA decisions were embodied in a comprehensive
memorandum proposing various alternatives with the pros and cons
of each, the final decisions being initialed by the Commissioner of
Food and Drugs. '

In carrying out the decisions, the FDA itself implemented decisions
with respect to marketing approval and relabeling. K

Decisions on controls to be imposed because of abuse potential were
and are the primary responsibility of the Burean of Narcotics and
Dangerous Drugs, now the Drug Enforcement Administration, al-
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thongh the FDA does have major statutory responsibilities in this
area, too,

Recommendations were forwarded to the BNDD and controls were
imposed by that agency.

The results of our review, which ended in the latter half of 1972
with implementation of the decisions in early 1973, were as follows:
. First, a consistent policy and set of regulatory actions for all ano-
rectics, based on a better characterization of their limited but une-
quivocal superiority to nondrug therapy and including recommenda-
tions that they be used only for short-term use as adjuncts to diet.

Second, the elimination of a large number of combination drug
products. Only two major combination products remain on the mar-
ket, with litigation ongoing.

The position of the manufacturer of these drugs, Smith, Kline &
French, appears ethically and legally weakened by their failure to
report important adverse information on the abuse potential of one
of their products.

Mr. Gorpon. Could you elaborate on that, please?

%)r. ScoviLre. This was pointed out in a Federal Register notice of
1973. S

The decision may have to be decided in court or in a hearing of this
nature. Representatives of SKF came to FDA, bearing marketing
studies which they felt supported their claim that their drug has litfle
or no abuse. - '

Independently, it also turned out they had in their possession a sep-
arate study carried on by contract, showing that their drug was known
and shown to be sold in the street, '

This was a study that they did not submit. This selective submission
of evidence to the FDA seems to strike at the very basis of our current
regulatory process,

Mr. Gorpox, I have some more questions along those lines,

What finally happened ? Is not this a violation of the law?

Dr. Scoviree. In my perception of the events, if they turn ont to be
true, it will be against the law. -

Mr. Gorpow. You said if it turns ont to be true, you think there was
a violation of the law? '

Dr, ScoviLLe. Yes. If the facts are correct, yes.

Mr. Goroon. If the facts are correct—vou think there was a viola-
tion of the law? : '

Dr. Scovirie, Yes. -

N Mr.7(}0m)0:~r. Has there been anything done about that as far as you
now ? -

Dr. Scovire, Well, the FDA put this statement in what is called an
opportunity for hearing, a proposal to withdraw approval of new
drug applications,

Mr. Gornox. That was in 1973 ¢

Dr. ScoviLee. Yes, sir. ‘

I am somewhat sympathetic with what appears to be the untimely
response of the FDA, in that they are involved in large numbers of
responses to notices of apportunity for hearings, for a very large num-
ber of drugs which are under the DEST review. '
. I am sure they have a document in preparation dealing with this
1ssue, but it has not to my knowledge been yet published.
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Mr. Gorpox. Eskatrol, T think, is a $514 million a year item, so ob-
viously the company would be very anxious to keep 1t on the market.

Is Dexamy! the other one?

Dr. Scovriie. Dexamyl is the other; yes, sir. :

Third, controls bearing on abuse potential were imposed on eight
of these drues for the first time, in a precedent-setting class action.

Fourth, all injectable anorectics were eliminated from the market.

You may wish to know what I think of these decisions with the
benefit of hindsight, over 3 years after the fact. =

I beljeve that the basic efficacy decision remains a good one. Obesity
remains a chronic disease, extremely difficult to treat, and even the
limited efficacy of anorectic drugs is better than nothing.

The safety decisions appear in need of revision. It is my under-
standing that you will hear the Government data suggesting or show-
ing that amphetamines remain the leading stimulant drug of abuse—
with the possible exception of cocaine—in spite of the most restricted
measures, _

If so, it would seem reasonable to withdraw approval of ampheta-
mines for use in obesity, for which safer drugs are available.

In a parallel fashion, the use of any other schedule IT drugs in obe-
sity should be examined to see if there may be a similar abuse problem.

Senator NeLson. On the question of efficacy, Dr, Prout testified yes-
terday, and he was the chairman of the special committee which was
advisory to the FDA, and their conclusion after their studies was
unanimous, which was that amphetamines should be removed from
the market for purposes of treating obesity, because their effect, to use
their words, was trivial, and the abuse widespread.

You seem to be saying two things, if there is abuse, somehow or
other the abuse ought to stop, and that you think that it meets stand-
ards of eflicacy.

Do vou agree with the FDA’s special committee headed by Dr, Prout
that they should not be used at all, or should be put in schedule T12

Dr. Scoviriz. I think, sir, that the language of the group was that
all of the anorectics produced about the same amount of weight loss,
and so if that is so, and T believe it is, as far as data distingnished be-
fween the drugs, ther the question becomes one of relative safety.
You might ask, why not get rid of the most dangerous and leave the
safe ones available for us to treat obesity. I suggest it would seem to
be reasonable for the Government to do that.

Senator NeLsox. Yesterday, I believe. all of the witnesses—possibly
one had slight reservations—at least three of them agreed with Drv
Prout—Drs. Grinspoon, Nora Prout and Yaffe——indicated that there
ought not be indication for use of obesity, that that indication ought
to bo removed if the results were trivial, and three of them indicated
that under today’s standards of effieacy, they do not think the drug
oualht to be on the market in the first place.

v, Scovrrre, That is where I am personally disagreeing.

Senator Nrrsow, For purposes of treating obesity ¢

Dr. Scoviuie. I believe that the most dangerous, the most abusable
of these drngs should be removed because of their abuse potential.
There is a spectrum of abuse potentials, ranging from amphetamines
on the one hand, down to soine of the other drugs, perhaps those which
have a substituted benzene ring, chlorphentermine perhaps, having
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less abuse potential. It is my value judgment that obese people need
treatment, that drugs are a reasonable form of short-term treatment of
obesity, that the obese should not be deprived totally of drugs because
of the abuse potential. -

Senator NeLsoN. I guess I am still puzzled by this.
l You stated, it is my understanding, that amphetamines—ILet me read
this. '

It is my understanding that you will hear government data suggesting or
showing that amphetamines remain the leading stimulant drug of abuse—with
the possible exception of cocaine—in spite of the most restricted measures. It
80, it would seem reasonable to withdraw approval of amphetamines for use
in obegity * » * .

You are saying that if that abuse is statistically proven, which the
testimony thus far asserts, that yon would prohibit their use in the
treatment of obesity, is that correct? I am referring to amphetamines.

Dr. ScoviLLEe. Yes, sir.

Perhaps there is a confusion of terminology.

By some people amphetamines is used loosely to include all anorectic

rugs. ,

I am trying to use it in a more specific way as referring to one of
approximately 11 chemicals, one which has the most abuse potential
of any of the 11.

My statement does not apply to all anorectic drugs, but only to a
specific group among them.

Amphetamines and anorectics are not synonomous in my
terminology.

Mr. Gorbox. Amphetamines and anorectics are not synonomons?

Dr. ScoviLe. Not synonomous, yes.

Senator Nerson. But I take it you are saying those amphetamines,
©or any other—correct me if T am wrong—are subject to widespread
abuse, Tf they are, they should not be in the marketplace for the indi-
<ated purpose of treating obesity ?

Dr. Scovirre, That is my feeling,

Scenator Nersox. All right,

Dr. ScoviLie. Along those lines, T go on to point out that the other

anorecties were quite difficult to evaluate for abuse or abuse potential

ir{) 1972, Data were scanty, and none had been subject to epidemic
abuse. :

We nonetheless recommended control on grounds of abuse potential.
It is my understanding that in the interval, some of these drugs have
been better tested, with confirmation of their abuse potential, and that
observers of patterns of abuse have seen abuse potential turn into
actnal abuse in the street for some of these drugs.

You have or will have obtained testimony on this problem from
more experf, witnesses than me.
 If the data are as T suggest, thev will support greater controls for
some of the drugs currently in schedules I1T and IV. :

Thank you.

Senator Nersaw. Thank you, Doctor Scoville.

Mr, Gorpox. The Food and Drug Administration has made an
overall study. Thev pooled several hundred studies, and then made
ona bir study out of it. Thev ran it through a computer, isthat correct

Dr. Scovirre. Tt was analyzed, study by study.
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We did so-to-speak place all drug-treated patients and placebo-
treated patients into two separate pools to see what happened, but that
was not the basis for the decision.

Mr. Goroon, T have a document here that T ask be put in the record
in the appropriate place.

Senator NeLsox. So ordered without objection.

Mr. Goroon. This is a document that was submitted by the Federal
officer from the Food and Drug Administration to the HEW panel,

Init, he states as follows:

Of the 208 studies reviewed, 122 were contained in Just three NDA's. A3 ean
be seen from the following tabulation derived from data accumnlated by FDA
statisticlans, the reviewing phrsicians deemed less than half of the 122 to be
adequate to permit valid conclusions;

Does study permit valid conclusions?

NDA number and name of drug ~ Reviewing physician Yes Na Uncestain Total
16-618—Pondimin. _..._______.___ Dr, Freeman______________ [ 21 g 21
or.Wright. . ... ... )} 16 ¢ 16

16-880—Yorani. .o eeeaien pr., Trilling. ... - 33 18 3 54
17-247—Mazindol____ . ___________ Dr.Woo. . 16 9 3
L a9 61 12 121

In spite of the above, the statisticians were instructed to include all
122 of their computer analysis.

The above judgments of inadequacy were based primarily on the in-
adequacies of, and deviations from, the clinical protocols; the objec-
tions raised in my Medical Officer Reviews—copies of which were
submitted to Commissioner Schmidt on March 7, 1975—included
serious doubts as to the validity of some of the lab data and hence are
additive, rather than merely corroborative of the above tabulation,

Will you comment on that, please ?

Dr. Scovicre. I do not suppose he comments on what conclusions
would be permitted by excluding the studies that were found in-
adequate. :

Mr. Goroox. The writer says the above judgments were based pri-
marily on inadequancies of the data and deviation from the clinical
protocol.

And he goes on as T had read.

Dr, Scovitie, Well, that is his opinton. Subsequent to the medical
officers’ individual overall reviews, each individual patient was re-
viewed, coded, kev punched, and went through the computer.

T know the medical officers did not. and could not have looked at each
data sheet on the scale subsequently done. :

Mr. Gornox. Actually he cites four physicians, four medical officers,
They are Dr. Freeman, Dr. Wright, Dr. Trilling, and Dr. Woo.

As T see it, they put it together, they took the reviews of these four
physicians, so you have really five people making this claim. people
who reviewed each of these drug applications.

Dr. Scovrmie. Well, T think Dr. Knox would agree that he has
fairly strong feelings abont the use of anorectics, which are known in-
side the FDA and not on the outside.
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In order to avoid bias on the part of medical officers, we took pains
to analyze every single patient, and have somebody inspect every pa-
tient data sheet before it was used in the analysis, and we tried to
overcorme personal bias by reviews,

Mr. Goroon. It is not just Dr. Knox, but it is four other physicians,
so you would have to say five of them were biased.

Dr. ScoviLre. Well, it is hard to argue with those, without going
lﬁac—k and reviewing the ways the opinions were expressed, and the
hasis.

I gratuitously suggest that even in the worst case, it is unlikely
that all 22 studies on a single drug were invalid, which is what one
of the medical officers proposed.

Senator Nrrsoxw. I think this raises some important questmns, but
the Food and Drug Administration will appear.

We do not expect you to recall off the top of your head all of these
statistics without having them before you, so we will put these ques-
tions to the Food and Drug Administration.

Dr. ScovitLe. Thank you, sir.

Mr. Goroox. Now, in the FDA document dated February 17, the re-
viewing medical officers claimed the total weight loss for those groups
on diet plus drugs was small compared to those on diet alone,

- I'will read this:

“1t is generally agreed that there is a definite danger of abuse connected with
the use of these drugs.

“While there is no unanimity of opinion as to the efficacy of these drugs, the
following opinions merit careful consideration:

“The British Medical Association has ¢oneluded that ‘These drugs should be
avoided so far as possible in the treatment of obesity * * #

“Arthur Grollman has stated that * . . - There is no evidence to indlcate that
these agents suppress appetite as has been clalmed, which is the basis usually for
advocating their use, The only rationale for thelir use is the hope that by counter-
acting the depression induced by hunger the patient is better able to abstain from
overeating. However, the anorexigenic agents have proven of little efficacy in
actnal practice* * *°*

ux & = The results ohtalned with anorextant agents therefore (1) are in many
instances inferior to those obtained with unsupplemented diets, (2) show the same
marked variations present in the tabulated results of diet alone, and (3) indicate
that the newer agents often compared peorly with the older ones whose de-
fliciencies they presumably were intended to correct, ** *

“#® * » T stand with a minority of physicians in feeling that theqe drugs no
longer have any place in the practice of med:clne, w:th one or two rare excep-
tions, * * *

“I understand that one or two other countries have actually banned the use of
those highly dangerous drogs. There is no justification for our continuing their
‘legal’ use. To continue {t wounld be simply to perpetuate one more massive in-

¢onsistency in onr standards of morality.® **

“The present labeling fails to give the physician any idea of the degree of
effiracy which has been demonstrated in the MDAs for these compounds. It is
unlikely that anyone reading the present Iabeling would suspect that the sup-
porting data in the MDA=s revealed such a limifed degree of efficacy. Although
we customarily do not fnclude such information in package inserts, the am-
phetamines constitute a special case and must be dealt with accordingly. * * *

“I urge that the Iabeling of these compounds be revised to include, in each
case, a factual tabulation of the actual amounts of weight lose which have heen
reported by the varlous investigators, to include the duration of therapy, go that
the physician will be in a better position to decide as to whether or not nse of a
sympatkomimatic amine is warranted. The common praetice of expressing resulta
in terms of rate of weight loss per week 1s particularly ohJectmnthe and should
be discontinued, * * *»
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What can you tell us about the ?uu.lity of testing to establish ef-
ficacy of antiobesity drugs, and would you say in retrospect, that they
met the standards envisaged by the law ¢

Dr. Scoviuie. The ones that were used in the review, in the opinion
o}f ti]ose that had the studies computerized, did meet the standards of
the law.

I cannot give you details about individual investigators. I think we
would have to go through case by case, if there were some suspicious
things that anybody wished to bring up.

I would have to say that in the general approach, the FDA reviews
the documents, and anything suspicious is looked at more carefully.

Occasionally field investigations are carried out.

Mr. Goroox. Here is a letter signed by Dr. Jennings dated Feb-
ruary 19, 1970, that the drug Voranil was not approvable, He stated
that “Bias has been introduced into the statistical analyses by delet-
ing data from certain investigations in such a manner as to exclude
unfavorable findings,” )

Can you recall how often you found this kind of tactic?

Dr.ScoviLee, I donot recall.

. May T ask the date of that ?

Mr., Goroon. February 19, 1970. _ -

Dr. Scoviire. The general approach when bias is detected is to in-
form the manufacturer of it, and 2 common response to such a state-
ment is for the data to be resubmitted in a format determined by the
FDA in a way in which the FDA tries to lay it all out so as to elimi-
nate a potential for bias,

Tt is to eliminate potential for bias that we went over every patient
report form, , .

- Mr. Goroow. Did you find this is a common thing, this type of with-
holding of essential information, or using statistics in such a way that
you gret a favorable finding? :

Dr. ScoviLie. It is hard to be sure of motives,

In the case of inadequacy of statistical analysis, it is usually due to
inferior motives or inferior abilities, and it is difficult to tell which.

Mr, Gorpox. Thatisall. | ,

Senator NeLson. Thank you very much, Dr. Scoville. We appreci-
ate your taking the time to come and present your testimony this
morning.

Dr. Scovirie. Thank you very much. .

Senator Netsoxn. Qur next witness is Dr. Eugene Jolly, president,
Biometric Testing, Inc., Englewood, N.J. :

Dr. Jolly, we appreciate your taking the time to appear here this
morning.

Your testimony will be printed in full in the record.

You may present it however you desire,

STATEMENT OF EUGENE R. JOLLY, M.D., PH. D., PRESIDENT,
BIOMETRIC TESTING, INC., ENGLEW00D CLIFFS, N.J.

Dr. JorLy. Thank vou, Senator:

Senator Nelson, Mr. Gordon, it is a privilege to be here with you
today to provide a summary of my findings resuliing from clinical
investigations of amphetamines and related drugs ased as adjuncts in
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the treatment of obesity and my thoughts in regard to the applicabil-
ity of these drugs in clinical medicine.

1t is a particular honor to discuss these matters with you, Senator
Nelson, one of the truly distinguished citizens of my home State.

By way of introduction, Biometric Testing, Inc., is an independent
testing laboratory, engaged in clinical research performed for the
food, drug, cosmetic, and chemical industries on a contract basis.

As a recognized clinical pharmacologist with over 20 years of ex-
perience in drug research and development, my technical function is
to design appropriate studies on test products, closely monitor their
progress, evaluate responses to the test preducts and provide a com-
prehensive interpretation of the data obtained.

I should emphasize that T am 2 researcher and do not practice medi-
cine. :

Our list of sponsors includes a wide sprectrum of large, intermedi-
ate, and small firms, Of particular interest is our work for the small
drug manufacturers. It is probable that we have conducted more bio-
availability comparisons with generic drugs than any other research
group in the world.

We are well known by both the industry and the Food and Drug
Administration for our work in this field.

Senator NeLson. How many personnel do you have, and what are
their credentials?

Dr. Jorry, We have about 30 right now,

Scnator NersoN. Thirty?

Dr. Joury, About 30t

Well, actually my associate, he is an internist and gastroenterologist.

Senator Nerson. You have an internist and a gastroenterologist ?

Dr, JoLLy. Yes.

We also have many physicians who assist us. There are specific
tests, let us say we have a phase I test of a new drng, which requires
constant physician monitoring, we will have outside physicians come
in routinely.’ :

We have dermatologists who will do skin work. ;

Senator Nrrsox. These would be specialists who are practicing, but
are not emplovees of Biometric Testing?

Dr. Jorny. That is right.

Senator NeLsoN. And who work on a contract basis?

Dr. Jorry. Yes.

Senator Nersow, Within your own organization, how many full-
time employeesdo youhave?

Dr. Jorry. About 30.

Senator NewsoN. What scientific, medical, and pharmacologieal
specialties are represented? ‘ _

Dr. Jorry. Atone time we had two nurses. We have a full-registered
nurse, and at one time we had two, but our business decreased, and
we have one now.

Senator Nersox. Full-time internist?

Dr. Jorry. The internist, Dr. Tessler, is on call at all times, but
heis not on the premise at all times. B

Senator NeLsoN. Does he have a practice?

t e, Jolly subsequently submitted the followlng: “Actual count 25."”
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Dr. Jorry. Yes, he is on the staff with several lospitals in the
city.

We have several medical technicians, and then we have a few people
who have been involved in research, who are not actually trained with
medical-technical degrees and medical technologies, but they have been
associated with research over the years.

Until recently, we had a biophysicist, but he left us recently.

Senator NeLsox, Do you have any statisticians?

Dr. Joruy., We have a trainee statistician, and we employ Dr.
Hyman Menduke (Jefferson Medical College) on a retainer basis.

We are attempting to improve our capabilities in this area.

We do have computer time, and complete statistical assessments
for drug houses, usually major drug firms will do their own analytical
work, their own statistical analyses.

They are better equipped for it.

Senator NeLsoN. What exactly does your organization do? Do you
do animal testing? :

Dr. JoLLy. No.

Senator Nersox. You do testing at the human being level?

Dr. JorLy. Yes, volunteers.

Senator Newsox. Pardon?

Dr. JoLry. They are completely volunteers.

Senator NeLsox. But you are testing ; do dyou do the chemieal testing
and the animal testing, anything like that#

Dr. JorLy. No. -

Senator NeLsoN. So you are doing the so-called clinical testing on
human beings?

Dr. Jorry. Right. '

Senator NeLsoN. Where do you get your patients?

" Do you have doctors? B

Dr. Jorry. No. ' E

Senator NxLsoN. How do you find vour patients? ,

Dr. Jowry. It is kind of grows like topsy. People enjoy doing re-
search worl, and when they find they are treated properly, and what
they are doing is explained to them, they will tend to come in time
and time again, and participate in tests, and it is good if you have
a stable population; but it keeps growing so long as you are in a
given arca. ' '

Some of them have been coming for the entire 7 years we have
been in operation,

They also are given monetary considerations. It is perfectly rea-
sonable, rational and proper that they should be paid for their serv-
ices, and they can make a little extra money.

I like to think they enjoy it, and get a feeling of participation
in the research. : :

Senator NeLsox. You do testing on ill patients?

Dr. JoLry. No. _

Senator Nrrsox, They are all healthy patients?

Dr. JorLy. Yes, with few exceptions, :

Obesity is a disease, but they are not sick people. so we will accept
the obesity state. We will test cold preparations, for example, these
subjects are sick, but maybe not sick enough to go to a doctor.
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1f we find somebody, and we have on many occasions found some-
body that requires medical attention, they will be referred or told to
go to their own individual physician, and many times we will find
people who are ill.

Senator NErLsox. So you are testing healthy patients.

What are you testing for? ‘

Dr. Jorrx. Mainly for safety. Sometimes for effectiveness, in the
case of amphetamines, this is strictly for effectiveness.

Senator Nersox. So in that testing, what was your protocol?

Dr. Joruy. The protocol was devised by the company. Very often
T will design protocols for people, because I have had a wide experi-
ence in this area. But the protocol I received was very, very well
designed, and I think Dr. Scoville actually participated in some of
the designs, or at least had a chance to review some of them, just to
make sure that everything was covered.

Senator NeLgoN. Did you do any bioavailability studies?

Dr. Jorry. That is another part of my presentation.

We are probably the largest, we have done more studies than any-
body in the world in this area. .

There are bioavailability comparisons on antibiotics, let’s say, that
are marketed, and we have done a tremendous number of those.

Now, these studies, because we want to prove, or we want to deter-
mine that the generic drug is equivalent to the referenced standard,
and sometimes we find they are not, but most often they are.

Scnator NeLson. So if we have a generic producer, he wants to go
into the marketplace on an unpatented drug or the patent runs out,
and they come to you with their formulation, their compound, you
test it to determine whether it achieves a particular blood level or
what the bioavailability is on a certain time schedule compared with
the standard one in the marketplace, the brand name, is that what
vou do?

Dr. Jorry. Yes.

Senator Newsox, All right.

Dr. Jorry. Those are controlled studies as well.

Senator NeLsox. But you do not do any testing on sick patients
to determine the effectiveness of a particular drug against a particular
target organism?

Dr. Jorry. No: we practice research only, but I will state this, we
do outside clinical work at hospitals, at places overseas, in Haiti we
do some work.,

Senator Nrrsox. What do you mean outside hospital work?

Dr. Jorr.y. We do not do any clinical work for people and patients
in our facility ; however, we might conduct a study at New York Hos-
pital, or someplace else.

‘We do some work in Puerto Rico, and at a hospital under the direc-
tion of doctors at the hospital.

Now, what is our function ?

Our function is to monitor these studies, the thing is to make sure
that they are completing the case reports, the way they were designed,
that they are conducting the studies that were designed according to
the protocol. :

Senator Nersox. That they are what?

85-569—77—5
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Dr. Jorry. That they are conducting the study designed according
to protocol, that they maintain their records, their proper records,
and that they maintain all of the data required by that protocol,
and perhaps some I might feel would be of interest along with it.

We have also done work in Haiti, These would be large-scale testing,
vaceines, for example.

Senator Nevsox. Vaccines?

Dr. Jorry. Yes,

Senator NeLsox. Now is that on all healthy patients?

Dr. Joruy. Those are not specifieally under our direction,

They are under our direction, but they are conducted by physicians
in these areas.

We monitor them. Usually we will select physicians who are
certified.

Senator Nersox. I take it you conduet studies and investigations to
determine, then, whether the particular product meets the statutory
standard of efficacy. '

I assume that is what you must have done with the antiohesity
drugs? .

Dr. Jorry. Yes. ‘

Senator Nrrsow. And so your studies complied with the statute
which requires well controlled scientific studies by qualified investi-
gators producing substantial evidence of efficacy ?

Dr. Jorry. I am pleased to assure you of that.

Senator Nerson. So some of the studies involved questions of effi-
cacy, some involved other bioavailability, that sort of thing?

Dr. Jorry. Basiesafety; right.

Can it be applied to the skin without producing sensitivity or
irritation. .

Senator Nrersox. You do, I take it, studies on both preseription
and nonprescription drugs?

Dr. Jorny. Cosmetics as well, Sometimes food. Sometimes we deter-
n}qine the effects of food on situations, stomach acids, this sort of
thing, _ )

Senator Nrrsox. YWhere is most of vour work, insofar as drugs are
concerned, in the fleld of preseriptions or nonpreseriptions?

Dr. Jorey. About half and half, _

About half of our work T would say at the present time and during
the last year or two has been the bioavailability work, which has heen
a very important aspeet of the Food and Drug Administration. All of
us have been interested in generie drugs in the last 2 years.

That has been a very large section of our business. During the last
few years we have been involved in phase T testing. This is the. test
on drngs when they first come ont of the Jaboratorv, and these are
again extremely complex, and very, very tightly designed tests.

We keep subjects in the unit, during several days. They actually
live in the unit, and are fed there, They will have around the clock
nursing care and technical people with them. This is phase I work.

Senator NeLsox. In your own faeility?

Dr. JorLy. Yes. siv.

T have been told it is one of the finest clinical pharmacology nnits;
hest equipped in the country.
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Senator Nerson, Did I understand you to say you have done more
bio work than any other lab ? ' , '

Dr. Joruy. T would say of all of the studies, that would be our’
greatest number. _ _ : o

Senator Nergox, Were you involved in the studies on bicavailability
of chloramphenicol ? ' o
: Dr. Jorry. No; I missed that one. Other antibiotics have been tested
W ous. . c

ySenator NEersox, Antibiotics for bicavailability ?

Dr, Jorry. Yes; we still do a number of them. :

Senator NErsox. Does this mean for the purpose of determining
for a producer whether or not it is an antibiotic he wants to market,
or that it achieves appropriate availability within certain’ time
schedules? ' ‘

Dr. JoLLy. Sometimes. ' ‘

We do some for some of the larger companies, where they already
are accepted, but they want to recheck their product.

Senator Nersow, You are a clinical pharmacologist; do you have a
degrec in that field ? . ‘ B

Dr. Jorry. I have n degree in medicine from the University of
Michigan. I have a degree in pharmacology from the University of
Wisconsin. . oo

Senator Nersox. You say you are not a practicing physician?

Dr, Jorry. That is correct. ' '

Senator Nersox. Do you have a license to practice ?

Dr. JoLry. No: I never have, o

Senator Netsox. Youn have been in the research field at all times?

Dr. Jorry. T had been with the Food and Drug Administration for
a while, way back.

Senator Nersox. Go ahead. That was just so I could understand
fairly well what it is you do. '

Go ahead. . .

Dr. Jorry. The amphetamine-like drugs fall into the general cate-
gory of sympathomimetic agents. That Is, they mimic a part or all
of the responses seen from activation of the sympathetic nervous sys-
tem, the so-called fight or flight mechanism of the body.

These responses include: An increase in bloodflow to the heart,
Inngs, skeletal muscle and brain; stimulation of the heart with an
increase in cardiac output; dilatation of the bronchi and bronchioles
of the lungs to allow more efficient oxygenation of the blood; and,
central nervous system stimulation counteracting fatigue and increas-
ing mental alertness,

Metabolic effects include elevation in blood glucose and fatty acids
and an increase in metabolism mainly through breakdown of fatty:
acids, .

It is important to recognize that there are numerous drugs in this
category which produce sympathomimetic actions in various degrees.
Therefore were amphetamine products, for example, to be removed
from the market, other commercially available drugs could be substi-
tuted for them. '

This question will be considered in our discussion as will the pos-
sibility of imposing further restrictions an the distribution of some or
all of these products.
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Of the series, methamphetamine and amphetamine are the most
powerful central nervous system stimulants. The stimulant actions
of one of these, amphetamine, were first described by Alles in 1933,
In 1935, Prinzmetal and Bloomberg initiated clinical use of ampheta-
mine for the treatment of narcolepsy, a disease characterized by in-
ability to stay awake. Since that time, amphetamine products have
been employed for a variety of conditions including chronic fatigue,
parkinsonism, epilepsy, childhood hyperkinesis, and poisoning by
ONS depressants. Of course, the most popular use of amphetamine
products today is in the treatment of obesity.

Of the various clinical applications, experts still consider ampheta-
mine as valuable in the treatment of patients with narcolepsy and for
children with hyperkinesis in selected cases. This condition is very
prevalent, experts estimating that some 5 percent of our children are
affected to some degree. One of my children, for example, exhibited
sufficient hyperactivity, lack of attention span, and associated be-
havioral problems to require therapy. Similar symptoms were ex-
hibited by some of my other children and drug therapy might have
been useful. In retrospect, I probably also presented similar symptoms
during childhood. Hyperkinesis in children requires more intensive
study and greater recognition. It is frequently associated with Jearn-
ing, speech, and other perceptual deficits. My own son suffered severe
emotional problems related to the disease which one psychologist felt
represented a borderline psychosis. The mental and emotional scars
that are unavoidable sequellae represent the most damaging hazards
associated with this disorder. Fortunately, the symptoms usually mod-
erate with aee and are seldom apparent in young adults.

Obesity of course is the most prevalent disease in our society. Just
from the cosmetic standpoint, the disease can represent a serious threat
to well being, and we all appreciate the importance of the quality of
life as opposed to its duration. The contribution of obesity to the in-
cidence and severity of other diseases; particularly those involving
the lungs, heart, and blood vessels are considered by most experts
to be significant, However, epidemiclogical surveys suggest that re-
markable influences on longevity are only seen with early onset obesity;
dating back to the teenages, twenties, and early thirties. Conversely,
moderate obesity does not appear to significantly change morbidity
and mortality associated with pulmonary and cardiovascular disease
when weight gains start in later years—after 40. Of course, severe
obesity at any age represents a serious disease state which can adversely
effect the function of all organ systems. :

There should be no question that amphetamine and related drugs are
effective adjunets in a therapeutic program for obesity. Their actions
are clearvcut and reproduceable.

Senator Nersox. Have you read the literature and the testimony
yesterday of the four witnesses who recognize the recommendations
of the FDA panel headed by Dr. Prout, that amphetamines’ use
indiecated for ohesity should be removed, that the results of treatment
of obesity are “trivial,” are you aware of it?

Dr. Jorry, I have beeome aware of that.

Senator Nersox. Do you disagree?

Dr. Jorry. No, not really.
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My data came from very tightly controlled very definitive elinical
investigation.

I was trying to prove that these drugs produced significantly more
weight Joss than placebos.

Senator NELsoN. And was this short term ?

Dr, Joiry. It is short-term, so I do not think the two can be com-
pared, and I do not practice medicine, so I do not think I could argue
with the results with Dr. Scoville, for example, who evaluated these
drugs to a much greater degree than 1.

Senator Nrrson. You are looking at it solely from the aspect of the
short-term impact of amphetamine related to weight loss, and it wasa
double blind study?

Dr. Jorvry. Very tightly controlled, very rigid, in everything.

Senator NrrsoN. So your conclusion is only related to short-term use
- of the amphetamines in cases of obesity in connection with the diet,

versus the placebo with diet?

Dr. Joruy. Right. _

Senator NELsoN. And it has nothing to do with the long-term result ?

Dr. Jorry. That is correct. L

My evaluation of the research work accomplished with amphet-
amine-like drugs has been requested. With the disclaimer that specific
projects cannot be evaluated with precision unless they are monitored
and the data thoroughly reviewed, my general epinion is that the
background of animal and clinical work on these drugs is both exten-
stve and adequate to make a judgement of effectiveness under condi-
tions of use. The actions of these drugs are clear-cut and even under
relatively lax experimental conditions, should be reproduceable. Con-
trolled studies to demonstrate effectiveness in comparison to placebos
require hard work but no unusual skills. Study administrators may
frequently be tempted to guess which patients are being treated with
active drugs because of the side effects exhibited. This is a research
problem commen with the study of most pharmacologically active
drugs. Experienced researchers discourage such speculation by the
technical personnel.

Those who do engage in guessing games will often find out that they
were wrong. The actions of a placebo will often match and sometimes
exceed those of an active material. Conversely, a very potent drug may
not elicit any remarkable signs or symptoms in some individuals.
Regardless, when objective endpoints are available, such as actual
weight loss, assessments are simplified and data are more concrete.
Moreover, when results obtained from a number of research sites prove
essentially equivalent, it can be concluded that the findings are valid.
On this basis, the effectiveness of amphetamine-like products as ad-
junets in the treatment of obesity has been generally accepted by ex-
perts qualified by training and experience to make these judgements.
Our data, confirmed by other investigators and resulting from separate
investigations of amphetamine formulations and two related drugs

“can be summarized as follows: ' '

1. Patients treated with amphetamines who complete the study re-
quirements, weekly clinical visits, maintenance of the preseribed dos-
age intake, continued diligence during study perieds ranging from 8
to 16 weeks, on the average will lose more weight than patients who
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{2:-1‘6 maintained on placebo medication during equivalent periods of
ime, .

2. Weight loss in both placebo and treated groups are more notable
when dietary plans are detailed and maximum caloric intakes are cal-
«culated for each patient on the basis of height and body build, in con-
irast to weight losses associated with less rigid programs involving
nonspecific dietary restrictions. '

3. Fewer patients treated with placebo can maintain the personal
motivation required to complete a weight reduction program, in com-
parison to patients treated with an amphetamine formulation or re-
lated product. There will be significantly more dropouts in the placebo
group prior to completion of the study requirements.

4. 'The most important aspect in a weight reduction program is per-
sonal motivation, Unless highly motivated an individual cannot stay
on a diet and no program will be successful.

5. Patients do not appear to become resistant to the effects of
amphetamine, rather they gradually lose motivation.

6. Very cbese patients have great difficulty in reducing caloric in-
take and losing significant amounts of weight with or without an am-
phetamine crutch. Such individuals are often called compulsive eaters
or food addicts.

7. The amount of attention paid to the trials and tribulations of

obese subjects is directly proportional to the success attained. Review-
ing progress, counseling, gentle persuasion and strong encouragement
are important facets of a weight-reduction program.
A rather dramatic illustration of the profound influence of the
human psyche on eating habits is afforded by reviewing results of ad-
ministration of sympathomimetic drugs to experimental animals. In
the so-called lower forms these drugs are truly anorexigenic—appetite
reducing—drugs. Most of us regard our canine friends as the most
hedonistic of all creatures when it comes to food. Yet dogs given
amphetamine will frequently stop eating entirely and literally starve
themselves to death. The effects in rats and monkeys are a little less
extreme but still remarkable. Nonc require diet programs, motiva-
tion, tender loving care or any of the other forms of psychological
bolstering so important for humans.

Clearly, if we resembled our animal predecessors just a little more
closely, amphetamines might be fine, reasonably safe drugs for treat-
ment of obesity. True, they may produce numerous side effects such as
anxiety, tenseness, restlessness, throbbing headaches, tremors, weak-
ness, dizziness, and palpitations and, most important, difficulty in sleep-
ing. But the side effects are usnally controllable by dose reductions and
tend to abate with continued use.

Surprisingly, the stress which amphetamines induce on the system
does not appear to produce any appreciable harm with moderate doses
during short periods, except possibly to individuals with advanced
cardiovascular disease. : '

Rather the problem with the amphetamines as with many other
drugs which affect the central nervous system relates to that intricate,
mysterious, perverse tissue mass, the human brain ; responsible for the
indefinable human psyche. During a relatively short span of avail-
ability, amphetamines have emerged as major drugs of abuse.
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In consideration of the number of very unpleasant side effects a
reasonable question is why ? Like most drugs subject to abuse, amphet-
amines produce desirable responses that for some individuals out-
Eeigh any associated discomfort or, in gross overdosage, physical

istress. '

Compulsive users of amphetamines fall into roughly two categories.
Individuals who consume therapeutic doses or doses only slightly in
excess of therapeutic doses routinely, but not necessarily daily, fall
into the first category. Such individuals have learned to rely on the
drug to help them cope with the demands of their social environment.
Amphetamines preduce an elevation in mood and increased alertness,
They counteract fatigue and improve the ability to concentrate. Physi-
cal performance may be enhanced considerably at times. Perhaps the
most insidious perceived benefit is an increase of initiative and self-
confidence, : : _

Even though, on oceasions, paradoxical responses oceur, it is easy
to understand how the student, the athlete, truckdrivers and other in-
dividuals who receive rewards for either intense or prolonged efforts
can be hooked. Consider also the overworked or harassed executive
who finds that amphetamines improve the quality and quantity of his
work output, while increasing self-confidence and the housewife who
may use the drug simply to counteract boredom. :

Some of these mildly addicted individuals use the drug for years
and don't present any remarkable social problem except oceasional dis-
tressing loquacionsness, With moderation, amphetamine effects sound
good and have a definite appeal. Unfortunately all is not as rosy as it
sounds. Users have difficulty sleeping and tend to either become ex-
hausted or to use sedatives starting the classical “upper-downer” cycle.
Some find alcohol an effective antidote for the stimulant side effects.
Alcohol and sedatives as a whole are really more pleasant drugs and
can become a far greater problem than the amphetamines. Actually
people don’t become physically dependent on amphetamines. They can
stop use without any terribly unpleasant responses. But they ean and
do become physically dependent on alechol and some even to the seda-
tive hypnotic drugs.

Other problems associated with chronic use are less well defined;
however, mental depression and gastrointestinal diseases appear to be
relatively frequent concomitants of routine amphetamine intake.
Nevertheless, the most important side effect of weight reduction pro-
grams in which amphetamine is employed as an adjunect, is chronic
compulsive use of moderate doses. - =~ .. - . - . - - |
.- Experis regard even this form of abuse as more often a result of
experimentation and subsequent reinforcement of a sensation of need
for the drug in order to function, rather than as an iatrogenic medi-
cally induced problem; This pathway appears to be characteristic of all
drugs of abuse. However, susceptibility to moderate abuse seems
widespread and the risks invelved are undoubtedly real, even during
periods - of - short-term wuse adequately - supervised by- competent
physicians. ' R A T

Self-administration of gross overdoes of amphetamine-like products
either orally, by inhalation or by intravenous injection represent a sec-
ond and extremely hazardous form of abuse. Such activities are re-
stricted preponderantly to members of our “drug culture,” Individuals
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who employ large doses of amphetamine, methamphetamine or sim-
ilar drugs usuvally abuse other central nervous system drugs including
alcohol, opiates, garbiturates and marihuana. It seems that any mech-
anism that can provide them with a means of escape from the expec-
tations and impingement of society, their conscience and even con-
sciousness, is subject to adagtation by these individuals.

Amphetamines are valued because of a “rush” sensation produced
particularly when injected. The exhilaration experienced reportedly
resembles a sexual release. Cardiovascular and CNS side effects are of
course magnified and it is difficult to understand how any degree of
pleasure can compensate for the associated unpleasantness. I've only
seen the results of acute amphetamine abuse on one occasion during a
day-long visit at the home of a university professor, a psychologist
by training. On arrival in the morning, his wife appeared to be float-
ing on air, She remained that way until shortly before our departure in
the evening, when she collapsed into a deep sleep. During the day she
would not or could not maintain a given conversation or sit for any
length of time. She was inordinately garrulons and obviously edgy.
This response was purportedly the result of sniffing a quantity of
dextroamphetaminre.

Afost of us have seen the results of chronie, gross amphetamine abuse
on TV, or at Jeast read descriptions in the lay press. The anorexic ac-
tions of the drugs are illustrated by the fact that chronic users gen-
erally appear emaciated. But signs of mental disturbances are also
obvious during periods of prolonged and repeated use. Diminished in-
telligence Jevel can be appreciated particularly in previously highly
intelligent individuals. Delusions and frank hallucinations are com-
mon. Feelings of persecution, suicidal urges, and even homicidal re-
sponses are characteristic of this category of amphetamine addiction.
Deaths resulting from amphetamine overdosage can occur, but most
often are a result of administration of companion drugs. Actually, it
is amazing how resistant the cardiovascu})ar system of the human
being is to this form of grievous assault; particularly when one consid-
ers that the death rate from cardiovascular disease remains our lead-
ing Ialler.

Fortunately, when an amphetamine addiet is “dried cat” mental and
physical pathology usually prove reversible, Nor do chronic, high
dose, ampbetamine abusers suffer withdrawal symptoms seen with ad-
diction to depressant drugs; unless they happen to be addicted to any
of these materials at the same time. Also, gross amphetamine abuse is
usually episodic rather than continual as with classical opiate, seda-
tive addiction. However, the property of tolerance to high doses is
shared by this group. A dose of amphetamine which might prove fatal
to a normal person may be employed routinely by some. Finally, it
should be emphasized that this form of addiction to amphetamine is
regarded by many experts to present the greatest potential for social
aberrancies of a hazardous nature among the whole group of drug
abuse problems. These individuals can be mutilators of children as
well as adults, rapists and cold-blooded killers. One wonders for ex-
ample, if the Manson cult were amphetamine freaks.

The issue remains whether the risk to benefit ration associated with
the therapeutic use of amphetamine for obesity, or any other disease, is
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sufficiently low to justify their continued commercial availability. At

resent straight amphetamine and methamphetamines are included
in schedule II of the Controlled Substances Act along with morphine,
cocaine, and other drugs of abuse. Should these two drugs in particu-
lar be relegated to category I, thereby prohibiting any form of com-
mercial distribution? Should their use be restricted to cases of
narcolepsy or childhood hyperkinesis in which they may well represent
drugs of choice?

Those who hold that an elevation to the category I status would be
overkill point out that initial results obtained through imposing the
category I restrictions have been moderately effective in diminishing
the low-dose amphetamine abuse problem and that with improved
survelllance this form of moderate abuse will be effectively retarded.
Many have doubts that a category I status wounld have any appreciable
effect on severe abuse incidence in spite of increased effectiveness of our
enforcement officials,

The strevt, price of amphetamines, which rumor tells us is presently
about $3 per dose would certainly increase which may afford some
deterrent action; but, more likely, such an increase would prove of
greater efficacy in supporting the ventures of organized crime.

Speaking to the pro-category I question, the therapeutic merit of
amphetamine products are probably not sufficiently remarkable to dic-
tate that they remain available even with further labeling restrictions,

S(inéltor Nrrson. What are you saying? That they not be marketed
at all ‘

Dr. Jorry. Ithink T am hedging a little.

Senator Nersox. All right. _

Dr. Jorry. The next sentence I think really says what I mean.

Tt seems unlikely that clinicians on the whole would strenuously
ohject if the amphetamine products were completely banned; particu-
larly if they could be assuved that deletion of these occasionally very
useful drugs would not be an exercise in futility.

Senator NeLsox. You say it is unlikely?

Dr. Jorry. T think so. You have seen that, obviously yesterday.

Particularly I think many of them have some doubts about the
value of taking drugs off the market realistically, because it seems to
me it is frequently an exercise of futility. :

It really does not stop the horrible problems, and many of them feel
that there ought to be better ways. : :

An investigative reporter, with whom I have become friendly re-
cently disclosed to me that reliable information exists snggesting that
other sympathomimetic drugs are presently achieving the widespread
abuse category. : - :

e specifically designated the drug, phenteramine as a popular am-
phetamine substitute,

This drug is presently listed among the drugs with Iow abuse poten-
tial in category IV. Our work at Biometric Testing, Inec., indicates
that at effective therapeutic doses some of the sympathomimetic side
effects may occur—dry mouth, palpitations, nervousness—but that the
mood-clevating, antifatigue actions associated with amphetamine and
methamphetamine are minimal.
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Most investigators would discount a significant abuse potential for
henteramine and similar drugs on the basis of the data available
in the literature.

The drugs have just not proven to elicit sufliciently rewarding re-
sponses in comparison to associated discomfort.

Yet, we cannot sell the human animal short. A lesser crutch will
frequently be acceptable if the parent is not available, even though it
is reasonable to assume that unwanted side effects will be proportion-
ately amplified with higher doses. ‘
~ Although not as extensively studied as amphetamine, phenteramine,
and other drugs with similar activity have been well characterized
pharmacologically.

Jerome Jaffe in the standard test, Goodman & Gilman cites the work
of Martin and his associates—Clin. Pharmacol. Ther, 12:245, 1971—
which suggest that some representatives of the series can produce
central nervous system stimulation in experimental animals compara-
ble to that of amphetamine depending upon the dose administered.

Since human investigations have been restricted to recommended
doses, the relevancy of these data In humans eannot be defined. How-
ever, as 4 response to the invitation to discuss this problem with you
I have explored this possibility further, _ _

A former classmate and expert in the pharmacology of drug addie-
tion, Dr. Gerald Deneau, and we have heard from Dr, Jasinski on the
same thing earlier, provided me with data showing that primates
under given conditions will self-administer some of these presumably
less stimulant sympathomimetics. These data support the work of
Martin, and others, and suggest that the appreciated ampletamine
responses might be obtainable with elevated doses.

1t is difficult for me to judge what the relevancy of these data are.

Any evidence suggesting a significant abuse potential requires criti-
cal evalnation before conelusions are warranted,

To achieve a conclusion that a given amphetamine-related product
possesses abuse potential of an order to dictate added sanctions, it
should be possible to document an increasing incidence of abuse.

In contradiction to my reporter friend, another close observer has
failed to note any remarkable or alarming upsurge in recreational,
nonmedical use of the amphetamine-related drugs.

He states that fenfluramine, a newer introduction more likely to
produce drowsiness than stimulation, appears to present as many
problems as some of the older products.

Yet, on the basis of limited data, it seems that baboons. at least, do
not enjoy fenfluramine and will not self-administer the drug abnor-
mally. Perhaps baboons are more discriminating than humans.

Undoubtedly our DEA, regulatory officials will be able to provide
us with more definitive information 1n regard to the current incidence
of cases of confirmed abuse of amphetamine-related drugs; particu-
larly the ineidence associated with the inhalation and intravenous
routes of administration. :

We do not know what the abuse potential is for these related dings
at this date. I think we have to find out,

If indeed the related drugs prove to possess an abuse potential ap-
proaching that of amphetamine, then clearly they should be placed
in category I1,
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If new findings illustrate that a drug is favored by the “drug cul-
ture” as an agent of gross abuse, it may well merit category I status.
Under any circumstances, we should remain diligent in defining de-
grees and hazards of abuse associated with these drugs retained on the
market, and any potential substitutes should they be withdrawn.
Thank you very much.

Senator Nrrsox. Thanlk you, Dr. Jolly.

We appreciate your taking your time to come and to present your
testimony here today.

The hearings will recess until tomorrew morning at 10 a.m. in the
same hearing room.

So we stand in recess, and we do thank all of the witnesses for ap-
pearing today.

[ Whereupon, the subcommittee was recessed at 11:55 a.m.]







COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY

(Present Status of Competition in the Pharmaceutical
Industry)

THURSDAY, NOVEMBER 11, 1974
U.S. Sexate,

SUBCOMAMITTEE ON MONOPOLY OF THE
Sevect CormMITTEE ON SMALL BUsINEss,
Washington, D.C.
The subcommittee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 a.m., in room 318,
Russell Senate Office Building, ¥on. Gaylord Nelson, chairman,
presiding.
Present : Senator Nelson, _ _ :
Also present : Benjamin Gordon, staff economist; and Karen Young,
research assistant. ‘ :
Senator Nersox. The Monopoly Subcommittee of the Senate Small
Business Committee will please come to order, .
Our first witness this morning is Dr. Everett Ellinwood, associate
%}-rgessor of psychiatry, Duke University Medical Center, Durham,

Wae are pleased to have you here this morning.

Yourstatement will be printed in full in the record.!

You may present your statement however you desire, 1

If yon would pull the microphone up close, it would help, because
the acoustics are very poor in this room.

STATEMENT OF EVERETIT H. ELLINWO0OD, JR., M.D., PROFESSOR OF
PSYCHIATRY, DUKE UNIVERSITY MEDICAL CENTER, DURHAM,
NG '

Dr. Errixwoop. Thank you, Mr, Chairman. :

I have worked for many years now with most of the central nervous
system stimulants, both in a clinical setting as well as in a basic re-
search laboratory. '

In considering the anorectic drugs currently in use, it is important
to distinguish between the central stimulant effects and anorectic
properties,

The amphetamines are perhaps the best prototype of anorectic
drugs, having strong central nervous system stimulant activity as well
as anorectie properties,

1 See prepared statement and attachments of Dr, Ellinwood beginning at p. 14668,
(14499 »
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I have a table, Mr. Chairman with a listing of the anorectic and
stimulant drugs
[The table follows:]

TABLE I.—DEA SCHEDULE, GENEREC EQUIVALENTS, AND TRADE NAMES OF PRESENTLY MARKETED STIMULANT
DRUGS IN THE UNITED STATES

DEA schedule Generic name Trade name
| S, Amphetamines:
d amphetaming. . ...coveremociommancireacrane Dexedrine, Obotan.
d, 1amphetamine iSCMers. enemeesemacccancnaans B‘E{'{"ﬁ’i,"" Biphetamine, Delcobese ,
etrof
Methamphetaimine. ... eeeiiniinen - Desoxyn, Fetamin,
d amphetamine+amobarbital.... ... -ea. Dexamyl,
d, 1 amphetamine+procklorperazine.., - Eskatrol.
Other stimulant drugs:
Methylphenidate. ... Ritalin,
Phenmetrazine. .. Prejudin,
Benzphetamine. . Didrex.
Chlorphenterming Pre-Sate,
" Clortermine. .. -~ Yoranil.
Mazindol.__..... -- Sanorex,
Phendimetrazing. - .euecvmroccnccmscimacsanenn Bontril, Meliat, Obe-Nil, Stratobex,
Bacarate.

Diethylpropion Tenvate, Tepanit.
Fenfluramine. Pondimin,
Phentermine...... 1 in, Fastin.

Dr. Frrrxwoop. Methylphenidate and phenmetrazine: also have
strong stimulating properties similar to the amphetamines.

In considering the usefulness of these stimulant properties, there
z_m}al tlv:'lo specific medical uses on which a consensus among physicians
is held: ;

(1) Their use in hyperkinetic children; and

(2) Their use in narcolepsy.

In both these conditions, one is faced with deficiencies in arousal
and attention mechanisms. '

Hyperkinetic children demonstrate a remarkable inability to focus
their attention on specific tasks or interests before them. They are
especially distractable and susceptible to extraneous stimuli from the
environment, :

Tn a school situation, they are incapable of handling the repetitious

tasks requiring focused attention, such as reading and writing.
* Stimulants have also been generally accepted as a specific treatment
for narcolepsy, an uncommon condition which is characterized by
sudden attacks of sleep and weakness during normal waking hours,
and unusual periodic sleep patterns at night. ‘

Stimulants, and especially amphetamine, have been found to change
what is at times an incapacitating condition to an ability to return
to work, to drive a car, and to earry ont in a relatively normal fashion,
tasks requiring vigilance and attention. - '

\Vithout the stimulants, the individual would periodically fall
gsleep as many as 6 to 20 times a day, and at times and conditions that
would be compromising and dangerous. - ‘

There is a disagreement over the use of anorecties having pro-
nounced stimulant properties in weight reduction regimes.

This disagreement arises primarily because many individuals who
have originally taken the stimulants for weight reduction appreciate
the energizing and euphoric cffects and continue to take the drugs
for reasons other than weight reduction.
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Inmy opinion, general long-term use of amphetamines or other stim-
ulants for weight control should be discouraged strongly.

The current practice of using the more potent stimulants for weight
reduction during a 2- to 3-week startup period to allow the individual
to gradually cut down his food intake patterns then discontinue the
medication, needs also to be questioned.

Several clinicians, Penick, 1969; Feinblatt, 1961; Fineberg, 1067,
have specifically recommended this regime as being effective in a
weight-control protocol. o

The Federal Drug Administration has previously reviewed the drug
trial data on the effectiveness of the whole gamut of anorectic drugs
in weight reduction regimes and it would appear that they are, in-
deed, effective.

In this unpublished study, Scoville, 1972, using 206 anorectic drug
trials which had been submitted to the FDA, the FDA researchers
placed the raw data in a common format and subjected it to a total
analysis; they indeed demonstrated that there was a gignificant effect—
at least out to 16 weeks—of these anorectic drugs on weight loss,
. Usnally, the weight loss amounted to 1 pound per week more than a
simple diet alone with placebo. ‘

For the most part, the researchers at the FDA felt that the major-
ity of the studies were well done, especially those accomplished on the
basis of 3- and 6-week studies. _ :

The 1-year studies were not well-controlled and did not have good
followup.

Mr. Gorpox. May T interrupt at this point, Dr. Ellinwood.

Dr. Scoville, whom you referred to, was here yesterday, and he was
unaware that many of these studies on which you based your state-
ment were found to be inadequate by at least four or five of FDA’s
medical officers. There has always been disagreement among the
medical officers in the Food and Drug Administration concerning
the efficacy or the adequacy of evidence showing that these drugs are
effective. I would like to point out to you that this particular study
is a pooled study which included many individual studies. In fact,
more than half of them were inadequate, and apparently did not
satisfy the law involving substantial evidence.- C
FI?{ Errinwoop. I will have to leave that to the researchers at the

Obviously one could question many clinical studies, but on the basis
of the information I have, they have considered most of the studies to
be adegquate, _ . ' '

I do think a word of caution is needed in that these studies are based
on short-term effects of weight reduction, and if one follows any type
of treatment program for obesity for any length of time, the task of
keeping weight down in these individuals iz extremely discouraging.

Most researchers—Stunkard and McLarenhume, 1959; Penick,
1969—report that only a small percentage of patients maintain their
weight Joss at the end of a year. '

Others—Penick, 1969—have cautioned against the total pessimistic
view, in that treatments may have been effective in helping overweight
patients from gaining even more weight,

. There is no hard data to support the issue one way or the other, and
one could certainly conceive of anorectic drugs being used on 2 short-
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term hasis in order to help the patient establish habit patterns, or be-
come involved in behavioral programs which would foster long-term
welght reduction.

The main question in evaluating anorectic drugs is not just their
therapeutic effectiveness, but also the trade-off against the abuse poten-
tial of these compounds.

In a later section of this statement, we will discuss the point that the
toxic impact of amphetamine-like stimulants on the individunal, and
indeed on society, is significant. '

We should strongly encourage attempts to reduce the use of com-
pounds with potent stimulant properties.

Another major question is whether there are anorectic drugs which
have less of the stimulant abuse potential but which are still effective
anorectics,

At this point it shonld be stated that none of the anorectics have
leen proven to be absolutely free of some form of abuse potential, yet
there may be a new group of relatively nonabused anorectics emerg-
ing; that 1s, the ring-substituted amphetamine analogues.

Now, I am not going to go into the chemical makeup of these sub-
stitute compounds, except I think the evidence is accumulating that
they may be different than the chain substituted compound.

To date, the side-chain substituted amphetamine analogues, when
tested in self-administration animal models, and in other tests for
stimulant properties, all appear to have some stimulant potency.

Although weaker than dextroamphetamine and methamphetamine,
#s well as phenmetrazine, these compounds would appear to have suf-
ficient stimulant properties to be abused by some individuals.

Conversely, the major dependent abuse cycles have not been estab-
lished with most of these compounds as has been noted with the above
primary stimulants.

The ring-substituted amphetamine analogues, fenfluramine and
chlorphentermine, are amphetamine congeners which have anorectie
effects apparently without major psychostimulant or sympathomi-
metic effects, that is, cardiovascular stimulant effects,

When tested in man, these drugs instead of producing a stimulant
effect, appear to have more sedative properties.

Studics using drug abusers to test for euphoric and arousal effects
indicate that they do not perceive fenfluramine or chlorphentermine
as having the euphoric and arousal effects in the same way 2s most
CXNS stimulants. '

A word of caution is needed for fenfluramine, in that high doses
induced psychotomimetic effects—Griffith, 1976; Gotestam and Gunne,
1979—that is, visnal and olfactory hallucinations—Griffith, Nutt and
Jasinski, 1975—rapid mood swings, distorted time sense and fleeting
paranoia.

The psychotomimetic effects of fenfluramine should be evaluated
carefully since there is one report in the literature—Levin, 1973—
indicating that a South African group of drug abusers had used this
compound for its hallucinogenic properties.

Remember, we are talking about a very high dose usage of this
compound.

St'{IL‘tléere have not been similar reports, to my knowledge, in the United
S.
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With chlorphentermine, one needs to consider that there have been
isolated reports of pulmonary hypertension, again which have not
been reported, to my knowledge, in the United States.

Thus, these two ring-substituted compounds should be carcfully
examined, both in the basic research laboratories as well as clinically.

Basic rtesearch with these two compounds has demonstrated a
marked attenuation of stimulant properties as well as the indicators
of abuse potential.

In the case of fenfluramine, it is one-twentieth as potent as am-
phetamine in elevating blood pressure in rats, and has no effect on
body temperature—Bizzi and others, 1970. oo _

Fenfluramine, as well as chlorphentermine, suppress feeding in rats
without the induction of locomotor stimulation—van Rossum and
Simons; 1969. :

In the self-administration technique for assessment of abuse poten-
tial, fenfluramine has been demonstrated to be a compound for which
neither rats—Baxter and others, 1978—nor monkeys—Griffith, 1976;
Woods and Tessel, 1974—will self-administer. \

'Self-administration data for chlorphentermine is more equivocal,
in that rats have been demonstrated to self-inject this compound as
they do amphetamine, phenmatrazine, and diethylpropion—Baxter
and others, 1973—however, monkeys show little evidence of self-admin-
istration— Yanagita, unpublished results.

To continue the example with fenfluramine further, in actual prac-
tice as an anorectic, fenfluramine has been demonstrated to decrease
fg(;d intake in many species, including man—see Stunkard and others,
1073. ‘

Those studies have demonstrated more of a sedative effect chroni-
cally with fenfluramine than for either placebo or amphetamine when
administered for weight reduction.

Finally, although there is a report of the use of fenfluramine for its
hallucinogenic properties, there have been no published reports of
dependence patterns following several million prescriptions in the
United States.

T would like to present my recommendations on the basis of this
statement, and then go into what I think is the major abuse potential
of these compounds, the strong stimulant compounds, in man.

In the light of these differences among anorectic compounds, a more
rational approach to the abuse potential problem of anorectics would
be to encourage discriminating basic research and preclinical evalua-
tion of these compounds for the tradeoff for their anorectic properties
and potential stimulant abuse properties.

_ Furthermore, rescheduling the anorectics with stimulant proper-
tue_i could encourage physicians to be more careful in their prescribing
criteria.

This observer would consider moving phentermine—Ionamine and
Ffs%ﬁ and diethylpropion Tenuate and Tepanil at least into sched-
ule 111,

Mr. Gorpoxn. May I interrupt.

Why schedule I11% It has no effect on medical practice.

As a matter of fact, Dr. Crout in a document states as follows:

“Schedule IT of the CSA, the most restrictive for marketed drugs,
requires nonrefillable prescriptions, special records, and manufactur-

85-569—T77——8
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ing quotas, among other things; schedule IIT and IV have little but
psychological impact on the practice of medicine, requiring only a
special symbol on the labels and labeling and a practitioner’s BNDD
number on the prescription. The schedules of the act include three
anorectics—methamphetamine, the amphetamines themselves, and
phenmetrazine.” . .

Dr. Exrizwoop. That exactly will be my point,

As T said, T will consider at least moving it into the III category,

Let me go ahead and finish that.

I think that will clarify your question.

In addition, based on basic research in self-administration models
or evidence of euphoriant effects in man, compounds such as benz-
phetamine, clortermine, mazindol, and phendimetrazine as well as
dicthylpropion and phentermine, might be considered for schedule II.

Placing these compounds in schedule IT would require that the
physictan explicitly write thess prescriptions without refills.

This would place considerably more emphasis on reevaluation for
subsequent prescription writing, )

The more potent stimulants such as dextroamphetamine, meth-
amphetamine and phenmetrazine currently under schedule IT should
be considered for possible discontinuance of their use as anorectics.

Certainly these compounds have been demonstrated to have con-
siderabla abuse potential,

Use of potent stimulants for hyperactivity in children and narco-
lepsy should be maintained.

Senator Nrzrson. You would remove the indication for anorectic
purposes from the drug labeling, I take it?

.” Dr. ExLinwoop. For those compounds, for dextroamphetamine, for
phenmetrazine and methamphetamine. : _

I think there are sufficient other compounds with less of the stimu-
lating properties that one could use for this. -

Finally, physicians might be encouraged to consider prescribing
one of the ring-substituted compounds dependent on their evaluation
of the patient for an initial weight reduction regime, at least before
the more euphoriant and stimulating compounds are considered.

Obviously, education of both physicians and the public is a major
means of facilitating this process.

I would like to go now into the impact of stimulant abuse on the
individual and perhaps on society.

In determining the impact of stimulant drugs on the individual
and society, one can consider a host of potential changes including
the morbidity and mortality rate among amphetamine abusers; the
potential for an emotionally apathetic state following chronic abuse
and withdrawal which has been described both in this comtry as
well as Japan—Tatetsu, 1963; Utena, 1966; Ellinwood, 1973.

In addition, there is evidence from chronic intoxication animal
studies that nerve cell death takes place in brain areas which in part
rlne'.?%iate alerting and emotional arousal—Escalante and Ellinwood,

970.

Studies in monkeys have demonstrated a long-term, perhaps perma-
nent, depletion of an important neurotransmitter—do amine—which
lasts for at least 3 to 6 months following high dose amphetamine main-
tenance—Seiden, and others, 1976 '
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Thus, there are clinical descriptions as well as basic research indicat-
ing that there may be long-term changes followimg chronic amphet-
amine intoxication.

Senator Nrrson. What is the effect of that, of whatever long-term
clianges that may occur?

Dr. ErLinwoop. You mean in humans?

Senator NELsoN, Yes. ,

Dr. Eruxwoon. Well, it is very difficult to document this, but there
aro many, many cases, reports, and histories of individuals, which
report emotionally apathetie, fatizue states involving long-term use
of amphetamines, at times some difficulty remembering.

Now, I need to add, however, that critical studies of individuals with
neurological tests have not demonstrated intellectual deficits, so I think
one needs to consider that also.

Perhaps the major issue relating to impact on society is that of
criminal activity. ,

Obviously, the drug marketplace is an unstable arena in which
crimes agalnst property can become a part of the stimulant abuse
pattern—3Smith, 1972, o

One crucial question is whether stimulants specifically induce
violence int abusers. '

In order to obtain a perspective of the effects of amphetamine on
ageressive and violent behavior, one should compare them with the
cffects of other drugs. ‘

The concensus among those who work closely with problems of abuse
is that opiates do not induce unwarranted violence and, in fact, are
likely to inhibit tendencies toward violence, even though addicts are
frequently involved in potentially explosive criminal situations—Kolb,
1925, '

On the other hand, for yedrs alcohol and sedatives have been as-
sociated with an increase in violence which is thought to be secondary
to a lowering of impulse control—Guize, and others, 1962.

- Teports from law enforcement personnel and psychiatrists, as well
as from drug users themselves, have indicated that high dose amphet-
amine use may also be related to aggressive behavior—perhaps more
specifically than some of the other groups of drugs.

That is, such high dose use may actually facilitate aggressive be-
havior rather than just lowering impulse control—Ellinwood, 1969,
1971a; Kramer, 1969 ; Smith, 1972. , ‘

Chronic high-dose use of amphetamines, which leads to behavioral
aberrations including psychosis, is considered by clinieal observers to
be a volatile state and 1s the one not infrequently implicated in violent
or assaultive behavior. '

In contrast, several survey studies, where arrestees are interviewed
concerning their drug use—that is, the spectrum of low-dose and high-
dose nse—indicate that amphetamine use per se is mot specifically
related to violent crimes—Blum, 1969; Eckerman, and others, 19713
Greene, and others, 1973 ; Tinklenberg, and others, 1974.

Thus, it appears that the violent activity most frequently appears
not with low or moderate doses of amphetamine, but with the chronic
high dose stage of unstable and/or psychotic behavior.

Often the amphetamine-induced paranoid ideation or emotional
Iia_})i{)ity leads to the violent act or even overt homicide—Ellinwood,
1971b.
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Not infrequently, the amphetamine abuser committing homicide is
attacking an imaginary assailant or persecutor created in his paranoid
delusional thinking. i

The violent act may take place in a state of terror or panic, often
secondary to misinterpretation of events or delusions. ] )

Perhaps equally important is the influence of amphetamines in
creating:

1. Impulsive or reactiveness, and ‘

2. g liability of mood in which the user abruptly vacillates from a
warm congeniality to fiercely hostile moods for the most trivial of
reasons—Kramer, 1969 ; Ellinwood, 1971a.

The drug subculture of amphetamine abuser, of course, is involved
frequently in criminal activity in order to support drug use.

The amphetamine abuser may suddenly panic and react violently
while involved in an armed robbery.

At times, this reaction is touched off by a bizarre feeling such as
being §:1dden1y and furiously angry because the storekeeper “smiled
at me.

In the study of amphetamine abusers committing homicide—which
I carried out—Ellinwood, 1971a~—7 of the 13 subjects were acutely
psychotic and delusional at the time, and this disturbance of thought
appeared to be directly related to the homicide.

Four persons were primarily in an amphetamine-induced emo-
tionally labile state. _

Paranoid ideation may have been involved in these cases, but it was
not the most salient feature.

T'wo persons with low impulse control had also been drinking at
the time the homicide occurred.

In two cases, homicide was associated with armed robbery and this
appeared to be the primary contributing condition.

Although the killers were high on amphetamines at the time, it is
difficult to assess the relative 1mportance of this and other factors
since by far the most important factor was the flow of events associated
with the armed robbery.

Both of these men stated that they were obtaining money to buy
drugs. Twelve of 13 persons committing homicide were carrying
concealed weapons at the time, '

Many speed users carry weapons, estensibly for a variety of reasons
including :

1, For use in armed robbery.

2. Because of their suspiciousness and fears—often he has “heard
someone breaking in at night” or he becomes increasingly fearful of
his persecution and begins carrying a gun, and

3. There is a certain amount of “cowboy and Indian” braggadocio-
involved in carrying guns by speed users.

Anyone working with amphetamine addiets will hear stories of
individuals sitting all night with a loaded gun waiting for fantacized
intrudersto enter,

Under these conditions, speed freaks have been known to shoot at
hallucinated noises or images.

Amphetamine facilitated violence is not peculiar to the United
States; similar reports of bizarre aggression as well as homicide come
from Sweden, Japan, and England.
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Noda, 1950, reported that during the Japanese epidemic of amphet-
amine abuse, in a 2-month period 31 of 60 convicted murderers had
some connection with the misuse of amphetamines—Rylander, 1969—
reports that thers had been 8 murders, 1 manslaughter, and 21 assault
and battery crimes committed by the 146 stimulant addicts admitted
to his Swedish Forensic Psychiatry Clinic, '

There had been 109 erimes committed against property some of
these crimes were associated with aggression.

In his original monograph on amphetamine psychosis—Connell,
1958—states that hostile aggressive behavior was observed in 22 per-
cent of the subjects included in his series from England.

In a recent study by the—Kalant, 1976—examining deaths reported
by the coroner in the Province of Ontario in 1972 and 1973 which
were related to amplctamine use, they found that 17 of 26 were deaths
of a violent nature.

Seven were due to accidental violence, usually, due to poor judg-
ment ; seven to suicide; and three to homicide.

Among the suicides, there was a high incidence of self-inflicted
fatal gunshot wounds.

Two suicides followed the killing of a police officer with subsequent
impending capture by the police.

One male was shot by a policeman after attacking him with a knife.

Trom perusel of both the reported homicide cases and those of
assault, it is apparent that many drug users move through three fairly
distinet phases leading to the violent act. :

The three phases consist of: First, chronic amphetamine abuse;
second, an acute change in the individual’s state of emotional arousal;
and third, a situation that triggers the specific events leading to the
act of violence-—Ellinwood, 1971a. :

The phase of chronic abuse often sets the stage; it includes changes
in the individual’s frame of mind involving suspiciousness, paranoid
thinking, and fearful regard of his environment. .

1t is during this period that he obtains and begins to carry a
concealed weapon. '

Armed robbery as a means of supporting the drug habit and conflicts
over drug dealing also are segments of the sctting that derives from
chronie drug use. o

The second phase, involving a sudden change in emotional arousal
and/or a loss of intellectual control, is often secondary to a variety of
factors, including a sudden increase in the dosage level-—or acute use
in o person with low tolerance—chronic loss of sleep, and the use of
other drugs, especially sedatives and aleohol. :

_ In this emotional and cognitive framework, the person often mis-
interprets his environment and becomes increasingly fearful.

The emotional misinterpretation may be quite subtle; for instance,
o sudden and overwhelming interpretation of a minor “clue” that
fits into the person’s delusional system.

On the other hand, it may be a very gross misinterpretation of the
entire environment; strangers suddenly becomes sources of persecution,

Often the person mistakes a stranger for a persecutor, or, alter-
nately, for a friend—Ellinwood, 1967 ; 1969.

This phase of sudden misinterpretation of the environment is
associated with an intense sense of reality.
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Within this framework, a minor incident can trigger the violent act.
Often the threatening incident is half real and half misinterpreted.

In nine of the cases in this study, the murder was committed on
the basis of an instant decision or impulse secondary to a perceived
danger. There were, however, four other cases in which some
forethought was involved in the mtent.

One man “tracked down” his victim.

Even within this context of pursuit of the victim, there is often
o singular event that triggers the violence.

In fact, in Smith’s 1972 deseriptions, nonfatal pursuits are not
uncommon—I~iramer and others, 1967-—have stated that these games
aro often only half serious. Thus, although chronic amphetamine
abuse may set the stage for violence, it is the phase of acute changes
in sensibilities that is actually associated with misinterpretation and
the violent act.

At this point, a note of caution is indicated. Homicides related to
amphetamine abuse certainly pale in significance when one considers
the incidence relative to aleohol related violence.

This does not mean that the fewer episodes of stimulant facilitated
homicides are not critically important, but we should maintain a
perspective with respect to aleohol. )

Finally, the question can be asked whether there are residual
psychological changes that remain after one has developed the
amphetamine psychosis.

The amphetamine paranoid psychosis is a well-known phenomena
as%%ciated with chronic amphetamine use—Connell, 1958; Kalant
1966,

Although single large doses of amphetamine can produce a toxic
hallucinatory paranoid panic state, amphetamine psycgosis most often
results from chronic abuse and develops graduelly; when seen by the
examining physician, the process often has exfended to the point
where a picture of paranoid schizophrenic-like psychesis is present—
Ellinwood, 1969.

In fact, many patients have not infrequently been wrongly diag-
nosed as such.

The paranoid syndrome usually does not begin until after the ini-
tial few weeks, or even months of amphetamine abuse.

Mr. Gorpox. Doctor, may I interrupt you just 1 second?

You mentioned alcohol. In one of your journal articles you referred
to poly-drug abuse, and you state:

Reports on several persons who have committed quite serious assaults indi-
cate that when combining amphetamines with other drugs, staggering amounts
of alcohol or sedatives can often be consumed. Without the amphetamine use,
the individual would have passed out. ’

Would you say this is an additional danger of amphetamines?

Dr. Errrxwoon. Yes; I would say so.

Mr. Goroon. That you would consume much more aleohol ?

-

Dr. ErLrvwoon, Yes; and the combination often ends up with a

b

fairly activated individual, who has lost & considerable amount of his
judgment, ‘

Otherwise, a similar amount of alcohol, ke would frequently pass
out. -
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YWhen the individual who had been taking amphetamines chronically
combines it with alcohol, he loses a considerable amount of judgment.

. It tends to wax and wane depending on the drug cycle and dosage
evel.

Hallucinations tend to dissipate 2 or 3 days after cessation of am-
phetamine use, yet delusions continue up to 2 weeks and have been
noted in some patients for as long as 1 year or more,

The amphetamine psychosis usually 1s a distinct syndrome char-
acterized by delusions of persecution, ideas of reference, visnal and
anditory hallucinations, changes in body image; hyperactivity, and
excitation—Connell, 1‘)58 Kalant, 1966; Ellmwood 1967 ; 1969.

Whereas the amphetamme psychotm process usually takes a rea-
sonable period of time to develop into its more organized form, once
established, moderately high doses can retrigger the psychosis rather
rapidly in individuals who may have been ‘abstinent from ampheta-
mines for over a period of 1 year—Kramer, 1969; Bell, 1973; Ellin-
wood, 1973.

The Japanese—Utena, 1966—also describe a tendency for the psy-
chotic symptoms to recur not only with subsequent amphetamine ad-
ministration, but also under stress.

Since the more aberrant behavior induced in animal models of
chronic intoxication can also be triggered by single moderately high
dosage—Ellinwood, 1971b—the clinical data needs to be taken seri-
ously and examined further. This evidence, plus the observation of
chronic delusions in some amphetamine addicts seriously raises the
issue of chronic persistent behavioral effects.

In summary, my recommendations are based on the fact that
obesity is known to contribute to a decreased longevity; thus, it is
important for clinicians to have means of establishing weight 1oduc—
tion regimes.

Many consider the development of an anorectic withont stimulant
abuse potential as a goal not only worthy, but obtainable.

There is a considerable body of knowledge on the neuro-pharmacol-
ogy and neurophysiology of eating behaviors.

“In addition, there are assessment techniques currently available for
determining in the laboratory relative stimulant abuse potentml for
potential anorectic drugs.

The total abolition of anorectic drugs would reduce the pharmaceu-
tical industry’s search for the nonabused anorectic. There are exan-
ples of compounds currently on the market that appear to point in
the right direction.

Proper use of our current knowledge base and further research
will contribute to the goal of deve]opmo- better nonabused anorectics.

I would suggest esta %Olshmcr an mdependont FDA review committee
that would provide guldelmes for the basic and preclinical research
needed to establish the therapeutic efficacy and abuse potential of
new anorectic compounds.

Use of our current knowledge could very accurately discriminate
the compounds that will demonstrate abuse potential and those that
will not,

‘In the interim, I would recommend additional rescheduling of the’
anorectics with stimulant propertles to encourage phyalcmns to he
more careful in their prescribing eriteria.
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This rescheduling would exclude at this time the ring-substituted
anorectics until there is sufficient data to indicate that these com-
pounds have an abuse potential.

The more potent stimulants, such as dextroamphetamine, metham-
phetamine, and phenmetrazine, currently under schedule II should
bo considered for possible discontinuance of their use as anorecties.

Finally, it would be helpful to have some means of monitoring and
restricting physicians and/or obesity clinics that overprescribe the
stimulant anorectics.

Mr, Chairman, that concludes my statement.

I have the references at the end of my prepared statement that I
would like to have made a part of the record.

Senator NeLsow, Without objection, so ordered.

Mer. Gornox, Doctor, in Psychiatry in March 1971, you discussed the
historics of persons that had marginal schizophrenia, and after taking
amphetamines, they deteriorated rapidly.

Now, this kind of condition would be contraindicated for the pre-
scribing of amphetamines: is that correct?

Dr. Errixwoop. Certainly. :

Ar. Gorpox. Now, when a person goes to a so-called fat doctor, do
you think he is going to be given a psychiatric examination?

Dr. ErLixwoob. Probably not.

Mr. Gornox. So since violence and crime ensue, or can ensue, the
consequence of amphetamine use can be very serious both to the indi-
vidual and to soctety, as you stated before. You would agree with
that, T presume?

Dr. Ertrxwoon. T would.

Mr. Gornox. Now, three of the cases had low tolerance, had taken
laree amounts of amphetamine, and developed paranoia status.

You also state it is not the amphetamine intake that is important,
but, it is the relationship to the level of tolerance.

Now, is it possible or practicable for the preseribing physician to
determine the level of tolerance for the patient?

Dr. Ertinwoon. No; I do not see that as being probable.

He could certainly determine the tolerance, but it is really not very
feasible in standard medical practice. . :

T want to emphasize one thing, that in describing the toxic effects
of stimulants, we have been talling about the more potent complex
that includes the dextroamphetamine, the methamphetamine and
preludin, and I do not think we have any direct evidence that the con-
pounds that fit in between those, or fit below those compounds in their
stimulant potency have induced the chronic states that T have been
degeribing.

This is one of the reasons I have recommended that we take the
compounds, the more potent stimulant compounds, out of the anorectic
use category for these drugs.

T am not, however, recommending taking out all of those compounds,
because we do not have direct evidence that they caused these chronic
prohlems that we have been describing.

Mr. Gorpox. But can they cause them? We do not know. Before
you put a drug on the market, shouldn’t you have to show whether it
causes this or does not cause that symptom?
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Dr. Erzrxwoon. I think we could get evidence of that. I think the
most important thing is whether they have sufficient euphoria prop-
erties which indicate they will be abused. I think we do have tests now
in both the clinical laboratories as well as basic research laboratories,
that can provide us with fairly good evidence of the potency of these
compounds in at least a few patterns of behavior. .

There are fairly good tests now, that can give you a reasonable &nc-
ture before they come on the market, but we do not. have a complete
picture for all of the compounds that are on the market.

Mr. Gorpon. Well, don’t you think we should have a picture before
we put a compound on the market, is that not required by law?

Dr. Exrinwoopn. T think that isa reasonable assumption.

Mr. Goroox. Thank you.

Qenator NErsox. The amphetamines, of course, have been on the
marketplace long before the 1938 requirement of proof of safety, and .
much longer before the 1962 provision for efiicacy. As to the amphet-
amines, we are dealing with a drug that did not have to meet at that
time a safety and efficacy standard.

Are thers any statistics available that would indicate, that would
show what percentage of the drugs used for anorectic purposes were
in fact highly stimulating amphetamines ?

Dr. Exranwoop. What percentage?

Senator Nrerson. Yes. People go to a physician for treatment of
obesity, and get preseriptions for drugs. What percentage of those
preseriptions for that purpose are in fact amphetamines, the highly
active stimulants?

Dr. Erurvwoon. T think those prescribing habits have changed dra-
matically, at least since 1968.

There has been a shift in the prescribing habits.

Senator Nerson. That was because they were put on schedule I1%

Dr. Erraxwoop. Yes, because they were put on schedule IT, and the
absolute production of these compounds was of course reduced.

T think there has been a gradual shift to the less potent compounds,
but I do not have statistics on that.

Senator NeLgoN. We will ask the FDA when they appear next week.

Mr. Gorpon. Mr. Chairman, I ask that the two articles by Dr. Ellin-
wood be placed in the record at the appropriate place.

Qenator Nerson. The two articles will be made a part of the record.

We thank you very much, Dr. Ellinwood, for appearing and pre-
senting your testimony.

Dr, Erzinwoop. Thank you, Mr, Chairman.

Senator NELsoN. OQur next witness will be Reverend Reginald Yake,
executive director, Teen Challenge Training Center, Rehrersburg, Pa.

Reverend Yake, your statement will be printed in full in the record.

You may present it however you desire, and if you wish to make
additions to the statement, extemporaneously, you may do so.

STATEMENT OF REVEREND REGINALD YAKE, EXECUTIVE DIREC-
TOR, TEEN CHALLENGE TRAINING CENTER, REHRERSBURG, PA.

Reverend Yaxe. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.
T just wanted tostate I am appearing for others.
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I am reading their statements. It is not mine.

It was advised that they should not be present, They are presently
in attendance at'the Teen Challenge Training Center, and the Justice
Department recommended along with yourself that possibly I appear
in their stead because of damaging of their future, possibility of fn-
ture ineriminations from future work, or desires of their future plans,
80 as a result, the individuals that I am going to be referring to are
anonymous, and this is te protect them.

_ Senator Nersox. But they are individuals who are now in your
training center?

Reverend Yaxe, Yes.

Senator NELsox. They are currently there?

Reverend Yage. Yes.

Senator Nevsox. So you are simply presenting on behalf of each
~of them their own statement about their involvement with amphet-
amines?

Reverend Yaxe, Right. :

Senator Nerson. And do you have a statement of your own, obser-
vations concerning your experience with them with your center?

Reverend Yare. Right. ' '

Senator Nrrsox, Go ahead.

Just be sure you identify what is your statement, your own state-
ment and conclusions, so that the reporter has it correct in the record,
distinmuishine between yourself and that of the individunals.

Reverend Yage. QK. :

This is a statement that we will call Mr, B.

He states as follows:

In regards to the series of hearings on the antiobesity drugs which
inelude amphetamines, T am sending you my story of involvement,

My name is Mr. B, and T am 22 years of age. I am from the south
shore of Massachusetts. T am presently in the Teen Challenge Train-
ing Center in Rehrersburg, Pa. Iwas placed in the program
on December 1,1975, by the courts of Massachusetts for a drug-related
crime, facing 214 years with another trial pending.

Mﬁ mvolvement with amphetamines was not as a user, but as
a seller,

At the time, my habit was with heroin, for 3 years at $25 a day,
amd some barbiturates.

Selling the speed only helped support my drug habit. The girl that
I lived with at the time was also involved quite heavily with the flow
of amphetamines. She was sentenced to a vear imprisonment in De-
Land County in Florida in the year 1973, _

My involvement with speed began when I obtained the name of a
doctor who was known to give out prescriptions for amphetamines
quite freely. ‘

I bought this information for the price of 50 percent of my pills
for the next three visits with the doctor. :

Senator Nrrson. What information was that? The information
where to get, it ? ’

Reverend Yagr, Where to get it from the doctor, yes, the informa-
tion was to know the doctor’s name. ]

Senator Nersow. And so he paid somebody 50 percent of the sale
value of the pills to get the doctor’s name where he could go to get the
amphetamine?
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ReverendYAxe, Yes, _

Later on in the statement, he refers to the fact that this is a saleable
item on thae street.

{Mr. B continues:]

The doctor that I was seeing was giving prescriptions for Biphet-
amine #+20—Black Beauties—and he, the doctor, would also direct me
to a certain drugstore where I could have my prescription filled.

The visit with the doctor would cost me $6 or 8 and the prescription
itself about $7. With this small investment, I could turn the script over
on the street for anywhere from $60 to $100. Demand was always
greater than the supply with this particular drug—speed—and this
always enabled me to get my price. .

Senator Nrrsox, He sold the prescription

Reverend YAkE. No, he filled the prescriptions, and then he sold the
drugs to make the money for his heroin habit.

[Mr. B continues:] :

At the time T was getting this drug, I weighted 170 pounds and my
height was 5 feet 8 inchies. The doctor kept a record of this each time
for Government records, .

My further involvement was when I obtained the name of another
doctor in the area who also gave out prescriptions for speed. IHis pro-
cedure was the same as the first doctor, but he gave out scripts for
phenmetrizine tablets. o

Senator Nersox, When he says scripts, does he mean preseriptions?

Reverend Yaxr. Yes.

Scenator Nrosox. T see. )

Mr. Gornox. I think he is referring to phenmetrizine. .

Reverend Yarr, OK. :

[Mr, B continues:]

The law states that these drugs are to be given ont to the patient
-only once a month, 30 capsules or pills when overweight.

As far as the second doctor is concerned, he was within the law, but
I was seeing him three times a month under three different names with-
ouf a disquise.

At the same time, T was still secing the first doctor. As time went on,
T started selling the name of the doctor to other people the same way I
oot it. only I got paid in cash. : :

I also got the idea from a guy that I often met in the doctor’s office
t0 bring along with me some girls to see the doefor for the same reasons
as mine and have them get seripts or prescriptions for me to sell and in
return for them, T would supply them with a very small amount for
thieir present need. - .

The guy—another dealer—who gave me the idea of getting girls to
work for me was presently doing this himself with various doctors.

While in this business with speed, I came across the names of other

doctors who also gave out freely preseriptions for speed, but I didn’t
have the time to bother with them.
T +was busy enough with the doctors I.was already involved with.
T might add though that there were several other doctors that I tried
to obtain speed from and T was turned away with a flat no because they
Jnew what I was up to. Coe , S :

-The doctors that I dealt with were real quacks and T feel strongly
that they knew what I was up to, because I had gone as far asrefusing
to leave a doctor’s office until he gave me what T wanted, = . \




14514 COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY

I hope and pray that this statement has some effect on the present
situation in dealing with the leniency of giving out pharmaceutical
prescriptions.

I believe strongly that although restrictions may be tightened be-
cause of the outcome of this investigation, this alone will not solve or
even help solve the drug problem in this courtry, until individuals—
drug users—are dealt with individually as part of this society and not
agsda. -groblem that everyone wishes they could sweep under a rug and be
rid of.

The drug addicts, when dealt with, need to see and understand what
the truth really is about this life here and to feel that they are a part
of something. I feel the only cure for the individual to be able to sce
the real truth in life would be for someone to lead him or her to the
truth of Jesus Christ,

[End of Mr. B’s statement. ]}

Now, I talked to Mr. Gordon on the telephone, and T asked him if
he could be a little more specific on some of the situations, in that he
would not be appearing here for cross examination, and so there is
another page, a subsequent page he has written up.

[Mr. B continues:] :

The doctor’s office, at all times, would be packed with young people
ranging in age from 18 to 35 or 40. From their conversations I could
tell what their motive was for seeing the doctor,

All of them were after prescriptions for speed, of which this was
phenmetrizine,

The people there were from different cities, Boston, Fall River,
Brockton, and so forth. They traveled from all over to this doctor.
How did they find out about this particular doctor ?

News in the street travels fast.

The other doctor who gave out biphetamines also had an office packed
with patients, but he also had some older folk that were there for rea-
sons other than to obtain speed.

The people there for prescriptions for speed greatly outnumbered
the older patients. I learned from being in this con game with doctors
that there were various other ways to get other prescription drugs
from doctors.

For example, in order to get a certain drug, you would have to have
2 certain story for the doctor to believe, but not everybody knew these
stories.

I am talking about barbituates and Delada now. These stories would
cost money along with certain doctors’ names. I am just trying to show
how easy it is for someone that is a good con to be able to get what he
wants from certain lenient doctors.

Also all of these doctors kept records of these visits for the Gov-
ernment or the medical association to inspect if ever necessary, so 1
see that it is not only the doctors that are lenient but the people that
are over them also.

Most people using speed in the street do not see themselves as drug
users because they are usually house mothers, college students study-
ing for exams or just the good people in society that are very social.

This speed, which they do not call it, is just something to pick them
up; it does not make them silly or incapable of doing work, but in
fact helps them. They do not realize its potency and effect on their
lives until it is too late.




COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY 14515

Then they find they cannot function without it, and when they are
deathly sick because of the lack of nutrition that they deprive their
bodies of when they take these so-called diet pills, and then they find
out they are a nervous wreck because of the abnormal effect of the
drug, such as being able to stay awake for maybe 24 hours, 48 hours
or even 72 hours at a time. Diet pills are being used for everything but
dieting. Oh yeah, it is popular around heavy drinkers; speed ailows
the drinkers to drink in excess without falling all over the place.

I have nothing against the medical profession or the laws of this
country, but there is always one bad apple in every bunch, and the
odor of this rotten apple is smelled by everyone and takes away the
sweet fresh fragrance of the other good apples.

[End of Mr. B's statement. ]

So yesterday I asked the individuals in the program, and the Teen
Challenge Training Center—we presently have 130 fellows in resi-
dence—1f there were any others that had experiences, and I gave to Mr.
(Gordon this morning a briefer statement from an individual from the
Washington, D.C.-Baltimore area, and it is brief, and I will read it.

[ Statement read of other witness:]

On or about the early part of 1970 myself and several friends were
involved in the purchase of methadone in the southwestern part of
Washington, D.C. We were able to purchase as much methadone,
which on some days ranged up to the hundreds of dollars worth, as
we were able to pay for.

The doctor was completely aware of what was going on and made no
effort to hide it. Not too far from this same location was another doc-
tor who was doing the same exact thing. The drugs which were pur-
chased were taken to Baltimore where they were sold on the streets for
higher prices.

From about the middle of 1978, up till the latter part of 1975, T waa
involved in the buying of pills through doctors in the Baltimere area.

This was set up so that I had medical assistance and could go to
various doctors during the day. I was able to purchase various types
of drugs, including valium, parest, nembutal, seconal, turinals,
placidyalls, and many others, including class A narcotics.

These doctors were aware that I was on a drug program, and still
would prescribe drugs. The doctors, some, not all, were careful of how
they dispensed the drugs. They would prescribe only enough for 1
month’s supply, but would prescribe several different types of medi-
cation.

Other doctors would insist that several different people would come
so they could preseribe to them, but T would receive the drug after we
left the office. ,

Some, though, would prescribe a large amount and tell you not to
come back. On one occasion I can recall, I told a doctor I was strung
out on valium, and needed to be detoxed off of them, ¥ was told I could
handle it myself if he could preseribe a Iarge amount.

He did so willingly, This I did on several different oceasions, to the
same doctor. , :

On another occasion in the Baltimore area, my girl friend was ap-
proached while in a doctor's office and asked if she would exchange
sex for an assorted amount of drugs.
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There are many, many instances I could give you of how doctors
have sold drugs to myself and many of my friends, knowing they were
being used illegally. A . '

[End of statement.] . L

"I have a third statement, but it is very brief, from the fellow from
the New York City area. o

Senator Nrrsox. Ishe in your center?

Reverend Yage. Yes, all three of these individuals are in our train-
ing center.. _

[ Statement read of additional witness:]

I am here to inform you that I had the distasteful confrontation in
meeting and dealing with the so-called doctors of this day and time.

I am not referring to all doctors, but specifically some who shouid
have their license terminated for a period of time. '

These particular doctors offer you any kind of drugs for a price,
knowing that they are very dangerous to withdraw from. They offer
you barbiturates in quantities,for cash money, I believe they should be
under striet control 1n terms of dispensing these drugs. I was getting
it from five different doctors while under the influence of alcohol and
Methadone, this mixture will kill any ereature on earth.. :

Today there are many young people that are turning to drugs be-
cause they are very simple to get their hands on. ‘ :

I pray to (God that there would be something done about this. We
are dealing with precious lives. God bless you. , '

[ End of statement. ] :

Senator Nrrson. Concerning your center, is it for the care of only
people who have drug addiction problems?

Reverend Yaxre. Primarily drugs, second aleohol, and third,
troubled youth, o o I

Senator Nersox. And what is the incidence of amphetamine abuse
among the individuals in your center ? : , :

Reverend Yaxe. Teen Challenge Training Center has been in opera-
tion since 1962, and for many years our primary intake has been among
the heroin users. o S :

In fact, in onr rescarch that was conducted in 1968, we had 89 per-
cent heroin users, . :

. I do not have statistics today to tell you of the breakdown of the
various types of drugs, but I would say the majority of the fellows
at the training center presently, and we have 130, 15 on the barbiturate-
amphetamine area. - SR

Senator Nrrsox. One or both ?

Reverend YAxe. One or both, :

Very seldom do you see a drug addict that is an abuser coming to
our center that is strung out on one particular type drug anymore.

It is what they call the polydrug use, so it ends up one time he will
take onetype, and anocther time he will take another type.

Senator NELsow. And that over half of your current census involves
amphetamine and barbiturates? ’ _

Reverend Yaxke. I would be safe in saying that; yes, well over half.

Senator Nerson. This is not particularly relevant to these hearings,
hut were these prescriptions prescribed in this fashion reported to the
authorities by anyone? .

Reverend YaxkEe. No, we do not get involved with that as a rule,
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We have had a Jot of unfortunate situations with guys coming in,
We had 2 fellow that came in the Teen Challenge program in the Chi-
cago area, he happened to be from Wisconsin, and this fellow had 2
years of college, but when he walked into the Teen Challenge Center
m Chicago, he could not write his own name, and if you were to ask
him what his birthday was, he told me afterward, he had said it was
seven garbage cans in January, and he would have thought he was
carrying on an intelligent conversation, he was so messed up with speed,
and we had another fellow from Long Island, who likewise was in
college, and he could not carry on a coherent conversation when he
came to Teen Challenge, because of the effects and abuses of the drugs.

Senator Neuson., How successful is your program in permanently
getting them off of the drugs?

Reverend Yarr. Well, we made a research, as I said, in 1968, we
stuek our neck out and put it on the line.

For years, we had felt that Teen Challenge had a viable program,
and the research was concluded last year.

We are talking of 1968, which was primarily heroin, and we have not
updated this as of now, but we were told that anyone who is off of drugs
5 years by society is considered cured, so in 1973 we applied for a grant
for 1968, and was turned down. :

We kept the same year of 1968, and we reapplied in 1974, and we
were granted a grant by HEW, and it started in September of 1974,

Now, we are getting feedback from this particular grant now, and
if we take Government standards of drug free after 7 years, taking
1968 graduates in 1975, we were 86 percent, but we do not consider that
successful, becanse we feel that a guy cannot be an aleoholic and drink-
ing a six pack, especially drinking on weekends, or to be a drug addict,
he cannot be popping a few pills and smoking marijuana and likewise
drinling » six pack. .

Our philosophy is complete abstinence, and we saw 70 percent after
7 years documented by NORC out of Chicago, were cured, and had
stayed cured from drugs.

Senator Nersox. Do you have any statistics on how the patients in
your center were first introduneed to the drugs?

Reverend Yaxe. No, we donot.,

Senator Nerzox. Do you take a history when they come in?

I}everend Yaxe. Yes, we do, but we have never compiled them as
stich.

I have a report that comes on my desk every month of the intake of
fellows, like we have « group of fellows that come in every month,
and a group that graduate every month, and it is an 8- to 9-month
training program at the training center, and I have a list of all of the
varions types of drugs, how many years they have been in jail, how
many years they have heen on drugs, and this type of information, but
we have never compiled it in statistics.

Mr. Gorpox. You mention doctors as the original source.

Now, is it your impression that the principal source of the drugs
which are used for drug abuse comes from doctors?

Reverend Yare. As statements have been given to yon and to us,
I would say they are one of the very strong contributing factors.

Now, the ene fellow, I read his- statement for you, from Sonth
Shore, Mass., his primary function was a drug pusher; however, the
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other fellow from Baltimore, or Washington that I read to you his
statement, after a period of time, he started to buy drugs by bypassing
doctors, and started to rip off drugstores himself, and so I would say
many times individuals get started on this, or they get it on such easy
acecssibility of it in schools, or on the street, because of someone’s abuse
with the doctor, that, you know, this is hard to prove, but these guys
are out pushing drugs on the street, are getting it from doctors and
other people are buying them from them.

Senator Nersow. Thank you very much for taking time to come this
morning and to testify.

Reverend Yaxe. Thank you.

Qenator NeELsoxn. Our nest witness is Mr, Larry Hicks, Teen Chal-
lenge Youth Center, Rehobeth, Md.

STATEMENT OF LARRY HICKS, TEEN CHALLENGE YOUTH CENTER,
REHOBETH, MD.

Mr. Hicgs. I do not have a prepared statement as such.

I believe I was called here primarily to speak from a position of ex-
drug user and drug seller.

I'am currently living in the Bowic area of Maryland, and was work-
ing as the director of Teen Challenge Center in Rehobeth, Md.

Senator NELsoN. As a director? :

Mr, Hicrs. Yes, and became related to Teen Challenge, because 1
was paroled there from a conviction, a drug conviction, and from the
Maryland Correetional Institution, and I guess, for all of my life, I
used drugs for about 10 years, and when I say used, I also mean selling,
and because I did not have to work that way, I could stay high longer.

1 beeame associated with amphetamines, or speed in 1967, and used
it, as often as I could until 1971, and sold it whenever possible, because
there was money in it. .

Tt was a good drug to sell, and there was a large demand for it, it was
quite popular, and from working in the Teen Challenge Center, it still
is very popular today. It has not changed.

My own personal experience with the drug, most of the ampleta-
mines that are found coming from physicians, dextroamphetamine
sulfates, dexedrine tablets, benzedrine tablets, biphetamines, bipheta-
mine T-20’s, dexoxyn, 2 pill made by Abbott, and in the realm of per-
sonal use, most of these were secured in smaller quantities, most of the
Smith-line products, dexedrine and benzedrine, things of that na-
ture, we got from a friend’s wife who worked in a doctor’s oflice.

Apparently the doctor must have reccived a lot of samples of these
drugs, and she was able to take them home, and they had kind of a little
drugstore at their house.

You could get anything you wanted. The only drugs that were really
available in quantities to scll for me personally were the dexoxyn tab-
let made by Abbott, I believe, which was, it was a one-time thing, I
would say there were several thousands of them available, and this was
in Buffalo, N.Y., and a white pill with a mark on it, what I do not know
who makes it, but we called them crossroads, that was available in tre-
mendous quantities.

Senator Nrrsox, Isthat an amphetamine?
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Mr. Hicxs. It was a stimulant. I do not kmow the chemical nature of
it. There was literally thousands of them available. :

Senator Nersow. Available how, where?

Mr. Hxoxs. That came through a contact in North Carolina.

I do not know how he secured them. . :

The only other pill that was available in any large tauantity over any
period of time is the black beauty, a biphetamine pill, I think it hes
always been around, s long as I was in the drug-selling business,

Personally, when I lived in New York, I had a friend in Batavia,
N.Y. which is about 30 miles outside of Buffalo, who was gelling ine
the black beauties, and on 6no specific instance, he told me that I sould
secure as much as 25,000 of them, and unfortunately, for me at the time;
I did not have the money to do it. : R N

I did purchase several thousand of them from the fellow at different
times, 500 being the largest quantity at one time. SR

He related to me that his contact got them from the factory, but I do
not know personally about that. S Co e

Mr. Gorpox. That is the Pennwalt Corp. : : '

Mr. Hicgs. At the time they had RJS en it, and then later on, when I
moved down to the Washington area, and began buying the black
beauties, at this time I was securing them from a doctor, I noted they
had a different symbol, I believe that was the Pennwalt Corp.

- Mr. Goroow, They changed the name. : R

Senator Nersow, At what price were they ? '

- Mr. Hicxs. T cannot recall. T believe it was like 30 some cents a. pill.
Senator Nerso~. And what would they then sell for on the street ?
Mr. Hicx. At that time, you could sell them for, depending on who

you sold them to, anywhere from 75 cents to a dollar.

Now they are much higher. I do not know about them today, but
in 1970, they had gonenp from a dollarto®3, - - o '

Senator Nirson. Sold on the street ? =

Mr, Hiors, Yes, street value, o ST

Senator Nerson. Do you recall what the price was if you bought
them in a pharmacy ¢ , '

Mr. Hrcxs, I think when I got the script filled, it would eost me
about $6 for 30 of them. - 3

Senator Nevsox. How many a day would a drug user be likely to
nuse? :

Mr. Hicgs. It would depend on how long he had been using them,

The majority of the people I knew would probably use maybeé two
or three of them per day.

Other people I know at times I was using them, I would be using
8 or 10 a day, because you needed more later to stay up, othérwise you
would go to sleep, and one of the things yon did not want to do was
go to sleep. _

Senator Nrrsox. What was the main source of these drugs that
people?such as yourself would use and sell them? What was the main
source ? .

Mr. Hicks. It would depend on which drug it was.

The black beauties initially came from when I was living in Buffalo,
came from an individual in Batavia, who said he secured them from
a fellow at the factory.

85-569—77—7
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* I cannot verify that. In Washington, I secured them from a physi-
cian, and the other drugs, as I said, I got them from a fellow who was,
his wife worked for a doctor, and brought home the samples, the white
cross. That ¢ame from a drug dealer down in North Carolina. .

I do not know where he secured them.

. Senator NeLsox, In the course of the period you were using and
selling the drugs, was your source frequently or infrequently a
physiciant . .
~ Mr. Hicrs. Only a physician on one instance.

. Senator Neuson. Only in one instance? : .

~ Mr. Hicks. Yes; I never had to rely on them before, and I was not
that aware of the accessibility.

T was usually looking for a larger quantity.

- From the physician you could always secure a script for usually 30
pills, and we would have to go back the next month, and get another
script, and go back the next month, and it seemed like too much hassle
te go around and find 10 doctors to get enough pills, when you could
ﬁng one person and buy them from him. ,

Senator NELsoN. What was the price you would pay per prescrip-
tion, do you recall? : : :
. Mr. Hicgs. From the doctor, it cost $3 a visit. -

Now, you went in, and he took your blood pressure, and weighed
you, and asked you what you would want, and you told him, and he
wrote the script, and you gave the $5, and you had to go out and fill it.
_ Senator Nevson. He just asked you what you wanted, and he gave
you what you asked for# :

. Mr, Hicks. Yes.

Senator NeLsox. No quarrel about whether you needed it or not?

Mr. Hicks. No. '

Senator Nrrsow. From your experience and that of others, how
easy did it appear to be to go to this physician and get a prescription?

Mr. Hrcxs. His office was always full, and I found out I was able
to take several of my friends with me, and they secured them for
themselves.

At the time, it was a difficult period. I was not really dealing that
heavily, and I had just been arrested, and I did not want to get ar-
rested again, so I was laying a little low. _

Senator NELsox. You are no longer associated with the Rehobeth
Teen Challenge? '

. Mr. Hicks. 1 just resigned and moved back to the Washington area,
and I will be taking up a position of teaching a course in drug admin-
istry at a school being formed in Washington.

Senator Nerson. Thank you very much, Mr. IHicks, for taking the
time to come.

Mr, Hicks. Thank you.

Senator Nersox, Our next witness is Mr. Edward King, deputy
director, Town of Huntington Youth Bureau, Huntington, N.Y.
Your statement will be printed in full in the record. :
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STATEMENT OF EDWARD A. KING, JR.,, A.CS.W., DEPUTY DIREC-
TOR, TOWN OF HUNTINGTON YOUTH BUREAU, HUNTINGTON,
" NY.

* Mr. Kva. Thank you. '

Mr. Chairman, I am deputy director of the Town of Huntington
Youth Bureau, and program director of the town’s community-based
drug program. : ' ) _

My testimony today is based on over 7 years of experience in my
present. position with Huntington township, which is a large Long
Island suburb of New York City, with a population of 220,000 people.

In 1968, the town of Huntington established the first town-level
youth bureau in New York State, funded by the New York State Di-
vision for Youth, and our youth bureau was among the very first
agenvies to receive State funds to operate a community-based program
for the prevention and control of youthful drug abuse in 1970.

In 1971, the town of Huntington instituted the first voluntary am-
phetamine ban in the United States.

Senator NELsow. You say the town of ITuntington instituted the
first voluntary amphetamine ban in the United States.

What does that mean? :

Mr. Kixa, That means that physicians in the town of Huntington
got together and agreed not to prescribe amphetamines.

_ Senutor NeLsox. All right.
. Mr, Krxa. Escept in the very rare cases of narcolepsy and hyper-
inesis,

At that time there were only two cases of narcolepsy identified in
Suffolk County over a 2-year period. _

Senator NELsoN. How many cases of hyperkinesis?

‘Mr. Kixe. A small number of hyperkinesis cases.

The national incidence that year was about 3 percent of all ehildren
between the ages of 5 and 12 that suffered from hyperkinesis.

The town’s comprehensive youth plan includes eight private, non-

rofit corporations known as ?muth development associations serving
ocal neighborhoods within the township, and several support pro-
grams in the areas of job development, sunmer camps, runaway place-
ments, family advocacy, and court diversion, as well as the drug
program which consists of a hotline, counseling center, and outreach
workers assigned to the local youth development associations,

We fee] that our eight youth development associations on contract
with the youth bureau provide the key to the development of program
strategies specific to reducing drug abuse.

They are operated by local boards of community citizens—adults
and youths—and are in the best positiorr to recognize local problems
and their solutions in cooperation and coordination with our youth
bureau professional staff, A
. This elaborate system of citizen involvement in local government
Includes—in 'addition to local neighborhood boards—eenter councils,
task forces, special committees and program volunteers, working with



14522 COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY

the understanding and support of the appointed members of the youth
board and the elected officials of the town council.

We describe this grass-roots volunteer effort with obvious pride, Mr,
Chairman, to illustrate the importance of the work of this committee.

With all of this local community eoncern and effort translated into

unality programs and professional services, we will ultimately fail to

ree ourselves of drug abuse unless institutionalized forms of drug
abuse are addressed at the Federal level,

Senator Ne1sox. What do you mean by institutionalized forms of
drug abuse? _

‘Mr. Krve. I mean, particularly relevant to our discussion here to-
day, the abuses of amphetamines gy so-called weight clinics and weight
doctors. T would go beyond that myself, in my own personal opinion,
to include, for example, additives and preservatives in the foods we
eat to make them more conveniently and more efficiently produced and
marketed by big industries, to maintain their profit levels. .

. Senator NELsox. When you say institutionalized forms, you are re-
ferring. I take it, to the legal prescribing? _

Mr, Kixe. Legitimized sources, yes.

Senator NELsow. Legitimized sources of amphetamines?

Mr. Krxc. Yes: and I would like to offer a very specific illustration
at this time. In February of 1972, the town of xi"’;untington provided
expert testimony in the person of Edward M., Gurowitz, Ph. D., then
director of clinical services of the town's narcotic guidance council, be-
fore a Senate subcommittee chaired by Hon. Paul G. TRogers, deajing
with the very same concerns over amphetamine abuse which we are
addressing here today.

In that testimony, Dr. Gurowitz referred to a doctor with a “diet
practice” with offices in the same building as our town’s counseling
center, and also housing the Suffolk County Methadone Maintenance
Clinic. Te spoke of his difficulty in explaining this to young clients
who saw long lines of people, many of them young, few of them obese,
waiting to obtain drugs for weight contral.

The situation was aggrava.te?l by the fact that many of these clients
were court remanded for treatment after arrest and conviction for their
illicit drug abuse, and had real feelings about the daily parade of
“legritimized” drug trafic which they were witness to.

The following steps were taken on the local level: The Suffolk
County District Attorney’s Office was alerted to the situation; the Suf-
folk County Medical Society was informed—but the doctor was mot
a member, and they could impose no effective sanction—the town’s
counseling center was moved to a new location; and, soon after, the

county’s methadone clinic moved away also. As of this writing, this
eame doctor remains under investigation of the Drug Enforcement Ad-
ministration, and in active practice in the same location with an esti-
mated weekly caseload of over 800 patients. :

In January of this year, one of those patients, a 20-year-old female,
came to our counseling center with the hope of breaking a 1-year ad-
diction to amphetamines.

The pills were given to this client on 2 regular and unregulated ba-
sis. She stated that she was given the pills directly by the doctor, and
that she was able to get more than the usual weekly allotment of 21
pills with ease.
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She further stated that, after the first visit, no significant examina-
tion was made of her %Iéysmal or emotional condition,

During that year, before she came to us, she was often deeply de-
pressed, had visual hallucinations, was delusional in her thinking, and
attempted suicide on three separate occasions. She was hospitalized
each time, .

On February 2 of this year, we referred her to a local detox unit,
and they referred her to a local residential treatment program, She
withdrew after 2 days, but our followup determined that she remained
detoxified for 2 months before she returned to the doctor’s office for
more pills which she received.

On May 4, in the presence of one our workers, she wrote a let-
ter to the doctor, and told him of her addictive history with the pills
he had been giving her, and pleaded with him to never give her pills
even if she begged him.

I wish that fecould say that this is an atypical and overly dramatic
case, Mr. Chairman, but this sad story is unusual only in the sense
that this young woman came for help.

When amphetamines are involveg in an established pattern of drug
abuse, deep depressions, aggressive acting out, paranola, suicidal ten-
deneies, and resistiveness to change are t%e common traits,

Mr. Goroox. Mr. King, may I ask you a question concerning the doc-
tor you mentioned. Does this practice include only obesity cases?

Mr. Kve. To the best of my knowledge, yes, sir,

They are not really obesity cases in the sense that many of the clients
seeing him are thin.

He sees more people who you would characterize as underweight
than you would characterize as overweight, in my opinion, from the
people I have seen coming and going from his office, and from the peo-
ple he has seen who have come to us.

This is only one doctor who illustrates the problem. He is not the
only doctor who practices medicine in this fashion within our
township,

Mr. Goroo~. And is he and the others also found to be the principal
sources of speed ?

Mr. Kixa. Yes, sir, of the young people we have seen in the program,
a very large majority of them who have problems with amphetamines,
obtain their amphetamines from one of these three doctors.

Some of them obtained their amphetamines from two or three of
these doctors.

Mr. Gorpox. How many cases have you had during the past year
or so of amphetamine abuse?

Mr. Kina. Coincidentally, our capacity for our program in the course
of the year, the number of clients we can effectively work with, is 800,
which happens to be the weekly caseload of one of these doctors.

Out of those 800 people, roughl}}: 30 in the course of & year are char-
acterized as having a problem with amphetamines in conjunction with
other drugs.

Out of those 30, only about 3 obtained their drugs illicitly.

Senator Nersox, Of the 30 that came to your clinic, only 3¢

Mr. Kine. Yes. Of those we were able to contact through outreach
and bring into our program.
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- Senator Nersow. Only three of them obtained illicitly the drugs,
were these all amphetamines, or was it a mix of various kinds? )

Mr. Kiva. They were all taking amphetamines, or amphetamine-
like stimulant drugs, that they had obtained through these doctors.

The doctors used a variety of drugs, they do not use the same drug
at all times. I

The drug delcobese, known on the street as 697’s, that is the drug
enforcement number, secmns to be the most common right now.

Senator NEersox. Twenty-seven out of 30 received them through
their physician?

My, Kixe. Yes.

Senator NrLsox. Go ahead. o

Mr, Krxg. Just as these hearings on antiobesity drugs are part of a
larger study of the development, marketing, and distribution of pre-
seription drugs in general, the atuse‘of amphetamines is usually com-
bined with the abuse of tranquilizers, sedatives, and barbiturates
obtained, far too often, from other doctors.

Many adults in town, as well as young people, find themselves on a
chemical roller coaster of “ups™ and “downs.”

The suburban housewife seems to be a partieularly high-risk pop-
ulation for this kind of drug abuse. Some start with depressant drugs,
develop tolerances, and then go to a “weight doctor” for amphetamines
to help them get up in the morning.

Others get “strung out” on their inereased tolerance for ampheta-
mines and go to another doctor where they present the symptoms of
extreme fatigue, anxiety, and tension, and tranquilizers or sedatives
are prescribed.

Ve have found very few amphetamine abusers in our township
who have obtained their drugs from the street in recent years. This
is not the case with tranquilizers, sedatives, and barbiturates, which
areﬁimore' common in general and more available in the illicit drug
trafiie. .© - '

If we could somehow control the production of franquilizers, seda-
tives, and barbiturates so that tomorrow they would be available
for only the appropriate medical uses, I would think twice hefore
doing it. I certainly would not want to drive in heavy traflic the
next day.

The kind of human services necessary to enable less fortunate mem-
bers of our society to cope in 2 healthy and responsible way with the
stresses and anxieties of modern-day life are simply not in place.

This is not to say that depressant drugs are not grossly over-
produced and overprescribed. They most certainly are, and Federal
controls are urgently needed. However, these econtrols should be devel-
oped carefully and instituted with caution. A phase-in period of several
years in which production limits would tighten in set steps would
allow for the necessary ongoing evaluation which this effort would
require,

il&mphetamines are & different story. The testimony of Dr, Gurowitz
5 years ago carefully established 1,200 kilos as & reasonable national
production limit for amphetamines. This would provide an adequate
supply to supplement the nonamphetamine drug of choice—Ritalin—
for the treatment of the rare conditions of narcolepsy and hyper-
kinesis. The latter condition is presently thought by many to be caused,
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at least in part, by allergic reactions to dyes and preservatives in foods;
yet another form of institutionalized substance abuse.

It seems to me, Mr. Chairman, that amphetamines are the place

to start with strict controls on production. While the abusers of
depressant drugs are often self-medicating to control the symptoms
of underlying emotional turmoil, amphetamines only aggravate and
intensify those very same symptoms.
- The person W{I‘; underlying hostility becomes more hostile. The
person with underlying depression becomes more depressed. The per-
son with underlying psychosis breaks more completely with the reali-
ties around him. . - S : :
. 'The overall impact of this aggravated and intensified conflict on
family life is beyond calculation, but most certainly widespread and
tragic in its effect. ‘ L

We, in the town of Huntington, are pleased and grateful that this
committee is once again focusing attention on the critical need to cur-
tail the overproduction of commonly abused prescription drugs by
big industries throughout our Nation. ‘

By broadening the focus of our public concern over drug abuse in
this way, we can take real steps to demonstrate integrity in our na-
tional effort. _ -

Young people abusing drugs obtained on the street have been scape-
goated for too long in our so-called “war on drug abuse.” ' o

Young people in general are extremely sensitive to hypocrisy,
and would be quick to recognize any real steps to deal fairly and
squarely with institutionalized drug abuse as also being steps to reduce
significantly the alienation young people feel from this national effort
at the present time. '

Your leadership will go a long way toward uniting young and old
alike in a national effort to find healthy and responsible ways to limit
ﬁnd control drug abuse and the closely related human abuses of all

inds. ‘ )

We thank you for the opportunity to be a part of that process and
stand ready to assist in any way possible. - - :

Thank you. - B : . )

Senator Nrrson. Do you have a residential center, or is this all
outpatient?

Mr. Kmve. This is all in the community, an outpatient, counseling
program. Althongh one portion of our program is a clinical counseling
center, where we do more intensified counseling, the backbone of the
program is involving young people, both drug users and nondrug
users alike, in the governing of their local communities, in terms of
developing programs and services for themselves and other people
in the neighborhood. o
" Senator Nersox. Did you say you have at any single time about
800 clients? _

Mr, Kixe. That is an annual capacity. We work with, in the neigh-
borhood of 300, 315 or so at any one given time, at the present, with
our present staff,

Senator NersoN, You have about 300 enrolled at any one time?

Mr. Kvg. Atany onetime, yes,sir.

Senator Nersox, How long generally is the program?

Alr. Krxg. The program has been in operation for 6 years now.
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Senator NerLsoN. For the treatment of the individual 8

Mr. King. It varies from person o person, Senator,

The average is roughly in the neighborhood of 16 weeks, in terms
of us counseling with them intensively, and working with other aspects
of our comprehensive youth plan, irr developing possibilities for in-
volvement in constructive activities for that person to address himself
to. Beyond that, we do not really measure as part of our drug program.

Senator NeLson. Are all or most of the clients residents of the com-
munity ¢

Mr. K1xe. Yes; they are all residents of the community, with rare
exceptions. When someone comes to us from outside the township,
we see them, we do not turn them away, but I would say about 98
percent of the people we work with come from within the geographical
township of Huntington.

' ‘Se;mtor Nregsox. What is the population within the geographical
area

Mr. King. Two hundred and twenty thousand people.

Senator Nerson. And within that township, do you know how many
physicians prescribet

Mr. King. Three who are outstanding, two doctors prescribe al-
most exclusively amphetamines.

They do not actually prescribe them, they give them away, and
charge for the office visit.

Senator Nezson. There is no particular indication for their use, for
contrel of obesity, a3 you said earlier?

Mr. Krva. First of all, T do not feel they have value in the control
of obesity; and, seecond, people obtaining the drugs are not obese,
altlxd some of them are almost thin enough so you can see through
them.

Senator NeLsox. What is the age group you deal with mostly?

Mr. Kiva, Mostly between the ages of 12 and 22, with the largest
majority being around the ages of 15,16, 17.

Senator Nersow. ‘And in taking this history, how were those 12,
13, 14,15 year olds introduced to the druguse ?

Mr. Krxe. With the amphetamine abusers, they are an older
population.

Senator Nerson. It is an older population than the general popu-
lation of drug abuse?

Mr. Kivo. Yes, and I would say they are more toward the upper
scale of the young people we deal with.

- They are in their late teens and early twenties, for the most part,
and they were introduced to those drugs by doctors.

That is particularly sad in a number of ways, especially in the sense
of a young boy or girl, who is going through a lot of emotional and
physical changes in adolescence. He becomes overweight because of
overeatinrg, out of emotional need at one time or another, or just because
of physiological change, they are awkward and clumsy at the time,
and they are very highly motivated to do something about their
overweight condition, and they really become sitting dacks for doctors
who practice in thig way.

They go to the doctor, respecting his authority, respecting his
position in society, and they go to him for medical help, They are
doing the responsible thing, and through that treatment, they become




COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY 14527

drug abusers, and, very often, they can become arrested for that drug
abuse, if they happened to cbtain the drug from a friend, who also
goes to the same doctor, instead of from the doctor directly.

Senator Nrrson. Thank you very much, Mr. King, for taking the
time to come here today to present your testimony.

We do want to thank all of the witnesses f}c;r appearing at these

hearings. The next hearing will be in this same room on Thursday,
November 18, at 10 a.m.

The subcommittee stands in recess.
[Whereupon, the subcommittee was recessed at 11:40 a.m.]
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SupcoMMTTTEE oN MoNOPOLY OF THE
Serrer CoMMITTER ON SmaLL BuUsiNess,
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The subcommittee met, pursuant to recess, at 10 a.m., in room 318,
Russell Senate Office Building, Hon. Gaylord Nelson, chairman,
presiding. .

Present: Senator Nelson.

Also present : Benjamin Gordon, staff economist; and Karen Young,
research assistant.

Senator Nrvsox. The subcommittee will please come to order.

Our first witness today is Dr. John Henderson, of Ottawa, Canada.

Dr. Henderson, the subcommittee is very pleased to have you here
today to testify at these hearings.

Your statement will be printed in full in the record. You may
present it however you desire.!

STATEMERT OF JOEN W. D. HENDERSON, M.D., OTTAWA, CANADA

Dr. Hexperson. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. Indeed, it is
a pleasure for me to come to Washington, and I would like to make
one or two points prior to getting into the statement I have written,

The first thing f)would like to say is that I am a physician, I am
not a public servant in Canada. I still practice medicine. '

My postgraduate work was done in Chicago and in Boston, and I
now practice in Ottawa.

I do not represent the Government of Canada, although I am a
consultant to our Department of Health and Welfare. Many of the
decisions we made some 4 years 2go regarding the type of drugs we
are interested in this morning, I was involved in, and, therefore, I must
‘take some responsibility for them. , _

I am also here representing the Canadian Medical Association, for
I am the chairman of the special committee of that organization eon-
cerning drug therapy; this is known ag the Subcommittee on Pharma-
cotherapy. Thus I would Iike to speak this morning more as a physician
than as a representative of the Government of Canada, although what
I want to talk about was very much a joint decision made by the medi-
eal profession in my country, and the Government of Canada.

1 See prepared statement and attachments of Dr, Henderson beginning at 14729,
(14529)




14530 COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY

Senator NrLsox. In the making of that decision, did you have an
official role?

Dr. Hexpersox, Yes, sir. T state in my statement that T was chair-
man of the Special Amphetamine Ad Hoe Committee, which was a
committee to ook into the whole question of amphetamines and their
place in medicine. C .

X would like to say that I will try not to be presumptuous that we
have the answers to the problem. ‘

We made sone decisions about amplietamine availability in 1972,
and these became enacted in our laws in 1973.

Some of the decisions we made in good faith at that time, we would
not make now. Four vears makes a big difference when one is looking
at the potential for abuse of drugs, potential for misuse of drugs, and
the incidence of side effects some of which we did not know about 4
years ago, I think that today we might make some different decisions.

Senator NrLsox. I did not hear that.

Dr. HexpersoN. We were not aware 4 years ago of some of the side
effects, some of the long-term effects, what people like to call today
drug adverse effects, or drug adverse reactions. _

1 have provided a table which was given me by our Department of
Health and Welfare. It is labeled “Table I, Designated Drugs in
Canada.” On that sheet, we have demonstrated. a series of numbers
representing drugs either manufactured in Canada, or imported into
Canada between the years 1967 and 1976. On the bottom half of the
table are fizures for the same drugs which have been exported from
Canada. o Lo S -

We havé made a decision in Canada that although there is a large
number of drugs which one ean call amphetamines, there are true
amphetamines and amphetamine derivatives, In 1972, we put those
members of the family that seemed to us to have the greatest potential
for misuse and abuse and harm to our saciety into a special restricted
class. We chose amphetamines, meaning the L-form, dextroamphet-
amine, benzphetamnine,” methamphetamine, phendimetrazine, and
phenmetrazine. - , :

We decided to designate only these as “special amplietamines,”
Senator Nelson. Other mémbers of the amphetamine class we chose to
regard as potentially less harmful amphetamine congeners. The un-
designated members include methylpheridate or Ritalin, and a num-
ber of drugs which are primarily prescribed for obesity. Since that
there have been some new anorexiants introduced to the market. One
is known as Mazindo}, which although not chemically derived from
amphetamine, shares several properties with amphetamines.

You can see, therefore, that it is a large family. It is pharma-
cologically correct to say they are all amphetamines, and, therefore,
there should be no difference in regulations between the top group—
very dangerous—and the bottom group—less dangerous—but for
reasons I will come to a little later, we decided to draw a line some-
where, and “designate” only those which T have shown on table I.

After consultation with several expert members of the medical pro-
fession in our country, and & survey of the weorld literature, we were
still uncertain whether or not there are diagnoses for which thess
drugs are really indicated. If there are conditions for which these
destgnated amphetamine drugs are prime choices, then obviously they
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should be made available to the medical profession. Our first job in
the special committee, therefore, was to have a look at the therapeutic
indications for the nse of these particular drugs. -

The way in which this control system was introduced in Canada, was
through the political forum.

Our then Minister of Health and Welfare, Mr. John Munro, stated
in our House of Commons that he had been advised that only two
diagmoses, narcolepsy and hyperkinetic disorders of childhood were
true indications for these drugs.

This was not the impression of many physicians in Canada. The
committee, however, started from that viewpoint, and then began to
ook at other possibilities,

We agreed unanimounsly that these drugs were not antidepressants
but rather that they are stimulants; they do have anorectic properties,
possibly as a side effect. Primarily, however, they are central nervous
system stimulants, and have no real place in modern medicine as
antidepressants.

New antidepressant drugs have become available to medicine in the
last few years which we feel are much more effective and safer than
the amphetamines. ‘

It was the opinion of some that amphetamines can increase the
physical activity and brighten the outlook of depressed people, but it
was our impression from the literature of the time that increased
activity in acutely depressed people sometimes in fact raises the possi-
bility of snicide, rather than decreases it.

We felt that there was no place for these drugs, for maintenance of
amphetamine-dependent persons,

We did not feel that these designated drugs should be used for the
treatment of obesity, especially as other drugs were avsilable for this
purpose. '

We also felt that these drugs should not be used for the treatment
of disorders of the muscles and nerves—musculo-skeletal diseases.

There were differences of opinion shout the use of these drugs in
the condition known as idiopathic edema, swelling of the lower ex-
tremities main?; in women. An increase in physical activity seems to
benefit some of these patients, but we thought the vast majority of
these people do not require amphetamines, and so we did not regard
it an appropriate diagnosis for them. )

On page 4 of my statement, Senator Nelson, I mention nonnarcolep-
tic hypersomnia. This means people who have an overwhelming prob-
lem because they fall asleep at inopportune times, An alternative
diagnosis often cannot be made. ,

We are not entirely sure what this particular problem is, although
it is seen in various disguises. In the Pickwick Papers of Charles
Dickens, gvou may remember the fat boy who used to travel on the
stagecoach, and who kept falling asleep. These people are obese, they
have a great problem in breathing. They in fact underbreathe, and
very often during sleep they stop breathing for short periods. They
are blue in color, have muscle twitching, and they are forever asleep.
Itisa very distressing situation. . : 3

It does appear that some of these people might be henefited by the
use of amphetamines. In recent years, however, it has been established
that other drugs can alsobeused. = - S o
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For example, female sex hormones may benefit some of these unfor-
tunate persons.

I believe we should await the results of considerable research being
conducted now in the field of sleep.

We chose not to include this diagnosis as a justification for treatment
with amphetamines. .

Amphetamines have been combined with pain relieving medications
for many years, especially in the treatment of painful menstrual
cramps. I believe that has been an area of misuse, and many young
women have become somewhat dependent on stimulants and ampheta-
mines as a result of there being given these drugs for too long. Because
nervous system stimulation is pleasant, the drugs that produce this
effect begin to be used at times when there is no actual problem. It
then can become a habit.

This does not mean they have absolutely no place in pain relief. The
amphetamines as a stimulant of the central nervous system distract
people from some of their discomforts. However, we were concerned
about the widespread use of amphetamines in our society by gyne-
cologists and family physicians, and we felt the risks outweighed the
benefits, and that therefore we should not approve this as a diagnosis.
We, therefore, reached a consensus on a small number of diagnoses for
which these amphetamine drugs could be legally prescribed by Cana-
dian physicians.

Mr. Gorpox. You are including the congeners?

Dr. Henpersox. I am talking purely at the moment of the ampheta-
mines, benzphetamine, methamphetamine, phendimetrazine, and
phenmetrazine.

I am still talking about those drugs above the line which T drew.
Narcolepsy is one diagnosis that we felt justified amphetamine drugs.

There are conflicting reports about the number of people who have
narcolepsy. In the United States the number varies from a few hundred
to 20,000, '

Part of the problem is that we have no definite diagnostic criteria
for this particular diagnosis. Many of these people do not neced any
drugs. They perhaps need special advice; they may require to have
special consideration at work; and be allowed to take a nap In the
middle of the day. However, some find this particular problem over-
whelming, and falling asleep if you are working in a dangerous en-
vironment could be extremely hazardous. So this diagnosis may well
justify use of amphetamines.

Our second approved condition is hyperkinetic disorders in chil-
dren. I think, however, that there is almost more confusion here than
there is about narcolepsy. '

I personally worry more about this diagnosis. I believe we have
been too sloppy in out thinking about what is hyperactivity, or hyper-
kinesis and what should be called the hyperkinetic syndrome, where
the child’s behavior is self-destructive, who cannot learn, and who is
almost impossible to handle in the elassroom.

Tt is my opinion that the number of children with this particular
syndrome is really quite small, whereas the number of hyperactive
children is quite large.

Some of them are hyperactive in school because they are bored.
Children who are bright, with a high IQ, but who are bored, and
cause classroom trouble, do not need drugs 2t all.
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There are 2lso drugs other than amphetamines which can be given
to children with hyperkinetic disorders. Antidepressants can be used,
but these too may create problems, for some of them may provoke a2n
epileptic fit. Therefore, because there is no one universally effective
drug for these children, we do need to have available to us a small
number of amphetamines. : : '

- We may, however, not need any of our designated ones. Below our
line, there is methylphenidate and this can be used equally well for
this diagnosis. ’ :

- Allied to this diagnosis is the phrase minimal brain dysfunction, or
minimal brain disorder. This is mixed to some extent with the hyper-
kinetie syndrome.

We are not quite sure what is meant by it. Most of those children
show some degree of mental retardation, usually minimal, and usually
there is a slight abnormality in the electroencephalogram. :

. If théy are badly retarded, or if there is quitea bit of brain dysfunc-
tion, amphetamines may make the condition worse. There is no real
way at the moment of telling in advance. Therefore, the only way to
try to help these children iIs to use an amphetamine and see what
happens. | :

- Epilepsy. Some of our pediatricians, especially those interested in
child neurology, felt there were some forms of epilepsy which benefit
from amphetamines. Some stated that children taking other anti-epi-
leptic drugs sometimes became quite retarded, and need a stimulant
to counteract some of the slowing down side effects of the other neces-
sary drugs. ] )

- T am not certain in 1976 whether this is still a fact worth consider-
ing. Similarly, my fifth diagnosis is Parkinson’s disease. Sometimes
the stimulation provided by amphetamines does seem to improve their
ability to move around, to walk, and to live a reasonable hife.

. There are other uses which are related to anaesthesia where the
amphetamines can be used to raise blood pressure.

Ar. Gorpox. Dr, Henderson, may I interrupt you for a second?
You stated that there are doctors who feel the drugs may inerease
mobility, and so forth.

I was just wondering if this “feeling” is sufficient to approve a drug
for a particular use by Canadiarr law; do you need adequate and well-
controlled studies?

Dr. Hexprrson. Yes; we try to evaluate studies, of course. We
recognize, however, that therapeutics is not an exact seience, and
that we have to proceed on a preponderance of evidence handed to us.
Most of the time we have some physicians saying one thing, and others
saying another. -

We try to be as fair as possible, and we try to stay on the safe side
by n]ot faking away medication that might help some unfortunate
eople. : ' :

P 1111) fact, for Parkinson’s disease amphetamines are hardly ever used
in our country. I feel that well-controlled studies are lacking in this
particular area, and I am very doubtful about the efficacy of amphet-
amines for this disease. If I were to go back now as chairman of the
committee, I think I would have general agreement on that point.

Senator Nelson, my table I demonstrates that when it became

‘public knowledge in 1972 that steps were geing to be taken to control
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the medical use of amphetamines, a sudden change occurred. You may
see the 756 kilograms imported in 1971, suddenly dropped in 1972
to 3214 kilograms. On January 1, 1973, our law designated the five
conditions as the only medical diagnoses for which these drugs could
be prescribed.

enator NELsow. What conditions?

Dr. Henpersox. The five narcolepsy, hyperkinetic disorders in chil-
dren, minimal brain dysfunction, epilepsy, and Parkinsonism.

You may see in table I, that 32.457 kilograms has dropped to 1.395
kilogramsin 1973, and down to 0.475 in 1075—less than a Enlf of 1 kilo-
gram imported into Canada in 1 year, .

This, however, is quite adequate for the medical needs.

I think the drop is quite dramatic.

Senator NeLsox. It is not manufactured in Canada ?

Dr. Hexprrsox. No, sir.,

The only substance which is manufactured in Canada, phendimetra-
zine, which although manufactured, is not marketed in Canada.

It is all exported.

Senator Nersow, Why is this not marketed in Canada ?

Dr. Hexoerson. It is not prohibited. It has never been put on the
Canadian market. Thus, it is not being prescribed in Canada. Phen-
dimetrazine is the only amphetamine derivative that has been manu-
factured in our country.

Mr. Gorpox. What is the 1976 production for amphetamines?

Dr. Hexpersox. That is a purely chemical use; it has nothing to do
with drugs.

I cannot tell you which particular industry it vas, but ampheta-
mh?lgs zi.re used as a basis for other chemicals. It was certainly non-
medical,

Senator Nersox. All of these are amphetamines or related §

Dr. HexpErsox. No, sir, those shown on table T are the five we felt to
be the most dangerous of the entire family.

I will refer now to the question of obesity, You may see on the sec-
ond long page, entitled “Antiobesity Market, 1971-75.” The statistics
hero were derived from IMS Canada,

- What we did here was to take the 1971 market as 100 percent. That
was well before we changed our regulations. Thus the lefthand side
represents percentage change.

Senator Nrrsow, This is all for the treatment of obesity 3

Dr. Hexprnson, Yes.

In 1972 we had a drop in both the true amphetamines and ampheta-
mine congeners, and in 1973, 1974, 1973, the amount of amphetamines
of the type we have controlled in a rather drastic manner, has stayed
very, very small.

It is, however, obvious there has been an increase in preseribing of
the amphetamine congeners, and this would be about a 10-percent
rise from 1973 to 1974 and about the same for 1974 to 1975.

I have looked at what is happening in 1976, It would scem there

- has been a rise, perhaps half the amount of the previous year.

Mr. Goroox, The ban on prescribing amphetamines for obesity
has brought about a shift in demand to the nonamphetamines, the
congeners; is that correct?

. Dr. Hexperson, That is correct, Mr. Gordon.
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What has happened is that physicians knowing that the drugs as
Mazindol are not restricted, and not subject to the strict regulations of
the top five of the amphetamines, are prescribing those. .

I do not know whether or not this increase, Senator Nelson, which
is measured by the IMS in terms of dollars spent, might be dus to
inflation, and not an actual increase in use of the drugs._T nlso wonder
whether or not the increased demand for these drugs might be related
to increase in population, The population of Canada increased, dur-
ing the years 1972-73, by 1.3 percent, between 1973-74, and this year
it will be about 1.4 percent. Therefore, an increase in population may
have to be considered, but it does not really explain why more money
is being expended for these amphetamine-derived anorexiants.

Senator NersoN. What is the difference between the congeners and
the amphetamines in terms of their effect on the user? ‘

Dr. HexpersoN. The amount of stimulation, Mr. Nelson, is less, but
chemically they are amphetamines. They all demonstrate in a pharma-
cological sense some central nervous system stimulation.

Senator Nrrson, Are they dramatically less stimulative?

1Dr. Hexpersox, I would say measurably less, rather than dramatic-
ally less.

I think there have been improvements, An example is the drug
fenfluramine. It may be true that this particular drug does not cause
measurable enphoria in most persons who take it.

It is the only one that I use in my own practice. Fenfluramine, is a

ccial kind of modified amphetamine which has hardly any notice-
able stimulation. Possibly because of this the drug is unpopular in
our country. People do not like it, people do not want repeat prescrip-
tions of it, boecause they say it makes them drowsy. It does not “pick
them up,” and it causes in ‘some people a degree of nausea, and some
diarrhea. Therefore, the drug is yather unpleasant for the user. Peo-

le say that they would rather do without it. This is entirely different
or dextroamphetamine, which causes a very measurable degree of
euphoria,
enator NeLso~, ¥s fenflaramine indicated in Canadian medical
practice for any other specific purpose other than as an antiobesity
drug?

Dr. Hexperson. No, sir. :

Senator NELsox. What kind of studies have been done to show an,
effect on obesity ¢

Dr. HexprrsoN, Most studies have been uncontrolled; this is a great.
problem with most of the anorectics, )

. Most of them have consisted in measuring weight change over a
period of weeks or months.

WVeitg};E of_ﬂcourse ;rargzi on its (})lwn. With almost any drug that
you start with, people become enthusiastic, and durine this peri
Stick with their diot. ’ § this period

People who are obese and having trouble are eating not because they
are hungry. The stimulus for a person to raid the refrigerator at
12 o'clock at night is not really hecause of hunger. It is somehow
or other they feel better after they have had something to eat.

The eating in itself is a way of making them feel good. To take
away physiological appetite by making a person feel nausea, as one

could do with, for example, table salt, 1s not the way to treat a person
85-569—71-—8
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with a compulsive eating problem. Simply removing physiological
hunger is not really a rational way of dealing with what is funda-
mentally a psvchogenie problem in over 80 percent of the people who
are having serious trouble with their weight.

Senator Nersow., But in the graph you lump together all of the
amphetamines? .

Dr. Hexpersox. Yes, except fenfluramine. Also not included is
mazindol, because it has only very recently been released as a drug
on our market. I have no real data for it. :

I looked at some other possibilities, and I would like to try to ex-
plain why more money is being spent on these amphetamine congeners
specifically marketed as appetite depressants or anorectants. In our
country, we have a National Health Service. Evervbody, therefore,
has access to a physician, without paying an extra fee. Under such a
comprehensive prepaid medical insurance plan, more people go to
their doctors, and the doctors are busier than ever. More people are
asking for all sorts of medication, and possibly this particular area
of requests for drugs for weight problems is simply one of many such
requests for drugs. .

The other point is that with the older drugs that we designated,
the effects were good only for 4 to 8 weeks. The patients became
tolerant, and this meant they had to take a higher dose of the drug,
or they simply lost the anorexiant effect. Doctors did not like to sce
people increasing their dese because of the chance of side effects, such
as some degree of irritability, tremor, possibly some change in blood
pressure, and a raised heart rate.

Newer drugs such as mazindol seem to have a much lower potential
for tolerance. At least it takes a lot longer to become tolerant.

The drug seems to be effective for up fo 15 or even 30 weeks instead
of the 6 to 8 weeks of the older ones. )

This means if a patient goes back to a physician, and says “Yes, I
am doing well; I managed to stick to my diet reasonably easily and
I am losing 2 pounds every week,” the physician is more likely to
represcribe. So the very fact that we have developed drugs Wﬂich
seem to be effective for long periods of time, means that any one
patient probably receives more of them. Therefore, more money is be-
ing spent on these particular drugs. '

Senator Nrrsox. Do any of these drugs shown on the dark part of
the graph, the congeners, show an indication of the kind of addictive-
ness that occurs as a consequence of the use of amphetamines?

Dr. Hexperson. Yes, they do to some extent.
~ We chose to exclude a few drugs from our strict restrictions on use
because of the need for some degree of flexibility in the management
of depression, not because of obesity.

In about 1971 and 1972, as a result of a number of good scientific
papers, we felt that amphetamines as such had no place in the treat-
ment of depression. We felt that possibly there was some medical indi-
catlon for methylphenidate in the hands of skilled psychiatrists for
some cascs of depression where fast action was desirable.

At that time it was our opinion that the congeners were not causin 14
any medical or social problems, so to speak. ‘

_That has changed since 1972. Last week I saw a large amount of
diethylpropion which had been manufactured illicitly. It was not of
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high quality, but nevertheless it was diethylpropion. The synthesis is
apparently easy for anybody with some knowledge of chemistry.

So we are indeed seeing abuse of at least one of these congeners
which was legally marketed for obesity. I think it is quite obvious
that no one will market an illicit drug if there is no “street” market
for it. ‘ oo
The stimulant properties of some of these congeners seem to be
leading to nonmedical use of them. Therefore, there is now justification
in Canada to reexamine whether or not the extent of our restrictions
has been adequate, or now needs further tightening.’ L

We cannot really ignore the fact that drug abuse is beginning to
appear with some of these amphetamine congeners, '

Senator Nersox. Are all of the congeners imported into Canada, or
are some of these manufactured? -

Dr. Hexpersox. None being mannfactured that I know of.

" Senator NeLsoN. Does the Canadian Government limit the amount
imported ? S :

Dr. Hexpersox. No, to my knowledge, it does not impose any quota
on amonnts, '

They are controlled by the schedule which limits them to preserip-
tion, and other than over-the-counter sales that is about the loosest
kind of control that exists!

Senator Nrrsox. And all of these in the colored section of the graph
are specifieally indicated only for obesity ¢

Dr. HexpersoN. Yes, they are approved for that purpose only; that
is correct. : '

Senator Nevsox, If some of them are being used, as you put it, for
nonmedical purposes, and if in fact it is found that they are widely
used for that purpose, does their use for controlling obesity have a
benefit-to-risk ratio sufficient to leave it in the market for that purpose?
Or are the costs, so to speak, in the ratio too great to allow it to he
in the market? _

Dr. HenpersoN. In my own opinion, Senator Nelson, the risks ave
higher than the benefits. I would state however, that it is difficult to
gs_ssggs ctltccurately the risk benefit, for in most cases medical opinion is

ivided.

We have not been teaching a methodology of risk-benefit for drugs
to our students or to our practicing physicians. It seems obvious that
we should in the future.

The only drug I prescribe for ohesity is fenfluramine. I think its
potential for abuse is very small. After trying it patients prefer not
to continue with it for long, but it does act as an anorectant for several
weeks or a month or two. . _ :

I use it for people who have said they have tried all sorts of diets,
Some have been in Weight Watcher-type organizations, but for one
reason or other they have not succeeded in losing weight. Nothing has
worked for them and they are depressed people.

They do not like themselves 23 obese people. They really do want to
lose weight, but they “cannot.” Thercfore they are, in their own eyes,
failures, and they come virtually with tears in their eyes.

It becomes important to try to persuade these patients, that it is a
question of food intake that creates obesity. If one can demonstrate
that he/she can lose weight, even a few pounds a week, if he sticks to




14538 COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY

a specific diet, perhaps just a low carbohydrate diet, without an In-
crease in fat or protein, the first success has been achieved. After the
second or third week, they may have lost 6 or 7 pounds. Suddenly the
personality begins to pick up. Something at last is working for them,

I make it clear to my patients they will not get it for longer than
3 or 4 weeks. It is purely to demonstrate they can and will lose weight
if they maintain a specific diet regimen.

I have not used the newer drug, mazindol. It may or may not have
advantages over fenfluramine. I simply do not know,

Mazindol is not an amphetamine derivative but has a separate
molecular configuration. However, it has all of the effects of
amphetamines,

enator NeLeon. All of the effects?

Dr. Hexperson, Yes. :

At the clinical level, it would be hard to say it is not an ampheta-
mine, although chemically it is not. The advertising of the drug%y the
company tells doctors that it is the first nonamphetamine anorectant.
It also declares that the side effects will be the same as the other
amphetamine congeners. It is my suspicion that it will turn out to
have the same potential for central nervous system stimulation as the

Mr. Gorpon. Dr. Henderson, if I may interrupt a second, we had
testimony last week from Dr. Jasinski of the Addiction Research
Center that he had done some work on fenfluramine, and he found that
it has the same effects as LSD.

Will you comment on that?

Dr. Hexperson. It is a very peculiar dmg.

One could not have predicted much difference from other similar
drugs from the original pharmacology.

It affects various parts of the. brain, but in terms of arr electro-
encephalogram, it is obviously stimulating the subcortical area,

It is a depressant on other parts of the brain,

The overall effect is drowsiness rather than stimulation, but that
does not mean that it isnot a stimulant.

Tt has some effects on sleep which are quite unusual. As you know,
the amphetamines of all types can produce hallucinations, and fen-
fluramine can do the same thing. ‘

This is why I am very cautious in my use of it, I never give it on
a chronic basis. I do not give it to people who for one reason or an-
other should not receive amphetamines of any kind.. There are mini-
mal effects however on blood pressure and the heaxt.

T could practice without it. I believe that no patient would really
suffer from its absence if it wera not available. :

T am not sure that all physicians would agree with me. Some of them
might think of fenfluramine as a useful cruteh, which at the moment
has less potential for dependence or abuse than older amphetamine
anorexiants, It is because physicians still find anorexiants to have some
clinical use that both older and very new drugs like mazindol are
widely prescribed. :

However, even the manufacturers of anorexiant drugs make it quite
clear it will only work if the person maintains a strict diet at the same
time. o ’ ‘ o :
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Peogle who take these drugs unfortunately do not lose their interest
in food. :

Senator Nzusox, OF course, if they take an interest in their diet,
and they stick to it, they would lose as much as if they did not take the
drug at all. S

Dr. Henoersox. That is correct. .

These drugs act as distractors, They distract a person’s attention
away from the fact they want more food. That is all they are doing
in my opinion, - : : .

It may even be questionable to say that they are anorectics, or that
they are appetite depressants. A true anorexiant effect is seen in pa-
ticnts who are taking one of the cardiac drugs, such as digitalis.
Sometimes these patients, after they have built up their blood concen-
tration, simply do not want to eat, and cannot eat. They are not inter-
ested in food. o .

~ Now, of course, there is no way digitalis could or should be marketed
s an anorectic, but indeed it has this effect—but it is a side effect.

“Amphetamines are not. anorectic in that sense; but ‘becnuse of the
distraction, and tho feeling that life is fun, surroundings nra enjoyable
and the person feels goog maybe for that period of time, he or she
does not have to eat to feel content. Eating behavior however, has not
been changed by these drugs, Unless eating behavior, that is, one’s
attitude toward the cooking of food, and the eating of food does
change then there is no long-term benefit from them. It is because of
this, that T believe that these drugs have a very limited role to play
in the management of obesity. -~ ' . -~ . :

Mr. Goroon, I would like to read a statement from Dr. Jean Mayer,
that he made before our committee 4 years ago, in 1972, e

Thisis on pages 1264 and 12635, and he says: S S

‘Hovwever, as far as the general public {s concerned, I think we wounld be deltd-
ing ourselves if we thought that even with this sksoclation of obesity and disease
the health considerations were, in fact, the primary motivation of our federal
citizens who seek to reduce. The primary motivation is a cosmetic cne rather
than a health one, and we have to address ourselves to the problem of obesity
knowing that in the mind of a great many of its sofferers we are dealing with a
cosmetie problem at least as much as we are dealing with a health problem, and
that the almost desperate motivation of many of the sufferers in seeking relef
has much more to do with benefits which they think will acerue to them here and
now in terms of atiractiveness to the other sex than because of the benefits to
health in the long run, * * * )

I am stating at! this by way of a background becanse I think we have to realize
that the motivation in the mind of the patient in often very different from that
which ix discussed when one speaks of obeslity as a purely medical problem, * * *

Would you like to comment on that? - S

Dr. HenozrsoN, Yes, Just 2 weeks ago, Mr, Gorden, I saw & uni-
versity student who was grossly obese, who had said he had tried to
diet, but had rrot succeeded in losing anything more than 1 or 2 pounds,
I asked him about his motivation for wanting to be thinner. In the
jargon of the campus, he said that the real reason was that he was not
“drawing the birds” ag well ashe had before, - : -

I did not quite understand, so he explained that drawing the birds
means drawing the attention of young ladies. The reason he wanted
to lose weight was that he felt he was no Jonger physically attractive
to the coeds on the campus. I agres that a great deal of this need to
be thin is cosmetic. Sometimes, however, cosmetic motivation is not
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altogether a bad thing; for it can be turned around to good purposes.
I think that most of us would agree that small amounts of obesity, 5
to 10 pounds overweight, does not matter much, and a lot of our obses-
sion with slimness is a question of fashion more than with health.
There is no doubt, however, that people who are 20 percent or more
overweight, have a higher incidence of all kinds of problems. There
is a health aspect to this kind of obesity. To remedy this kind of obesity,
some kind of lasting motivation is necessary. - o :

If I may, I would like to move into the question of a methodology of
thinking about drugs. Irr medicine and in pharmacology, we tend to
think of them as & medical scientist would, but I fully realize that is
perhaps no longer enough. ‘ T '

- We have recently been faced with all sorts of drug problems, involv-
ing drugs of licit and illicit origin amd we are still concerned with
aleohol, eannabis, many drugs which have their origin with illicit
manufacturers——amphetamines—althouﬁh many are not of illieit ori-
gin but rather diversions from originally Iegaf sources. 1 thought 1
would try to devise a method of looking at the social impact of drugs. In
some cases, drugs as a family, and sometimes as individual drugs such
as cannabis. T first took a look at benefits of the drug’s availability. Of
course, for many people, drugs do not have just medical benefits, but
possess what they regard as recreational benefits.

" For example, alcohol! does more harm to our society than any other
drug, but prohibiting its use was a social failure. Obviously our cul-
ture claims that in alecohol use there are recreational benefits.

I have set down a number of questions about the availability of
drugs made available to the public directly; or available through the
practice of a physician’s prescription. Does it cure anything § Ordoes it
provide only temporary relief of a discomfort? Does this drug inter-
fere with other drugs that may have to be taken, or even with dietary
substances? S

Does it lack idiosyncratic or unpredictable reactions?

. How beneficial are the effects when compared with the toxicity?
This is an important feature when one considers antiobesity amphet-
amine-type drugs. , -

Is it reasonably priced on the market? Are there any social benefits,
or just various degrees of intoxication, when this drug is used?

“With regard to risks, I decided to look at it from several points of
view. The first concerns various aspects of health. Does it impair learn-
ing abilities, life skills, and formal education? Does it impair brain
function in any way? '

Does it lead to undesirable consegeunces of a chronic sensory dep-
rivation? What does it do to us as a society if a high proportion of
us shield ourselves from the “harsh” realities of life? '

Does it cause any other kinds of organic problems, for example,
liver, kidneys, and so forth ?

Doesg it affect nutrition as aleohol does?

Ts it likely to be lethal if talken in overdose? YWhat are the Iong-
term effects if this dmg is used in recreation ?

From the viewpoints of personal and public safety, does it lead to
anv kind of deviant behavior? Does it lead to ageressive behavior—
including sexual aggression? Does it lead to any form of violent,
behavior?
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I think that some of the amphetamines and drugs like cocaine have
demonstrated increased aggressiveness. -

Is the drug associated with loss of psychomotor and judgment
control?

Is the criminal element in society involved in obtaining the sub-
stance? The safety effect here is tied to guns, thefts, assaults, black-
mail, and such other hazards, ‘ :

Does it lead to increased risk-taking behavior ¢

Does it lead to flattening of effect, lack of emotional responses, in-
cluding healthy anxiety, healthy concerns, justifiable fears?

ITow great are the safety risks to individuals, communities, and
larger society, when used recreationally ¢

Many drugs do, including the amphetamines, make a person feel
good—euphoria—and in this altered state may drive & car faster, and
0 O,

- Risk-taking behavior leads to many problems.

We all need some degree of anxiety, and the taking of psychoactive
drugs can lead to a situation that precludes benefits derived from emo-
tional responses to life. : :

More difficult to look at is the question of drugs as they affect the
social order and culture. R T :

Two countries have been brought to their present states by a great

deal of hard work, perseverance, and guts. A “chemical” society that
becomes reliant on uppers or downers—stimulants or tranquilizers—
may change in terms of the character of its people. So with that in
mind, T ask more questions. Does chronic use of this drug lead to non-
coping behavior or to low self reliance if the drug is withdrawn?
" Would widespread nse lead to loss of productivity and creativeness?
Ts use of a drug associated with recruitment. of nonusers? Can its use
lead to a lowering of ethical and moral values within society? Is it
associated with amotivational states? Is it associated with economic
losses to the community? = 2 '

Does a given drug Jead to “anarchic” inclinations when used non-
medically? What I mean by that is an attitude of hostility fo au-
thority—“no one is going to tell me what I can and can’t do.”

" Tast but certainly not least, I have looked at the risks of psycho-
active drngs in terms of potential for creation of states of dependence
of addiction. '

I know of course that the Food and Drug Administration, and the
Drug Enforcement Agency here in the United States, are extremely
interested in this aspect. ) . ,

_ T have worked with several members of the U.S. Government within

a committee of the World Health Organization, to trv to develop
methodologies, whereby we can predict and assess the likelihood of
states of psychological or physical dependence developing as a result
of use of anv psvchoactive drug. T believe that the amphetamines, and
the antiobesity congencrs should be looked at closely from this view-
point. . . . . .
~ Again T have asked a number of questions, Does dependence oceur
after regular low-dose use? Does dependence occur only after heavy
use? Is psvehological dependence problematic? Does use result in
physical addietion?
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How great are the reinforcing properties{ I am using reinforce-
ment here in its psychological sense, If a drug creates a pleasureable
effect, so that after its use one feels great, we probably will want to
use it again, Thus begins habituation.

I am presently carrying out a psychoactive drug survey in which I
have tried to answer these questions. One such profile that has been
engendered is for the drug methylphenidate as shown on the sheet
which I have made available to you. There are obviously some benefits,
and because of this the drug is readily available, What about risks?

There are probably some with respect to safety, especially in terms
of risk-taking behavior, In terms of the social order, yes, there may
be some, but eertainly not of 3 high order.

Methylphenidate is slightly ditferent in a chemical sense from pure
amphetamine, but it is a member of and as you probably know, that
family. In the World Health Organization convention on psycho-
tropic drugs, methylphenidate is regarded in the same way as other
amphetamines are. The recommendation of that particular convention
is that methylphenidate should be regulated and subjected to the strin-
gent controls used for amphetamines.

With that, I agree, ‘

In summary, Senator Nelson, I would like to say that T am glad that
Canada took some action in 1972 and 1973 to remedy overuse of am-
phetamines. The drugs which we controlled have remained controlled.
e set therapentic guidelines for their use. We left the door slightly
open to physicians in Canada by saying, “If you personally feel you
need to use this drug for conditions outside of this list of approved
conditions, get in touch with us and we will discuss the situation.”

‘We have had about 250 requests of this type from physicians per
year since 1973. The number stays about constant. We have never ac-
tually refused to allow & physician to employ amphetamines if in his
best judgment he feels he has tried everything else, and this particular
patient needs them,

Despite various arguments from individual physicians, I do not
think we want to increase our approved list in any way. The concept
of restricting the number of diagnoses as indications for drugs is a new
~one for our country, and it was necessary to do a fair amount of selling
of this fo the Canadian Medical Association.

Senator Nzrson. When you say restriet, did you mean restricting in-
dications for usef

Dr. HenpersoN. Yes. For example, if a Canadian physician pre-
scribes benzphetamine or methamphetamine as a stimulant for kids
playing ice hockey, he is in fact doing something which is illegal.

Amphetamines are not approved as a stimulant for say, truck
drivers who drive all night and want something to stay awake. Neither
are they to be used for obesity. A doctor is in fact breaking Canadian
law by prescribing a designated amphetamine—for example, phen-
metrazine—for obesity. -

A physician is allowed to preseribe amphetamines only for the des-
ignated conditions that I earlier outlined.

Physicians in general do not like to be limited. They want to have
total freedom to prescribe as we think is indicated.

I just wish that medical knowledge in clinical pharmacology was
a lot better. I think a lot of irrational prescribing was and is going on,
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and I say this repeatedly in my own country. Not only have I in mind
this particular area of psychoactive drugs, but other drug groups such
as antibiotics. We are obviously not doing as good a job as we should in,
our medical education, to teach rational therapeutics. : .

I am more than a little embarrassed to see that Canadian physicians
seem to be prescribing more and more of these amphetamine congeners
for the treatment of obesity. :

They obviously are obeying the law. There is no problem there, but
they seem to have fallen for the concept that there 13 a large place in
practice for the congeners.

- What we shall do next, I do not yet know. I would be happy to have
another look at the whole situation, and I hope that in the next 2 or
3 months we will be reconvening our committee to formulate further
recommendations. .

I personally feel we should make some changes in our older recom-
mendations to the Government regarding amphetaming controls.
These must be such however that they will not hurt any patients. We
can indeed hurt people who have become dependent on drugs, when
these are taken away from them in a sudden drastic manner. For this
yeason any curtailment of use of amphetamine congeners must be
planned and introduced congeners.

I would likse to proceed thinking about drugs in terms of risks and
benefits, and to introduce some of these concepts more thoroughly into
our medical schools. Doctors in general have not taken sufficient regard
to the social consequences of use of many classes of drugs, which are
now widespread in our society.

Senator NEetson. For the National Health Program, Canada pro-
duces a formulary of approved drugs?

- Dr, Hexvrraon. No, qr., '

There has however been talk of that very thing. We presently use a
book which is comparable to the Physicians’ Desk Reference. In
Canada it is known as the Compendium of Pharmaceuticals and
Specialties.

Senator Nerson. Who publishes it ?

5 EP._IIENDERSON. The Canadian Pharmaceutical Association pub-
shes1t.

The bock is derived from the approved product monographs of the
companies.

The publishers have an editorial board of physicians and clinical
pharmacists. In some provinces there are special plans for people on
welfare, old-age pensioners, and for these patients there are special
lists of drugs that are available free. But there is no Canadian drug
formulary.

We have essentially the same number of prescribed drugs on our
market as you have, They can all be preseribed for our patients with
the one exception of the amphetamines, which can be preseribed only
for five designated conditions.

Senator Nrrsox. But the drugs in Canada are approved generally
for the same uses as they are in this country; are they not ?

Dr. HExDERSON, Yes; that istrue.

Senator Nerson. And when the Canadian panel decided to recom-
mend that amphetamines would no longer be indicated for obesity,
you still had the congeners that could be used for weight control.
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If a number of the congeners are strongly stimulative also, in a simi-
lar way as amphetamines, why did the panel permit the congeners to
goon the market? Was it lack of knowledge?

Dr. Henoerson. In 1972, we were of the opinion that phentermine
and a few other congeners did not have the potential for abuse that
existed for say, phenmetrazine. We thus chose at that time to recom-
mend that some congeners should remain uncontrolled at least for the
time being. We said that we would attempt to review our decisions
every 2 years. We knew we were making decisions which might
not be long-lasting.

It is only in the last year and a half that some of us have become
convinced that a number of these congeners do have a risk of abuse.
By asking the questions that I have outlined I have come to the con-
clusion that the risks are greater than the benefit. ‘

As an example, the drug DBenzphetamine—by trade name-——was
marketed in our country by Upjohn. The company however has simply
withdrawn the drug from the marleet. They seemed to realize that am-
phetamine prescribing was not really a logical way to_treat obesity,
and now that Canadian law has so restricted its prescribing, the actual
market is too small to be profitable. I wonder if at the level of the drug
manufacturing companies, 2 number of them are not beginning to
wonder whether or not these stimulant drugs really are a benefit.

That is not to say that new drugs for obesity might ot be beneficial

in the future. There is genuine interest and a genuine concern to find
drugs with less toxicity, and with less potential for both abuse and for
dependence. The new drug mazindol secms to be a step in this direction.
- Research is still going on in this area of appetite suppression. I am
not very optimistic about any of these drugs, but on the other hand,
I cannot say that a good appetite suppressant is either impossible or
anwarranted. ’ ’ )
* Drugs can be a temporary crutch for some patients. But in addition
to drugs that we need to achieve with our overweight patients is a better
way of thinking, perhaps through group therapy such as that pro-
vided by Weight Watchers, This is where in fact T send all of my over-
weight patients. T persuade most of them to join one of these kinds of
lay organizations, and two-thirds at least of them benefit from re-
ferral.” '

Senator Nrrson. Well, thank you very much, Dr, Henderson, for
your very thoughtful contributions. :

We appreciate your taking so much of your valuable time to come
to testify. . ‘

Dr. Hexpersox, Thank you.

Senator Nesox., OQur next witness is Dr. Carl Chambers of Miami,
Fla, '

Your statement will be printed in full in the record.

You may present it however you desire.
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STATEMENT OF CARL D. CHAMBERS, FH. D, FPRESIDENT OF
PERSONAL DEVELOFMENT INSTITUTE, AND PROFESSOR AND

" DIRECTOR OF THE IRSTITUTE FOR PUBLIC HEALTH RESEARCH,
ANTIOCH COLLEGE AT COLUMEBIA

Dr. Criasmers. Thank you, Mr, Chairman, members of the subcom-
mittec.

I am extremely grateful for your invitation to appear before your
subcommittee to share with you my research on the patterns of use
of amphetamines and related drugs. :

With your permission, I would like to share two types of research
experiences with the subcommittee.

First, I would like to share the experiences derived from conduct-
ing some 35,000 face-to-face interviews with persons in 17 States and
the District of Columbia.

Senator NErson. Were these 35,000 interviews conducted by you
personally? - _ :

Dr. Ciramsers. I was the senior investigator, but I did not do all
of them,

Second, I would like to share the experiences derived from conduct-
ing 935 interviews with known drug abusers in nine cities from
throughout the country, : ~ _

- After a brief prepared statement of these experiences, I will be
happy to answer any fuestions the subcommittee may have regarding
these studies. . : _

Between 1970 and 1976, I was the senior investigator responsible
for conducting substance use surveys within the statewide general
populations of Arizona, Delaware, Fiorida, Indiana, Towa, Minnesota,
Mississippi, New Jersey, New York, North Dakota, North Carolina,
South Carolina, South Dakota, Utah, and Wyoming. T have also been
responsible for conducting the same surveys among the citizens re-
siding throughout the District of Columbia and the citizens residing
in selected mmltiple county areas of Arkansas and Pennsylvania.
These surveys have resulted in some 35,000 interviews with persons
carefully selected to represent the total populations age 14 and above
who resided in these areas. Each person was interviewed in private
by trained interviewers concerning their use of prescription psycho-
active drugs, nonpresceription psychoactive drugs sold over the coun-
ter, nlcoholic beverages and illicit drugs. Viewing these data in the
aggregate has brought us to the following conclusions: '

The use of amphetamines to diminish fatigue ot for their energizing
effects is significantly related to both sex and age. For example, our
projections indicate some 63 percent of everyone who uses ampheta-
mineg as “pep pills” are males even though males represent only 46
percent of our population above the age of 13. Correspondingly, per-
sons age 14 through 24 represent only about 26 percent of our total
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population but contribute some 55 percent of all prescription “pep
pill” users.

Although there has been considerable discussion about the use of
prescr?tion “pep pills” among certain occupational groups such as
truck drivers and students, our data suggests the highest rate of use
of the prescription “pep pills” is probably among sales workers.

Senator NeLsox. May I ask you a question.

You stated the persons in the age groups of 14 to 24 represent only
about 26 percent of population, and some 55 percent of all
prescriptions,
14\Vhy vc;ould the physicians be prescribing pep pills to all groups of

to 25¢%

Dr. Cramerrs. I have no idea, sir.

Senator Nersox. Why did those in that age group who were inter-
viewed say that they sought prescriptions?

Dr. Crameers, Our task was not to determine “why”, They were
asked specifically about their use of “energizing pills”, and where
they got them. They did get them by preseription, and indeed, the vast
majority paid for that prescription indicating the prescription was
legally theirs.

Senator Nersex. Whicll pills?

Dr. Cnaneers. Dexadrene and Benzedrine primarily.

Se%lator Nrerson. That is not the indicated use for them anyway,
is it?

Dr., Cuassrers. No, sir.

Senator NErLson. So you have a situation in which in this group,
53 percent of those who got prescriptions were made—

Dr. Cuaserrs. We asked specifically, when we talked about am-
phetamines with the respondents, if they sought the prescription for
the energizing effects, or for diet pills, and these are all people who
sought the pills for their energizing effects.

Senator Nerson. And these were people who in fact did not get
them off the street, but got them through a prescription by a physiciant

Dr. Crameers. Yes. However, in the majority of the cases they did
not take the drug as it had been prescribed, but they did get it by
prescription. :

Senator NeLsox, What was the drug preseribed for?

'{d)_r. Cirayeers. We have not had access to such a prescription
audit.

The only thing we know is that the prescription was made out,
and he received the drug,

Senator Nersox. This is 55 percent of all those who used pep pills
among the 35,000 who were interviewed ?

Dr, Cuaneens. Yes, sir.

Unfortunately, neither other investizators nor I have been able to
look closely at the rvelationship between one’s work and the use of
these prescription energizers.

For example, T have some information that the use of these drugs
among service and protective workers, migrant workers and those in
competitive sports is considerably greater than eurrent empirical
data would suggest.

The use of the amphetamines and amphetamine-containing diet
pills ostensibly for their hunger suppressant effect is also significantly
related to both sex and age.




COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY 14547

If I was called upon to characterize the primary consumers of pre-
scription *diet pills,” unquestionably I would project them to be
women between the ages of 18 and 4. :

Senator Nrersow. Is this again from vour list of 35,0001 .

Dr. Cuaxepers. Yes, sir, T would further characterize them as house-
wives who are not employed outside the home or women who are work-
ing in sales or clerical jobs,

Qur data indicate that the vast majority of these women obtain these
drugs through legal prescriptions but that they do not take them as
they were prescriged. Substudies of these women show that regardless
of why they begin to use these drugs, most ultimately begin to in-
creagse the preseribed dose or extend their use and take them because
of the drugs production of a “sense of well being.” oo

The nse of amphetamines as * eﬁ; pills” and as “diet pills” appears
to be proportionately distributed throughout the race/ethnic groups.

I believe some brief mention of the use of the nonprescription stim-

ulants sold over the counter should be made as there is some evidence
that the use and abuse of these drugs is increasing and any controls
placed on the prescription stimulants will probably compound these
increases. The consumption of over the counter stimulants occur more
among men than women and more among younger persons. The use
of nonprescription stimulants appears to be proportionately distrib-
uted throughout all of the sociceconomic and ethnic groups. Of sig-
nificant concern to my colleagues and me, is our projection that the
majority of the regular consumers of these over-the-tounter drugs are
workers who operate or are around machinery and motor vehicles. Un-
fortunately, the extended use of these stimulants only masks the
fatigued state of the body and cannot fully restore the sensory per-
ception and reflex action which has been lost through fatigue.
" I am sure the subcommittee is most interested in the precise number
of people in this country who habitually use these drugs. Unfortu-
nately, neither I nor any investigator I know can give you precise
numbers. All any of us can give you will be projected numbers based
upon various surveyed populations. With such a qualifier clearly un-
derstood, let me give you the numbers our research would suggest.
Assuming our some 33,000 people are representative of everyene in
the country, we would project the following:

Some 6 million people above the age of 13 have used amphetamine
“pep pills” with some 1,500,000 having done so recently and some
750,000 being current regular users of these drugs.

Some 12 million people above the age of 13 have used amphetamine
“diet pills” with some 3 million having done so recently and some
1,500,000 being current regular users of these drugs.

Senator Nersow. Isthisan extrapolation?

Dr. Caamerrs. Yes. ‘

Senator Newson, How was your sample of 35,000 selected?

Dr. Caampers. We picked them primarily by age group. We broke
the population into five age cells, and once the interviewing is done,
we weigh the total back into the total population.

Senator Nursow. It was a random sample?

Dr. Ceamerrs. Random down to the household, ahd then we in-
terviewed specific age and sex groups within the households.

Senator Nersox. So what was that figure again, based on that, how
many million have used them?
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Dr. Cizayeers. Six million have used them—above the age of 13—
and 172 million have used the amphetamines recently. : '

Senator Nerson, Have used the prescription drugs?

Dr. Criaseers. Prescriptions, yes, sir.

A million and a half have done so recently, we belicve within the
last 30 days, and probably 750,000 now are currently regular users
of these drugs.

Some 16 million people above the age of 13 have used nonpreserip-
tion stimulants of whom as many as 3 million having done so recently.
Probably as many as 500,000 people use one of the nonprescription
stimulants every weel, _

As T indicated in my introductory remarks, I would also like to
share with the subcommittee my recent experiences in interviewing
known drug users concerning their use of amphetamines and re-
lated drugs. I believe the subcommittee should be aware of these users
and the implications of this use as these users are normally excluded
during even carefully designed general population surveys. :

If they are identified they are less likely to respond honestly to in-
terviewers who are not known to them. Of equal importance, these
types of users make no pretense to claims of use to diminish faticue or
to lose weight. They choose drugs to use solely for their potential for
producing euphoria. . :

During last year, Leon Hunt, a mathematical epidemiologist, and
I were asked by the Drug Enforcement Administration’s office of Sci-
ence and Technology to conduct a study among known drug abusers
relative to the potential for abuse or nonmedical use of various legally
manufactured psychoactive drugs including the amphetamines and
related drugs. As the final report of this total research effort is avail-
able to the subcommittee from the Drug Enforcement Administration,
I won’t take up your valuable time in a full elaboration of the study.
I will abstract from the study those findings which I believe are most
relevant to your current inquiry.

In brief, the study called for us to review the drug history records
and to interview random samples of narcotic abusers and abusers of
nonnarcotic drugs who were undergoing treatment for this abuse
in nine cities. Records were reviewed and drug abusers were inter-
viewed in the following cities: Miami, Fla., Greensboro, N.C., Wash-
ington, D.C., Atlantic City, N.J., New York City, N.Y., Des Moines,
Towa; Kansas City, Kans.; Phoenix, Ariz.; and San Francisco, Calif,

A total of 3,598 records were reviewed and 935 drug abusers were
interviewed. : , : ‘

Our analytie technique was first developed to describe the epidemic
nature and spread of heroin in a_community. The technique collects
the year of first use of a drug and groups these experiences to deter-
mine if the event is occurring randomly or is the result of contagious
transmission from one user to another. The following results and gen-
ernlizations should be of special relevance to your current inquiry.

Sixty-two percent of all the drug abusers we interviewed had his-
tories of abusing amphetamines. However, among drug abusers whose
primary drug of abuse was not heroin, the prevalence of amphetamine
abuse was as high as 85 percent. Of interest, 63 percent of all abusers
of amphetamines had been introduced to the drugs by their friends or
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peers and only 23 percent had been introduced to amphetamines by a
drug dealer.

. Fifteen percent of 21l the drug abusers we interviewed had histories
of abusing phenmetrazine—Preludin. Not unexpectedly those who
abuse phenmetrazine were most frequently introduced to the drug by
friends or peers. :

Amphetamine abuse in Miami has shown the epidemic character-
istics since 1968. There is some evidence that the abuse of phenmetra-
zine—Preludin—and phentermine—Ionamin and Fastin—may be
becoming popular substitutes for the amphetamines. -

Amphetamine abuse in Greensboro is an endemie or stable problem
with drug dealers more frequently introducing new users than in any
other city we studied. Phenmetrazine (Preludin) abuse has become
a popular drug of abuse and appears to be primarily imported from the
‘Washington area. :

- 'The amphetamine epidemics Washington has experienced in_the
past may have been replaced by the abuse of phenmetrazine—FPre-
ludin.

. Amphetamine abuse in New York City is an endemic or stable
problem when viewed in its totality with microepidemics occurring
within neighborhoods. Our data are too sparse, however, to identify
these neighborhoods in time and place, '

Amphetamine abuse in Atlantic City is an endemic or stable pro-
I&Iem. Phenmetrazine—Preludin—abuse may also have become en-

emic

Amphetamine abuse in Des Moines was probably epidemic during
the 1966-71 period when it probably became endemic. Phenmetrazine—
Preludin—abuse has become epidemic. Des Moines was one of the
few cities we studied which reflected considerable experimentation
with a wide range of amphetamine related drugs.

Amphetamine abuse in Kansas City is an endemic or stable pro-
blem. Phenmetrazine—Preludin—abuse has, however, shown the char-
acteristics of contagious transmission.

Amphetamine abuse in Phoenix can be viewed as epidemic and
probably has beéen since- 1968. Phenmetrazine—Preludin-—abuse is
probably endemic or stable.

- Amphetamine abuse in San Francisco can be viewed as epidemic and
has been since 1966. Phenmetrazine—DPreludin—abuse is probably
endemic or stable. S

In summary, our study among known drug abusers indicates the
continued popularity of the amphetamines as drugs of abuse.

In addition, the abuse of phenmetrazine—Preludin—has become epi-
demic in some cities and appears to be spreading into others.

- Senator NELsox. You are saying 2 million used the amphetamines?

Dr. Cirameers. Ostensibly for weight control.

Senator Nerson. But in fact as a stimulant ?

Dr, Cuiansrrs. Yes, sir, They made them feel good.

: Mr. Goroox.” Do you have any figures showing the use of these
drugs by income groups? '

Dr. Crameers. I have by socioeconomic group. : :

The groups break the population by parental education, income and

. occupational. This is in a sense “economic,” and it appears that am-
phetamines prescribed for their energizer effect, do show major social-
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economic differences. The bulk of their use occurring in the middle
range of the socioeconomic groups. With the diet pills, there is a vir-
tual exclusion of the very low classes, but widely distributed otherwise.

Senator NeLson. Over what period of time did that survey of 35,
000 occur? . : '

Dy, Crzaseeers. I did the first one in New York State, and that oc-
curred in 1970. '

I did the last one in 1975,

Senator Nrrson. Is that going to all or just several of the States?

Dr, Cmaueers. In all, we have done 17 different States, plus the
District of Columbia. ' - '

Senator Nersow. Did you extrapolate from this survey of 35,000 a
ﬁ%ure that would indicate from that a percentage of people in the
whole population who are involved.in some form of drug abuse{

Dr. Caameers. Well, it depends on how you define drug abuse.

What we are suggesting, if you control only for t%e ampheta-
nines—— : '

Senator NeLson. If what?

Dr. Criampers. If we control only for amphetamine use, and we de-
fine abuse as that use which occurs as a result of not getting the drug
by your prescription, or that involves extension of that use, or the ex-
pansion of that use, and define all of these things as abuse, roughly 65
to 70 perecent of all users abuse the drug. '

Senator Nerson. Sixty-five to 70 percent of all users are abusing
the drug? :

Dr. Cazapers, If vou use that kind of definition, yes.

I am not sure how many of these are actually disfunctional as a re-
sult of that use,

Senator Nersow. And that figure was 63 percent?

Dr. Crrameers, Sixty-five to 70 percent. :

Senator Nrrsow, Of all users? o

Dr. Cuaxaers. People do not appear to be able to use the stimulant
drugs as they are prescribed.

- Senator Nerson. Do not appear to what?

Dr. Crzameers. To be able or willing to use the stimulant drugs as
they are preseribed.

The vast majority of our cases indicate they extend the time of use
or increase the dose.

Senator Nerson. And that 65 percent who are abusers, represents
what percent of the population

Dr. Crzamners, I have no idea.

My guess is that vou are talking in the neighborhood of 65 percent
of roughly 4 or 5 million people.

Senator Nevsox. Thank you very much for your very valuable tes-
timony.

Y’Ve{;ppreciate your taking the time to come.

Dr. Caameers. Thank you.

Senator Nrrsow. Our next witness is Dr, Thomas M. Gellert from
Huntington, N.Y.

I appreciate your taking your time to come here, Dr. Gellert, .

You may present your testimony however you desire.
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STATEMENT OF THOMAS M. GELLERT, M.D,, HUNTINGTON, N.Y.

Dr. Gerrert. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I am here today as a private practitioner, and, therefore, for myself,
and as an unofficial representative of 250 physicians who decided to
attack this problem of drug sbuse, particularly amphetamines, and
without waiting for guidelines, prohibition, and coercion, and I also
speak as one who has been active in the county medical association of
the county and the city of Huntington, and which is made up of 200,-
(00 people on the eastern end of Long Island, and also as one who un-
derstands somewhat the governmental problems, and as one who has
also served on the county board of health,

We in Huntington are very proud of our efforts, and are gratified
by the results, but now, 5 years after deciding to stick to our princi-
ples, we are convineed that some form of Federal regulation is neces-
sary if we are really to succeed. :

Our community is Huntington, N.Y., and just a couple of weeks
2o, when “60 Minutes” came on, we were sort of designated the am-
phetamine capital of the universe. :

This is certainly not the case, but T would like to tell you how this
came about,

We in Huntington are a township of about 200,000 people, we
consider ourselves quite enlightened, We were among the first in the
country to set up the youth board, an organization responsible for han-
dling problems with our youth. '

I believe you have already heard from some of our representatives
who spoke before this subcommittee Iast week.

When heroin became a problem in our community, our hospital do-
nated facilities, our hospital-pharmacy donated time and the nurses
donated their time, and we set up a free methadone clinic to help con-
trol the hercin difficulty, and then when amphetamines appeared on
the scene, Huntington physicians decided to stop writing ampheta-
mine prescriptions.

We hoped that by this voluntary act that we wounld remove a sizable
number of these drugs from circulation and reduce the number of
drngs which eould be abused. : e :

To accomplish this task we conducted seminars, distributed the lat-
est scientific data, held hospital staff meetings, and met with commu-
nity agencies.

After examining the evidence it was clear to anyone familiar with
evaluating scientific data that, except for the rare problems of narco-
lepsy and the treatment of certain types of hyperactive children, am-
phetamines had no bona fide use in the practice of medicine.

Specitically, there was more than enough evidence to support the
conclusion that amphetamines had no place in the treatment of obesity.

Overnight the prescribing habits of Huntington physicians’
changed. From several hundred amphetamine prescriptions a year,
the average pharmacy found it was dispensing only one or two am-
phetamine preseriptions a month, '

- Some pharmacies filled none over periods of several months. -

Some time after our voluntary amphetamine ban, T recall speaking:
to a pharmacentical house representative who observed that contrary

85-560—T7——9
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to his expectations the amphetamine ban extended to all antiobesity.
drugs and an expected increase in the writing for nonamphetamine
anorectics never materialized.

- Huntington physicians had apparently decided that drugs in gen-
eral had no place in the trecatment of overweight patients. This phi-
losophy of therapeutics has not changed in the past 5 years. The new’
physicians in town have been quick to learn of our amphetamine ban
ang their cooperation hag been exemplary.

Senator NeLson. Is that number, 250 physicians, the total number
in the Huntington township?

Dv, Gerrert. That is right.

If we have become so successful in this effort, why am T here today
asking for Federal help to control the production and distribution of
amphetamines and related drugs?

Despite the honest effort of 99 percent of the practicing physicians
in our community, some duly licensed doctors have decided to confine
their practices to the drug treatment of obesity in our community. It
has been an outrageous situation.

They meticulously observe the existing laws, and they hand out a
stageering amount of legal amphetamines each day,

They are not members of our medical community. They do not prae-
tice in our hospitals, nor are they members of our medical society.
Thus they escape the censure of their peers and the constraints which
might be placed upen them.

In the town of Huntington there are two such physicians. The youth
board of Huntington township recently conducted an unoflicial tally
of the number of patients seen by one of these doctors in a typical
week. Approximately 800 patients were seen. Over a several week pe-
riod, they ranged from 800 to 1,100 patients.

Senator Nrrsox. Does anyone know what the standard fee for the
consultation and prescription is?

Dr. GELLERT. Ipdo not know what the fee is, but I know that figure
is available.

Senator NEevsow. That meant somebody could find out what is being
charged ?

Dr. Gerrert. I would imagine $10 or $15.

Senator NELsox. That is the only purpose for which these people
go to these two doctors?

Dr. GELLERT. Yes, sir,

Senator Nerson. All right.

Dr. GeLierr. As a part of his treatment program, this particular
doctor distributes amphetamines to all comers. Patients are literally
lined up outside of his office. And by no means are all of those in line
obese.

By a calculation, if he sees a patient, he asks the patient to come
back every 2 weeks, he probably prescribes 42 tablets, amphetamine
tahlets, over those 14 days, that is 8 tablets a day.

When you multiply that by 42 times 800, and then muitiply the num-
ber of tablets he is dispensing in 2 week, and then multiply that by let’s
say 50, this figure comes out to over 114 million amphetamine tablets a
year.,
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" Forgetting for a moment those who seek out this man to obtain a
supply of “uppers” to get through the day, such doctors have a ready-
made parade of victims in any community.

They are the tired, overweight housewives; the self-conscious over-
welght teenagers; or, for that matter, any overweight citizens,

These people see in the “diet doctor” an easy solution to their prol-
lem and they end up captive to his drugs, needing them just to “keep

oing.”. , _ :
g One such physician can easily prescribe more than a million amphet-
amine tablets in the course of a year. Undoubtedy, in our community
this man’s practice is assisted by the unavailability of amphetamines
elsewhere.

This is the outrageous part. This man comes and opens his practice,
and he gets everyone he wants on amphetamines, because they cannot
get it anywhere else. : '

Senator Nersox. Among the physicians in the county, you end up
with some patients then coming to the physicians who do prescribe for
treatl?nent for some side effect, as a consequence of their taking the
drug

Dr. Gerrenr, Yes ; I think everyone who practices primary medicine,
internal medicine, or family practice, sees patients who of course are
certain they have a thyroid problem, because they are overactive, and
they have the shakes, and they cannot sleep, or they have lost too much
weight, and one of the first questions we ask is, what medicines are you
taking, and more times than we would like, we find that they are on
amphetamines. _

Some of our old patients withhold this information from us, because
they are embarrassed, that they have gone elsewhere to seek a drug we
would normally not prescribe.

Senator NrLson. I see.

" Dr. Grriert. And, Senator Nelson, a great deal has been said about
why did not the physicians police their ranks.

‘We are asked, why don’t we do something about these people.

We would like to, we would like to very much. -

As T mentioned before, frequently, presently they lie outside the
normal channels of control, they are not members of our society, they
do not practice with any staff of the local hospitals,

TUntil recently in the State of New York, to discipline the physicians,
to take away his license, was almost an unheard of affair,

It required getting involved with the department of education, they
were the ones who held our licensing permits, and they were the onl
ones who were able to handle this, and it would appear that indeed,
that instead of cooperating with the State medieal society, that we were
often at odds with our State medical society, but recently our Gov-
ernor, Governor Carey, signed into law a change in the procedure, and
we now have a disciplinary board, which is set up in the department of
health, and do have input, the physicians do have input, they do have
input to the board, but the financing is so poor that investigative
studies cannot be done, and we are way behind in caszes that should be
looked into, including people like those men who are pushing pills in
our community.,
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Now, we have heard a lot of expert testimony this morning, I was
more than impressed with Dr. Henderson and Dr. Chambers’ testi-
mony, and I certainly believe that amphetamine should be barred for
the use of obesity.

While we cerfainly have fewer amphetamines in our town than our
neighboring communities, how much better it would be for the collec-
tive heanlth of our citizens if effective restraints could be placed on the
distribution of all amphetamines.

1f it could be shown that amphetamines and related antiobesity
preparations were of value in treating obesity perhaps one could argue
that the obvious disadvantages to their use were outweighed by the
advantapes.

The fact is that these drugs are, at best, only briefly effective in the
treatment of the overweight patient.

Indeed, the preponderance of evidence is that amphetamines have
no long-term value other than the placebo effect present when taking
-any sort of medicine for any sort of condition. _ .

1f amphetamines were effective and necessary in treating obesity
it should follow that during the 5 years since the Huntington amphet-
amine ban our community would now have a larger number of over-
weight citizens. This is not the case.

Those who advocate the use of currently available “drugs” in the
treatment of obesity argue that the supposed appetite suppressant
effects of these drugs provide the patient with an initial success 1n
therapy which may spur him on to continue his weight reduction pro-
gram drug-free.

The extrapolated conclusion, I imagine, wonld be that to deny the
public these drugs would make obesity more difficult to treat.

I certainly do not believe the facts support this conclusion, It is
like telling an alcoholic that if sometimes we fill you full of tranqui-
lizers and get you off aleohol for a week or two weeks, or a month or
two, it will solve your problem. '

We know that that is not the case, when we stop the tranguilizers,
he goes right back to the alcohol.

Rather the key to treatment of obesity is motivation, and without
it, the drug or diet cannot succeed. . .

As a physician whose practice of internal medicine includes large
numbers of desperately ill cardiac patients, T have had considerable
experience in the successful treatment of large numbers of overweight
patients.

The key to success is motivation. Without it no drug, no diet, no
aéupuncture, nothing can succeed.

Tt is the physician’s job to present to the overweight patient the rea-
sons why he must lose weight. _

He must get to know the patient, the patient’s family, and the pa-
tient’s problems. _

Ho must convince him of the necessity for losing weight and the
logic of his arguments must be inescapable. '

Where emotional factors prevent success in a weight reduction pro-
gram psychological counseling is in order. . :

‘When such an emotional impediment to weight reduction exists, the
Jast thing a physician should do is to preseribe a habit-forming drug.

1t would seem ridiculous to take a patient who has an emotional
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problem, to take this patient and put him on a drug that would make
the patient an addict, that would be ridieulous. i

I 'am convinced that drugs have no place in the treatment of obesity.
T am convinced that the medical world can practice better medicine
without the antiobesity drugs. . .

T am convineed that the overwhelming majority of physicians be-
lieve as I do. I am disheartened by the presence of that small number
of physi{:ians who capitalize on the habit-forming character of the
“diet pill.”

Thegr threaten the success of the amphetamine-free environment
which my colleagues and I are attempting to build. Frankly, they are
a public health menace, .

T believe there is a method of contrelling the injudicious distribu-
tion of amphetamines. The solution is straightforward, and it has
precedent. Last month a patient of mine with s painful cancer required
methadone for relief of his agony. Other narcotics had proved ineffec-
tive or unusable because of his multiple allergies. The drug was pro-
vided through normal channels of distribution with the understanding
that it was to be used as an analgesic, not for the treatment of drug
addiction. . o

T received a telephone call from the pharmacist whe filled the pre-
seription, and the pharmacist pointed ouf that I can use this drug only
foli analgesia, and to use it for any other purpose would be contrary
to law.

This is a unique situation. The FDA has been reluctant to involve
itself in the doctor-patient relationship. Except for regulations per-
taining to the use of new drugs or drugs being investigated for efficacy
and safety, the FDA has not involved itself in regulating the prescrib-
ing habits of physicinns. I believe this to be laudable. In the instance
of methadone, however, it was determined that the absence of tight
control of the distribution of this drug constituted a serious public
health hazard. The FDA, therefore, used its authority to prohibit the
unrestricted distribution of methadone. The FDA requires that any
individual or organization using methadone for the treatment of drug
addiction must secure a special license and submit to eonstant super-
vision, To do otherwise isunlawful.

T propose that the same regulation with restraints be placed on the
use of amphetamines. I propose that a specinl license he required for
the use of amphetamines to control obesity and in the control or treat-
ment of drug addiction. I further propose that the existing restrie-
tions on the use of amphetamines be continued for all other uses. In
this way the preseribing of this drug will be limited to a 1-month sup-
ply which is not refillable and which is dispensed in a specially marked
container. I also recommend that the continued use of the nonamphet-
amine diet drugs be similarly controlled pending further research into
their abuse potential. These changes would effectively eliminate the
amphetamines from the “diet doctors’ ” dispensary.

If the deliberations of this committee provide the impetus for the
FDA to exercise authority and eliminate the abuse of amphetamines,
vou will have helped Huntington physicians in their original crusade
to ban amphetamines in our community. You will simultaneously aid
physicians in communities throughout our country in the control of
amphetamine abuse, '
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Senator Nersox. Let me ask you a question. If they no longer had
the indicated use of obesity at all, then I would assume it would not
be difficult to stop the abuse, : .. ) .

- For example with respect to the two physicians in Huntington,
obviously if these drugs are indicated only for narcolepsy, or hyper-
kenesis, they would not have 800 patients going through their offices.
Is that correct ? . :
* Dr. Gerrerr. Exactly, :

Senator Nersox, Are you saying that yon think there may be some
occasion where it is indicated for use of obesity ¢ _

Dr. Gerierr. Nojnot for obesity at all. ;

T do not see how one could justify the use of the drugs for obesity.
- Several years ago the FDA investigation showed that there was
short-term advantage to the use of the drug. ' o
. Xt may be indeed that someone some day will find that there is long-
term advantage, but as yet that is not so.

Senator Nersonx. You would take the position if a physician desired
that it should not be used for obesity, but that if he wanted to, that
thsici?an if he had a justifiable reason, that he would get a special

icense?
- Dr. Gerzrrr, Yes; and if the controls for such distribution of am-
phetamines is similar to the controls and of the distribution of metha-
done, T doubt seriously we would be seeing any of these diet clinics in
operation.

This conld not be justified. : -

1 also believe there is not enough information today that would
indicate that the amphetamines and amphetamine-related drugs, I
feel they should be moved up, the amphetamine-related drugs, to
where the amphetamines are right now, and that is a class IT drug
which would require special labeling, a nonrefillable prescription, and
no more than 1 month prescribing at any one time,

Senator Nersox. Did the lines outside these two obesity doctors’
offices gret shorter or longer after the “60 Minutes” program?

Dr. Gerrerr. Well, certainly the advertising was there, I would
not be surprised if they got longer.

Senator Nerso~, The real story in Huntington is that all except
two physicians in the whole county have agreed that you should not

aise amphetamines for the purpose of obesity, but the abuse by the two

physicians of this agreement has made it impossible for the other 250
to control it}

Dr. Gerrert. In reality we were only able to support one diet doc-
tor before we had the ban. After the ban, the other one joined us.

Senator Nrrsox. Thank you very much for your very valuable
testimony, Dr, Gellert.

We appreciate you taking the time from your busy practice to
come before the subcommittee and to present your testimony.

It is very valuable, and we appreciate it.

Dr, GeLrerr. Thank you.

Senator NeLsoN. Qur next witness is Reverend Frank Reynolds, na-
tional director of Teen Challenge Youth Centers, of Springfield, Mo.
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STATEMENRT OF REVEREND FRANE REYNOLDS, NATIONAL DIREC-
: TOR OF TEEN CHALLENGE YOUTH CENTERS, SPRINGFIELD, MO.

Reverend Rexynorps. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.?

Teen Challenge is a ministry to street people. It began in 1958 as
4 ministry to street gangs by David Wilkerson. As the work pro-
gressed we began to encounter drug addicts. Many heard the message
of hope in Jesus Christ and began to respond in a positive manner.

From this beginning has grown a ministry that now is in 24 States,
the District of &olumbia, and Puerto Rico, with ministries in 62 cities.
Through coffes houses and street workers, Teen Challenge made con-
tact with over 380,000 people in 1975, In our various residential faeili-
ties we have 1,000 people any day. I say this to let you know that we
have a broad contact with a lot of young people at the street level
where the action is, :

Qur experience has been primarily at the street level, although the
past few years we have received more and more people referred by
other agencies, both public and private.

Our primary thrust has been to what we have called “troubled
youth.” This has resulted in our also working in a preventive-type
.ministry with drug education programs in schools and community
youth groups.

Through these presentations we had many opportunities to deal
with young people in a confidential manner about their own drug in-
volvement. e were able to get a good reading of what was happen-
ingin the drug scene.

In the early 1960’s we primarily reached the inner city heroin ad-
dicts. ' With the “drug explosion” of the mid- and late-sixties we
began to reach people with various dependencies on many different
drugs: Tranquilizers, barbiturates, amphetamines, hallucinogens, as
.well as alcohol, and the opiates.

Today, most of the drug dependent persons we work with are so-
called polydrug users. By that we mean they use many different types
of drugs and mix them with alechol.

My personal feeling is to include aleohol with drugs, but we will not
get into that. _

I know this hearing is primarily concerned with the use and abuse
of amphetamines. But, I think, we are going to be remiss if we do
not realize that this is part of an overall problem and, perhaps, a phi-
losophy of the medical and pharmaceutical business,

That philosophy is; that there is a solution to every problem in a
pill and its wrong to suffer any discomfort, physical, or emotional.
Perhaps, it is a problem of our “cradle to the grave security society.”

This is promoted in the advertising, on television, and other media.
Since I am concerned primarily with our youth 14 te 23, what are we
‘teaching them ? “I have an important meeting, T must be up for it, so
I eat or drink something to pick me up g0 I can put my best foot for-
ward.” Then we get pushed out of shape when our teenagers do the

1 Reverend Reynolds subsequently submitted the following: “It might be added that
.Teen Challenge 18 a voluntary program. 1t iz also & nonprofit corporation and s privately

funided by contributions, YWe have not received Government grants. One 1-year grant was
“recelived from NIDA for 4 research study.™
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same thing for their Earth-shattering date, party, or whatever. “That
is different, this is a $500,000 deal,” we argue. “But,” the young person
says, “This is the chance of a lifetime to really impress someone that
will change my whole future.”

What have we done? Instead of preparing ourselves spiritually,
physically, and emotionally we try to substitute an artificial booster
or tranquilizer. We do not deal with the real problem.

Let me illustrate. Four weeks ago 2 young man was released from
a certain penal institution. While he was thers he got under a lot of
tension. So the doctor gave him some Valium. As the tension built
so did his intake of Valium, legally. He was released, having com-
pleted his sentence, with a legal prescription and is using 40 to 50
milligrams of Valium per day. He is “free” from jail, but he cannot
function in the “straight” 8-to-5 society.

Let me add he was 8 years in the pemtentiary.

The 40 to 50 milligrams of Vaﬁum does not handle the additional
tension, so he has added a little aleohol to help out. Now he is in
danger of viclating the conditions of his release.

What i3 the problem? Is it tension? Or do we need to dig a little
deeper? Then give the individual the coping mechanism to deal with
the problem. 1 have had only 20 minutes with this individual and
discovered his tension started when his wife divorced him while in
prison. Maybe there was no way to save the marriage, but there is a
better way of handling the succeeding emotional problems than a
chemical copout.

I am not sure this legislative body can solve the problem, but T be-
lieve unless we are willing to see why we get pushed into using chem-
ical substitutes we will continue to seek chemical solutions to emotional
and spiritual preblems.

Dr. Blum stated in an article in Look magazine, several years ago,
in a discussion of various solutions to the drug abuse problem,
#1f we are looking for a drug to solve the drug problem we will fail.
We will never solve the drug problem until we make up our minds what
our minds are for.”

Now to speak specifically to our experience with the amphetamine

roup.
. By the way, since writing this, I had a man come in, his grand-
father called me to visit him in jail, and when I got to talking as to
what his problem was, I asked him, what can I do to help youw

I said. why are you in jail?

He said, armed robbery. I said, well, for what? Are you involved
in drugs?

He said, ves, and T said, what kind of drugs? I said, T am not the
law. not the court, not the lawyer.

What are vou taking? '

He said the truth, I don’t even know what happened, but I had
taken some speed and some cocaine, and we had some liquor, and the
next thing I knew, ¥ wasin jail.

‘When I woke up, I was here. I don’t know what happened, and he
is-charged with armed robbery, but amphetamines is the basis of it.
I found out since he was getting them through his mother.

We first began to see people coming in with this problem in 1967
and 1968. Not large quantities, but when a person had been involved
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with heroin and other depressant drugs he would buy “Bennies” to
Eive.him a lift to get out and do his “thing” to get the money for the
eroin.

When the fad of taking drugs hit our high school and college groups,
they would have what some calied “cocktail parties.” Each would
bring the medications from their private drugstore, that is, the home
medicine cabinet. All the pills would be put in the bowl. Different
parties were run different ways. Some would portion a quantity to éach
one with no regard to what they took. Others would divide them by
color or shape and compare notes.

What was the main problem? Availability—they discovered that
with mom’s diet pills they could dance and go and go without stop-
ping. Hey man, that’s terrific. .

Someone thought we could solve the fat problem without discipline
and without pain by taking dexedrine or other amphetamines.

The college crew is no different than when I was in school. We did
not get our work done until it was due. We did not study until the
night before exam. But in the early forties we had to depend upon
the coffee pot and cold water in the face to stay awake.

Now, thanks to “better living through chemistry” we can swallow
a couple of pills, obtainable legally for the diet, the tired feeling, the
depressed state, or whatever other excuse—fancy word for lie—I can
convinee the doctor of.

Then suddenly you have people living on this stuff. Then comes
controls in the early seventies,

By this time we have coming into the program the speed freaks and
the spacies. They have in their own words “fried their brains.” Where
did they get the stuff? One student in the program from an Ohio
collegre, who came into the program in 1970, floated a loan, flew to
Mexico and brought back amphetamines of various kinds, manufac-
ture% in the United States, and netted $1,700 for the weekend risk and
trouble.

The problem arose for him when he became his own best customer.
Messed up his mind; could not study, dropped out of school with 114
semesters to go for graduation. '

I am amazed that some, as late as last year, discovered an over-
production with shipment out of the country to be brought back in
llegally. This was common knowledge to us working the streets. We
assumed if we knew it, certainly, the professional agencies knew it.

; Some have told of stealing them off the loading docks by the barrel
ull.

I ﬁ?o not need to restate the statistics, you have them, undoubtedly,
on file.

The last 3 years I have been in an administrative position and only
working as a volunteer with troubled people. It is disturbing and frus-
trating to me to start dealing with people and discover the amount of
mood-altering medications prescribed to cover up the problem. Yet,
no one stops to try to solve the problem or provide a way of handling
and dealing with the difficulties.

At Teen Challenge our approach to the drug abuser has been that
your drug taking is not the problem. It is a symptom. We were say-
ing this when others said we were foolish to talk like that.
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The problem is inside of you. Invariably when we begin to relate to
the needy they would speak of the emptiness inside. Nobody wants
the “blahs.” And when someone offers a chemical, easy solution, you
have a good candidate.

Qur approach is first acceptance of them as a person, regardless
of their physical appearance. o ‘

The speed freak usually comes in skinny and starry eyed, extremely
nervous and suspicious. Not trusting anyone. They have been “ripped
off” emotionally. ’ :

Then we share the love of God we have found and the inner peace we
have. The next logical step is, “You can have it, too. God so loved you
that he gave His best for you.” ) )

Now, here is where we had to regroup our forces. The heroin addict
was quite predictable. After he would withdraw, his head was normal.

Not so with the amphetamine user. His attention span is short. He
is depressed very easily and is just liable to space out on you. =

Another complication we ran into was that the amplietamine user
quite often has used I.SD, mescaline, and other hallucinogens.

I am not a technical man. So how much of our problems can be
attributed to which chemical, is difficult to assess, As I said before,
at the street level you do not get someone that does just one drug.

After speeding he knows he is going to crash. When he crashes he
knows he is not going to be able to sleep, so he will seek downers—
barbiturates.

Most can walk into a doctor and give a good con story and get some
sleeping pills. If all else fails, he can put on a scene and get rushed
to the emergency ward and compassionate people will give him what
he wants. Remember, these people know wIl;at symptoms to describe
idn order to get the doctor to give the “right” prescription, and they

o. .

We, just 3 weeks ago, had a policeman call one of the workers,
brought a girl in, we do not know what she was taking, tried to get
her to three hospitals; they would not admit her.

The men drove her to another State hospital, about 40 miles away,
they stated their situation, they signed her in, when they got back
home, she was there ahead of them with her purse full of pills, and
that just happened. '

It takes long patience. About the time youn think you are making
progress, he flips out.

Where with the heroin addict we could put pressure on him and
get pretty hardnosed, we find we would have to back off from the
amphetamine user, cut down the pressure until he could settle down.
T believe it takes the power of God to help and heal some of the
scrambled heads we have worked with.

TWe have not won on all of them, but we have as good a record as any.

- Mr. Gorpox. As I understand it, it is much more difficult to treat
an amphetamine addict than a barbiturate addict; is that correct?

Reverend Reyworns. Well, a heroin addict anyway, and even bar-
biturates, when they get down, the barbiturate man will get a lot of .
trouble physically, once he gets down. '

Mentally, he i5in pretty good shape.

These people who are on amphetamines, when we see them, we say,
oh, God, give us old-fashioned heroin addiets so we know what they are
going to do.
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These zre kind of unpredictable. They might flip out on you. We
do not know what will happen. . o

Mr. Goroow. Is it your impression that the original source of
amphetamines was generally a doctor? ‘

" Reverend Rry~orps. That is a hard one to answer. Those that we
work on, there is so much legal and illegal of it that is done,

I would hate to put a percentage figure on it. These people are con
artists, They can walk into any doctor’s office, and convinee him of
their symptoms. They know what prescriptions he is to prescribe, so
he knows how to get what he wants.

Mr. Gorpox. And the doctors take his word ?
Reverend Rexxorps. And they take his word for it.
That is part of their problem, and that is part of our problem.

" Mr. Goroon. My mother used to do that. She used to go to the doctor
and tell the doctor what was wrong with her,

Reverend Rexworps. That is just what they do.

Gentlemen, Jet me recap.

What is the problem ¢ , C

One, we are too prone to look for easy, painless solutions to life’s

problems. .

Tivo, chemicals that can alter the mood are available legally and
illegally from “legitimate” manufacturers. '
hree, the knowledge that it is available is well advertised.

- Four, the whole health-care field has got to shoulder their responsi-
bility in causing the spread of the drug abuse problem. ‘

'Five, we can no longer bypass the fact that men have spiritual needs,

as well as physical, and social needs. : .

“Some hopeful signs :
One, many of us are redoubling our efforts, , _
Two, medical schools are now requiring medical doctors to take
courses in interpersonal relations. - ‘
Three, many professionals are acknowledging that there are spirit-
ual needs that can be met. More cooperation between these two areas

is needed. - .

Four, this hearing is being held and we have been able to share from
the street level, where the action is. S :

For an idea of the effectiveness of the Teen Challenge program you
may refer to a study done under grant No, 1 H81 DA 01505-01. -

This is the first time we have been able to share some of the things we
see from the street side, and we appreciate it.

- Thank you. ' ' ' —

Senator Nerson. You state on the first page, that you made contact
with over 380,000 people in 1975,

These 380,000 are all individuals who were using drugs?

Reverend ReyNorps, Probably 85 percent will be drug-related of
some kind.” - -

Senator Nerson. You said in some residential facilities you have
some thousand people 2 day ? ‘ :

Reverend Rey~orps, In our total program, we have 1,000 people in .
residence. , : ‘

Senator NersoN. When vou say in residence, do you have residential
faeilities for some of your clients? :

Reverend Reyworps, Right, Qur program is 1 year long.

Senator Nerson, How many?
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Reverend Reyxows. About 2,500 to 2,700 people will complete the
program. ‘ .

Senator Nersox. Two thousand five hundred to 2,700%

Reverend Re¥ynorps. Right. ,

“Qenator Nersox. And will they all live in a residential setting or
‘residential situation?

Reverend Rex~owps. During that year. )

Senator NELson. And how many cities do you have residential
treatment centersin?

Reverend ReynoLps. Sixty-two.

Senator NELSON. Sixty-twol

Reverend ReyNoLDS. Yes.

Qenator NeLsoxn. And they would average what size?

Reverend Revnorbs. Well, everything from 6 or 8 in some of our
facilities, up to 130,

Senator NErsox. And this program is supervised or managed from
where? :

Reverend Reynorps. Well, the program grew like topsy.

In the last 3 years, 1 have been asked to try to coordinate them.

I live in Springfield, Mo., or I would say my wife lives there, and I
just visit,

Senator Nrrsox. Well, are all of these facilities under the direction
of one national organization?

Reverend Rernorps. Right, We are just trying to pull an organi-
zation together.

- Teen Challenge is an incorporated name now, and we are all
interrelated.

Senator Nersow. And when was the national Teen Challenge
organization created ? : '

Reverend Reyworps. Well, my office was created 3 years ago.

Senator NeLsox. Did you originate the program?

Reverend Rey~orps, Well, Dave Wilkerson originated it, but I was
with him from the beginning, and I helped organize it.

Senator NrLson. Are you expanding the program into other cities?

Reverend Reyyonns. Yes; faster than we would like to.

Senator NeELsoN. 1What medical assistance, adviee, consultation,
psychiatric. or otherwise, have you had?

Reverend Revxorps. Just on a voluntary basis, we work primarily
from the spiritual area, with the cooperation of medical people at
our facilities,

Senator Nersox. So you do have volunteer physicians in some
communities?

Reverend Rey~xorps. Right.

Senator NeLsox. How many communities?

Reverend REr~oups. Wherever we have a facility, we try to line up
a doctor that will work voluntarily.

Senator Nersox. Do you usually find soniebody that will volunteer?

Reverend Reyxorps. Usually. We have had some problems in a
couple of areas.

Senator NeLsox. Thank you very much. We appreciate your taking
the time to come to testify. i

Tomorrow’s hearing will resume at 10 a.m. We stand in recess,
[Whereupon, the subcommittee was recessed at 12:35 p.m.]
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(Present Status of Competition in the Pharmaceutical
Industry)

FRIDAY, NOVEMBER 19, 1978
U.S. Sexarte,

SuBcOMMITTEE 0N MONOTOLY OF TIIE
Serect CoMarrrer oN Syarl BusiNess,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to reeess, at 10 am., in room
318, Russell Senate Office Building, Hon. Gaylord Nelson, chairman,
presiding,

Present : Senator Nelson.

Also present : Benjamin Gordon, staff economist; and Karen Young,
research assistant.

Senator Nersox. The subcommittee will please come to order.

‘Today's hearing by the Monopoly Subcommittee of the Scnate b!m’ll]
Business Committee constitutes the fifth and perhaps the last day in
this series of hearings on the antiobesity drugs. -

Our witnesses toda) are:
J. Richard Crout, M.D. Dlrector, Bureau of Drugs, Food and Drug

Administration, and his assocmtes Frederick A. Rody. Acting Depnty

Administrator, Drug Enforcement Administration, 1.5, Depaﬁment
of Justice; and Mr, Isaac McGraw, president of the pharmaceutical
division of the Pennwalt Cor

In 1972, FDA’s Advisory (g)ommlttee on antiohesity drugs after con-
siderable study, submitted the following conclusions and recommenda-
tions to the Food and Drug Administration:

One, adult obese subjects on diet plus drug tend to lose more weight
than those on diet alone.

Two, the amount of weight loss associated with the nse of an “anorec-
tic” drug varies from trial to trial.

The possﬂ)le origins of the increased weight loss due to the varions
drug effects are not established,

The increased weight loss appears to be related to variables other
than the drug nrescrlbed such as the physician-investigator, the
population treated and the diet prescribed.

Studies do not permlt conclusions as to the relative importance
of the drug and nondrug factors on weight loss,

Three, the mfwmtude of increased weight loss of drug treated pa-
tients over placebo treated patients was only a fraction of a pound a
week, The rate of weight loss was greatest in the first weeks of therapy

( 14563)
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for bot}isdrug and placebo subjects and tended to decrease in succeed-
ing weeks.

TFour, the natural history of obesity is measured in years, whereas the
studies cited are restricted to a few weeks duration; thus the total
impact of drug-induced weight loss over that of diet alone must be
considered clinically trivial.

The limited usefulness of these agents must be measured against any
possible risk factors inherent in their use. :

Five, the amphetamines including methamphetamine have been
widely abused in numerous populations. 1t is thus in the best interests
of the public health to limit the use of amphetamines as far as is
compatible with adequate therapy. This is both to minimize the risk of
dependence in susceptible patients being treated and to decrease the
amount of drugs being distributed, since widespread prescription of
a dependence-producing drug inevitably increases the possibility for
diversion to nonmedical use and abuse.

Six. Evidence presented for newer “anorectic” congeners of the
amphetamine family and nonamphetamine drugs do not set them apart
as having higher benefit or lower risks than older available drugs.

Seven. There was no evidence in the data reviewed which showed
that combination of an antiobesity agent with other drugs inerease the
benefits or reduce the risk of the antiobesity agent. .

Eight. Obesity is not an indication for the parenteral use of these
agents. The principal recommendations of that committec were:
““One. That all antiobesity agents reviewed be placed in schedule 1I
on the basis of abuse potential.

An exception was made for fenfluramine which was a new drug
and about which little was known at that time.

Two. That combinations of antiobesity drugs with other drugs be
removed from the market.

Three. That parenteral amphetamines may not be approved for use
in the treatment of obesity.

Four. That the single-entity oral antiobesity preparations including
the amphetamines be permitted to be labeled for restricted use in
obesity provided that they are used in association with a specific
weight reduction program and that the clinically trivial contribu-
tion of these drugs to the overall weight reduction is properly em-
phasized and that the limited usefulness of these agents must
measured against any possible risk factors such as nervousness, in-
somia, and drug habituation that might be inherent in their use.

Moreover, these agents can only be recommended for use in the
treatment of obesity in a carefully monitored and specified weight re-
duction program under the care of a physiclan.

What to do about these drugs has troubled the medical officers of
the TDA for quite some time. For example, Drs. Elmer Gardper and
Barrett Scoville, Director and Deputy Director, respectively, of
FDA’s Division of Neuropharmacological Drug Products, stated in
1972 at a symposium:

Ultimately, we must ail weigh the potential benefits of these drugs agalnst
the risks of the drugs. Here we hope that in glving your opinion, you will con-
elder risk in its largest sense—not =simply the innatie clinieal toxicity of the

anorectics, but the risk to the publle health of potential abuse. We do want
to hear what these drugs mean in medical practice. But we also must think in
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the somewhat less familiar terms of drug abuse. Here s a problem from which
we caunot divorce our thinking in favor of medical considerations.

Throughout FDA’s records thete can be found a depreciation of the
usefulness of these drugs for antiobesity purposes:

Trte degree of extra weight loss was small—a few tenths of a pound a week in
many cases~-—and variatlons were great, .

Larger questions of long standing remaln nnanswered, such as the long-term
effect on morbidity and mortality of the use of anorectics. These questions are
of basie importance, since the usefuiness of the drugs depends in large part upon
the assumption that they somchow help prevent the adverse effects of obesity.

The objective of these hearings, therefore, is to ascertain the present
views of the ¥ood and Drug Administration on the safety, efficacy,
patterns of use and abuse, and the future of these drugs.

1We are particularly interested in hearing:

One, Why the first recommendation of FDA’s advisory committee
that all these drugs be placed in schedule IT was not accepted. This is
especially puzzling in view of FDA's testimony before this subcom-
mittes in 1972 that: _

Evidence presented for newer anorectic congeners of the amphetamine family

and nonamphetamine drugs do not set them apart as having higher benefit or
lowwer risks than older available drugs. (Hearings: Advertising of roprietary

Medicines, pt. 3.)

Two. Why some combination antiobesity drugs are still on the mar-
ket. On February 12, 1973, the FDA took steps to remove Eskatrol
from the market, but the drug is still being sold—$5.4 million worth at
manufacturer’s prices. :

The sales of another combination, Dexamyl, for 1975 amounted to
2.6 million. In other words, the sales of these two Smith Kline &
French drugs, which should have been removed from the market years
ago, amounted to $8 million in 1975,

The February 12, 1973 Federal Register also noted that the FDA
is aware of a study conducted for Smith Kline & French relating to
abuse potential of Eskatrol and which was not submitted to the FDA
as required by law.

. What action was taken by FDA against this violation of the law?

In the March 30, 1973 Federal Register it was announced that Smith
IKline & French had requested 2 hearing with respect to Eskatrol. The
FDA allowed the drug to continue to be marketed pending a ruling on
the request for & hearing. :

It is now 314 years later, and the hearing has not been yet held.

Whyt :
We would like to have an explanation of why it was not.

The principal problem, however, is justifying the continued exist-
ence of these drugs on the market,

Given a utility which is “clinically trivial,” to use FDA’s own term,
ancl given the very extensive list of serious risks to individuals and
society including the potential and actual abuse, questions have been
raised whether their availability for antiobesity purposes constitute a
hazard to the publie.

Dr. Thaddeus Prout, Chairman of FDA’s advisory panel on these
drugs, told our committee last Tuesday that he now favors that in
addition to placing all these drugs in schedule IT, obesity be with-
drawn as an indication for the therapeutic use of these drugs.
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EV@ look forward to hearing the views of today’s witnesses on this
subject.

Our first witness is Dr. J. Richard Crout, Director, Bureau of Drugs,
of the Food and Drug Administration.

We welcome you here this morning. Dr. Crout. If you would identify
your associates for the reporter, and for the record, so we will have
all statements appropriately and properly printed, I would appreciate
it?

STATEMENRT OF J. RICHARD CRCUT, M.D., DIRECTOR, BUREAU OF
DRUGS, FOOD AND DRUG ADMINISTRATION, ACCOMPANIED BY
RICHARD A. MERRILL, CHIEF COUNSEL, ¥DA, AND WILLIAM W,
VODRA, ASSOCIATE CHIEF COUNSEL, FDA

Dr. Crour. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

On my left is Mr. Richard A. Merrill, Chief Counsel of the Food
and Drug Administration, and on my right is Mr. William W. Vodra,
Associate Chief Counsel for Drugs of the Food and Drug Administra-
tion.

We welcome this opportunity to appear here today to discuss the
activities of the Food and Drug Administration with respect to anti-
obesity drugs. _

Previous actions by both the FDA and DEA have had an important
impact on the availability, labeling, and use of these drugs.

In spite of this, abuse of amphetamines in particular, appears to be
a continuing problem in our society. It is appropriate that additional
action in regard to amphetamines be considered at this time.

The story I will emphasize in this testimony is that the available
data, while preliminary and incomplete, indicate that the ampheta-
mines remain, among the anorectic drugs, the major offenders as drugs
of abuse.

This problem cannot be solved by invoking additional controls
under the Controlled Substances Act since these drugs are already in
schedule II, the most tightly controlled category for marketed drugs.
The only meaningful next step which can be taken is to remove the
indication for obesity from the labeling for amphetamines or to re-
move them from the market,.

FDA is working with the Drug Enforcement Agency and NIDA,
the Federal agencies with detailed information regarding drug abuse,
to develop the necessary documentation for such a position.

Abuse of amphetamines continues to oceur, with deleterious and
often devastating effects on the individual who abuses or becomes de-
pendent upon them. ' ‘

We must move ahead vigorously in addressing this important prob-
lem in drug safety.

Senator Nerson. May T ask n question. I read your statement this
morning rather quickly.

Do you know what additional documentation is required ?

I recall from your statement, if I am wrong, please say so, I believe
there is not any further necessity for large controlled, double-blind
studies beyond what has already been done, am T correct?

1 See prepared statement and appendixes of Dr. Crout beglnming at p. 14640.
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Dr. Crovut. That is correct.

Senator NeLsox. Then what additional documentation do you refer
to? : :

Dr. CrouT. We would have a legal burden of making a safety case
using the drug abuse data that are anticipated from our sister agencies
to make the case that under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic
Act, those drugs are no longer safe for their labeled use. That is a
decision which 1s contestable, a position which is contestable in a hear-
ing and later in court, so one has to have his legal ducks in a row,
g0 to speak.

Furthermore, an accompanying regulatory action would be a move-
ment of those drugs from schedule IT to schedunle 1.

Senator NersoN. Would be what?

Dr. Crour. An accompanying action in any removal from the
market would be a change from schedule II to schedule I of the Con-
trolled Substances Act, and that too requires appropriate documenta-
tion and can be challenged in court.

Senator NeLsox. When you say removal from the market, are yon
saying removal from the market for any indicated uses?

Dr. Crout. Were that to occur, yes, those drugs would be changed
from schedule IT to 1.

Senator Nerson. How does the legal situation change if the FDA
decided to remove treatment of obesity from its indicated use?

Dr. Crour. The legal situation does not change.

We would have te go through the legal process of issuing a notice of
opportunity of hearing, ang perhaps having a hearing, for that
indication,

Senator Nrrson. Are you saying that you have the same legal ques-
tion and the same problem of removing the drug from the market as
you do of changing the indicated use of the drug?

Mr. Merriry, If I ean, Mr. Chairman, let me respond to that.

Becanse there are some proven indications of these drugs for medical
treatment, if we were fo take the more drastic action of taking the
drugs off the market altogether, it is possible our burden would have
to be higher because we might have to show that the risks of abuse in
connection with the treatment of obesity outweighed any use including
legitimate use of the drug,

If we stimply removed obesity as an indication, we would make a case
based on balance of the risks and benefits for this purpose. We would
also have to decide whether that action would be sufficient, because it
would mean that the dosage form was still available in the pharmacy,
and still legally available for a physician to prescribe. -

Dr. Crout reminds me that there is no misunderstanding, that the
legal process through which we must go is precisely the seme.

The amount of evidence required to sustain our case might be
greater. :

Senator NrErson. Let me see now. ‘

1Vith respect to those drugs that are under the 1962 Kefanver amend-
ment, the Food and Drug Administration set up a procedure, and that
procedure using the National Academy of Sciences, established panels
of experts on each class of drug; right{ :

Dr. Crovur. Yes.

853-380—T7T——10
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Senator NELson. And then the drugs were classed as effective, prob-
ably effective, possibly effective, not effective ; isthat correct ?

Dr. Crour. That is correct. .

Senator Nrrso~. And for those that were classified less than effec-
tive, you were required to produce evidence of effectiveness; is that
correct ?

Dr. Crout. The manufacturer was required to provide evidence of
effectiveness; yes.

Senator NELson. Yes. .

And then if they could not prove evidence of effectiveness, they
removed it from the market, which was the consequences of all fixed
combinations of anti-infectives?

Dr. Crovur. Yes.

Mr. Merrrr. As you know, it took some time, because the manu-
facturcrs disputed whether or not the evidence they submitted satis-
fied the statutory standard.

Senator NeLsox. How does this situation differ? Certainly you could
not make a finding of effectiveness based upon the studies. It is seri-
ously questionable by the experts we have heard testify that you could
say probably effective. ‘

The best you could say is possibly effective, it would seem to me any-
way. :

Dr. Crour, That is not correct, . :

The anorectic review of 1972 reevaluated these drugs, and they are
all effective and on the market at the present time, fully evaluated by
that process.

Senator Nerson. Well, the language in that report was that the effect
was “clinically trivial,” so when you proceed under the 1938 act for
proof of safety, and under the 1962 act for efficacy, are you saying you
really think the evidence supports the conclusion that they would rank
higher than “possibly eflective”? -

Dr. Crour. That they are “possibly effective” was the judgment of
the panels.

Senator NeLso~. Possibly ¢

Dr. Crout. Possibly. We have been through the process of evaluat-
ing the National Academy’s reports, however.

That is what was done in 1972, and the committee report you read
from in your opening testimony, vour opening statement, referred to
the process that oceurred at that time.

We followed the advisory group’s recommendations and our own
anorectic review in upgrading all of those drugs to a classification of
effectiveness. - :

They do beat a placebo in causing increased weight loss in patients
who are on a diet, and this has been demonstrated for each drug for
a period of approximately 3 months in controlled trails. That was the
standard of eflectiveness adopted at that time and the standard of
effectiveness that is currently deseribed in the labeling for those drugs.

Senator Nrrson. But you do conclude now in your own statement
today that yvou have got a whole lot more knowledge about the question
of abuse and safety than youhad in 1972¢

Dr. Crovr. Yes; thers is now new information to lead us to reap-
praise the issue of safety. :
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The question raised today relates to continuing abuse, even in spite
of control of the amphetamines as scheduled.

Senator NErson. glow would you compare your judgment on am-
phetamines used for treatment of obesity, against your judgment in re-
moving a drug from the market, as the drug which was a combination
of tetracycline and novobiocin, which would be called effective in the
senze that tetracycline was effective against the target organisin prop-
erly prescribed. Your conclusion was that in combination the two
drugs were antagonistic, not additive, so you removed that combina-
tion from the market.

There was no question, I believe, about the fact that that combina-
tion would affect the appropriate target organism.

The problem was the side effects as a consequence of using novobio-
¢in and tetracycline in combination, which exposed the patient to the
side effects of the two drugs, but only tetracycline was needed.

You, as a doctor, would concede that if you were in some remote part
of the world, and if Panalba would affect the target organism, even
though the patient might get some side effects, you would use the
drug? What argument is thers for leaving the amphetamines in the
market for the treatment of obesity, when there are other waysto do it,
and when the results are clinically trivial ¢
" That is what puzzles me.

Dr. Crour. The issues in the two cases are slightly different.

" In the Panalba situation, the lack of safety applied to the patient
for whom it was prescribed.

That particular patient would get a safer drug and just as effective
if he took the tetracycline component of Panalba, rather than if he
took the combined agents, so that decision involved was a straight
benefit-risk judgment about Panalba under the Federal Food, Drug,
and Cosmetic Act, where one is thinking of effectivencss versus the
safety to the patient.

" Now, when we originally determined in 1972 that amphetamines

were effective under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, that

same benefit-risk approach taking into account what was said by the

experts, led to the conclusion that amphetamines, when used as labeled

and as directed over the short term and in the proper dose, met ap-

Eropriate standards of safety to the particular patient taking the
rug.

A new issue arises, however, when patients begin to take amphet-
amines in cxcess, or they divert it to drug sbusers, Now there is no
longer a safety-effectiveness tradeoff in the individunal patient. Rather,
it is a tradeoff in relation to societal abuse of 2 drug which would not
be considered unsafe if it were, in fact, used only as labeled under the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act.

It is this Iatter question that we have to address at this time.

Mr. Menminr., There is one other matter relating to the question,
and that is what 1s our legal posture.

That difference is that with Panalba. we had a recommendation
from an expert panel that there were not the kind of studies to show
the effectiveness that the law required, and we initiated action to re-
move that drug at that time. :

WWith amphetamines, we had a recommendation in 19703 the agency
dsked for additional data; some 200 studies were submitted; and,




14570 COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG .INDUSTRY

whether rightly or wrongly, the Agency’s experts concluded on the
basis of the dafa then in hand that it was indeed effective. Not greatly
so perhaps, but nonetheless effective, so the agency is now on record as
stating the firm eflectivencss of these drugs, as %r. Crout suggested,
is there, but the issue we are now concerned about is whether or not
that small effectivencss is substantially outweighed by the kind of
abuse and safety problems we are secing,

Senator Nrrsow. Well, there are two questions about safety: One
is the widespread abuse of the dr ug by the users who have no weight
problem, and did not get it pioscubed for a weight problem; the other
is the risks to the individual for whom it is prescribed, who then be-
comes dependent upon it. There is no supporting evidence that it has
any long-term effect at all.

Consider this question: If a new drug application were filed with
the FDA, under the safety requirements of the 1938 act and the efficacy
requiretnonts of the 1962 act, would you approve these drugs for mar-
keting ¢ Would you not be ashmtr for the effeet of their use on obesity
over a long term, a year or two at least 2 Would not you demand of the
proposed marketer that he give you controlled studies to show the
long-term effect as to obesity, to say nothing now of the possible side
effects from the ingestion of the drug?

Dr. Croct. Let us set aside the druo- abuse issue. The answer to
your question regarding long-term effectiveness is that that issue was
debated in the 1971-7T2 era, and we reached the conclusion that the
etfectivencss of this class of drugs should not be evaluated in terms of
long-term effectiveness.

The reason for that is that obesity can be considered, if T can make
an analogy, as one of several illnesses where dietary thempy is para-
mount, and the nse of o drug is adjunctive.

That is true for the m‘magement of ulcer disease, that is true for
obesity, that is true for the dietary management of diabetes in patients
who are not insulin-dependent. We have not required that drugs for
these various conditions have a perfectly demonstrated effect, a com-
pletely unequivocal demonstrated effect, on the natural lust,ory of
those discases,

They shonld be considered as an adjunctive therapy to diet for the
management of those diseases.

Now, one ean argne with that standard. A1l T can say is that the pre-
vaﬂmrr practice of medicine has been to support that standard and the
prevailing opinion of experts has been to support that standard. In
some respeets we have to face up to the fact that, while these adjunc-
tive drugs may be clinically trivial over the long term, on the average
they may also be useful, even dramatically usefnl. in some patients. In
a sense they are also the only game in town, I think if you have a
Jong-term pmhlom, and dietary management is the key to it, drugs
that are of consistent help in any way are welcome to patients and the
medical profession, providing there is not an overriding safety issue
involved.

Now, our view is today, as vou well know. that the above issue
may well have become an overrldmﬂ' safety problem for the ampheta-
mines,

We will look at whether it is an overriding problem for the non-
amphetamine anorectics also, but I suspect that a strong safety case
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against the nonamphetamine anorectics cannot be made at the present
time. :

Senator NeLsox. When you say non-amphetamine anorectics, are
you referring to the so-called congeners?

Dr. Crour. Yes. The ones that are in schedules TIT and IV today.

“Senator Nersox. I think the testimony of some of our expert wit-
nesses is that a number of those are also addietive, highly stimulative,
and subject to abuse too.

Dr. Crotr. But I think, as we will sce from the graphs here, the
evidence is that their degree of abuse is much less than with the drugs
in schedule IT.

Senator Nerson. Well, all right.

On that point, lot me say there is nothing in the statute that I know
of that is specific about the long-term, short-term, trivial, elinically
trivial, and so forth, so one could come to the conclusion as a result of
what we know, it is clinically trivial.

As a matter of fact, it seems to me more logical that it is clinically
trivial. It is obviously subject to abuse, and it would be logical for
the FDA to tell the producer of that drug to come in and show the
long-term effect, not only from the standpoint of the safety to the
individual, but the proof of its efficacy in reducing obesity.

Dr. Crour. Again, I simply have to go back to the analogy with
many other drugs. I think your comment applies to many agents that
are intermediate between truly symptomatic remedics and those that
are truly known to be effective 1n the cure of diseases.

We have got a lot of remedies in the drug area that are useful on
oceasion, in individual patients for purposes of helping them alter
their own dietary habits, for purposes of treating transient problems.
Y think that the lack of evidence of long-term effectiveness does not
mean we should draw the conclusion they are known to be ineffective
over the long term.

It simply means a lack of knowledge.

Senator NrLsoN. That is not what the law says.

The Jaw says you have to have substantial evidence based upon well-
controlled studies, and to say that there is no proof

Dr. Crour. Such proof is there for the short term.

_ There is no requirement in the law that a drug must glter the natural
history of disease over the long term.,

Now, that can be put in the law and drastically alter the number of
drugs we have, but IE think one should discuss at length the ramifica-
tions—I think first we should consider the consequences of such a
change. We must recognize that the bulk of drugs are adjunctive to
the natural processes of healing. .

Senator NeLsox. Well, yes, but we are here dealing with a particular
class of drugs—for obesity. What other drugs is there on the market-
place that is addictive, widely abused, in which its effect may be very
specialized in individual cases, or short term—what other ones?

Dr. Crovur. Set aside the drug-abuse problem, and.

Senator NELsoN. Well, no, you have to include that, because the fact
it is addictive and widely abused increases the risk factor, making the
benefit-to-risk ratio unfavorable.

Dr. Crour. T agree with that, and our testimony is that we are pre-
pared to take action assuming & well-documented case for the abuse
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problem is shown, which we anticipate to be there. There is no question
about that. '

bSenga.tor Nerson. You anticipate that there will be strong evidence of
apuse!t

Dr. Crour. Yes; for amphetamines, I think for the class as a whole,
you will find when the facts are all in, that a distinction can be drawn
in (fthvbuse area between those drugs on schedule II and those in IIL
an .

Senator Nevsox. As you probably know, Dr, Henderson, from Ot-
tawa, Canada, who was chairman in Canada of the committee that
recommended removal of the indication of amphetamines for the
treatment of obesity appeared before this subcommittee, ¥Te has now
concluded that it should apply to the congeners, also, I believe he said,
except for fenfluramine. . : .

Idonot know whether he said that,

Dr. Crour. We will be interested in what Canada does. We are in
touch with Canada on this. :

Senator NerLsox, I think the record shows that Dr. Edwards, when
he was Commissioner, said that most studies of these preparations
showed eflicacy for short periods. The panel suggested that long-term
studies should be conduected. This was in 1970.

Have long-term studies been initiated on weight reduction, or have
producers of the drugs been requested to produce studies?.

Dr. Edwards suggested long-term studics of the effects of these drugs
6 years ago.

Dr. Crout. I am not familiar with that request.

Mr. Merrrrr. There are two parts of the question, T think, Mr, Chair-
man. :

One is whether or not there should be data from well-controlled
studies.

Senator NeLsox. Pardon? .

Mr. Merrrrr. I think there are two parts of the question. One i3
whether or not there should be data from adequate and well-controlied
studies, covering long periods, versus very short periods.

Sduch data covering short periods of use were submitted and evalu-
ated, .

Senator Nrrsox. Such studies were what?

Mcr. MerriLL. Such studies were submitted to the agency.

Senator NersoN. Long-term ?

Mr. Merrror., Noj T think it is true the mannfacturers have not dene
that so far as we know. I think they may now be doing it, but to span
the length of a lifetime——

Senator Nersox. I am niot even talking about lifetime,

I amtalking of 1 year,2 vears,

Dr. Crour, Why is that different from 5 years, 10 years, 20 years?

Senator Nersox. Well, if something is good for only 20 seconds, you
ought to remove it from the market.

If vou are talking about an impact of a half-ponnd a week, treated
for 12 or 13 weeks and then the patient ends up in the same position
12 months later S

Dr. CrouT. How do you know that he ends up in the same position
12 months later? : ‘ '

Senator Nersox. We do not knov.
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Dr. Crour. That is an unknown. o T '

Senator Nerson. That is right, but your own panel says that the
effectiveness is clinically trivial. L

You seem to be taking the position that the burden is on the public
to prove that the drug does not work, rather than on the company to
prove it is effective. _ ' .

Dr. Crout. Noj I am taking the position that we adopted a stand-
ard of effectiveness urged on us by our advisers, and which represents
as far as we can tell the prevailing opinion of experts in the manage-
ment of obesity, namely that a reasonable standard for effectiveness
of drugs in the anorectic class is that they be shown to be effective
over the short time, and that is a reasonable standard in our opinion.

That was a ground rule of the 1972 review with Dr. Prout, and it
was Dr. Prout’s committee’s opinion at that time. That was the stand-
ard adopted when these drugs were upgraded to effective.

The labeling states clearly this limitation in the labeling.

Senator Nrrsow. What I read from was the report of the NAS/ NRC

panel itself, which stated that most studies of these preparations are
for short periods, and the panel suggested controlied studies for the
long-term facts. : .

What I am asking is, Has the FDA requested such studies?

Dr. Crour. That was the NAS/N Rg} panel’s opinion, and it was
silent on who should do that.

Senator NeLsox. It was what?

l?ir. Crovur. That report is silent as to who should do such long-term.
studies. '

Senator Nersoy, You mean to say if they are silent, the FDA is.

disabled from proceeding?
Dr. Croor. No: I am saying we reviewed it with eare, our panel of
experts and Dr. Prout reviewed it, and they did not support that rec-

ommendation. A reaonable standard for marketing of a different type.
was adopted, and that is a standard which is appropriate in our judg-

ment for a variety of drugs that are adjunctive therapy to diets—
exactly the same standard that applies to the ulcer field and the dia-
betes field. ) .

Senator Nersox, Well, as you are aware, Dr. Prout who did head
up a panel in 1972, this week in his testimony said—I quote in part,
and I ask the other appropriate parts be printed in the record at this
point—“Second, it has been demonstrated that the amphetamines
and their related compounds have such trivial indications for the

treatment of obesity that we should look at questions of whether or,

not obesity should be withdrawn as indieation for their use,” and then
later on, he said: “I would therefore recommend that obesity be with-
drawn as an indication of therapeutic use of these drugs.”

_.[The information follows:]

The second one, of course, is predictable and that sales of amphetamines like
compounds which were not placed on Schedule IT bad a marked increase In use,
but not completely unexpected rise in sales.

*One of these was cited on television for its particularly aggressive promo-
tHiomal techniques, of one company, that is for its rather high increase in sales.

These drugs are now known to be subject to abuse, and it is ou the list of the
recommendations if you look back, of the Ad Hoe Committee.

That would be my first recommendation, that the scheduling of all of _these'_

drugs with abuse potential be placed on IL
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Secondly, it bas been demonstrated that the amphetamines and their related
compounds have such trivial indications for the treatment of obesity, that we
should look at guestions of whether or not obesity should be withdrawn as an
indication for their use.

This is the major medical excuse for the manufacture of amphetamines, and
the risk of overproduction far exceeds the benefits that might be cited through
anecdote of a few patients who, in assoclation with rigid dieting, have believed
that the so-called anorectics were the causative agent in thelr particular weight
reduction.

1 would, therefore, recommend that chesity be withdrawn as an indication
for the therapeutic nse of these drugs.

This action has in fact been taken by Canada ang other countries, and my own
State of Maryland, thig action was taken there, and I think it is a model law
that might be Indicated in Federal statute, that it be duplicated in Federal
statute.

Dr. Crotr. May I comment on that?

Senator NELsox. Surely.

Dr. Crour. Dr. Prout ig the valued chairman of our indocrinology
and metabolism advisory committee. He is also a personal friend. We
are in touch. T have not had a chance to talk with him on the phone
since that testimony, but let me assure you that his opinions will be
taken into account by us.

I suspect, though, if he has changed his mind since 1972, he is chang-
ing his mind for the same reason I am testifying. It relates to the safoty

roblems in spite of control under schedule 11, and not to any change
in the degree of effectiveness of these agents through the years.

Senator NeLson. Of course, eflectiveness under the statute, as you are
well aware, in vague situations such as this one is a judgmental factor.

There isnot a very good test such as one would get with an antibiotic
versus a particular target organism which could be demonstrated con-
clusively in the lab and in the treatment of the discases of the particu-
lar patient.

I agree and think myself personally that the Food and Drug Ad-
ministration shonld have asked for some more evidence of its long-term
effect, because I doubt that you can justify massively dosing people
with a highly stimulating central nervous system drug without some
really substantial benefits, and the substantial benefits have never been
proven, Are vou saying that even if it is highly stimulative to the cen-
tral nervous system, is addictive, and has trivial elinical results, we
think it meets the standards of safety ?

Dr. Crotr. I am not saying that.

Senator NeLson, That is where we are at.

Dr. Crour. I am saying that the standard of effectiveness adopted is
cone relating to short-term use. : .

The standard of safety is that the benefits justify the risks to the in-
dividual. Were there no issue of abuse, then one would, I think, have
Tittle concern about the safety of these drugs for that use.

Today’s issue is whether the degree of abuse continuing with drugs
that are under schedule IT of the Controlled Substances Act is reason
to take away that indication, or take them off the market.

Senator Nersox. Would you not agree, though, that this is a seman-
tic question, you cannot separate safety from efficacy ¢

They are together. It is one ball of wax. There is no way to separate
them. The benefit-to-risk ratio is based upon safety and efficacy,
and it is all one question,
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Dr. Croor. They are intimately related, but different, and there are
different standards that appropriately apply, depending on the kind
of evidence you want in the two areas.

The issue of adequate well-controlled trials is paramount to a
determination of effectiveness. The issue of adequate well-controlled
trials is not paramount to a determination of safety.

We will take information related to safety anywhere we get it.
Tt does not have to come out of well-controlled trials.

In looking at the two together, I agree with you the benefit-risk
deciston involves safety and effectiveness together.

Senator Nrrson. It seems to me that we have got to be looking at
it together.

Dril CrouT. The benefit-risk decision requires they be looked at
together. _

Senator Nerson. But then you have to look at safety and efficacy.
Everybody would agree that chloramphenicol is a very potent drug,
very dangerous drug; however, according to the NAS/NRC study,
it is indicated only when the patient is seriously ill, his life is threat-
ened with disease, and no other antibiotic will work, so you have a
case in which a drug, that everybody will say on its face is unsafe,
but it is not unsafe in relationship to this patient, becanse the disease
is & greater threat to his life. The incidence of aplastic anemia that
may result from its use, in the one in 20,000, so you do have to look
at both together, you agree with that?

Dr. Crour. Absclutely.

- Mr. Meremr. I think what Dr. Crout is saying is just where we
begin to work with DEA to build up our case, and the focus will
be on the safety side of the equation, because it is that side of the
balance which seems to have shifted since 1972,

Senator Nrrson. All right. : :

Tt seems to me, with something as trivial as this class of drugs that
you ought to be requiring some better evidence of efficacy over the

ong period. I should imagine that widespread street use would raise
questions of safety. ,

Let me ask you another question. Dr. Henderson from Ottawa,
who was on the Canadian panel that I mentioned before, testified
that his panel recommended that the indication of obesity for this
class of drugs be removed, and this was done. He also said that only
in very limited cases, in treatment of obesity--I think that is a fair
paraphrasing—wonld he give fenfluramine, becanse it was not ad-
dictive; that, in fact, lots of patients rejected it because they got
upset stomachs or something else unpleasant; that there was no way
that it would be abused; and in limited situations, he did use
fenfluramine.

Have there been any studies done to compare the effectiveness of
fenfluramine vis-a-vis the amphetamine congeners to see how effective
fenfluramine is?

Dr. Crout. There are studies comparing a variety of anorectics,
one with the other.

Senator NeLsox. They are underway now?

Dr. CrouT. No, they are done.

One of the purposes of the anorectic review in 1972 was to look
at all of those studies simultaneously, and when you put them all
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~together, our judgment is that from an effectiveness standpoint, all
drugs in the whole class are roughly comparable.

The effectiveness of fenfluramine in reducing weight is roughly com-
parable to any other drug in the class.

Senator Nersox. Do these studies show any indication of addictive-
ness of the fenfluramine?

. Dr. Crour, Fenfluramine went on the market for the first time at that
time so the studies we have relating to abuse potential for fenfluramine
were animal studies only at that time.

Senator Nersox. Did the animals help to self-ingest themselves?

Dr. Crour. I believe they did not with fenfluramine. The pharma-
folo of fenﬂuramme is more hke that of a depressant than g stimu-
Jantdru

Now, fn important question right now is whether in street use, after
.3 years of experience, fenfluramine is turning out to be abused, ior
_ Whatever Teason.

[ Senator Nersow. Is there any indieation that it is?

. Dr. Crour. I would have to defer to DEA on that.

The prominent safety issue with these drugs relates to their abuse.
.The intent of the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act has predomi-
-nantly been considered hlstorlcally to protect the individual receiving

drugs. The intent of the Controlled Substance Act is to control the
abuse problem. What we are trying to say at this point is that the Con-
trolled Substances Act is not totally successful in controlling the abuse
problem, certainly with amphetamines, and perlmps wyith others in this

-¢lass. Therefore, we should now go back under the Federal Food, Druy,

and Cosmetic Act and consider abuse to socmty as pa.rt of the benefit-
risk equation.

Now, that is & proper use of these two laws in our judgment. But if
abuse per se is a reason for taking drugs off the market, you do not need
-a Controlled Substances Act.

The Controlled Substances Act is for the purpose of controlling the
~abuse of useful drugs, and while you may consider this usefulness to
be minimal, they are nseful in the treatment of obesity.

. Senator NErsox. What is the tool under the act for enforcing the
law respecting abuse of legally marketed drugs?
 Mr. MerrriL. Under the statute?

Mr. Gonpox. Yes.

Mr. Merriir, The statute permits FDA to change the labeling to
~omit an indication. The other remedy the statute provides is fo remove

the drug from the channels of commerce.

We do not now have a useful mechanism for restricting availability
-of marketed drugs,

Mr. Gorpox. Nor any mechanism for proceeding against somebody
‘ \vho is using the drug for nonindicated usc?

fr. MerrILL, We generally speaking, have said the Federal Food,
and Drug Act does not prohibit an individual physician from pre-
seribing a drug for an unapproved use.

We have onc case now pending in which we are proceeding against

a clinie in the South that has ordered the shipment, for un‘tpproved
uses, of o series of drugs for a continuing kind of therapy. We have
taken a position in court—it has not vet Deen adjudicated—that tha

‘kind of trafiicking in unapproved use of the drug is tantamount to
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causing the drug to be misbranded, in other words, that it is illegal
under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. ‘ . )
“Mr. Gernox. I assume, then, that most of the problem respecting the
‘misuse of drugs is left up to State medical societies, is that correct?

Mr. Vobra. And the civil law, malpractice lav. S

Senator NErson. The reason we raise this is the testimony of Dr.
Gellert from Suffolk County, the Town of Huntington, N.Y., popula-
‘tion of 200,000, 250 doctors in a remarkable agreement of unanimity
‘respected the wish that they would not prescribe amphetamines for
-obesity, and none of them doso. -~ o

There are two doctors who do not belong to the medical society in
the town. There was one fat pill doctor before, and now they have two,
and they average 800 to 1,200 patients per weel. o .

I asked him what the fee charge was, he said he did niot know.

T think it would be worth finding out, but a certain percent of these
patients are of course' ending up in the other physicians’ offices with
problems. : S ' ‘ R

The lineup outside the clinic consists of all kinds of very thin peo-
ple. Obviously you cannot have 800 a week who, if they arc not obese,
-neither are they narcoleptic adults or hyperkinetic kids.

Now, what is the mechanism, or is there not any for dealing with
a casoe in which these two doctors in that place are abusing the drugs?
"Their patients just come in, get a prescription, and go out.

Ts there any mechanism for stopping that? . : .

Mz, Merriin. I read Dr. Gellert’s testimony, and he suggested that
the FDA consider doing what it attempted to do with methadone.

Woe tried to restrict its availability, and we were sued by the Ameri-
can Pharmaceutical Association, the association of pharmacists who
viewed that as a threat to their access in drugs generally. -

The district court and the court of appeals here in Washington
struck down those regulations, so I guess my answer is the same answer
I cave you before, the mechanism available to the FDA under the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act is to eliminate the indication
or the use of drugs altogether.

Mr. Voora. I might add that T used to be at DEA, and while I was
there and I am sure to this day, they do work on cases of physicians
selling prescriptions or drugs to nonbona fide patients, where there is
1o doctor-patient relationsiip whatsoever. That is an exceedingly
costly approach to use. DEA does not have the resources to police all
of the physicians in this country, with all of the various drugs, not
only the amphetamines, but narcotics, and so forth. :

Senator Nerson. But in these two cases, I would gather from the
‘testimony, that it is pretty clear they are in the business of making a
lot of money prescribing addictive drugs to people who do not need
them at all for obesity.

. Mr. Vopga. If they can establish there is not a bona fide relationship,
it i1s a criminal offense, a felony offense of the Controlled Substance
Act, and they can obtain a conviction in the Federal courts.

_ The Supreme Court has upheld the conviction of a physician trafiick-
ing methadone, who in 1 day wrote 240 prescriptions for methadone.
The Supreme Court said the physician was subject to the act, It is
basically a resource question, not a legal one.
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Dr. Crovr. I am told there are several States that have innovative
new laws in which the State medical society is asked on occasion to
make judgments about professional practice of individual doctors,
whether or not they belong to the State medical society, and based upon
the recommendations of that committee, the State will take action
in revoking a license. So there are some innovative State laws taking

Jace,
P You might want to look into that.

What we are saying is that under the Controlled Substances Act,
when the Government has the facts, it can move against a physiclan,
but this is relatively difficult.

Senator Nrwsox. All right.

You may proceed.

Dr. Crour. Fine. ;

OBESITY AS A HEALTI{ PROBLEM

Before turning to the anorectic drugs, it is important that we recog-
nize the public health significance of obesity. Although some may
believe that excess weight is merely of cosmetic significance, the fact
is that obesity is America’s No. 1 nutritional problem. Obesity sig-
nificantly increases the risk of a number of diseases and complicates
many other conditicns.

It is usually chronic and is difficult to treat, Successful therapy
depends upon vigilance and effort throughout the patient’s lifetime.
In testimony before the Senate Committee on Nutrition and Human
Needs, on July 27, 1976, the Assistant Secretary for Health, Depart-
ment of Health, Education, and Welfare (DHEW), Dr. Theodore
Cooper stated: In recent years obesity has become a public health
problem of considerable importance in the United States. Approxi-
mately 20 percent of all adults are overweight to a degree that may
interfere with optimal health and longevity. Obesity aggravates
cardiovascular disease and osteoarthritis and increases the liability to
hypertension, atherosclerosis, hernia, and gallbladder disease, Over-
welght also may facilitate the emergence of latent diabetes in pre-
disposed individuals as they approach an advanced age and adds to
the hazards of surgery; it makes for postural derangement, and in ex-
treme cases, it is the cause of obesity dyspnea with pulmonary insuf-
ficiency. It is also of interest that the mortality from cirrhosis of the
liver in obese males is 249 percent of the expected,

Medicoactuarial statistics make it quite clear that the obese do not
live as long as the lean. The chief causes of death among overweight
individuals are cardiovaseular-renal diseases, diabetes, and disorders
of the liver and biliary tract. The burden of obesity is not borne equally
among all segments of socicty, In the United States, 1t is more likely
to be found in the lower socio-economic strata; this association is
particularly marked in poor women and to a lesser extent in middle
class males. '

Again, T would emphasize the statistical importance of obesity in
our population and the strong need for and potential benefits of sys-
tematic preventive action beginning in early childhood.
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ANORECTIC DRUGS

The successful treatment of obesity requires only one essential ther-
apeutic measure—that the patient take in fewer calories than he or
she needs for a given level of exercise so that the stored fat in the
body is gradually Jost as it is burned as body fuel. All supportive meas-
ures for the management of obesity—including group therapy—e.g.,
weight-watchers—special diets, jogging, and drugs—have as their
sole purpose assisting the patient to eat less or to increase his or her
level of exercise or both. The pharmacological action of drugs in the
anorectic class is to produce anorexia, that is, loss of appetite, and
thereby to assist the patient in restructuring his or her dietary habits.

There are currently 12 drug entities approved for prescription
use in the United States for the treatment of obesity. Three of these,
d,l-amphetamine, dextroamphetamine, and methamphetamine have
been in clinical use since the 1930, Six additional anorectic drugs
were introduced in the period between 1935 and 1962 before the
Kefauver-Harris Amendments : Benzphetamine, phenmetrazine, phen-
dimetrazine, phentermine, chlorphentermine, and diethylpropion. The
remaining three—fenfluramine, chortermine and mazindol—were ap-
proved for marketing by FDA in 1973, All of these, except mazindol,
are related in chemical structure, all have central nervous system ef-
j{\cts, and, today, all are scheduled under the Controlled Substances

ct. :

REGULATION OF ANORECTIC DRUGS

Before highlighting the major past actions of the FDA, it is worth
emphasizing that the powers and responsibilities of the Federal
Government to regulate anorectic drugs are shared by the Drug En-
forcement Administration—DEA-and FDA. In addition, individual
States have passed laws and regulations governing abusable drugs.
The FDA controls the approval of new drugs for marketing, regulates
initial and revised labeling, and recommends to the DEA the selection
of an appropriate schedule for a drug under the Controlled Sub-
stances Act—CSA. In addition, the FDA provides to DEA informa-
tion on legitimate medieal usage of schedule ¥I drugs which DEA
nses in setting production quotas. While the placing of a drng into a
particular category under the CSA is the ultimate responsibility of
DFEA, it is done only on recommendation from FDA after careful re-
view by the FDA scientific staff, consultants and the Controlled Sub-
stances Advisory Committee. .

The DEA has the nltimate authority to schedule drugs under the
CSA. to establish qnotas on these drngs in schedules I and IT, to
monitor the domestic production and distribution of controlled drugs,
to regulate their importation and exportation, and to enforce the
provisions of the CSA. In selected eases, DEA can act against the
preseribing and dispensing of controlled drugs by physicians by in-
voking penalties against those who are acting outside the legitimate
practice of medicine. . _

The National Institute on Drng Abuse—NIDA-—and, in some areas,
DEA fund programs to study the potential and actual abuse of drugs,
including anorectics. NIDA also funds programs to treat and prevent
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drug dependence. At the State level, licensing boards for physicians,
pharmacists and pharmacies, hospitals, and other health care units
also can influence the preseribing and dispensing practices of health
professionals. Furthermore State and local law enforcement agencies,
many of which are actively supported by DEA and the Law Fnforce-
ment Assistance Administration, police the diversion and illicit trafiic
of controlled drugs. o

Communication among these Federal and State agencies is main-
tained by regular meetings of the involved officials at both the staff and
policy levels, The Interagency Committee on Drug Control, as an
example, is a working group which includes membership from FDA,
NIDA, and DEA. An FDA/DEA liaison staff group also meets
regularly, In addition, the Commissioner of Food and Drugs, the Ad-
ministrator of DEA, and the Director of NIDA meet personally to
discuss policy issues. There is also extensive communication between
the field forces of FDA and DEA and their counterparts in State law
enforcement and health agencies.

FDA ACTIONS FROM 1560 THROUGH 1971

The Food and Drug Administration has for many years supported
stringent controls on the amphetamines. In the early 1960’, prior to
any clear Congressional mandate, the FDA. undertook investigation
and prosecution of traffickers in amphetamines, The 1965 Drug Abuse
Control amendments to the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act
provided stronger regulation over the manufacture and distribution of
dangerous drugs, including certain stimulant drugs, and in February
1966 FDA cstablished a separate Bureau of Drug Abuse Control to
carry out these amendments. In the first 2 years of the program,
FDA earried out over 2,000 criminal investigations, made more than
1,300 arrests, and handled about 300 criminal cases. The FDA made,
in addition, approximately 1,100 accountability investigations result-
ing in 108 civil seizures of depressant and stimulant drugs. Nearly 600
million dosage units of these drugs were removed from the market-
place because no accurate records, as required by the law, were kept
by manufacturers. :

In April 1968, the Bureau of Drug Abuse Control was merged with
the Bureau of Narcotics of the Treasury Department to create the
Bureau of Narcotics and Dangerous Drugs—BNDD—of the Depart-
ment of Justice. In 1973, BNDD became the Drug Enforcement
Agency. In October 1970 the Controlled Substances Act—CSA—was
enacted and added an important new dimension to the control of
abusable drugs. ‘

The CSA originally scheduled only four anorectic drugs (amphet-
amine, dextroamphetamine, methamphetamine, and phenmetrazine}),
and these were listed in schedule TII. Tnjectable methamphetamine
was controlled in schedule II. In 1971, in response to proposals by
BNDD, FDA recommended that these anorectic drugs all be trans-
forred to schedule IL. Prompt action by BNDD in making these con-
trols effective resulted in (a) eliminating refills on prescriptions, (b}
requiring all prescriptions to be in writing, (c) subjecting manufac-
turers, - distributors, and dispensers to more stringent seeurity
requirements for storing these drugs, (d) limiting production to
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Government-established quotas, (e) having all shipments among man-
ufacturers, wholesalers, and retailers be done on special BNDD order
forrms, copies of which were to be immediately provided to BNDD,:
() prohibiting import and export of the drugs without prior BNDD
permission, and {g) requiring that reports of inventories and all
transactions be sent to BNDD.

Concurrent with these actions, FDA has carried out an active pro-.
gram of surveillance over the advertising of these drugs. Since May
1966, 38 legal, regulatory, and advizory actions related to their promo- -
tion have occurred. Of these actions, 27 have been initiated in the Iast 4
vears, These have included two product seizures, three remedial “Dear
Doctor™ letters; and one rome({ial advertisement. Common causces of
actions by FDA in regard to the advertising of these drugs have heen
inadequate prescribing information; unwarranted extension of the
indications to special groups of patients such as hypertensives, dia-
betics, and teeragers; implied claims of usefulness beyond the indi-
cated short-term use of a few weeks; and misleading promotion which
atternpts to understate the potential for abuse,

The FDA advertising rules require that all promotional labeling
and advertisements for these drugs meet the usual requirements for
prescription drugs and, in addition, display the appropriate CSA
control symbol. :

FDA ACTIOXNS FROM 1972 TO TIHIIE PRESENT . THFX ANORECTIC REVIEW

“ Mr. Chairman, as you know, the Kefauver-Harris amendments re-
quired that FDA review for effectiveness all drugs previously ap-
proved on the basis of safety between 1938 and 1962, For the anorectic
drugs the Agency elected to review the whole class at one time go that-
the same standards would be applied to each drug. The amphetamines
were included in the review even though they had been marketed prior:
to 1938,

The overall review included not only a detailed statistical analysis
of all of the controlled studies in our files relating to the effectiveness
of these drugs in obesity, but also meetings with consultants and ad-
visory groups.

An obviously important consideration in reviewing this class of
drugs was the general standard to be applied in determining effective-
ness, It was well recognized then, as it is todayv, that permanent weight
loss over the long term is the desired goal of anv treatment program
for obestty and that proof of such long-term effectiveness is lacking
for any of the adjunctive measures used in treating patients with
obesity. This does not imply that all adjunctive measures are neces-
sarily ineffective—only that proof of long-term effectiveness is not
available from adequate and well-controlled trials. In the case of
anorectie drugs, long-term trials would be very expensive and difficult
to perform in view of the many other factors relating to patient moti-
vation which wounld have to be controlled, or at least measured and
accounted for in the statistical analysis of the results.

. The problem' of the standard of effectiveness to be required for
marketing has been discussed repeatedly within the FDA and with
our consultants. The standard we have adopted is that a demonstra-
tion of effectiveness should depend upon a finding in adequate and
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well-controlled trials that patients taking the drug sustain a statis-
tically significant greater degree of weight loss than patients taking
a placebo. While it would obviously be of value to know with certainty
the effect of the drug on the natural history of the disease, we have
considered this to be a public health question which an individual drug
firm cannot reasonably be expected to answer in the context of eval-
uating its particular produet.

The approach taken in conducting the anorectic review was dis-
cussed by Dr. Henry E. Simmons, the former Director of the Bureau
of Drugs, in his testimony before this subcommittee on December 13,
1972, and I would like to restate his description of ite magnitude:

The scope of the program was ambitious, and involved over 1,000 volumes of
datn concerned with twelve single entities. 'The drug products in which these
entities were present, either alone or in combination, were marketed by 40 firms.
Over 200 double-blind and controlied studies of efficacy which had been carried
out on almost 10,000 subjects were included in the review.

Individnal patient data sheefs were coded and key punched to facilitate eom-
puter analysis. This prodaced over 70,000 computer cards, representing over
70.000 patient visits of the 10.000 snbjects. Kach card included certain patient
characteristics as well as changes in weight, blood pressure, pulse, and other
possible adverse effects from visit to visit. The cards contained over 4 million

' units of information. Programs were then written to permit automatic statistical

| analysis in order to determine what effect the active drug had when compared

with the placebo under “double-blind” contrelled conditions.

| These studies were then evaluated by our medical staff to determine

1 whether there was, for each drug entity, substantial evidence that
patients taking the drug sustained on the average a greater degree
of weight loss over a 12-week period than patients on a placebo, The
12-week period was selected because it was the longest period for
which there was reasonably comparable data on all of the drug entities
in the review.

The results of this review were presented to FDA consultants dur-
ing two meetings in 1972. This group was chaired by Dr. Thaddeus E.
Prout, professor of medicine at Johns Hopkins University School of
Medicine. Their recommendations were, among others, as follows:

1. The single-entity anorectic drugs including the ampheta-
mines should “be permitted to be labeled for restricted use in
obesity provided that they are used in association with a specific
weight reduction program and that the clinically trivial contri-
bution of these drugs to the overall weight reduction is properly
emphasized.”

2, The future approval of anorectic drngs shonld be “based on
demonstration of efficacy or measured by statistical superiority
of the drug over placebo in trials using FDA recommended pro-
tocols.” The group did not recommend that demonstration of a
long-term effect on the natural history of obesity be necessary for
marketing. '

3. ANl drugs in the anorectic class except fenfluramine should
“he placed in schedule IT on the basis of abuse potential.” )

As a recult of this review, the following actions were taken by FDA in
1972-T3: | ' '

1. FDA required that the anorectic drugs be relabeled to empha-
size necessary warning information about their potential for
abuse, and also to reflect accurately the indications for which they
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were judged to be effective and to have an acceptable benefit-to-
risk ratio, that is, marcolepsy, minimal brain dysfunction, and
short-term adjunctive therapy in obesity. These conclusions were
published in the December 1972 issue of the FDA Drug Bulletin
which was distributed to some 600,000 health professionals.

2. We determined there was no place for parenteral ampheta-
mines in medical practice and these products were removed from
the market in 1978.

3. We took the position that preparations containing ampheta-
mines in combination with other drugs—such as barbiturates,
vitamins, and tranquilizers-—failed to meet FDA’s combination
drug policy and were, therefore, ineffective as fixed combinations.
Beginning in March 1973, procedures were begun to remove these
from the market. A group of small manufacturers brought legal
action to contest this action, but on December 28, 1973, the U.S.
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit upheld FDA’s order.
(North American Pharmacal v. Department of Health, Educa-
tion, and Welfare; 491 F2d 546.) At the same time, several other
manufacturers sought formal hearings on the withdrawal of their
products from the market. T'wo products in this category remain
unresolved at the present time. The agency has denied a hearing
on one of them, Dexamyl, but this denial 1s stayed pending judi-
clal review, The hearing request on the other product, Eskatrol,
is still under review.

4. We recommended to DEA in 1973 that all of the drugs in the
anorectic class he scheduled under the CSA. Previous to this
recommendation, only the amphetamines and phenmetrazine were
under the CSA: these were i schedule 11, The advisory group
headed by Dr. Pront had recomnmended, as T mentioned, that all
of the anorectics, with the exception of fenfluramine, also be
controlled in schedule IT. After reviewing all of the information,
however, we felt that the medical and seientific facts available
at that time conld not support this position since evidence of
sigmificant_strect abuse was not available for all drugs in the
anorectic elass. Consecuently, the agency recommended that seven
of the anorectics be controlled in schedule ITI on the basis of
abuse potential even in the absence of ¢clear evidence of significant
abuse. These drugs were chlorphentamine, benzphetamine, phen-
dimetrazine, chlortermine, mazindol, diethylpropion, and phen-
termine. Ultimately, the latter two drugs were placed by DEA
along with fenfluramine in schedule IV, Given the nature of the
data_svailable at that time, we believe our scheduling recom-
mendations were medieally proper and responsible. Additional
information has. of course, been steadily accruing since that
time, some of which, for examaple, Dr. Jasinski’s studies at NTDA’s
Addiction Research Center, have been disenssed in recent tosti-
mony before this subcommittee. DEA is in the process of analyz-
ing this new information on the anorectics and we look forward
to their report.

Since 1973, the FDA has developed a mechanism—through the

use of the National Preseription Audit and National Disease and
Therapeutic Index—for monitoring the utilization of certain drugs

83-060—T7—11
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at the retail pharmacy level and in the offices of selected physicians.
The trend analyses reports from this system are used for making pro-
duction quota recommendations on schedule IT drugs and for follow-
ing preseribing patterns. In addition, we follow the data from the
Drug Abuse Warning Network—DAWN—which is operated under
joint contract from DEA and NIDA. FDA depends on DEA for
speeial reports to identify abuse problems with specific drugs. Such
problems may be recognized by DEA agents in the field or through
their regional laboratory analyses or through monitoring the output
of the DAWN system. Furthermore, NIDA has o substantial program
to monitor Heit and illicit drug use through general honschold surveys
gnd through surveys of special populations—for example, high school
students—monitoring hepatitis rates, and compiling drug use data on
patients in treatment programs. Special demonstration projects or
indepth reviews are also the subject of studies at various times. In-
formation from all of these sources can be extremely usefnl in evalu-
ating the extent of abuse associated with any given drug.

CURRENT STATUS OF ANORECTIC DRUGS

Mr, Chairman, 5 vears have passed since the amplietamines and
phenmetrazine were placed in schedule IT, and 3 years have passed
since the FDA’s anorcetic review and the placing of the remainder
of these drugs in schednles TTT or IV. It is appropriate that we review
at this time the cffect of these important Federal actions on the use
and abuse of these drugs and ask ourselves whether progress has been
made, whether that progress is suflicient, and, if not, what further
might be done in the future.

1 would first like to discuss the effect of these actions on the pre-
scribing of anorcetic drugs as measured by the number of preserip-
tions filled in pharmacies. Appendix I shows the prescribing trends
for anorcectic drugs from 1964 to 1976, During the period from 1971
through 1973 there was o particularly dramatie decline in the pre-
seribing of amphetamines,

Senator Nenson. Let me interrupt you for 1 minute.

Did we scttle the fenfluramine question?

Dr. Croor. Tts effectiveness is essentially equal to all of the other
drugs in the class.

Senator Nersox. You said that you would rely on the DEA to deter-
mine whether it is addictive, or whether it is being used in the streets?

Dr, Croor. Yes. ‘

This was a major perioid of Tederal action. The number of manu-
facturers of these drugs also dropped considerably during that period.
Since 1973 the usage of amphetamines has remained fairly constant
at a rate of abont one-fifth that of the peak year in 1965, The non-
amphetamine anorectic drugs have increased in popularity since 1971
and are now preseribed roughly twice as often as the amphetamines.
The rate of prescribing of the whole class of anoreetic drugs is today
approximately 60 percent of the peak rate in the mid-1960s,

Senator NELsoN. Are not a number of those anorectics in schedules
TIT and IV just as addictive as the amphetamines?

Dr. Crotr. Potentially o, althongh perhaps not so much.
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I think when you get to schednles ITT and IV, you will sce some
interesting data on that point.

Senator Nersox. All right.

Dr. Crour. T think the answer is that we are hopeful over the Jong
term it will tnrn ouf to be true that there are members of this class
that are substantially less addictive and less attractive to abusers than
amphetamines.

Senator Nersox. ITave some studies been done on that?

Dr. Crour, Yes; that was the philosophy behind putting them in

schedutes TTI and TV instead of in IT originally.

Senator Nrrsox. Tt had Leen my impression from some of the testi-
mony that there were serious questions abont these drugs being
addictive.

Are they all central nervous system stimulants?

Dr. Crour. All potentially, yes, but ding abuse is a funny business,
where you frequently have to find out what happens in the street to
know the answer to the question.

Tt turns out there are consumer preferences, if yon will, among
those who abuse drugs, and in a real sense that test is more useful
than some of the laboratory data we get in smaller studies. Again,
these are among the issues we are disenssing with DEA,

Renator Nrersox. But there are some di{ferences between some drugs,
perhaps like fenfluramine, which may not be addictive and which is
a depressant. According to the physician from Canada, patients
did not like it, and when you have two drugs that are competing, or
three or four in the street. and one s highly preferred, it is just a
differenee between one ordmary brand and another that has more
appeal.

And then if the other three ave no longer on the street, what hap-
pens about this one that has the less appeal ?

AMr. Vonea. There are side effeets that make them more or less attrac-
tive. When we surveved in 1973 about anorectic control, we talked to
street nsers, and they termed one of the congeners “raunchy speed,”
“stuff you use only when vou run out of good stuff,” and “it is really
the dregs.” They do not like some of these things. They will vse them
only if nothing clse is available,

Semator Nersow. That is the point I ani asking. You are impressed
hy the figures that amphetamine use Lias gone down, and the congeners
have gone up. My question is not whether amphetamines are prefer-
able to the use of eongeners, but whether or not they are addietive.
Tf, in fact, that is the only one, that is the question that has to be
answered, because if that is the only one available, and it is addictive,
it will be used.

Dr. CrovT, Yes; let’s go on perhaps to the next paragraph, which
1 think will Le of interest to this question.

1 would now like to turn to the issue of abuse of the anorectic
drugs.

Before doing so, however, T must emphasize the limitations of the
data currently available for presentation. As I previonsly noted, an
analysis of the abuse potential and actual abuse of the anoreeties
is underway by DIA, and we look forward to receiving their findings.

My comments today ave, therefore, hased only on gross data from
the DAWN system. B3y the way of background, the DAWN system
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lists “mentions™ of a drug during the contact of an individual at cer-
tain crisis centers—including “IHot Lines”--emergency rooms, and
medical examiners or coroners offices throughout the country.

The “mention” of a drug can thus range from a telephone call to an
overdose death. It should also be noted that “mentions™ of drugs fre-
quently oceur in combination. A specifie drug is not necessanly the
cause of the episode. For example, if amphetamine is mentioned in an
emergency room contact, the person may have, as his primary prob-
lem, an overdose of heroin but may also have taken an amphetamine.

More sophisticated analysis is thus necessary before a full picture is
available of the soctetal problems associated with anorectic abuse.

With these limitations in mind, I would like to refer to appendixes
IT and ITI to make two basic points,

Appendix IT is a bar graph which shows the ratio of total mentions
of anorectic drugs in the DAWN system from July 1973 to December
1975, divided by the number of prescriptions for these drugs during
this period.

Senator Nrrson. What are the years?

Dr. Croor. That is the total. We took all years lumped together,
1073 to 1975. The bar graph for amphetamines is the total nunmber of
DAWN mentions during the years 1073, 1074, 1975, all lumped to-
gether, divided by the number of prescriptions for these drngs during
this 3-year period.

You can see the left har graph relates to amphetamines, the next one
to Preludin, and then at the bottom, the other drugs in the elass,

This ratio can be considered as a crude index of the derree of abuse,
that is, total DAYWN mentions, per given amount of drug dispensed
through legitimate sales at the pharmacy level.

Mr. Gorpox, Dy, Crout, DAVWN includes only tlic people who appear
in clinics or emergency rooms, and that docs not necessarily reflect who
is abusing the drug; that is, how many people are abusing the drug.

Many people who abuse drugs do not go to these places. They abuse
them in their homes, and they do not go to clinies afterward.

Dr. Crovr. This is again the only quantitative index of drug abuse
going on in the country today on a national hasis, Tt s not meant to in-
clude all episodes, but it ought to be a reasonable index of the amonnt
of drug abuse activity going on.

Me. Voora, I think there is another point about DAWN data, If
you look at the population of abusers and users of the central stimulant
nervous systemn drugs, and assume that only a portion will go to points
that will get them into DATYN collecting network, this is no reason to
sugpect a higher proportion of amphetamine users over other stimnlant
drug vsers will go into the DAWN system. Thus, if a proportionate
number of people who are abusing each of the anorectics are coming in,
then at least DAWN does give yvou from among that sample, a relative
difference of levels of abuse among the various preparations which is
shown in bar graph 2.

]_M_r. %?rom)ox. Tt only tells us about those who get sick enough to go to
clinics?

Mr. Vopra. That is right, but this is no reason to suspect an ampheta-
mine user will get more sick than a user of diethylpropion or any other
anorectic, if the pharmacology is fairly similar,
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Dr. Crour. There are other sensing systems in our society that pro-
vide estimates of the degree of drug abuse.

The National Institute on Drug Abuse has information on data from
houschold surveys, and surveys in schools, and that is among the infor-
mation we want to gather. .

I cannot present those data today. In any event, I think it is fair to
say, having pointed out the limitations, that the total number of
DAWN mentions is an index of abuse, strect abuse in our society.

Senator NrrLsox. Just one second.,

What do the ratios mean on that chart ?

Dr. Crour. These are total mentions of abuse divided by total dis-
tribution of drugs during that period.

Senator Nersox. Total distribution?

Dr. Crovr. Total DAWN mentions, total incidence related to abuse,
divided by sales of drugs during that period, so a tall bar means for
any given amount of sales, more drug abuse.

Senator Nrrsow. I see, but that would not tell you anything about
one, if there were one, that was smuggled into the country from Mex-
ico, you wonld not know, would you?

Dr. Croor. Noj that is one of the variables not reflected in this
figure,

1 believe DFA will tell you, however, that today most of the do-
mestic amphetamines do not come from across our borders.

Itis legally manufactured and preseribed.

Senator Nersox. QK.

Dr. CrouT. Both the numerator and denominator of this index are
suhject to considerable error, as I mentioned.

Nevertheless, even this rough approach is revealing.

Appendix I1 clearly shows that the amphetamines, including meth-
amphetamines, and, to a lesser extent, phenmetrazine, are associated
with more contacts with the DAVN system per amount of sales than
are other anorectics.

Here you can see all of the other drugs clustered together,

This graph in appendix IIT illustrates the second point I wish to
make. The graph again shows the ratio of total DAWN mentions,
this time by quarter years, divided by the number of prescriptions for
these drugs in the comparable quarter,

The anorectic drugs in this appendix have been grouped somewhat
differently—that is, by their schedules under the Controlled Sub-
stances Act.

I point ount along the bottom line, this is a time trend during 1973
throngh 1975,

The main conclusion suggested by this graph is that abuse problems
are greater with the schedule IT drugs than with the other anorectics,
as shown by the line at the top, and that the rate of such problems ap-
pears relatively unchanged over the past 3 years. :

Senator Nersox. And you are saying at the same time that the
studies indicato that the nonamphetamine anorectics and the ampheta-
mine anorectics are about equally eflicacions?

Dr. Croor. Yes.

Senator Nrrson. Roughly as trivially efficacious, T will put it, and
that the abuser

Dr. Croor. Fair enough, sir.
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Senator Nrrsow, Allright. We will leave it in the record.

TWe have got to win one once in a while, and so your chatt shows
there is a much higher sbuse-potential of the amphetamines used for
the same purpose?

Dr. Crour. Yes, sir.

Senator Nersox. This is a very convincing case. If they are roughly
equivalent in terms of their trivial eflectiveness, then it would appear
that something ought to Le done about the amphetamines?

Dr. Croor. Yes, sir.

Mr. Vopra, It also indicates, Senator, that there is, for whatever
reason, a significant difference in the response of the “abuse com-
munity.”

Senator Nrrsox. Roughly what?

Mr. Vopra. A major difference in response of abusers to the sched-
ule IX anorectics, that is amphetamines and phendimetrazine, over
the other drugs, This is the point I was suggesting earlier : For some
reason we have not determined, the abusers prefer amphetamines by
a wide margin. They have stated this preference in the illicit market
for the schedunled anorectics. Amphetamines remain the problem area.

Dr. Crovr. [Reading.]

COXCRUSIONS AND PLANNED ACTIONS

Mr. Chairmun, I would like now to state our present regulatory
position in regard to the anorectics and to indicate our plans for future
actions recarding these drugs.

The anorectic review of 1972 demenstrated that all these currently
marketed drugs meet appropriate standards of effectiveness under the
Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. On the basis of the informa-
tion available at that time, FDA also determined that this class ot
drugs meets the safety requirements of the act and are, on a benefit-
risk basis, appropriate for marketing for the indication of obesity on
a short-term basls as adjunctive therapy. The most stringent controls
possible under Federal Iaw have been in place for § years on those
drugs which demonstrate greater abuse risk than the others, and the
remainder of the class of anorectic drugs hias been controlled under
other schednles of the CSA for 3 years.

Recent information indicates, however, that the schedule II an-
orectics—amphetamine, dextroamphetamine, methamphetamine, and
perhaps phenmetrazine—have continued to be abused at a relatively
wnchanging rate over the past 3 years. While there is considerable
opinion that the current rate of abuse of amphetamines is well below
that of the late 1960, there is also evidence that the regulatory men-
sures taken in the 1971-T3 peried may have accomplished as much as
they are going to accomplish. It also appears that the major residual
problems of abuse and isuse involving arorectic drugs lie with those
already in schedule IT and not those in schedules LT and TV,

If the information currently being developed by DEA clearly in-
dicates, as we anticipate it will, that amphetamines remain a major
cause of abuse in spite of being in sehedule II of the C8A, FDA will
move ahend vigorously to withdraw the indication for cbesity from
ampletamines. We need to be sensitive to the other indications for
which these drugs are nsed—narcolepsy and minimal brain dysfunec-
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tion in children—but we must also recognize there are alternative
drugs for these indications. T cannot predict at the present time whe-
ther any new regulatory action in regard to amphetamines would
involve simply removal of the indication for obesity or complete with-
drawal of the drugs from the market. Neither can I predict whether
phenmetrazine might be involved in any such action. Answers to these
uestions will depend on the extent of documented diversion and abuse
with these agents found by DEA and the judgments of those on our sei-
entific staff and advisory committees who will review the data.

1 would again emphasize that a report from DEA and additional
data from the National Institute on Drug Abuse arc necessary for
FDA to take a strong legal position, and our stafls are working to-
gether on this matter.

The withdrawal from the market of a previously approved drug on
the hasis of its risk to society, as well as to the patient, is an innova-
tive position on which there is little legal precedent. But we believe
such a position is legal and are prepared to defend it.

While the preliminary data available to us do not appear to indicate -

an important public health problem with the schedule TII and IV
anorectics, we will, as part of our review consider these drugs also.
Again, on the basis of careful consideration of data from our sister
Federal agenecies and the medical research community, we will take
whatever action on these drugs is indicated. Such action might range
{rom recommendations for rescheduling to improvements in the label-
ing. T do not anticipate at the present time, however, any new review
for effectiveness comparable to the anorectic review of 1972, In view
of the importance of obesity as a national nutritional problem and the
lack of any widely accepted, universally effective alternative therapy,
we do not think it medieally appropriate to question at this time the
marketing status of those anorcctic drugs now in schedules III or IV.

T would also point out that the Food and Drug Administration has
underway two major programs which will ultimately affect many
preseription drugs incIuding the anorectic drugs: The prescription
drug labeling review and the patient package insert proposal. In the
very near fature, we will issue final regulations on the format and
context of package inserts for the physician and, over the next several
vears, all prescription drug labeling will come into compliance with
these reculations, Various drug categories will be taken on a priority
basis under this program, and we consider anorectic drugs ns properly
among the priority drugs.

We alzo anticipate issuing in 1977 proposed regulations relating to
patient package incerts for preseription drmgs. This proposal will un-
doubtedly stimulate extensive public comment and may well require
another year or more for development of a final order. 1t is our intent
to develop patient package inzerts for specific drugs only in the context
of this general statement on poliey and procedure. In specific cases in
which the public health requires a patient package insert on a preserip-
tion drug, for important safety reasons, we will take such actton on an
ad hoe basis as we have for oral contraceptives and estrogens. IFor most
drugs, however, we believe it is wiser to develop general policy ahead
of specific patient labeling. We, therefore, anticipate at the present
time that specific patient labeling for anorectic drugs will not be devel-
oped in the near term. '
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Finally, I would comment that whatever future action we in XA
might take in regard to this class of drugs, some dogree of abuse may
well continue, Clandestine manufacture and smuggling across inter-
national borders will remain a problem. Even if amphetamines are
removed from the marlket, other stimulant drugs will remain available
and abuse of these agents may erow. The abuse of stimulant drugs will
thus remain a matter of continuing concern, and its control witl require
sustained vigilanee from all of us. Drugs of this type are intrinsically
attractive to a segment of our population and, at least for the foresce-
able future, will remain so.

Contrel of the abuse problem i our gociety will require the con-
tinuing effort of many parties, as these hearings have made clear—
phyeicians, pharmaeists, the drug industry, eduecation, and law en-
forcement agencies. FDA is proud of its record in the past in handling
the anorectic drugs, and we look forward to maintaining that record
in the fature.

Thank you, Mr. Chairman; this concludes my formal statement. My
stafl and I wonld be most willing to answer any questions you may
have,

Senator Nrrgox. Thank you very much.

What does the FIXA plan to do about thege drugs; whether to leave
the amphetamines on the market as they are, whether to remove them
entirely; or change the labeling so the indicated use may not include
obesity ?

Dr. Crovr, T think we will have to he imprecise on that.

The DEA is helping us, and we are dependent on that information.
I think we will have to review with our advisory committees, or at
Teast with our consultants, the two indieatiors of narcolepsy and hyper-
kinesis due to minimal brain dysfunction in childeen, because much
depends on whether amphetamines are needed for those uses. I think
wo can get our opiniens in order on that within a number of weeks
certainly. We expect it will be several weeks before we hear from
DEA, and I am sure it will be & number of wecks after that before we
oo throngh an advizsory committee procedure on those issues.

How soon an action ean be taken would depend on the industry
response and the legal processes, what hearings are required, whether
there is court review, and so on.

That is simply impossible to predict.

Senator Nrrson, The court review would not occur until sometime
after a ruling has been made.,

My question is in regard to the time when & conclusion is expected
to be reached.

Dr. Crour. I think with this, we can reach a conclusion within a
matter of some weeks, as I mentioned.

I think a regulatory action is impossible to predict. Whether hear-
inga are vequired or not I do not know.

Senator Nrrsox. Chart 3, shows the much higher incidence of drug
abuse of amphetumines than the anorectic congeners. Given the conelu-
sion which, I understand to have been reached by Dr. Crout’s testi-
mony, that they have about the same amount of effectiveness, what is
the lecal problem in saying that since in the marketplace there are
available & number of nonamphetamine congeners which are as effec-
tive for purposes of controlling obesity, and which are not as addictive,
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what is the legal problem in saying that we will remove the indication
for obesity ? What is the legal question?

Mr. MerriLL. If we assume the state of facts as you assume them, I
think we would remove that indication of the drug on the ground it is
not shown to be safe in relation to its benefits.

I would suspect when we proceed to do that, the manufacturers will
probably begin to cross-examine in somewhat the same way Mr. Gor-
don did a moment ago. We want to have in hand the backup evidence
that makes the facts real. In terms of legal authority we should have
no problem ; the problem is the procedure.

Senator NeLsox. T will submit for the record some letters, two from
Delco Chemical Co. to doctors,
1t is pretty clear to see that the promotion is very strong.
I would just like to read these:

The enigma confronting the practitioner today is his inability to substantially
inerease hig income from a level which is determined by the number of hours in
2 day and his physical stamina. Extend himself as he will, the added monetary
rewards are discouragingly small,

There is a means of coping with this secemingly hopeless situation which has
been instrumental in doubling, tripling and quadrupling many practices formerly
bogged down in lethargy.

The products offered by Delco Chemical Company have made of many phy-
slcians key men in the anti-obesity field. Their practices have been built rapidly
and either have augmented or supplanted entirely former specialties. The rise in
income is almost unbelievable and the added effort minimal.

The most important factor responsible for this is a therapeutieally efficacions
product which has been used successfully in combatting cbesity, a growing prob-
lem in our affluent society.

It you are interested in a substantial increase of income may we suggest that
you return the self-addressed stamped post eard to us and our representative will
be happy to call upon you at your convenience,

We are the prime suppliers of obesity products which have been proven highly
successful to the key men in your area as well as throughout the entire country
from New York to Hollywood. These physicians enjoy incomes of $100,000.00 to
$300,000.00 yearly.

Also, we supply Obstetricians, Gynecologists, Internists and General Practi-
tioners who have incorporated weight control into their practices and have
added §25,000.00 to $100,000.00 to their incomes yearly.

The products offered by Delce Chemieal Company have made of many phy-
sicians key men in the anti-obesity field. The most important factor responsible for
this is a therapeutically efficacious prodnct which has heen used suecesgfully in
combatting obesity, a growing problem in our affluent society.

If you are interested in a substantial increase of income, may we suggest that
¥you return the self-addressed no postage required post card to us and our repre-
sentative will be happy to call upon you at your convenience.

Wo have a number of other letters along this line which we will put
in the record.!

Thank you, Dr. Crout, for taking your time,
) Dr. Crout. I should like to share your nausea listening to those

etters.

Senator Nersox. Thank you. Mr. Gordon, please proceed.

Mr. Gornox. Doctor Crout, with respect to Eskatrol and Dexamyl,
why are they still on the market ?

Eskatrol should have been taken off the market a long time ago.
What is the problem ¢

Dr. Crout. Those two drugs are part of our whole DEST review,
and the issues with those two drugs relate to their effectiveness.

1 Bee materials supplied for the record by Senator Nelson beginning at p, 14975,
85-568 0—77——12
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We have more than a hundred hearing requests on drugs like that,

and these are two of them. .

Perhaps the hardest job we have to do from the standpoint of just
plain slow work is to handle hearing requests, and particularly when
safety issues are not at stake, we treat them with a low priority. That
is the reason for the delays. )

These two drugs are not delayed any longer than any others in that
whole group. ]

Senator NeLsox. When do you estimate you will be acting on these?

Dr. Crotr. On Dexamyl we have denied a hearing, but have stayed
the final order pending judicial review. Perhaps Mr. Merrill can com-
ment on that, I think a final order on Eskatrol, we are hopeful of get-
ting out reasonably soon.

T think T would rather put our work on the amphetamines in gen-
eral. Obviously, if amphetamines, in general are removed from the
market, that would overtake these two actions.

Mz, Gorpon. Thank you.

Senator NeLsox. Think you very much. We appreciate your taking
time to come.

Dr. Crour. Thank you.

Senator Nerson. I have o long-distance telephone call that T have
to make before noon.

Since T am on a diet myself, we will adjourn for 10 minutes and
resume the hearings.

We will recess for 10 minutes,

[Whereupon, the subcommittee was in short recess. ]

AETER RECESS

Senator Nersox. The subcommittee will resume its hearings,

Our next witness is Mr. Frederick A. Rody, Acting Deputy Direc-
tor, Drug Enforcement Administration, Department of Justice, Wash-
ington, D.C.

Mr. Rody, you are welcome here, and I appreciate your taking time
to come.

Your statement will be printed in full in the record.

You may present it however yon desire, please identify for the re-
porter your associates, so that whatever comments they have to make
will be accurately attributed in the record.

STATEMENT OF FREDERICK A. RODY, JR., ACTIRG DEPUTY DIREC-
TOR, U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUSTICE, WASHINGTON, D.C., ACCOM-
PANIED BY ROBERT J. ROSTHAL, DEPUTY CHIEF COUNSEL;
KENNETH A. DURRIN, ACTING DIRECTOR, OFFICE OF COMPLI-
ANCE AND REGULATORY AFFAIRS; ERNEST A. CARABILLO, JR,
CHIEF, REGULATORY SUPPORT DIVISION; AND GERALD VOYLES,
SPECIAL AGENT IN CHARGE, LUBBOCK, TEX,

Mr. Rooy. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Chairman and distinguished members of the subcommittee, my
name is Frederick A. Rody, Jr., and I am the Acting Deputy Adminis-
trator of the Drug Enforcement Administration within the Depart-
ment of Justice.
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Today, T am appearing before you on behalf of Mr. Peter B. Ben-
singer, our Administrator, who 1s presently out of the country on
official travel.

Appearing with me are Mr, Robert J, Rosthal, Deputy Chief Coun-
sel; Mr. KXenneth. A, Durrin, Acting Director of our Office of Com-
pliance and Regulatory Affairs; and Mr. Ernest A, Carabillo, Jr.,
Chief of our Regulatory Support Division,

The Controlled Substances Act creates a partnership between the
Attorney (General and the Secretary of Health, Education, and
Welfare.

The Attorney General is empowered to place a drug under control
of the act, to remove & drug from control or to move a drug from one
schedule to another schedule, To exercise this power, however, the At-
torney General must have the concurrence of the Secretary that the
contemplated action is medically and scientifically correct. The law
states that the recommendations of the Secretary on medical and
scientific matters are “binding” on the Attorney General and if the
Secretary recommends that a drug not be controlled, the Attorney
General eannot control it.

As the subcommittee has requested, T will briefly outline how that
partnership has worked in the area of stimulant drugs.

The Controlled Substances Act, as it related to the stimulants, rep-
resented a congressional compromise under which Congress criginally
placed liquid injectable methamphetamine “speed” in schedule II
and the amphetamine and methamphetamine in schedule TIT, How-
ever, it was clearly understood by the managers of the legislation for
the House and the Senate that “proceedings will be initiated—by the
Attorney General—involving a number of drugs containing amphet-
amines after the legislation hasbecome law.” '

IDYEA’s predecessor ageney began a study of the abuse potential and
actual abuse of the amphetamines and methamphetamine then in
schedule III and in February 1971, forward the results of its study to
ITEW., In April, HEW agreed that the amphetamines and metham-
phetamine belong in schedule IT and on May 25, 1971, we proposed in
the Federal Register that the rescheduling take place. Thirty days
were given for objections by interested parties.

Three major manufacturers filed objections: (1) Smith, Kline &
French Laboratories requested a hearing on the transfer of its product,
Eskatrol; (2) Mission Pharmacal Co. requested a hearing on the
transfer of its product, Fetamin; (3) Pennwalt Corp. requested a
hearing on the transfer of its product, Biphetamine,

On July 7, 1971, all amphetamines and methamphetamine, with the
exception of the.three drugs for which hearings had been requested,
were ordered transferred from schedule TIT to schedule IT. As to these
three, application of the order was reserved pending a review of each
drug and subsequent administrative hearings. Our review began with
service of a subpena on Smith, Kline & French which in effect called
for every piece of relevant information the company possessed on
Eskatrol. Subsequent to that service, SKF, Mission, and Pennwalt
withdrew their objections and requests for hearings and by Federal
Register notice of August 19, 1971. their drugs joined the other am-
phetamines in schedule IT.
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Mr, Chairman, let me digress for a moment to note a fact important
to the purposes of this subcommittee. In our efforts at that time to
place the most rigorous controls on the amphetamines we received the
support of the American Medical Association. Through its house of
delegrates, the AMA expressed approval of the rescheduling and urged
‘“all physicians to limit their use of amphetamines and other stimulant
drugs to specific, well-recognized medieal indications.”

It was early recognized that if our efforts to place the amphetamines
in schedule II succeeded, 2 new danger to the public might arise. Two
drugs—phenmetrazine—Preludin—and methylphenidate—Ritalin—
had been placed in schedule III by the Congress. These drugs, while
not true amphetamines, have been deseribed as “amphetamine-like,” It
was considered bighly possible that should amphetamines be moved to
schedule IT with its stringent controls, there could be a movement by
drug abusers from the amphetamines to Ritalin and Preludin. Ae-
cordingly in April 1971, we sought the position of HEW on whether
we could properly place these drugs in schedule II.

On July 29, 1971, HEW approved that rescheduling and negotia-
tions began with representatives of the Ciba-Geigy Corp., then manu-
facturer of both products, and Boehringer-Ingelheim Litd., owner of
the U.S. patent on Preludin. It was the purpose of these negotiations
to reach an agreement on placement of Ritalin and Preludin in sched-
ule IT without the need for lengthy hearings, The companies ultimately
agreed and, on October 28, 1971, Ritalin and Preludin were placed in
schedule 1.

Turning now to the nonamphetamine anorectics—on February 15,
1973, HEW recommended that seven of these drugs be placed in sched-
ule III of the Controlled Substances Act and one, fenfluramine, be
placed in schedule TV. In Federal Register notices on May ¢ and May
10, 1973, we proposed the precise scheduling recommended by HEW.

Mr, Gorpon. What constraints resulted from placing the drug in
schedule ITI and schedule TV ?

Mr. Ropoy. Basically there is little difference in the constraints be-
tween schedules II] and IV,

There are some criminal sanctions as to traflicking that are greater
in schedule IIT; however, the significant difference is that schedule TV
drugs are considered to be less dangerous than schedule ITI, and there-
fore this type of subtle difference certainly dictates to a certain degree
the preseription and dispensing practices of doctors.

Mr. Gorpox. Dr. Crout, not in today’s testimony, but in a document
we are going to put in the record, says that schedules IIT and IV have
little but psychological impact on the practice of medicine, requiring
onlv a special symbol on the labels and labeling and a practitioner’s
BNDD number on the prescription.

Do you agree with Dr. Crout that it does not have much effect on
medical practice?

Mr. Ropy, Certainly not as much as those drugs in schedule IT. How-
ever, DEA believes that NIDA and the medical associations should
establish guidelines on preseriptions and dispensing practices.

Senator Nerson. What does that mean?

Mr. Ropy. Well, I think it would be to onr advantage, in the enforce-
ment of the Controlled Substances Act, to have established gunidelines
for nse of doctors who dispense and prescribe drugs in their practices.
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This would provide a peer influence within the yprrofessional com-
munity, and also it would serve as a reasonable base for DEA’s en-
forcement efforts to be initiated wherever doctors fail to comply with
recognized dispensing and prescription guidelines of the medical pro-
fession. It would serve as a basis to prove abusive drug dispensing and
preseribing practices.

Senator NevLson. Is it not the responsibility of the FDA to establish
the indicated uses of the drugs, and does it not have the authority to
approve or disapprove them? Whom are you talking about other than
the FDA Y

Mr. Rovy. T am not referring to the FDA regulatory responsibili-
tics. FDA determines the medical and science value and safety of
drugs, not dispensing and prescription practices. I am referring to the
practices of doctors and the suggested need for puidelines by the pro-
fession as to what are mediecally reecognized standards of application
and how much or amount of drugs the patient should be given, and in
what drug category.

Senator Newson. I guess I do not follow that. You are saying the
medical associations establish these guidelines?

Mr. Ropoy. I am suggesting that guidelines be established by NIDA
in cooperation with the medieal associations. They have the profes-
sional and medical experts, while DIEA certainly has no regulatory
authority on medical practice.

. We are suggesting self-discipline standards among those profes-
sions.

Senator Nersox. That is what T am trying to identify precisely. The
indieated uses of the drug have to be demonsirated under the law.

The FDA approves indicated usage of the drug. The indicated use
of the amphetamine now is narcolepsy and the hyperkinetic syndrome,
and control of obesity. The principal use of these drugs is for obesity.

As I understand it what vou are saying is that the doctors who are
using it more extensively than the approved indications warrant or
ara using it for none of the indicated uses, are practicing bad medicine,
or violating the law, or doing something.

I am trying to get clear in my mind, what are you saying in addi-
tion to that?

Mr. Ropy. I am having difficulty making myself understood.

What we are suggesting is a professional fornm, both in NTDA
and in the medical associations, that they establish the type of stand-
ards that are acceptable to those people that practice medicine, as to
the degree of dispensing the drugs, and what type of drugs are to be
used for those types of illnesses.

1 Senf;tor Nersox. Are you talking only about addictive or abused
rogs?

Mr. Ropy. T think it would be applicable in all drugs, that have any
bad side effects.

It would be certainly for those that are addictive or habit forming.

Senator Nevsox. But all the preseription drugs have side effects of
some kind or other, T suppose. What T am trying to get clear in my
mind, are vou suggesting that something bevond the Food and Drug
Administration now has authority to do these things, that thisthe done
by the National Institute of Drug Abuse,

Mr. Roby. Yes, I am.
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Senator NerLson. Why, if the Food and Drug Administration is
performing its function in approving the indicated uses of that drug,
what in addition are you suggesting to that?

Mr. Ropy. Sir, I am not an attorney, and if I may, could I refer
this question to Mr. Durrin ¢

Senator Nersox. Certainly.

Mr. Dorrivn. Senator, doctors have a fairly wide discretion and
(liatitude with regard to indieations for use on labeling for a particular

rug.

What the Drug Enforcement Administration is intending to do
with regard to controlled substances, controlled substances only '
Senator Nrrsox. You are only talking of controlled substances?

Mr, Durrin. That is correct,

It is to get the leadership in the medical community, and in the
medical associations to set firm guidelines, perhaps analogous to what
is done in Suffolk County to set guidelines with regard to the discre-
tionary uses for controlled substances among physicians, and we feel
this kind of cautionary guideline from their peers will have a decided
influence upon the prescribing practices of the vast majority of physi-
cians in the country who want to do the right thing, who want to pre-
scribe in the best interest of the public.

Senator Nersox. All of that is within the authority of the FDA
now, isit not.?

‘Mr. Durrin. The Food and Drug Administration of counrse estab-
lishes indications for use, but even beyond that in terms of the number
of doses preseribed in given cases, in terms of whether or not the con-
dition of the patient in a particular situation necessitates the use of
the drug, there are many discretionary areas that go far beyond in-
dications of the use on the labeling of the drug, this is the kind of
thing we have asked the medical community to give priority to in
terms of guidelines.

Senator NeLson. Why wouldn’t they work that out with the FDA,
and then the State societies, the medical associations, and all of the
rest of them would help enforee it?

Mr. Durrix. Of course, we cannot dictate FDA’s role, but it is our
hope that all of these grouns you are speaking of will engage in devel-
oping these kinds of guidelines.

Senator Nersow. (3o ahead.

Mr. Ropy. All right.

No objections were received from such major manufactures of the
anorectics proposed for schednle TIT as the Upiohn Co.—Didrex—
Warner/Chilcott—Pre-State—USV Pharmaceutical —Voranil—San-
doz Pharmaceuticals—Sanorex—or Ayerst Laboratories—Plegine.
No objection to the proposed schedunling of fenfluramine—Pondimin—
in schedule TV was received from the A. H. Robins Co.

Two maior manufacturers filed objections:

1. Merrell-National Laboratories requested a hearing on the sched-
uling of its prodnct, Tenuate, in schedule ITT,

2. Pennwalt Corp., on the scheduling of its product, Ionamin, in
schedule ITT.

The Merrell and Pennwalt hearing requests presented a grave policy
issue involving fundamental fairness. A1l but these two companies
had agreed to the HEW-DEA scheduling proposals. If the products
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of the cooperating companies were scheduled by DEA while the Mer-
rell and Pennwalt products remained uncontrolled during lengthy
hearings, the economic inequity to the cooperating manufacturers and
the danger that Tenuate and Ionamin would become abuse drugs of
choice was obvious, Further, three of the anorectics, Voranil, Sanorex,
and Pondimin, had never been on the U.S. market and had no domestic
history of efficacy or abuse upon which scheduling comparisons with
the Merrell or Pennwalt products could be made,

Merrell and Pennwalt finally agreed to placement of Tenuate and
Ionamin in schedule IV pending the outcome of their hearings. This
enabled us, on June 10, 1973, to place five of the anorectics in schedule
JIT and fenfluramine in schedule IV as originally recommended by
HEW. On July 6, 1973, Tenuate and Jonamin were added to schedule
Iv.

Clearly the resolution of the immediate problem did not resolve
the permanent problem. We needed to know more about all the
nonamphetamine anorectics and recognized we could find less than
satisfactory answers in isolated, fragmented hearings concerned with
Tenuate and Yonamin. It was decided, therefore, to monitor the manu-
facture, distribution, and use in the United States of all anorectics con-
trolled in June and July 1973, paying special attention to indications
of diversion and to chemical research on the abusability and depend-
ence-forming characteristics of these substances.

Senator NrrsoN. You mentioned the anorectics controlled in June
and July 1973. Do you mean all of them that were under some schedule
of control including ITT and IV, or those that were placed on a sched-
ule in June and July of 19737

Mr. Ropy. All those that are under schedules IIT and IV, sir.

Senator Newsown. Go ahead.

Mr. Rooy. DEA, after discussions with the National Institute on
Drug Abuse and the Food and Drug Administration, began its re-
review as scheduled.

In addition to employing our own resources on the monitoring pro-
gram, DEA contracted in March 1975 with the Stanford Research
Institute to assist in the development of a method to schedule drugs
objectively.

That studyv concentrated on the anorectics as models. We received
the results of the Stanford study in April of this year. We have also
received, under contract with the Research Planning Corp., the
results of a study devoted in major part to identifying and quanti-
tating abuse levels of the drugs in question,

On May 13, 1975, DEA forwarded a letter to ench major manufac-
turer of a nonamphetamine anorectic drug asking information con-
cerning the abuse potential of its particular product. On December 9,
1975 another letter to these companies requested manufacturing and
distribution data. This massive amount of information has been re-
ceived and is under review,

Thus, the hearings of this subcommittee have come at a fortuitous
time. The testimony given by the witnesses who have appeared here
and the conclusions the subcommittee draws from that testimonv, to-
gether with the information we have been reviewing, will be closely
considered by DEA in reaching our judgments on the drmgs in ques-
tion. Then, as contemplated by the Controlled Substances Act, those
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judgments and the supporting data will be forwarded to HEW
through the Food and Drug Administration for the definitive medical
and seientific evaluation. Mr. Chairman, it should be said at this point
that HEW and FDA have always cooperated fully with DEA in those
areas in which our responsibilities are joined. We could not ask for
better partners.

Mr. Gorpox. When are you going to make that judgment you just
mentioned ¢

Mpr. Ropy. The judgment would be made by HEW.

We cannot give you a firm date at this time. Hopefully by mid-De-
cember we will be able to provide FDA with information on diversion
and drug abuse.

Mr. Gorpox. When will that be?

Mr. Rooy. Hopefully by mid-December, and we would also like to
have benefit of the hearings, and if we may ask for an expeditious
copy of the hearings.

Senator NeLsox. The hearings will not be printed.

Mr. Ropy. Certainly that is what we seel.

Senator Nerson. But the transcripts are available, if your depart-
ment can afford it.

Now, let me get vour role straight. You will supply to the FDA all
of the information that vour Agency has gathered respecting abuse
of these drugs, is that roughly it ?

My, Ropy. Diversion and abuse, yes, sir.

Senator NeLsox. Diversion refers to what ¢

Mr. Rony. Well, that would be diversion of legally produced drugs,
where they are either stolen or otherwise illegally acquired from man-
ufscturers, wholesalers or procurement.

Senator Nersox. We have had testimony by a witness who was him-
self a drug abuser at one time, and he stated that without having been
involved directly, or having firsthand knowledge, drugs were stolen
by employees at the manufacturing level, and brought out in the mar-
ket. In other cases emplovees in n physician’s office diverted drugs.
Does your ageney have any information about how extensive diversion
might be, for example, out of the manufacturing plant by employees,
or from physician’s offices ?

Mr. Ropy. Yes, sir, we maintain data, both from our investigative
actions and from the diversion investigatory units we have estab-
lished. Diversion and abuse information is referred to the State regu-
Iatory agencies in that State to take action whenever it scems te be
appropriate,

We also conduaet an audit as to accountability at the mannfacturing
Tevel, and wholesale distributor, and at the dispensing level.

Senator Nersox. How good are those controls? Io all of the manu-
facturers make their own basic compound, the active ingredients, or
do they buy it from a supplier. from other manufacturers? What kind
of controls do yon have right from the source of production of the ac-
tual compound itself?

Mr. Rony. We have more accountahility in schednle TE, the controls
are more restrietive, but if vou wonld like more detail, Senator may
we refer this question toe Mr, Durrin?

Mr. Dorraen. We register the material down to the preseribing phy-
sician, we have about 535,000 annual registrants on our computerized
system at this time.
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In addition to the computer system, we maintain an investigative
program whereby we inspect each manufacturer and distributor at
least once every 3 years.

If we find violations, we take action up to and including removal of
registration, and we also take appropriate civil or ¢riminal prose-
cution.

We have seen over a period of time since the effective date of the
controlled substances act in May 1971, a very significant tightening
up at the manufacturer-distributor level of the handling of drugs.

I am not saying there is no employee diversion, but it 18 a much
lesser factor in the total diversion picture than for example at the re-
tail level at this point.

Senator NeLsown, As I recollect, Dr. Crout said that he would be re-
lyin%1 upen your agency to supply evidence respecting abuse of the
amphetamines, the anorectic congeners, is that correct ?

Mr. Durrin, That is correct.

Mr. Rooy. That is correct, and the next portion of my testimony
goes right into that.

Senator NeLson. All right.

Go ahead.

Mr. Ropy. This subcommittee has requested information on the cur-
rent patterns of abuse and diversion of antiobesity drugs. Three
sources have been employed to gather the information I will sum-
marize:

First. The drug abuse warning network—DAWN-—jointly spon-
sored by DEA and the National Institute on Drug Abuse, receives all
drug mentions from selected emergency rooms, crisis centers, and medi-
cal examiners throughout the Nation and publishes this information
on monthly basis.

Second. The system to retrieve information from drug evidence—
STRIDE—constitutes a compilation of reports on all drugs received
for examination by all DEA domestic and fereign laboratories.

Third. A recent telephone survey of DEA's domestic regions, which
includes information on audits, sales, and so forth.

Mr. Chairman, there has been a 28 percent increase in DAWN
mentions of amphetamines in the last 12 months. The increase of
chronic effects as the reason for secking emergency help strongly sug-
gests that ever greater numbers of abusers have access to a continu-
ing supply of amphetamines. At the same time, our laboratories report
the appearance of less illicitly manufactured amphetamines and there
are fewer reports of amphetamines being diverted from legal distri-
bution systems. Accordingly, it must be concluded that increasing
amounts of abused amphetamines come from home supplies and that
these supplies are created largely by prescriptions and direct dispens-
ing by physicians. The suggestion is implicit that significant numbers
of physicians are prescribing and dispensing well over their patients’
actual medical needs.

Phenmetrazine—Preludin—has become a serious problem as a street
drug in areas of the United States ranging from Pennsylvania in the
east to Nebraslea in the west. Pockets of heavy abuse appear in Texas.
The District of Columbia and surrounding States have been particu-
larly hard hit, In the District, for example, we find Preludin traf-
ficked under the street name *Bam™ at $10 for a single 73 milligram
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dosage unit, Since Preludin is water-soluable it is frequently injected
intravenously and used in conjunction with heroin.

Senator NELsoN. Isthat one tablet? -

Mr. Ropy. That is one tablet, sir, and right now I believe the price
is about 19 cents.

Selllg.tor NEeLson. From the pharmacy on prescription, wholesale or
retai

Mr. Ropy. The 19 cents figure is the wholesale figure, but it is being
trafficked on the street at $10 a unit. '

Senator Nerson. What is the price of a 75 milligram tablet, average
price on a prescription from the pharmacy t

Mr. Ropy. About 25 cents, so 1 am told.

Senator NELson. About 25 cents & tablet in the pharmacy, and in
the street it is $10¢ : -
. Mr. Ropy. That is correct.

Senator Nersox. Where, here in the District of Columbia{
. Mr. Ropr. That is the indication we have from our investigation in
the District.

Senator Nerson. Is it similarly priced elsewhere in the country?

Mr. Ropy. We do not have that much indication of this particular
drug being available in all of the other areas of the country; it has been
confined to Pennsylvania, westerly out to Nebraska, but particularly
here in the District we have had a large indication of usage.

Mr. Durrix. We have seen a price of as high as $15 for the 75 milli-

gram dosage.
Senator Nersox. That is one of the congeners, one of the ampheta-

. mine-related tablets?

‘Mr. Ropy. That is correct, sir.

Senator Nrrson. Is this one especially expensive, or is it the same
price prevailing for the amphetamines on the street g

Mr. Ropy. Sir, I would have to defer the question to Mr. Durrin.

Mr. Dorrin. Let me just say it is a drug of choice among abusers.
They particularly like this. It helps increase the effect of the heroin,
and it is more popular than some of the other amphetamine-type drugs
by comparison. :

Pricowise, it is certainly one of the higher priced, legitimate street
products.

Senator NeLson. Now, Preludin is in schedule IT1 '

Mr. Ropy. That is correct.

Senator Nersoy. Why did that go to schedule IT, since it is one of
the congeners? _ _

Mr. Ropy. That was the result of our previous studies on diversion
and abuse, and the data that we submitted to FDA. They in turn made
that medical and scientific determination that Preludin should be
placed in schedule IL. .

Senator NxrsoN. Do you somewhere in your testimony, or do some
of your associates have any statistics on the cost in the street of the
amphetamines?

Mr. Ropr. We could certainly provide that to this committee. Iam
not sure if we have it with us at this time.

Mr. RostHAL. We will make it available, sir.

[Subsequent information was received and follows 1]
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STREET PRICES TOR AMPHETAMINE TABLETS

The following is a breakdown of amphetamine tablet prices
on the illicit market. Each listing is a renge of prices
for varying tablet sizes broken down by Domestic Regions.

Region 1 Boston .30 - 1.00/3-15 mg. tablet
Region 2 New York: .50 - 3.00/3-20 mg. tablet

Region 3 Philadelphia .75 - 1.50/3-15 mg. tablet

Region 4+ Baltimore .25 = 1.50/3-25 mg. tablet
Region 5 Miami .50 -~ 2.00/5-25 mg. tablet
ﬁegion 6 Detroit .25 - 2.00/5-25 mg. tablet
Region 7 Chicago e 25 - 3.00/3-25 mg tablet

Region 8 New Orleans .50 - 3.00/5-25 mg. tablet

Region 10 Xansas City .20 - - .50/3-10 mg. tablet

Region 11 Dallas .30 - 3.00/5-25 mg. tablet
Region 12 Denver .25 - 2.00/5-25 mg. tablet
Region 13 Seattle .25 - .60/3-10 mg. tablet

Region 14 San Francisco .25 - 1.00/5-15 mg. tablet
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Senator NeLgox. Please proceed.

Mr. Ropy. The U.S. attorney for the District of Columbia has
focused public attention on the Preludin problem here by highly suc-
cessful eriminal and civil cases involving physicians and pharmacies.
Continuing investigations by DEA indicate the existence of sophisti-
eated eriminal enterprises employing prescriptions obtained from doc-
tors and forged prescriptions to build street supplics. Thefts from
pharmacies also play a part in supplying the illicit traffic in Prelndin.

In 1975 Western Fehr Laboratories, manufacturers of the basie
ingredient in Preludin, Ciba-Geigy Corp., the sole manufacturer of
Preludin in dosage form, and Boehringer-Ingelheim Ltd., the sole
distributors of Preludin to wholesalers, petitioned DEA for an increase
in the 1975 manufacturing and procurement quotas for Preludin previ-
ously set by DEA. That petition was rejected by DEA and it was
again rejected by an administrative law judge following a lengthy
hearing demanded by the companies. This resulted in an appeal by
the companies to the U.S. Court of Appeals for the First Circuit
which, on January 28, 1976, issued the final rejection,

In a unanimous opinion, the court found in part that, “DEA had
the obligation when it found substantial evidence of broadscale diver-
sion to achieve 2 more Spartan pipeline, even though this might cause
inconveniences to manufacturer and distributor.”

Mr. Chairman, just 3 weeks ago, on October 29, 1976, attorneys for
Western Fehr Laboratories and Boehringer-Ingelheim Ltd.. filed with
Administrator Bensinger objections to DEA’s proposed 1977 produc-
tion quota for Preludin. Once again an administrative hearing has
been demanded by the companies. '

Mr. Gorpox. On what basis are they demanding higher production
quota? Did they come up with evidence to show the medical need for
these higher quotas?

Mr. Roby. Sir, I believe that question would have to be answered
by those companies.

Mr. Gornox. Don’t they have to give a reason when they ask for
higher quotas?

Mr. Drrrin. The request is based on projected sales, and, of course,
we have our own yardstick in terms of measuring legitimate medical
need, and sometimes we feel that the firms are a little bit optimistie
in terms of projected sales of their product.

Mr. Gornox, Projected sales, as we saw, do not necessarily equal
medical needs?

Mr. Durriv. That is correet, and that is why we have a different
opinion.

Mr. Rostiiar. Mav I speak to that? I conducted the hearing and the
argument in the court of appeals,

The significant thing I found at the hearing was that the company
in projectine its sales for the future years at no time ever considered
how much diversion there was.

They told us how much they sold to doctors, and how much was
preseribed.

When they were asked on appeal, “Well, what about the diversion
vou know about, it is in the streets,” they said diversion is DEA’s
business.
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Making the drugs is ours they said. Now, that is a paraphrase, but
very close.

Mr. Ropy. Methylphenidate—Ritalin—differs from the other sub-
stances under consideration here today.

It is not indicated as an antiobesity drug. Ritalin is described as
“effective” in the treatment of minimal brain dysfunction in children
and in the treatment of narcolepsy, a form of sleeping sickness.

It is considered “possibly eftective” for mild depression. It is ironic
that under the heading “Adverse Reactions” in the Physicians’ Desk
Reference the manufacturer of Ritalin warns against loss of appetite
in children leading to “weight loss during prolonged therapy.”

Between July 1, 1973, and July 31, 1976, there were more Ritalin
related abuse episodes reported 1mn DAWN than any one of the 10
brandname amphetamines or nonamphetamine antiobesity products
surveyed. The profile of Ritalin abuse is unlike the others, The great
majority of the amphetamine and nonamphetamine anorectic reports
come from crisis centers, the usual haven for street abusers in various
phases of illness. Two-thirds of the Ritalin episodes were reported
from hospital emergency rooms to which the more seriously ill are
most often taken. Illicit sources such as street buys, forged preserip-
tions, stolen dosage units or gifts were listed in over half the episodes.

Mr. Chairman, before summarizing the information on the non-
amphctamine anorectics, let me say that one of them, fenfluramine-—
Pondimin—may possibly be improperly described as a stimulant.
Since coming on the market in 1973 fenfluramine has been reported
as showing the indicia of a depressant causing some of the responses
of an hallucinogen such as PCP.

The nonamphetamine, antiobesity products have received far fewer
mentions in DAWN than the amphetamines, RRitalin, or Preludin. The
anorectics are reported primarily from crisis centers as opposed to
emergency rooms or medical examiners. Over 75 percent of the
inctdents involve legal prescriptions as the source. As with the amphet-
amines, the suggestion is implicit that significant numbers of physi-
cians are prescribing and dispensing well over their patients’ actual
medical needs.

Mr. Chairman, Benjamin Gordon of the subcommittee staff has
asked DEA for a more detailed report on one nonamphetamine
anorectic. Tonamin. I have been told that Mr. Gorden’s concern with
this substance is not based on any known significant differences be-
tween Ionamin and most of the other nonamphetamine anorectics.
Rather, Mr. Gorden’s concern is predicated on the past history of the
Pennwalt Corp., manufacturer and distributor of Ionamin.

In May 1971, as earlier noted, Pennwalt requested a hearing on the
proposed transfer of its amphetamine product, Biphetamine, from
schedule I1T to schedule I1. That request was subsequently withdrawn
and on Angust 19, 1971, the drug became subject to the Attorney
General’s power to limit manufacture by setting production quotas.

Mr. Chairman, the dates in this matter are most important. Until
some time in June 1971, Pennwalt exported to Mexico City large
quantities of the resin complex from which Biphetamine is manufac-
tured. In Mexico City at 2 Pennwalt subsidiary, the resin complex
was encapsulated and sold under the Mexican trade name Bifetamina.
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Within months, Bifetamina appeared on the illicit market in the
United States. A special task force working under the code name
“Operation Blackjack” established that the southeastern and south-
western States were being flooded with Bifetamina and that the drug
was being smuggled into the United States at six principal points
along the Texas-Mexico border. ) )

Pennwalt was ordered to show cause why its registration to export
amphetamine products should not be revoked. The company chose
not to contest the order and is now barred from exporting its
amphetamine products to any part of the world.

Mr. Chairman, the order to show cause in that case said in part,
“the illicit importation of Bifetamina from Mexico and the sub-
sequent illegal sale of Bifetamina in the United States substantially
subverts the purpose of placing all amphetamines in schedule I1L”

Senator NrLsox. Who are the manufacturers in Mexico?

Mr. Ropy. Strasenburg, which is Pennwalt’s subsidiary in Mexico.

Senator NELsox. So Pennwalt was under court order?

Mr. Rostirar. We served them with an order to show cause as to
why their registration with us to export amphetamine products should
not be revoked, and why the total quota for all amphetamines should
not be reduced by the amount of what we would take from them.

We conferred with them, I think they knew we had the evidence,
because they withdrew, so the order to show cause was withdrawn,
and the company, as Mr. Rody has said cannot ship amphetamines
from the United States to any part of the world.

Senator Nerson. What was tE‘xe- legal basis of the Government in
attacking the question of exportation.

Mr. Rostian. There was a myriad of criminal cases made all over
the South and the Southwest. This stuff showed up at truck stops,
and many eriminal cases were made.

The basis for the order to show cause was, Mr, Rody had said
in citing from the order, that they were subverting the entire purpose
of the Controlled Substances'Act.

What they were doing in effect, Mr. Chairman, was conducting an
end run.

They had quotas in the United States, but they could make as much
asthey wanted in Mexico City. :

Senator Nrersow, But the quota in the United States at that time
prior to the court order did not apply fo exports?
thl\Ir, Rostiran, Noj the quotas applied, I should have gone back on

at.

The quotas applied to what they could manufacture for everything,
but what thev had done in the 2 years previous to our placing amphet-
amines in schedule IT, a move which everyone in the industry knesw
was golng to happen, was to ship large quantities, large quantities
of the basic resin complex from their plant 1n Rochester, N.Y. to their
plant in Mexico City.

. S;.nator Nrrsown. Was the product made a* that time in Mexico City,
00?

Mr. Rosrizar. No, the basic product, the complex was made in New
York State, and shipped to Mexico City.

As Mr. Rody’s testimony will develop, this was incapsulated, and
they changed the name in Mexico to Biphetamina,
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Senator Nersow. Although they may not export, are they manu-
facturing the compound?

Mr. Rostirar. I do not think so, because I think the only thing that
they are making now in Mexico City, or encapsulating in Mexico City
18 Jonamin, with the name of Tonaminas.

Mr. Chairman, I think Mr. Rody’s testimony does develop this.

Senator NeLsox. Fine. Go ahead.

I did not get a chance to read it in advance.

Mr. Ropy. The history of Pennwalt and Tonamin has a similar be-
ginning. In May 1973, as earlier noted, Pennwalt requested a hearing
o? t{lIeIproposed placement of its anorectic product, Tonamin, in sched-
ule .

Whether that hearing takes place will depend in large part on the
results of DEA’s comprehensive review of all the anorecties whieh will
include the report of this subcommittee, Meanwhile, Tonamin remains
in schedule IV,

In 1975, Pennwalt exported to Mexico City 300 kilograms of the
bulk powder from which Tonamin is manufactured.

Mr. Goroox, May I interrupt for just a second ?

Yousaid 300 kilograms. As I understand it, Tonamin is made in two
strengths, 30 and 15 milligrams; is that correct?

Mr. Ropy. That is correct.

Mr. Gorpox. If these 300 milligrams are manufactured in, say 30
milligram tablets, which is the strongest strength, that comes out to
about 10 million pills, does it not ?

Mr. Durrix. That is correct.,

Mr. Gorpox. And if they manufacture it in 15 milligram grain
tablets, it would come out to 20 million tablets ?

Mr. Ropy. That is correct.

Mr. Gorpon. Are those pills for the obese people of Mexico?

Mr. Ropy. We would have to speculate on that. We do know from
some of our investigative activities, it is a bit more than that.

Thus faz in 1976, another 300 kilograms of that same bulk powder
has been exported to Mexico City. _

In Mexico City, at the same Pennwalt subsidiary where Bifetamina
was once produced the bulk powder is encapsulated and sold under the
Mezxican trade name, Ionamina.

Mr. Chairman, a report on the most recent survey of illicit sales of
Tonamin and Tonamina will be forwarded to the subcommittee.

[Subsequent information was received and follows:]
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INTRODUCTION

Ionamin is the brand name of a generic drug known as phentermine,
which is manufactured and marketed by Pennwalt Prescription Products,
a Division of the Pennwalt Corporation, Rochester, New York.

Cn February 15, 1973, HEW originally recommended to BNDD that
phentermine should be made a controlled substance in Schedule III.
BNDD published such a recommendation in the Federal Register on

May 9, 1973. However, in view of evidence which was presented in

the resulting comments, DEA anncunced on July 6, 1973 that phentermine
would be controlled in Schedule IV (not III} effective on July &, 1973.

Ionamin is marketed in capsule form, in strengths of either 15 mg.
or 30 mg. Cumulative Supplement 2 of the 1976 Red Book indicates

that the wholesale prices of the different product sales units are
as follows: .

15 my. Capsules )
Bottles of 100 513.19

Bottles of 400 $48.01
30 mg. Capsules

Bottles of 100 $14.55

Bottles of 400 .. 852.71

Ionamin has a pharmacologic activity similar to that of the prototype
drug of this class used in ohesity, amphetamine (both d and 1 ampheta-
mine). Actions include central nervous system stimulation and elevation
of blood pressure. Tackyphylaxis and tolerance have been demonstrated
with all drugs of this class in which these phencména have been looked
for.

Drugs of this class used in obesity are commonly known as "anorectics”
or "anorexigenics". It has not been established, however, that the
action of such drugs in treating obesity is primarily one of appetite
suppression. Other central nexrvous system actions, or metabolic effects
may be involved. ’

Whereas the natural histery of obesity is measured in years, the
available studies involving ancrectic drugs are restricted to a
few weeks. or months in duration. Thus, the total impact of drug-
induced weight loss over that of diet alone must be considered
clinically limited.
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Page Two

Tonamin is indicated in the management of exogenocus cbesity as a
short-term {a few weeks) adjunct in a regimen of weight reduction
based on caloric restriction.  The limited usefulness of agents of
this class should be measured against possible risk factors inherent
in their use. The following contraindications should be locked for
befeore prescribing Ionamin:

Advanced arteriosclerosis, sympteomatic cardicvascular
disease, moderate to severe hypertensien, hyperthy-
roidism, known hypersensitivity or idicsyncrasy to the
sympathomimetic amines, gluccma.

Agitated states.
Patients with a history of drug abuse.

1f tolerance to the anorectic effect develops, the recommended dose
should not be exceeded in an attempt to increase the effect, rather,
the drug should be discontinued. Ionamin may impair the ability of
‘an individual to engage in potentially hazardous activities such as
operating machinery or driving a motor vehicle.

The 1976 edition of the "Physicians' Desk Reference” (PDR)} warns that
Tonamin is related chemically ard pharmacoiogically to amphetamines
and other stimulant drugs which have been extensively abused. The
possibility of abuse of Ionamin should be kept in mind when evaluating
the desirability of including a drug as part of a weight reduction
program.

Manifestations of chronic intoxication with ancrectie drugs include
severe dermatoses, marked insomnia, irritability, hyperactivity, and
personality changes. The most severe manifestation of chronic intoxica-
tion is psychosis, often clinically indistinguishable from schlzophren1a.

STREET AVAILABILITY
In an attempt to determine whether or not Ionamin is availﬂble on
the street, ECI has collected information from the following sources;

telephone survey of the Domestic Regicns, STRIDE, DAWN, DIU's, the
Import/Export Unit, and the Statistical and Data Services Section.

85-369 O0—T7——13
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Page “Three

TELEPHONE SURVEY

The Compliance Program Manager at each of the Domestic Regional Cffices
was contacted on Wednesday, October 6, 1976, and he was requested to

supply ECI with any available information concerning the street avail=~
ability of Icnamin (or of the product Ionamina, the brand name for the

.same product marketed in Mexico by Laboratorics Strasenburgh de Mexico).

This data was to be collected from such sources as in-depth compliance
investigations, theft reports, seizures, street intelligence, and local
enforcement agencies. S

During the past twenty months, the total number of dosage units of

both strengths of Ionamih which have been reported to DEA as having
been stolen or lost intransit is about 153,000 {or about 7,650 d.u.

per month). This figure dees not include the intransit losses reported
by Pennwalt before January 19276.

In reviewing the audit portions of those in-depth compliance investigations
which included Ionamin as one of the drugs which were selected for
audit, only five Regions reported any cases in which there was a
deviation of mere than +5%. The largest single deviation was reported
in a case in Region & (115-74-0043, dated February 18, 1975). in which.
a shortage of 36,300 d.u. of Ionamin (30 mg.) was uncovered. The
total number of such investigations was twenty=seven.

The most significant Compliance case to date is an ongoing investigation
in Region 5 (G3-76-2020) in which a pharmacist in a small town in
Georgia is believed to have diverted approximately 96,000 dosage units
of Ionamin since January 1975 (all of which were the 30 mg. strength).

In their conversations with the criminal groups within each Region,
the Compliance Program Managers found that there is little demand

for Ionamin on the street. Indications are that current street prices
range from a low of twenty cents a capsule in Georgia, to a high of
seventy cents and $1.10 per capsule in Texas.

The only significant seizures involving Jonamin (or Ionamina) occurred

in Texas where approximately 90% of the 104,155 dosage units of anorectic
drugs seized between July 1973 and September 1976 were the Pennwalt
products,
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Page Four

STRIDE/Ballistics

During Fiscal Year 1976, DEA lLaboratories analyzed a total of 68
exhibits of phentermine that could be identified to presumptive
manufacturers or distributors. Of this total 85% (or 5B exhibits)
were presumed to have been manufactured by Pennwalt.

DAWN

Of -the five anorectics analyzed (Preludin, Tenuate, Ionamin, Tepanil
and Pondamin), Ionamin ranks third in frequency. O©Of the 110 episodes
purported to have invelved Ionamin taken for psychic effect or
dependence, during July 1973 to July 1976, 70% of the reports showed’
legal prescriptions as the source.

DIVERSION INVESTIGATIVE UNITS

Oon October 6, 7, and 8, 1976, a limited survey of abuse of Ionamin
and its generiec eguivalents was conducted by contacting each of the
nine operating Diversion Investigative Units. The following comrents
reflect the recent experience of each of the nine PIU states.

New Jersey DIU reports general, 1f somewhat limited abuse of Ionamin,
Phentercot, and Fastin, in that order, but far less than the problem
with Phenmetrazine (Preludin) and Phendimetrazine.

Massachusetts DIU reports very limited miner abuse, probably because
Massachusetts® law classified phentermine as “an isomer.of Methamphetamine"
{leaving out the word "optical" in the definition}); and so Ionamin is
already classified by the state in Schedule "B", the highest available
schedule for legitimately manufactured drugs for penalty purposes.

Michigan DIU reports no instances of Icnamin use or availability in the
state. This of course also applies to generic equivalents of Ionamin/
phentermine as well. DIV officials report heavy abuse of similar drugs,
Phenmetrazine and Phendimetrazine.

Illincis DIV reports very limited minor abuse and availability of
Ionamin; however Preludin (Phenmetrazine) and Ritalin (Methylphenidate}
are heavily abused there and readily available.
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Page Five

California DIU reports a complete absence of traffic in Ionamin and
in Ionamina (the Mexican version of ‘the same product) in both Nerthern
and Southern California. The stimulant drugs of choice in that state
are Desoxyn, Preludin and Eskatrol, in that order.

North Carolina DIU reports moderate abuse of both Ionamin and Fastin
(a generic}. DIU cases related to these drugs tend to be confined to
prescription writing doctors “who feel more comfortable" writing for
these rather than for more well known stimulants.

Pennsylvania DIU reports heavy abuse of both Icnamin and Fastin,
probably because phentermine was not controlled under state law
until August 21, 1976. DIU officials predict a gradual falling
off in the popularity of these two drugs since they are now controlled.

Texas DIU reports heavy trafficking and abuse of Ionamina, the Mexican
equivalent of Ionamin, in all areas of the state adjacent to the Mexican
border, and relatively common abuse elsewhere in the state. Except in
the border areas, other stimulant drugs still lead in terms of abuse.

.Since July, 1972 and through at least April 1976, over 25 cases have

been made invelving Tonamina, with seizures and purchases totaling
cver 104,000 dosage units.

Alabama DIU reports exceptionally heavy trafficking and abuse in both
Ionamin of U¥.5. manufacture and Fastin. In calendar year 1975, 99%

of all drugs purchased or seized by the DIU were Ionamin. This phenomenal
figure can be traced to a sipgle DEA cooperation case {J4-75-0016) where
500,000 dosage units were seized. In a related case (same source) the
Georgia Bureau of Investigatien seized 100,000 more. The responsible
distributor {in Miami) surrendered his registration in lieu of prosecution.

When the above case is removed from the figures, Icnamin still accounts
for 35% of the total drugs cbtained by the DIU that year.

During calendar year 1976 (to date), 22% of the drugs obtained by the
DIU were phentermine, which broke down further to 73% Ionamin and 27%
Fastin (a generic).

The Alabama DIU concsiders phentermine to be readily available and
heavily abused, although amphetamine (when available) is still the
drug ©f choice for abusers.
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IMPORT/EXPORT

The following data reflects the volume of Icnamin (in its various forms)
which has been exported by Pennwalt during calendar year 1975, and thusfar
during calendar year 1976:

‘1975
Dosage Form Destination Total Quantity
15 mg. Capsules El Salvador, 214;810

Guatemala, Panama,
Costa Rica, Nicaragua

30 mg. Capsules About the same 508,800
countries

Bulk Powder *Mexico 300 kilograms

1976

15 mg. Capsules El Salvador, 161,010
Guatemala,
Panama, Costa
Rica, Nicaragua

30 mg. Capsules About the same 353,870
countries

Bulk Powder *Mexico 300 kilograms
Argentina 250 kilograms

*Mexico shipments to: Laboratorios Strasenburgh
de Mexico, 5.A. de C.V.
Division del Norte 3442
Mexico 21, D.F. Mexico
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Mr. Rony, For the purposes of today’s hearing, T will say that Tona-
min is a relatively minor problem in most of the United States.

However, in Texas we find heavy traficking and abuse of Tonamina
in all areas of the State adjacent to the Mexican border,

Since July 1973 through April 1976, some 25 cases have been made
involving Yonamina, with seizures and purchases totaling over 104,000
dosage units.

Mr. Chairman, that concludes my formal testimony ; however, I have
with me Mr. Gerry Voyles, our special agent in charge, of Lubbock,
Tex., who can provide an update on the status of Ionamina,

Senator Nersox. One question first.

Concerning these 25 cases between July 1973 and April 1976, involv-
ing 104,000 doses or units of Ionamina-—=you are saying that these
drugs came illegally into the country?

Mr. Ropox. That is correet, smuggled into the country.

Tonamina as opposed to Ionamin, which is domestically manufac-
tured, that is correct.

Senator NELson. Now, in 1972, the FDA testified before this com-
mittee that there was no difference between Ionamin and the ampheta-
mines with respect to benefit, risks and addiction. Is that correct?

Mr. Ropy. Sir, T do not have benefit of that testimony.

Mr. Rostrar., Yes, sir, that is correct,

Senator Nersox. All right. Go ahead.

Mr, Gornon. T want to ask one question.

Since Ionamin is now being illegally imported from Mexico, and
illegally sold in the United States as in the case of the amphetamines,
why not do for YJonamina what you did for the amphetamines?

Mr. Ropy. Sir, we have had discussions with Pennwalt, and as recent
as October 6, the president of Pennwalt eommunicated with DEA, and
he offered full cooperation, even to the extent, if necessary of removing
Tonamina from the market in Mexico, and today we would be pleased
to accept that offer,

Mr. Gorpoxn. That they will no longer ship to Mexico?

Mr. Rony. That was the offer t%at was made, and we would be
pleased to aceept it,

Senator Nzrson. Do go ahead.

Do you have another witness?

Mr. Ropy. Special agent Gerry Voyles. He is from Lubbock, Tex.,
office, and he adds significant insight due to his experience during
Operation Blackjack, which I mentioned in my earlier testimony.

Senator NeLson. Could you give the reporter your full name?

Mr. Vovies. Yes, sir.

Gerald Voyles.

Mr, Chairman, T was the field supervisor during Operation Black-
jack during the years, part of the year 1971 and 1972.

During that time we were making cases, criminal cases against illicit
tralﬂickers in Bifetamina, which is a product manufactured by Penn-
walt.

During that time, and during that investigation of Operation Black-
jack as previous testimony has brought out, Pennwalt manufactured in
the United States, and exported the bulk material to Mexico.

It was then encapsulated in Mexico City, in Strassenburg, a subsi-
diary of Pennwalt.
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It was then sold, presumably through legitimate channels to phar-
macias on the Mexican side of the Mexican border.

At that time, it was sold in the illicit traffie, smuggled into the
United States through the South, the Southeast, and Southwest, pri-
marily, it appeared at truck stops.

The pharmacias were identified during Operation Blackjack, the
truck stops were identified, and many of the traflickers that were not
apprehended were identified.

It is at this point with Tonamina, that we see a very deadly parallel.

Tonamina is manufactured in the United States, it is exported to
Mexico, it is encapusulated in their plant in Mexico, recent investiga-
tions show that it has gone to the same pharmacias which we identified
in 1971 and 1972, being brought into the United States, through the
Southeast, the Southwest, and, again, we have very, very similar cir-
cumstances, as we had with Biphetamina in regards to Tonamina, and
at this time, we also brought with us Mr. John Myer, from our Chicago
Iaboratory.

Mr. Myer has brought an exhibit which he must maintain custody
of due to the fact that this is still a criminal investigation, so at this
time, we would like to show the chairman one exhibit from one case
made in the Midwest United States, which is still under investigation.

We have a suspected source identified, so if we could at this time———o

Senator Nrrson., And these are all Mexican manufactured ¢

Mr. Vorres. Mexican manufactured, yes. '

Senator Nrrsow. It isall Tonamina?

Mr. Vovies. Yes, sir, and if you would like to have some comparison
hetween domestic manufacture and 1.8, manufacture

Senator Nersoxn. They ook identical.

Mr. Vorirs. The only difference that we have on the Mexican manu-
facture, on the capsule, it has RJS.

On the U.8. manufacture, it hasthe Pennwalt logo.

Senator Nerso~. How many tablets are involved ?

Mr. Voxres. This is one exhibit in a case. It is not the only exhibit.

Senator NeLson. But this came in what way into the country?

Mr, Vovres. This is a eriminal investigation that was conducted by
our office in Indiana,

Senator NeLson, And this is all picked up in one batch ¢

Mr. Voryrrs. Yes, sir.

Senator Nersow. What is the street value of these

Mr. Vovvies. Sir, the street value runs approximately $1 to $1.50.

Senator Nersox. A tablet?

Mr. Vovres. Yes, sir. and we have roughly 20,000 dosage units here.

Senator Nersox. And how much of this product has been picked up
moving illicitly in this country in a particular period?

Mr. Vovres. I cannot give you a definite answer on that.

We have several exhibits, which have come into our laboratories of
this product.

I just cannot give you a figure.

Senator NeLson. You do not have a total?

Mr. Voyres. No, sir,

Senator Nerson. And this isall Tonamina ¢

Mr. Vovres. Yes, sir.

Senator NeLson. Where does the compound start out ?
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Mr. Vovries. In the United States.

Senator Newsoy. And then it issent in bulk ?

Mr. Vovres. In bulk, and in Mr. Rody’s testimony, he said I believe
there were 300 kilos shipped this year.

Senator Nerso~. And that is about 600 some pounds, I think a kile
1s 2,2 pounds.

Mr. Voyues. A kilo is 2.2 pounds; yes.

Senator Nersow. And that is how many, 300 kilos is how many
tablets?

Mr. Vovies. Approximately 10 million dosage units.

Senator Nevson. You would make about 10 miilion?

Mr. Voyies. Yes, sir.

Also, there 1s a couple of other points I would like to make.

Where I come from, I have seen an example of Yonamina in Lub-
bock. A. very well-to-do, very respected woman was arrested in the
latter part of September with 60 dosage units of Tonamina,

I cannot give you the details of the case other than I know it is still
pending, the charges she was arrested on by the local police, but the
point is this, that it is being abused.

She would never think of going out into the street and buying a
drug, yet she would go through the trouble to get a prescription.

Senator NrrLson. She had used it?

Mr. VovrLes. Yes, sir.

Thank you.

Senator Nersox. Thank you very much.

Mr. Voyrrs. We would like to scal this up now if we could.

Senator Newsow. Certainly,

Mr. Vovurs. This exhibit in Operation Blackjack, we identified a
pharmacia in Mexico.

Our intelligence information in the case is that this exhibit here
of Tonamina came from the same pharmacia as many of the exhibits
we got of Biphetamina during Operation Blackjack.

Senator NeLsox. The same pharmacia ?

Mr. Voyres. The same pharmacia.

Mr. Gorpox. Would you care to guess how it gets from Pennwalt
up to Indiana?

Mr. Vovies. As far as getting from Pennwalt up to Indiana, it is
manufactured in bulk in the United States, sent forward to Mexico
City, encapsulated, sold ostensibly in the legitimate chain in Mexico.

I do not have that information. T do not know, but at that point
it is diverted from the legitimate chain.

Mr. Gorpox. Don’t you think it is rather suspicious for so many
tablets to be used in Mexico?

Mr. Vovres. I would think so.

Senator NrLsox. Thank you very much.

Mr. Rony. Yes, sir. Thank you.

Senator Nrrsox. Anybody on the panel have anything to add to the
testimony?

Mr. Ropy. No, sir, Mr. Chairman, that concludes our testimony.

Senator Nersox. Thank you very much.

Mr. Gorpon. Mr. Rosthal, did you want to say something?

Mr. Rosriar. No, sir.
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Well, all T ask is, I understand that Mr, McGraw of Pennwalt is
going to testify. I do not suppose that there is any objection if I re-
mained to hear it ?

Senator Nerson. You are free to remain and can comment on the
testimony of Pennwalt’s testimony, and if they have any rebuttal to
your comment, we are willing to accept that.

We will give everybody a chance for a full presentation, and full
response in the record.

Somebody better take those amphetamines away from in front of
us.
Mr. Rostiar, Simple possession, Mr. Chairman. It is only a mis-
demeanor. {Laughter.]

Mr. Gorpox. Mr. Rosthal, will you remain in the room?

Mr, Rostmar., Yes, sir.

Senator NeLsoN, One more question.

For clarification—you do have a substantial amount of testimony
or evidence as to diversion and abuse of amphetamines and the con-
geners; is that correct ?

Mr. Ropy. That is correct, Mr. Chairman,

Senator NeLsox. And that will be presented at some early stage to
tha FIXA

Mr. Ropy. That is correct.

Senator NeLsoN. And you say sometime in December?

Mr. Ropy. Hopefully, I cannot give you an exact date, hopefully in
December. We certainly would like to review, of course, some of the
testimony that has occurred here. .

Senator NeLson. Yes; and how would you describe the evidence you
have, substantial, not substantial, overwhelming?

Do you have a deseription of the evidence of the abuse, of the use
of amphetamines, and the eongeners that are on the marketplace?

Mr. Ropy. Sir, T think it would have to be described as very sub-
stantial.

Senator NeLsox, Does that apply to those amphetamines and con-
geners which are being “legally prescribed” in this country through
legal channels?

Mr. Ropy. That is correct. .

Senator NeLsox. As well as diversion or illicit introduction into this
country, is that evidence substantial too?

Mr. Ropy. Yes, sir. Not to the same degree as it is on the ampheta-
mines.

Senator NeLsox. And do you have evidence showing widespread use
and abuse?

Mr. Ropy. Yes; we have data from our DAY system which would
reflect the number of episodes reported over the last 3 years in various
categories of drugs. .

Senator Nersox. And you consider that to be substantial?

Mr. Ropov. It is reflective as being substantial, yes, sir.

Senator NeLsox, Thank you very much.

Mr. Ropy. Thank vou .

Senator NrLsow. Our next witness is Mr. Isaac McGraw, president
of the pharmaccutical division of the Pennwalt Corp. )

Mr. MeGraw, could you please identify your associate for the
record ?
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Mr. McGraw. Yes, sir.

I have with me Mr. Matthew Broderick.

Senator Nrisox. All right.

Go ahead, Mr. McGraw. You may present your testimony however
you desire.

STATEMENT OF ISAAC R. McGRAW, PRESIDENT, PHARMACEUTI-
CAL DIVISION OF PENRWALT CORF., ACCOMPANIED BY MAT-
THEW BRODERICK

Mr. Broperick. Mr. Chairman, I would like to state at the start that
My, MeGraw will be Pennwalt’s witness,

Mr. Head will not testify. I think I have so advised Mr. Gordon.

Senator NeLsox, All right.

Mr. McGraw. Mr. Chairman, at the request of your committee, I am
appearing on behalf of Pennwalt Corp. pharmaceutical division in
order to provide the committee with our comments on the subject of
antiobesity drugs.

As an introduction, in my appearance today on behalf of Pennwalt
and its pharmaceutical division, I will review those major considera-
tions which we believe to be responsive to this committee’s invitation.

In order that you may readily comprehend our views, I should like
to summarize them at the outset and then deal with them more fully
by major category.

As part of Pennwalt Corp., & 126-year-old firm founded and still
headquartered in Philadelphia, Pa., with annual sales of approxi-
mately $750 million, we share its pride in our collective integrity.

I should note that our division represents less than 10 percent of the
company's total sales, and that our antiobestiy products represent less
than 3 percent of total sales, with less than 1 percent in anorectic am-
phetamine products.

Senator NeLsox. (Gross saleg?

A Moiraw. Net sales,

Senator NrLsoN. How do you define net sales?

Mr. McGraw. Sale less cash discount and shipping cost to the
customer. '

Antiobesity preseription medicine is the only federally recognized
effective medicinal aid available in a course of medieally supervised -
‘.nt*obesity treatment available to the 30 to 40 million Americans who
are obese, namely, those who are at least 20 percent overweight.

Obesity is & recognized iliness, in medical terms, as well as an emo-
tional burden. It also complicates other guite serious medical problems.

Our pharmacentical division clearly recoonizes that its anorectie
products should not be used unless preseribed by a physician. We
firmly beiieve that our marketing program fully reflects this recogni-
tion and contains no suggestion that we seek to sell the patient any use
of our anorectic products.

As this committee 1s aware, the Food and Drua Administration has
found our anorectic products to be safe and effective and, in our judg-
ment, we have continued to achieve very satisfactory compliance with
the rerulatorv standards and programs which are the responsibility
of the Drug Enforcement Administration.
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We believe that you should find the factual evidence on the prescrip-
tion dosage units of our products, per patient, to be consistent with
their use as a short-term a1d to the medically supervised obese paticnt.

We do not believe there is any probative evidence that our anti-
obesity products show any meaningful statistical or other factual evi-
dence of abuse.

We recognize that in a population of 215 million Americans there isa
very small but highly visible segment who are troubled and who may be
determined to misuse or abuse Jegitimate products.

We believe, however, that the safety, effectiveness, and judieious pre-
scription of antiobesity products cannot reasonably be condemnec{) by
the very Jimited factual evidence of their statistically quite infrequent
misuse,

The Congress and 42 State legislatures have created, and the FDA,
DEA, and State agencies administer, monitor, and enforce sophisti-
cated and effective programs designed to insure proper medically
supervised use of anorectic products.

We fully support these programs and cooperate readily with these
agonmes. .

We believe that n scientifie, technical or legal analysis fully and
fairly considered, on the basis of factual rather than hearsay evidence,
will continue to require the conclusion that our anorectic products
serve a very worthwhile medical and human need—assistance to the
physician who finds that his patient requires this medication.

I shall now turn to a more detailed review of the bases for the views
T have just summarized.

CORPORATE HISTORY

Pennwalt Corp. was founded in 1850, in I’hiladelphia, where it con-
tinues to maintain its corporate headquarters. Pennwalt has more than
14,000 employees who are engaged in manufacture, sale, and distribu-
tion of its products in the United States, Europe, and elsewhere in the
free world. Pennwalt’s total annual sales are expected to exceed $750
million in 1976, derived from its operations in chemicals—approxi-
mately 50 percent—specialized equipment--approximately 25 per-
cent—and health—including both dental and pharmaceutical opera-
tions—approximately 25 percent. The pharmaceutical division has
annual sales of approximately $70 million and employs approximately
1,100 people.

PENNWALT'S PHARMACEUTICAL DIVISION

The pharmaceutical division manufactures and makes available to
the medical profession a variety of therapeutic agents including anti-
hypertensives, diureties, antianxiety drugs, local anesthetics, anti-
fungals, antispasmodics, antitussives, and antihistaminics as well as
anorectics.

The total sales of Pennwalt’s only amphetamine product, Bipheta-
mine, aro less than 1 percent of Pennwalt’s annual sales, and the total
sales of both Biphetamine and Pennwalt’s nonamphetamine anorectic,
Tonamin, are less than 3 percent of Pennwalt’s annual sales.




14618 COMPETITIVE PROBLEMS IN THE DRUG INDUSTRY

Mr. Gorpox. Mr. McGraw, according to the national prescription
gudit, the 1975 manufacture of sales of Biphetamines was $5,847,000,
and Jonamine was $11,712,000.

These two drugs then account for about 20 percent of the annual
sales of your pharmaceutical division, is not that correct?

Mr. McGraw. Yes, sir.

Mr. Gorpox. In other words, these two drugs are very, very impor-
tant to the total sales of your pharmaceutieal division, and when you
talk in terms of 1, 2, or 3 percent, it sounds small, but to the pharma-
ceutical division, these two drugs are very important; I want to bring
that out.

Mr. McGraw. Yes, sir.

Our pharmaceutical division is headquartered in Rochester, N.Y.,
where it maintains its prodnction, research, and marketing organiza-
tions. Qur business was founded by the Strasenburgh family in
Rochester, and was privately owned until 1960, at which time it was
ncquired by Wallace & Tiernan, Ine.. headquartered in East Orange,
N.J., with plants located in several areas of the United States and
abroad. On March 31, 1969, we became part of the Pennwalt Corp., by
virtue of its acquisition of Wallace & Tiernan on that date.

Biphetamine 1s scheduled by the Drug Enforcement Administra-
tion—IDDEA—-as a controlled substance under schedule II. As such, the
manufacture of this produet is specifically limited in terms of quantity
and is strictly regulated at every stage in its chain of distribution by
the DEA, as T will discuss more fully later. Tonamin is scheduled by
the DEA as a schedule IV substance. Tt, too, is strictly controlled and
regulated at each level of distribution. Both products have been ap-
proved by the Food and Drug Administration—FI)A—as safe and
effective, as recently as 1974.

Senator NeLsox. You heard the testimony of Mr, Rody, in which
he said your company had offered to stop experting Tonamine to Mex-
icosis that correct?

Mr. MoGraw. I had a conversation with Mr. Durrin along those
lines; yes. ’

Senator NeLsow. Well

hMr. McGraw. I will be more specific, Senator. T called Mr. Thurrin
wiern

Senator Nrrsox, Mr, Durrin?

Mr. McGraw. Mr. Ken Durrin.

I first wrote a letter to the Administrator, Mr. Bensinger, calling his
attention to information I had become aware of concerning an alleged
confiscation of 250,000 capsules of Ionamine on the Southwest border
of the United States.

This was not factual evidence. T called his attention to the report,
and sald T would be very happy to discuss it with him.

The letter was written on Friday, I have forgotten the exact date.
Tt was in October.

In the letter I said T would call him Monday. Unfortunately, Mr.
Bensinger was out of the office on Monday.

T was In a meeting, that T was unable to get free on Tuesday, T
talked to Mr, Durrin on Wednesday, and asked him if he had any in-
formation about this unsubstantiated evidence which I was aware of.

Mr. Durrin said he knew there had been one confiscation on the
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border. He did not know what the size was, as he was not working in
that area, but he had heard that a number of capsules contained in
one box had been sugared.

T offered my cooperation to come down to discuss the situation with
him. T went over the controls that we had put in effect voluntarily on
the drug in Mexico City. There are no such controls in Mexico as we
have in the United States. In Mexico City, as you know, there are no
such controls.

We had put in our own quota system, and I said I would effer 100-
percent cooperation, and if it need be, I will take the product off the
market.

That was my conversation.

Senator NeLson. What was the last sentence ?

Mr. McGraw. If need be, I will take it off the market down there—
Mexico.

That is not a quote, Senator. T was not expecting to hear this infor-
n%ation this morning, because this is the first time T had any knowledge
of it.

Senator NeLson, Mr, Rody said testimony—well, his testimony will
speak for itself.

Of course, we do have the recorded record, but as I listened to it,
I thought it was unequivoeal that Mr. Rody in testifying said that
Pennwalt had offered to stop shipping Ienamine to Mexico, and that
he said we accept that offer, is that correct ornot ?

Mr. McGraw. That was not the offer made, sir.

T offered to take the product off the market in Mexico if we eould
not control it there.

I offered to cooperate with the DEA in anyway possible, offered to
coma to Washington at their convenience.

Senator Nersox. All of the Tonamine that your company sells in
Mexico is shipped from the United States, or is so fabricated else-
where?

Mr. McGraw. No, sir, we ship.

Tt is a resin compound of phentermine.

We ship the resin from Rochester, N.Y., to Mexico City, where it is
mixed with other ingredients, and it is encapsulated, bottled, and
distributed through legal channels in Mexico.

Senator NerLsox. Just so I have it clear in my mind, so far as your
company is concerned, is all of the material sold in Mexico the same
sort of ecompound sold here in the United States ?

Mr. McGraw. That is correct, Senator.

Senator Nerson. What did you exactly mean when you said a few
moments ago that you had this conversation, and that you would take
it off the market, if necessary, what does that mean.

1 Mr. MoGraw, Well, at that time, Senator, we had no factual evi-
ence.

T was working without factual evidence. T was offering to cooperate.

I was asking if it was fact. Mr. Durrin said he had heard, the
figures he gave me of the number of capsules, were in line with the
figures I had seen, and the article T had read, and thus I offered to come
down to Washington at his convenience to check into the matter with
him,
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I told him of the controls we had in Mexico, if it was stolen, there
was a possibility of tracing it, sir.

Senator NevLsox. I still do not understand what you meant by saying
you ;vould take it off. You would stop shipping it to Mexico if neces-
sary

Mpr. McGraw. Senator, I think T made myself very clear.

If we conld not contro! it, if T had factual evidence that the product
was being diverted, which we did not have at that time, and if that
diversion could not be stopped, and depending upon the size of such
diversion, offered to, if it came to that, to Mr. Durrin, if it came to
that, I would take it off the market.

Senator Nersow. Do you have in your own mind any judgment
about whether 2 substantial amount has been diverted? You saw the
evidence in this one case, involving just in Indiana 20,000 tablets.

Would evidence repeated of that size batch several times consti-
tute

Mr. McGraw. T would have to see, Senator. I think it is unfair for
you to ask me to quantify.

Senator Nersow, You intend to talk to the representsatives of DEA?

Mr. McGraw. I certainly do.

Senator Nersox. On this precise question ?

Mr. McGraw. I certainly do.

Senator Nersox. All right.

Go ahead.

Mr. McGraw. In our pharmaceutical operations at Rochester, we
maintain g research and development facility, manned with qualified
professionals including four doctors of medicine, 23 doctors of pharma-
cology and doctors of chemistry, and other related disciplines.

This staff and our administrative staff—quality control, govern-
mental compliance, finance, personnel, and so forth—perform the
various functions which these titles suggest.

THE PROBLEM OT OBESITY AND THE TUSE OF ANORECTICS

Internationally known medical and nutritional experts in the United
States are generally agreed that there are approximately 30 to 40 mil-
lion Americans between the ages of 21 and 65 who are at least 20 per-
cent overweight,

To be 20 percent overweight 1s to be “obese,” a condition that seri-
ously affects the individual's well-being and Jife expectancy. Obesity
also compounds other diseases. Medically, obesity is correlated with
considerable increase in cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, liver and
kidney diseases, and even accidents.

Indeed, to be obese is to be ill. The problem was defined by one
reputable physician, Dr, Halberstam, as follows:

Fatness may be the single most impertant illness in America. It is certainly the
most important form of malnutrition. Fat people have higher incidence of stroke,
of high blood pressure, and, to a less marked degree, heart attacks. On all life
insurance tables fat people live shorter lives than normals. [Emphasis supplied.j

In addition to physical disability, the obese frequently carry an
additional burden, which Dr, Halberstam has described in these terms:

1Dr. Michael Halberstam, *The Pllls in Your Life,” Ace Books, 1972, pp. 141-142.
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Worse, the fat middle-class person lives not only with a physical burden, but
with a psychologic stigma. The sociologist, David Riesman, has said that Ameriea
iz a “physionomic democracy.” That is, we inereasingly will accept into our secial
circles and business lives people of any race, creed, or color—so long as they are
attractive. The other side of this is that we shun the ugly, the crippled, the fat.
The next time you are at a gathering of strangers or getting on a bus or sitting
down at a lunch counter, check your own reluctance to sit down alongside a fat
person.

In discussing the proper role of anorectics in the treatment of obes-
ity, we are confident that while this committee will constder the testi-
mony of the experts, the layman, and others who have their respective
and differing views, the committee will continue to be most interested
in that which can be established factually,

‘We are equally confident this committee will examine the question of
antiobesity medication in the context in which it arises—a population
containing 30 to 40 million obese citizens who are entitled to medical
and other therapeutic assistance in obtaining relief from their physical
and emotional disabilities.

These disabilities cannot be dismissed with the notion that “will-
power” or “self-discipline” or “counseling” are all that are needed. We
can tell the sinners, the alcoholics, the chain smokers or the obese how to
behave and turn our backs on them if they do not. But quite clearly
preachment isnot the cure for any serious disability.

We think it noteworthy that despite great medical progress in this
country, the treatment of obesity is one of the few areas of preventive
medicine being practiced today. Most other iedical practice today
remains remedia or post-traumatic. Medical attention s available to
help the obese patient in his efforts fo attain a more satisfactory level
of physical condition by supervised weight Joss.

Indeed. there scems to be general agreement in the technical as well
as popular literature that the obese should seek a doetor’s advice before
undertaking any serious program of individual dieting.

If we have approximately 30 to 40 million obese individuals in the
United States, and if we and they recognize that wishing “won’t make
it s0,” what remedies are appropriate{

Our pharmaceutical division believes that the obese individual has a
medical problem which is best treated by a physician and aided by
counseling and supportive techniques which will motivate the patient
to attain his goals.

Pennwalt hag acted on this belief in educational programs directed
to both physician and patient. We believe that prescription of anorectic
medication—ours or that supplied by other reputable pharmaceutical
companies—isentirely the prerogative of the physician.

Senator NeLson. Do you really stick to that unqualifiably ¢

We had testimony this week from Suffolk County in Hunting-
ton Township of two doctors averaging 800 to 1,200 patients a week.
Observation of the lines of people indicated that most of them did not
have anv obesity problem at aﬁ)]. Is it your view that it is solely the
responsibility of the physicians in that kind of case, to issue prescrip-
tions of the anorectic medication, that it is entirely the prerogative of
the physicians?

Mr. Mc(Graw. The physician is the only one, Senator, who can pre-
scribe, yes,
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Senator NeLson. You are not endorsing the widespread illegal use?

Mr. McGraw. I am not.

Senator NELsoN. Go ahead. :

Mr. McGraw. For more than 15 years, we have provided the patient,
through his doctor, with literature intended to educate the patient—
not se%l him our products. Indeed, our products are not mentioned in
this literature. :

More than 10 million copies of our long-established and free book-
let, “Are You Really Serious About LosinﬁlWeight?”, have been dis-
tributed. Tt contains over 70 pages of highly useful information for
the patient and no reference to Pennwalt products.

The educational value of our booklet was described by the interna-
tionally renowned Dr. Jean Mayer of the Harvard University School
of Public Heslth, who said : :

There have been so many popular books and articles on obes!ty which make

. the most unreagonable promises to patlents that it is pleasant to see a booklet

taking the reasonable and truthful position that welght reduction is dependent
on maintaining a negative energy balance—preferably based both on decreasing
food inteke and increasing energy expenditure.

It is even more gratifying to see that the booklet is sponsored by an enlight-
ened pharmacentical company which realizes that while anorexigenie drugs can,
in the hands of competent and well-informed physicians, make an important con-
tribution to treatment during the initial pericd of weight reduction, they cannot
substitute for reeducation of the patlent as regards eating and living habitsa.
They can gain time and make it easler for the obese individual te become used
to smaller food portions, But a great deal of information and motivation also
need to be given to the patient,

Because the doctor’s time 1s not unlimited, he needs teaching material, which
this booklet quite adequately conveys. Reading the booklet should give the pa-
tlent the chance for a more informed dislogue with his doctor. _

In this same booklet, the patient is advised to “Count your facts be-
fore you count your calories” and then asked to take & True-False quiz
on basic propositions alleged to relate to dieting, with 28 questions
and answers. .

I call your attention specifically to question No. 26 and our answer
to it--at pages 3 and 5 of the booklet :

Proposition: 26, A diet “pll}” is an easler way of losing weight than dieting.

Answer: 26, False. No pill can take the place of dieting. A diet pill is only a
“training” aid to help cut down appetite for food while learning to adjust to eat-
Ing less. It takes time to correct fanity eating habits—the real cause of over-
welght. Do not use any dieting drug unless it is prescribed by your physiclan for

you.

In summary, our educational program is specifically addressed to a
four-part theme: (1) Dietary counseling by the physician; (2) indi-
vidualized dietary control addressed to the specific patient: (3) pre-
scribed exercise; and (4) if hecessary, antiobesity prescription,

THE REGULATORY SYSTEM

As this committee is fully aware, amphetamines and nonampheta-
mine anorectics are scheduled drugs Wlljmich are regulated and con-
trolled by the Food and Drug Administration, the Drug Enforcement
Administration, and State authorities.

In 1970, the Congress passed the Drug Abuse Prevention and Con-
trol Act—“Controlled Substances Act”—at which time the Food and
Drug Administration Bureau of Drug Abuse Control and the Depart-




